Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology

Sabra L. Klein Craig W. Roberts *Editors*

Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases

Second Edition



Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology

Volume 441

Series Editors

Rafi Ahmed, School of Medicine, Rollins Research Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA

Shizuo Akira, Immunology Frontier Research Center, Osaka University, Suita, Osaka, Japan

Arturo Casadevall, W. Harry Feinstone Department of Molecular Microbiology & Immunology, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

Jorge E. Galan, Boyer Center for Molecular Medicine, School of Medicine, Yale University, New Haven, CT, USA

Adolfo Garcia-Sastre, Department of Microbiology, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Bernard Malissen, Parc Scientifique de Luminy, Centre d'Immunologie de Marseille-Luminy, Marseille, France

Rino Rappuoli, GSK Vaccines, Siena, Italy

The reviews series *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology* publishes cutting-edge syntheses of the latest advances in molecular immunology, medical microbiology, virology and biotechnology. Each volume of the series highlights a selected timely topic, is curated by a dedicated expert in the respective field, and contains a wealth of information on the featured subject by combining fundamental knowledge with latest research results in a unique manner.

Sabra L. Klein · Craig W. Roberts Editors

Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases

Second Edition



Editors Sabra L. Klein W. Harry Feinstone Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health Baltimore, MD, USA

Craig W. Roberts Department of Parasitology Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences University of Strathclyde Glasgow, UK

 ISSN 0070-217X
 ISSN 2196-9965 (electronic)

 Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology
 ISBN 978-3-031-35139-6 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6
 (eBook)

 $1^{\rm st}$ edition: © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015 $2^{\rm nd}$ edition: © The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023, corrected publication 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Genetics of Sex Differences in Immunity Shani T. Gal-Oz and Tal Shay	1
The Influence of Sex Hormones and X Chromosome in Immune Responses Nina Anesi, Charles-Henry Miquel, Sophie Laffont, and Jean-Charles Guéry	21
Sex Differences in HIV Infection	61
Effects of Biological Sex and Pregnancy on SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis and Vaccine Outcomes Janna R. Shapiro, Craig W. Roberts, Kasandra Arcovio, Lisa Reade, Sabra L. Klein, and Santosh Dhakal	75
Biological Sex and Pregnancy Affect Influenza Pathogenesis and Vaccination Patrick S. Creisher, Kumba Seddu, Alice L. Mueller, and Sabra L. Klein	111
Sex and Gender Differences in Tuberculosis Pathogenesis and Treatment Outcomes	139
Sex-Linked Differences in Malaria Risk Across the Lifespan Jessica Briggs, Margaret Murray, Jason Nideffer, and Prasanna Jagannathan	185
Sex Difference in Amebiasis	209

Sex-Differential and Non-specific Effects of Vaccines Over the Life	
Course	225
Laura A. St. Clair, Sabal Chaulagain, Sabra L. Klein,	
Christine Stabell Benn, and Katie L. Flanagan	
Immunology of Pregnancy and Systemic Consequences	253
Fiona M. Menzies	
Correction to: Sex-Differential and Non-specific Effects of Vaccines	
Over the Life Course	C 1
Laura A. St. Clair, Sabal Chaulagain, Sabra L. Klein,	
Christine Stabell Benn, and Katie L. Flanagan	

Genetics of Sex Differences in Immunity



Shani T. Gal-Oz and Tal Shay

Abstract Women have a stronger immune response and a higher frequency of most autoimmune diseases than men. While much of the difference between men and women is due to the effect of gonadal hormones, genetic differences play a major role in the difference between the immune response and disease frequencies in women and men. Here, we focus on the immune differences between the sexes that are not downstream of the gonadal hormones. These differences include the gene content of the sex chromosomes, the inactivation of chromosome X in women, the consequences of non-random X inactivation and escape from inactivation, and the states that are uniquely met by the immune system of women-pregnancy, birth, and breast feeding. While these female-specific states are temporary and involve gonadal hormonal changes, they may leave a long-lasting footprint on the health of women, for example, by fetal cells that remain in the mother's body for decades. We also briefly discuss the immune phenotype of congenital sex chromosomal aberrations and experimental models that enable hormonal and the non-hormonal effects of the sex chromosomes to be disentangled. The increasing human life expectancy lengthens the period during which gonadal hormones levels are reduced in both sexes. A better understanding of the non-hormonal effects of sex chromosomes thus becomes more important for improving the life quality during that period.

S. T. Gal-Oz · T. Shay (⊠) Department of Life Sciences, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Be'er Sheva, Israel e-mail: talshay@bgu.ac.il

S. T. Gal-Oz e-mail: sgaloz@bwh.harvard.edu

Present Address: S. T. Gal-Oz Division of Rheumatology, Inflammation, and Immunity, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_1

1 Evolutionary Perspective

Females mount a stronger immune response than males and hence have a better prognosis in most infectious diseases and higher rates of most autoimmune diseases, as discussed later in this book. This difference in the immune systems of females and males is consistent not only across mammalian species but also across other animal species that may have different sex determination mechanisms [reviewed in (Klein and Flanagan 2016)]. These differences give rise to two questions. First, what were the selective forces that shaped these differences in immune responses between females and males? And, second, if females have indeed developed a better defense mechanism that provides a selective advantage, why have males not developed similarly?

Both questions may be answered, at least in part, by examining the evolution of cost and benefit trade-offs in immune defenses and reproduction in females and males. One explanation lies in the evolutionary fitness of an individual, which can be defined in terms of the number of descendants that reach sexual maturation. For females, the number of descendants is limited by the length of the sexual maturity period, whereas for males, it is limited by the number of mates fertilized. Thus, females need to invest resources in longevity, which implies a stronger immune function to increase their survival probability. In males, allocation of resources from immune defense to mating may bring higher fitness gains than longevity (Zuk 2009; Zuk and Stoehr 2002; Rolff 2002). However, if the males also contribute to offspring rearing or if a stronger immune response improves both survival and mating success, e.g., by making individuals with fewer parasites more attractive, then such a trade-off may not be a strong selective force for a stronger immune response in females (Stoehr and Kokko 2006).

A complementary explanation is that sex-specific adaptations may involve genes that confer some immune advantages or disadvantages, either directly through pleiotropic effects or indirectly by inducing a positive selective sweep of their immediate genetic region. It would seem logical that such advantageous or disadvantageous immune functions that had evolved in one sex should have been selected for or against, respectively, in the other sex as well. However, this selection may be countered by the disadvantage of incorporating the sex-specific variant into the other sex or of removing the sex-specific variant, a phenomenon known as sexual antagonism. In sexual antagonism, a mutation that is beneficial to one sex may be harmful to the other, as demonstrated experimentally in non-immune systems (Rice 1992). A possible example of sexual antagonism in the immune system is the action of the male hormone, testosterone, which promotes the male phenotype features but decreases the immune response (Gubbels Bupp and Jorgensen 2018).

Notably, the female immune system faces challenges that the male immune system does not, namely, pregnancy, birth, and breast feeding, as described later in this chapter. Although the selective forces posed by these challenges acted only on females, they may also have contributed to the differences in immunity between sexes. Interestingly, it has been argued that fetal cells that are retained in the mother's

body for decades after birth—a phenomenon termed fetal microchimerism—constitute cellular representatives of cooperation and conflict of interest between males and females and between mother and fetus (Cómitre-Mariano et al. 2021; Kinder et al. 2017).

Finally, the immune sexual dimorphism of the host contributes to host–pathogen coevolution (Gipson and Hall 2016). For example, females can transmit pathogens via several routes that are not available to males, namely pregnancy, birth, and breast feeding. As a result, certain pathogens might have adapted for lower virulence in women, which translates into worse observable outcomes in men (Úbeda and Jansen 2016). Thus, when examining differences in pathogenicity between the female and male immune systems, one should bear in mind that the pathogens themselves might display different phenotypes in female and male hosts.

2 Sex Chromosomes

The genetic codes of mammalian males and females are identical, except for the sex chromosomes, for which females are homozygous (XX) and males are heterozygous (XY). The sex chromosomes are derived from an ordinary pair of recombining autosomes. During evolution, recombination between that pair of chromosomes has been progressively suppressed, and X and Y chromosomes have become highly diverged from each other and have ceased to recombine throughout their entire length (Lahn and Page 1999). However, two pseudoautosomal regions (PARs) on the sex chromosomes, termed PAR1 and PAR2, still recombine between the X and Y chromosomes during meiosis in males. Over time, most of the mammalian Y chromosome has been lost, and the current human Y chromosome is 62 Mbp long and encodes for only ~ 100 protein coding genes as well as repetitive and non-functional DNAs. The X chromosome is much longer (~ 155 Mbp) and encodes for ~ 800 protein coding genes. The human X and Y chromosomes have only recently been sequenced from telomere to telomere (Miga et al. 2020; Rhie et al. 2022). Both sex chromosomes are enriched for complex repetitive sequences, and the Y more than the X (Rhie et al. 2022).

In the text that follows this section, we focus on the *human* sex chromosomes and immune systems, except where explicitly stated.

2.1 X Chromosome Inactivation

In females, one of the two copies of the X chromosome is randomly silenced early in the development to compensate for the double dosage of the X chromosome compared to males. However, this X chromosome inactivation (XCI) is more dynamic than initially thought, especially during embryonic development and in the immune system. The long non-coding RNA, X-inactive specific transcript (*Xist*), is expressed only from the inactive X chromosome and induces the XCI. During embryonic development in the mouse, starting from the two-cell stage, Xist is expressed only from the paternal copy of the X chromosome in female embryos. As a result, the paternal X is silenced during early cleavage stages. Though this paternal XCI is replaced with random XCI in the embryo, the extraembryonic tissues retain paternal XCI (Okamoto et al. 2004; Mak et al. 2004), which reduces the exposure of the maternal immune cells to non-self-proteins. Surprisingly, though XIST is transcribed from both the maternal and paternal X chromosomes in in vitro fertilized human embryos, none of the X chromosomes is inactivated (Petropoulos et al. 2016). In accordance, either the maternal or the paternal copies of the X chromosomes can go through XCI in human placenta cells, though the paternal copy of the X chromosome is more likely to be inactivated (Hamada et al. 2016). Thus, the exposure of the human mother to paternal antigens on the X chromosome may be greater than that of the murine mother.

However, even when XCI is in place, it is incomplete, with some genes escaping XCI and being expressed from both the active and inactive copies of the X chromosome. The mechanisms that determine which genes will escape from XCI are not fully understood. Although the escape from XCI leads to expression of a gene from both copies, the expression from the inactive X is usually lower than that from the active X and varies between chromosomal regions, tissue and individuals (Tukiainen et al. 2017; Carrel and Willard 2005). Therefore, expression of X escapee genes located outside the PAR is higher in females, which express them from both the active and the inactive X chromosomes, vs. males, which express those genes only from a single X chromosome. In contrast, expression of genes encoded on PAR1 is higher in males, which express them from the X and Y chromosomes, vs. females, which express them from the active and inactive (relatively low levels) X chromosomes (Tukiainen et al. 2017). Since XCI escapee genes are transcribed from two alleles in females, the two potentially slightly different translated proteins in females may confer wider activity in addition to higher expression, thus conferring functional advantages on females, compared to males which can only express one allele of genes in the X chromosome (Migeon 2007). For example, women who carry the T allele (TA or TT genotype) of a frequent single-nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7), rs179008, have lower levels of TLR7 protein production in their plasmacytoid dendritic cells, higher proportions of type I interferon-producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and a lower viral burden during acute HIV-1 infection compared to women homozygous in the A allele (AA genotype), whereas no differences were found between T0 and A0 males (Azar et al. 2020). In contrast, this more diverse repertoire of cellular proteins of X-linked genes in females compared to males may also increase the likelihood of developing an autoimmune disease (Youness et al. 2021).

It has recently been shown that XCI in the female immune system is dynamic and incomplete. Lymphocyte progenitors lack XCI. XIST localization to the X chromosome occurs in more differentiated progenitors, and from there XIST is dispersed in mature naïve B and T cells, only to be relocalized to one of the X chromosomes when lymphocytes are activated (Syrett et al. 2019a, b). Natural killer cells, myeloid and lymphoid dendritic cells, and bone marrow-derived macrophages also display dynamic and variable patterns of Xist RNA localization (Syrett, Sindhava et al. 2019a, b). The functional implications of the relaxed form of XCI maintenance in the female mammalian immune system are unclear. It has been speculated that the female immune cells benefit from increased dosage of certain X-linked genes and that each type of immune cell has a specific set of X-linked genes exhibiting sexbiased expression (Syrett and Anguera 2019). This dynamic XCI maintenance and immune cell-specific XCI escape may contribute to immune cell sexual dimorphism and the female disposition toward autoimmunity (Syrett and Anguera 2019). Indeed, XIST is less localized in T cells from systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients compared to healthy women, and X-linked genes are up-regulated in those patients (Syrett et al. 2019a, b).

As the female body is composed of two distinct cellular populations, one expressing the paternal X chromosome and the other expressing the maternal X chromosome, females present cellular mosaicism. This cellular mosaicism inevitably leads to interactions between the two different cell populations, which may be positive (cellular cooperation) or negative (cellular interference). In cellular cooperation, cells expressing the wild-type allele share the wild-type product with cells expressing the mutant allele, thereby reducing or eliminating the phenotype caused by the mutation. In cellular interference, cells expressing the mutant allele compromise the function of cells expressing the wild-type allele (Migeon 2020, 2007). Competition between the cell populations may lead to skewing of X inactivation in females, where the cell population that has a relative advantage will be present in more than half of the cells and may eventually lead to elimination of the other population (Migeon 2020, 2007). Although cellular cooperativity, interference and competition in female mosaicism cell populations have been rarely reported, given the large number of immune-related genes on the X chromosome, it is likely that such effects do exist and contribute to immune sexual dimorphism. Indeed, it is known that skewed X inactivation occurs in healthy women and that its frequency increases with age (Busque et al. 2009). Skewing is more frequent in women with certain female-predominant autoimmune diseases, such as scleroderma (Ozbalkan et al. 2005), autoimmune thyroid diseases (Ozcelik et al. 2006), juvenile idiopathic arthritis (Uz et al. 2009), rheumatoid arthritis, and systemic sclerosis (Kanaan et al. 2016). Notably, it is suspected that the skewed X inactivation is a factor contributing to the development of an autoimmune disease, and not the consequence of the disease; the basis for this premise is the thinking that the immune system has not been not trained to recognize a rare allele as self (due to its low expression) and is thus predisposed to develop antigens against it (Ozbalkan et al. 2005; Lambert 2009).

Notably, as XCI is maintained by chromatin silencing modifications, any condition that affects or interferes with chromatin silencing modifications could also interfere with the inactivation of genes on the silenced X chromosome, thus causing a female-specific phenotype even though the particular condition is sex independent (Migeon 2007). On the other hand, as the XCI in female cells requires many molecular components to silence an entire chromosome, XCI may compete with chromatin silencing

at autosomal loci, thereby indirectly affecting autosomal gene expression in females (Burgoyne and Arnold 2016).

2.2 Immune-Related Genes on the Sex Chromosomes

The X chromosome contains about 800 protein coding genes as well as microRNAs and long non-coding RNAs. The biology of the sex chromosomes causes several unique facets in the expression on their genes. First, as males have only one copy of the X chromosome, any mutation in a non-PAR gene on the X chromosome will be dominant, and the resulting disorder is expected to be male biased or male specific. Indeed, many X-linked diseases have a milder phenotype or no phenotype in women [reviewed in (Migeon 2020)]. An excellent example is the X-linked *FOXP3* gene, the master regulator of regulatory T cells. Mutations in FOXP3 cause the immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX), and an X-linked recessive disorder in men, caused by lack of regulatory T cells. Certain FOXP3 mutations in the male fetus may even lead to miscarriage, as the fetal immune system is not properly regulated (Rae et al. 2015).

Second, in females, several immune regulators are known to escape XCI in different cell types and conditions, including TLR7, CD40L, CD99, LAMP-2, IRAK-1, USP27X, DDX3X, and XIAP [reviewed in (Mousavi et al. 2020)]. This escape may lead to higher expression levels in females, which might contribute to sex differences in immunity and the sex bias in the frequencies of autoimmune diseases.

As mentioned before, the X chromosome also codes for long non-coding RNAs. Two long non-coding RNAs on the X chromosome, *XIST* and *FIRRE*, which are involved in the XCI mechanism also have an immune function. In addition to its role in XCI, *XIST* also suppresses acute inflammation by interacting with NF- κ B to delay the migration of NF- κ B into the nucleus (Shenoda et al. 2021). *FIRRE* is regulated by NF- κ B and, in turn, regulated inflammatory genes on autosomal chromosomes (Lewandowski et al. 2019; Lu et al. 2017). Unlike *XIST*, *FIRRE* is expressed from both copies of the X chromosome in females (Hacisuleyman et al. 2014). In mice, the chromatin region of *Firre* is more accessible in female macrophages compared with males (Gal-Oz et al. 2019).

Compared to autosomes, the X chromosome is enriched for microRNAs, whereas the Y chromosome is depleted (Guo et al. 2009). Similar to the protein coding genes on the X chromosome, X-linked microRNAs are subject to XCI and escape from XCI. A few X-linked microRNAs have indeed been shown to be immune regulators (Pinheiro et al. 2011).

The Y chromosome contains very few genes, but it does contain a small number of genes that epigenetically regulate immune system gene expression (Case et al. 2013). Non-PAR homologous genes on the X and Y chromosomes might differ in their functional properties or expression patterns. For example, if the X- and Y-encoded histone demethylases are different in their substrate specificity or affinity,

it might lead to a genome-wide difference between males and females (Hughes and Page 2015).

2.3 Sex Chromosome Abnormalities and the Immune System

Sex chromosome abnormalities are conditions in which individuals have a karyotype other than XX females or XY males. The difference could lie in the addition or deletion of a complete copy of a sex chromosome or a part of a chromosome. The small size of the Y chromosome, the limited functions of its genes, and the X dosage compensation mechanism probably explain why chromosomal aberrations in the sex chromosomes are tolerated better than those on autosomes: In humans, there is only one viable monosomy, i.e., monosomy X, and there are also three viable autosomal trisomies, of which only trisomy 21 (Down syndrome) carriers can reach maturity, but several trisomies of sex chromosomes can reach maturity. The cells of individuals with sex chromosome abnormalities are often a mosaic in terms of sex chromosomes composition. Some sex chromosome abnormalities are lethal and prevent fetuses from developing correctly. Even the apparently non-lethal sex chromosome abnormalities might be subject to in utero selection. Sex chromosome abnormalities lead to a variety of phenotypes—some of which may be asymptomatic. These abnormalities may cause fertility and growth abnormalities and may also affect the immune system and the risk for various autoimmune diseases, as detailed below. In general, these effects are extreme manifestations of typical immune sexual dimorphism, whereas additional copies of the X chromosome make the immune phenotype more female like, and additional copies of the Y chromosome make the immune phenotype more male like.

Sex chromosome abnormalities provide valuable information regarding the effect of sex chromosomes on the immune system and the tendency to autoimmune diseases. However, there are inherent limitations in the study of sex chromosome abnormalities, namely these abnormalities are rare, as are most autoimmune diseases, and the estimation of an increased or decreased risk ratio is based on a very small number of individuals with co-morbidity, which are subject to biases caused by undiagnosed non-phenotypic carriers and strong in utero selection of viable newborns with sex chromosome aberrations. With the increase in non-invasive prenatal screening and the establishment of centralized digital medical registries in several countries, the estimates of risk ratio of autoimmune diseases in sex chromosomal aberrations will become increasingly more accurate and will be able to indicate clinical phenotypes in whom sex chromosomes make an important contribution to the phenotype.

Below we discuss some sex chromosome aberrations, focusing mainly on their immune-related phenotypes.

2.3.1 Turner Syndrome (45,X)

Turner syndrome, a complete or partial X chromosome monosomy, is the only viable human monosomy. Turner syndrome occurs in 1 in 2000-2500 females, and its most frequent karyotype is 45,X. Other karyotypes of Turner syndrome are 45,X/46,XX mosaicism or isochromosome X (Hjerrild et al. 2008). Turner syndrome manifests in atypical sexual development and skeletal, cardiac, endocrine, and metabolic characteristics. Patients also experience a variety of immune-related symptoms, such as chronic inflammation, a decrease in the levels of circulating lymphocytes, and changes in immunoglobulin ratios [reviewed in (Thrasher et al. 2016)], and are at a higher risk for several autoimmune diseases compared with 46,XX women (Jørgensen et al. 2010, De Sanctis and Khater 2019), i.e., women with Turner syndrome are at an almost fourfold increased overall risk for male-predominant autoimmune diseases and 1.7-fold increased overall risk for female-predominant autoimmune diseases (Jørgensen et al. 2010). Notably, the risk varies with the Turner syndrome karyotype, which is to be expected, as different karyotypes result in different numbers of copies of genes on different parts of the chromosome (e.g., patients with isochromosome Xq have three copies of all genes in the duplicated q arm and one copy of the genes on the p arm, as opposed to one copy of all X genes in patients with monosomy X).

Women with Turner syndrome share the male vulnerability to deleterious mutations in X-linked genes and exhibit haploinsufficiency of PAR genes, which, in males, has a Y chromosomal counterpart. Indeed, a few genes encoded from the PAR of the X chromosome that are involved in a variety of immune processes are differentially expressed between Turner syndrome and XX females (e.g., IL3RA) or XY males (i.e., P2RY8), possibly contributing to the increased autoimmunity in Turner syndrome individuals (Trolle et al. 2016). Another example of the possible effect of X-linked genes on immune activity is the ubiquitously transcribed tetratricopeptide repeat on the X chromosome (UTX). UTX is a histone H3 lysine 27 demethylase that escapes XCI and is thus down-regulated in Turner syndrome, leading to reduction in T helper cells (Thrasher et al. 2016).

2.3.2 Klinefelter Syndrome (47,XXY)

Klinefelter syndrome is a condition—affecting 1 in 500–1,000 men—in which individuals carry at least one copy of the Y chromosome and two or more copies of the X chromosome. The most common karyotype of Klinefelter syndrome is 47,XXY, and only 10–20% of cases have more copies—these are typically a mosaic of 46,XY/ 47,XXY/48,XXYY/48,XXYY/49,XXXYY (Giltay and Maiburg 2010). Due to the presence of the Y chromosome, individuals with Klinefelter syndrome have a male phenotype. However, as in women, in cells of individuals with Klinefelter syndrome, one of the X chromosome is subject to XCI and escape from XCI [reviewed in (Navarro-Cobos et al. 2020)].

Men with Klinefelter syndrome also suffer from a higher risk for femalepredominant autoimmune diseases, such as SLE, rheumatoid arthritis, Sjögren's syndrome, multiple sclerosis, and type 1 diabetes compared with XY men (Seminog et al. 2015), and their frequency of autoantibodies is also higher (Panimolle et al. 2021). Surprisingly, even though eosinophilic esophagitis is a male-predominant disease (Hruz and Nanan 2014), there is an increased risk for eosinophilic esophagitis in men with Klinefelter syndrome (Ghisa et al. 2022).

2.3.3 Triple X Syndrome (47,XXX)

One in every thousand females has an extra X chromosome (47 XXX), also known as triple X syndrome or trisomy X. Similar to XX females, in the triple X syndrome only one copy of the X chromosome is active, and the other two copies of the X chromosome are inactivated (Tartaglia et al. 2010). The syndrome is often asymptomatic, with an estimated 10% of carriers diagnosed on the basis of phenotype. The syndrome includes fertility issues and a wide range of behavioral and physical phenotypes, but no altered immune phenotypes have been reported (Tartaglia et al. 2010; Otter et al. 2010). Several anecdotal case reports of women with X trisomy (or a mosaic of more than three copies of X) have described a co-morbidity with a variety of immune-related conditions, including Sjögren's syndrome involving additional systemic organs (Miyakawa et al. 1997; Fujimoto et al. 2015), childhoodonset SLE (Yamazaki et al. 2021; Barbosa et al. 2020), and autoimmune thyroid disorder (Goswami et al. 2003). A systematic study of the frequency of X trisomy in female-predominant autoimmune disease cohorts found that the incidence of SLE and Sjögren's syndrome was more than double in women with trisomy X compared to XX women, but the frequency was unchanged in other diseases, such as primary biliary cirrhosis and rheumatoid arthritis (Liu et al. 2016). As the phenotypic abnormalities associated with trisomy X may result from overexpression of genes that escape the XCI, it is possible that the contribution of escapees to the increased risk for SLE and Sjögren's syndrome is higher than that for other female-predominant autoimmune disorders.

2.3.4 Jacob Syndrome (XYY)

Jacob syndrome patients carry one X and two Y chromosomes (47, XYY), with an incidence of 1 in 1000 males. Like other sex chromosome abnormalities, Jacob syndrome often remains undiagnosed. The symptoms of Jacob syndrome vary between men and can include tall stature, low muscle tone, and macrocephaly as well as developmental delays, behavioral issues, and fertility problems (Sood and Clemente Fuentes 2022). Men with Jacob syndrome are at increased risk for asthma (Bardsley et al. 2013), but no other immune-related phenotypes have been described as associated with Jacob syndrome. Therefore, it is generally assumed that the additional copy of the Y chromosome does not affect immune function.

2.3.5 Somatic Sex Chromosomes Aberrations

In addition to the congenital sex chromosome aberrations reported above, many individuals carry populations of cells with chromosome aberrations, including aberrations in sex chromosomes that can contribute to immune alterations. For example, the rate of monosomy X is higher in women with systemic sclerosis or autoimmune thyroid disease compared to healthy women (Invernizzi et al. 2005). The monosomy X rate increases with age and is more frequent in blood T cells and B cells compared to other blood cell types (Invernizzi et al. 2005). Hence, monosomy X might affect immune function.

3 Experimental Models for Studying the Sex Effect on Immunity

Disentangling the effect of the composition of sex chromosomes and gonadal hormonal effects on the immune system is challenging, as the hormonal profile is highly dependent on the sex chromosome composition and both factors affect the immune system. Whereas hormonal manipulations in experimental animal models have been used extensively, the study of the effect of sex chromosomes on the immune system is less common. Below we describe several experimental systems that have been developed to study the effect of the sex chromosomes independently of the hormonal effect and their application to the study of the immune system.

3.1 Four Core Genotypes Mouse Model

The four core genotypes (FCG) mouse model (De Vries et al. 2002) produces XX and XY gonadal males and XX and XY gonadal females, thereby enabling a comparison of the effects of XX and XY genotypes in same (gonadal) sex mice. In this model, XX females are crossed with XY^-Sry^+ males, where Y^- stands for a Y chromosome with deletion of the testis-determining gene Sry (Lovell-Badge and Robertson 1990), and Sry⁺ stands for insertion of an Sry transgene onto an autosome. With its classic two-way ANOVA design, the FCG model can test simultaneously for sex chromosome effects, hormonal effects, and the interaction of sex chromosome and hormonal effects (Arnold and Chen 2009). When same gonadal sex XX and XY mice differ, the difference is due to the sex chromosomes (mostly their composition), although it can also arise from different patterns of imprinting or X inactivation (Burgoyne and Arnold 2016). The FCG model has been used to study the effect of the sex chromosome complement on several types of immune responses, disease models, and viral infections, and the results reflect the complicated intricacy of the interplay between the sex chromosomes complement and gonadal hormones.

Immunization of FCG mice with an autoantigen showed that the Y chromosome, independently of sex hormones, was immunostimulatory, in contrast to testosterone, which was immunosuppressive, suggesting compensatory effect between the Y chromosome and testosterone (Palaszynski et al. 2005). The FCG model combined with mouse models of the female-predominant autoimmune diseases, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (the most common mouse model for multiple sclerosis) and pristane-induced lupus (a mouse model of SLE), showed higher frequency of the diseases in XX animals compared to XY animals, independently of gonadal sex (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008). In contrast, gonadectomy and hormone manipulation in the FCG model showed no effect of sex chromosomes composition on the numbers of total CD4+ and CD8+ cells in young mice, although gonadal hormones markedly affected those numbers (Ghosh et al. 2021).

In the FCG model with induced bladder cancer, both female gonadal sex and an XX genotype independently improved the overall survival. Mechanistically, the XX protection is conferred, at least in part, via KDM6A escape from XCI (Kaneko and Li 2018). The FCG model has also been used to demonstrate that sex chromosomes can impact susceptibility to some, but not all, viral infections; for example, the Y chromosome contributes to the severity of coxsackievirus B3 infection but not influenza A virus infection (Robinson et al. 2011).

3.2 Human Cell Lines with Sex Chromosome Aberrations

The natural occurrence of individuals with sex chromosome aberrations facilitates the study of the number of sex chromosome copies on gene expression, as was recently done on lymphoblastoid cell lines with one active X and 0–3 copies of inactive X (San Roman et al. 2022). The expression of more than third of the genes on the X chromosome was affected by X chromosome copy number. This finding was independent of the presence of a Y chromosome, indicating that the effect is genetic and not caused by a hormonal effect. Notably, although the change in expression of some of those genes can be explained by escape from X inactivation, the allelic ratio shows that for many of those genes, the inactive X copy number modulates the expression level of the gene copy that is on the active X chromosome, indicating *trans*-regulation (San Roman et al. 2022). Although such cell lines have not yet been used for the study of the immune response, they hold promise for the study of the

3.3 Additional Mouse Models

Steroidogenic factor 1 (Sf1) knockout mice of both sexes are born without gonads or adrenals and die at birth unless they receive treatment. Although this model is useful to test whether XX and XY immune-related differences are retained when there is no

gonadal hormonal exposure (Luo et al. 1995), it is not used to study of sex differences in immunology, probably due to the structural and functional abnormalities in the spleen and in hematopoiesis of Sf1 knockout mice (Morohashi et al. 1999).

The mouse model of Turner syndrome (39X0) has a surprisingly mild phenotype and is mostly viable (Lopes et al. 2010; Ashworth et al. 1991). A possible explanation to the difference between the phenotype of human and murine X chromosome monosomy is the small number of genes on the murine PAR region and, in general, a lower number of escapees in mouse compared to human. This probably means that the mouse is a limited model for studying the effects of X copy number aberrations. Notably, due to the rapid evolution of the Y chromosome in terms of gene content, size, and structure, the mouse Y chromosome is far more different from the human Y chromosome vs. other chromosomes, which limits its use as a model (Hughes and Page 2015).

4 Female-Specific States and Their Immune Consequences

The female body is required to be tolerant to sperm and to the fetus, which contain foreign proteins, while protecting the developing fetus from pathogens. Also, after birth, the immunity of the newborn baby is supplemented via breast feeding [reviewed in (Camacho-Morales et al. 2021; Lokossou et al. 2022)]. Pregnancy-related and lactational-related states are specific to women and pose challenges to the immune system. Here, we focus on those aspects of these states that are most likely to contribute to the differences in immunity between women and men.

4.1 Pregnancy as a Graft

At the fetal–maternal interface, two immunologically distinct individuals meet. To preserve the pregnancy, the maternal immune system must ensure tolerance to the fetal material [reviewed in (Hsu and Nanan 2014)]. This tolerance can be achieved by a combination of anatomical separation (that minimizes the interface), reduced fetal antigenic potential, and maternal immune inertness (Billington 2003). Various models have been suggested to explain why the maternal immune system does not attack the fetus as it would be a graft [reviewed in (Chaouat 2016; Billington 2003)], and specific mechanisms have been identified [reviewed in (Erlebacher 2013)]. In parallel to maternal modifications, the fetal immunogenicity is reduced; for example, placental trophoblast cells do not express the strong histocompatibility antigens, HLA-A, -B, or -D, thereby reducing their immunogenicity to T cells (Wood 1994). However, trophoblasts do express paternal HLA-C antigens, which are recognized by maternal KIR receptors on uterine natural killer cells. The combination of a specific maternal KIR genotype with a fetal HLA-C2 increases the risk of preeclampsia (Hiby et al. 2004). The fetus may also actively reduce the maternal immune response,

for example, by releasing from the placenta exosomes that suppress maternal T cell signaling components (Sabapatha et al. 2006). However, in preeclampsia, the maternal response to the pregnancy endangers the fetus and the mother and involves an immune component. The risk of preeclampsia is higher in (1) oocyte-donation pregnancies compared with other methods of assisted reproductive technology or natural conception (Masoudian et al. 2016), (2) first pregnancy (Eskenazi et al. 1991), (3) subsequent pregnancy but with a different father (Robillard et al. 1993), and (4) shorter duration of sexual relationship with the father (Kho et al. 2009). These observations have given rise to the hypothesis that the maternal adaptive immune system is involved in preeclampsia and that prolonged exposure to a specific set of paternal antigens on sperm or fetus, by sexual relationships or pregnancies with the same partner, respectively, leads to tolerance to the paternal antigens [reviewed in (Robillard et al. 2011)].

4.2 Microchimerism in Fetal Cells

The mother and fetus exchange cell-free DNA, microRNAs, exosomes, and even cells. Such fetal cells can persist in the mother for decades (Bianchi et al. 1996). Rare cells found in one individual that originate from another individual and are genetically distinct from the host individual are termed microchimeric cells, and if the other individual is a fetus, the phenomenon is termed fetal microchimerism. Preeclampsia increases the frequency of fetal microchimerism in blood cells (Gammill et al. 2013) and, particularly, in immune cells (McCartney et al. 2022). There is contradictory evidence regarding the contribution of fetal microchimerism to maternal autoimmune diseases later in life (Gammill and Nelson 2010; Nelson 2012). Nonetheless, fetal microchimerism has contributed to the evolution of the female immune system and clearly remains a potential player in female immunity (that is missing in male immunity). It has even been suggested that fetal microchimerism has played an active part in the evolution of cooperation between sexes and between mother and fetus, as well as in the conflict of interest between those parties (Cómitre-Mariano et al. 2021). The immune effect of fetal microchimerism might depend on multiple factors, including the fetal sex and age and the (dis)similarity between the fetal and maternal HLA compositions (Nelson 2012). It has also been suggested that fetal microchimerism in immune cells may even trigger a graft-versus-host-like disease, activating and regulating the maternal immune responses in ways that increase the risk of autoimmune disease (Cómitre-Mariano et al. 2021). In contrast, fetal microchimerism may also improve wound healing in the mother and protect her from cancer [reviewed in (Fugazzola et al. 2011)].

5 Concluding Remarks

With the constant increase in human life expectancy, the period during which gonadal hormones levels are reduced in women and men will become increasingly longer. During this period, the non-hormonal differences between the sexes contribute more to the difference between sexes immunity than earlier in life, when hormonal changes are more prominent. A better understanding of the non-hormonal effects of sex chromosomes thus becomes more important for improving the life quality during that period.

Although the only genetic difference between women and men is seemingly the sex chromosome complement, extensive research has revealed this difference is multifaceted and is also influenced by additional genetic factors. Briefly, men and women with monosomy X are more vulnerable to mutations on X. The inactive X chromosome is a significant amount of silenced DNA, and as a result it is affected by global DNA silencing changes and may also affect such changes. All humans carry cells of their mothers, which may affect men and women differently, and women who have carried pregnancies and hence been exposed to fetal material may carry fetal cells for many years. Although the effect of the above differences on the functioning of the immune system and the likelihood of developing autoimmune diseases has been shown in some cases, their full consequences, and the mechanisms behind them are only just beginning to be understood.

Bibliography

- Arnold AP, Chen X (2009) What does the "four core genotypes" mouse model tell us about sex differences in the brain and other tissues? Front Neuroendocrinol 30(1):1–9. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.yfrne.2008.11.001
- Ashworth A, Rastan S, Lovell-Badge R et al (1991) X-chromosome inactivation may explain the difference in viability of XO humans and mice. Nature 351(6325):406–408. https://doi.org/10. 1038/351406a0
- Azar P, Mejía JE, Cenac C et al (2020) TLR7 dosage polymorphism shapes interferogenesis and HIV-1 acute viremia in women. JCI Insight 5(12):e136047. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight. 136047.doi:10.1172/jci.insight.136047
- Barbosa FB, Sinicato NA, Julio PR et al (2020) Trisomy X in a patient with childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. J Transl Autoimmun 3:100043. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtauto. 2020.100043
- Bardsley MZ, Kowal K, Levy C et al (2013) 47, XYY syndrome: clinical phenotype and timing of ascertainment. J Pediatr 163(4):1085–1094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.05.037
- Bianchi DW, Zickwolf GK, Weil GJ et al (1996) Male fetal progenitor cells persist in maternal blood for as long as 27 years postpartum. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93(2):705–708. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.93.2.705
- Billington WD (2003) The immunological problem of pregnancy: 50 years with the hope of progress. A tribute to peter medawar. J Reprod Immunol 60(1):1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-037 8(03)00083-4

- Burgoyne PS, Arnold AP (2016) A primer on the use of mouse models for identifying direct sex chromosome effects that cause sex differences in non-gonadal tissues. Biol Sex Differ 7(1):68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-016-0115-5
- Busque L, Paquette Y, Provost S et al (2009) Skewing of X-inactivation ratios in blood cells of aging women is confirmed by independent methodologies. Blood 113(15):3472–3474. https:// doi.org/10.1182/blood-2008-12-195677
- Camacho-Morales A, Caba M, García-Juárez M et al (2021) Breastfeeding contributes to physiological immune programming in the newborn. Front Pediatr 9:744104. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fped.2021.744104
- Carrel L, Willard HF (2005) X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. Nature 434(7031):400–404. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03479
- Case LK, Wall EH, Dragon JA et al (2013) The Y chromosome as a regulatory element shaping immune cell transcriptomes and susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Genome Res 23(9):1474– 1485. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.156703.113
- Chaouat G (2016) Reconsidering the Medawar paradigm placental viviparity existed for eons, even in vertebrates; without a "problem": why are tregs important for preeclampsia in great apes? J Reprod Immunol 114:48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2015.09.002
- Cómitre-Mariano B, Martínez-García M, García-Gálvez B et al (2021) Feto-Maternal microchimerism: memories from pregnancy. Iscience 25(1):103664. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.isci.2021.103664
- De Sanctis V, Khater D (2019) Autoimmune diseases in Turner syndrome: an overview. Acta Biomed 90(3):341–344. https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v90i3.8737
- De Vries GJ, Rissman EF, Simerly RB et al (2002) A model system for study of sex chromosome effects on sexually dimorphic neural and behavioral traits. J Neurosci 22(20):9005–9014. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-20-09005.2002
- Erlebacher A (2013) Mechanisms of T cell tolerance towards the allogeneic fetus. Nat Rev Immunol 13(1):23–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3361
- Eskenazi B, Fenster L, Sidney S (1991) A multivariate analysis of risk factors for preeclampsia. JAMA 266(2):237–241
- Fugazzola L, Cirello V, Beck-Peccoz P (2011) Fetal microchimerism as an explanation of disease. Nat Rev Endocrinol 7(2):89–97. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2010.216
- Fujimoto M, Ikeda K, Nakamura T et al (2015) Development of mixed connective tissue disease and Sjögren's syndrome in a patient with trisomy X. Lupus 24(11):1217–1220. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0961203315580873
- Gal-Oz ST, Maier B, Yoshida H et al (2019) ImmGen report: sexual dimorphism in the immune system transcriptome. Nat Commun 10(1):4295–4296. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12348-6[doi]
- Gammill HS, Aydelotte TM, Guthrie KA et al (2013) Cellular fetal microchimerism in preeclampsia. Hypertension 62(6):1062–1067. https://doi.org/10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.113.01486
- Gammill HS, Nelson JL (2010) Naturally acquired microchimerism. Int J Dev Biol 54(2–3):531– 543. https://doi.org/10.1387/ijdb.082767hg
- Ghisa M, Savarino V, Buda A et al (2022) Toward a potential association between eosinophilic esophagitis and Klinefelter syndrome: a case series and review of the literature. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 15:17562848221076888. https://doi.org/10.1177/17562848221076888
- Ghosh MK, Chen KE, Dill-Garlow R et al (2021) Sex differences in the immune system become evident in the perinatal period in the four core genotypes mouse. Front Endocrinol (lausanne) 12:582614. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2021.582614
- Giltay JC, Maiburg MC (2010) Klinefelter syndrome: clinical and molecular aspects. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 10(6):765–776. https://doi.org/10.1586/erm.10.63
- Gipson SAY, Hall MD (2016) The evolution of sexual dimorphism and its potential impact on host–pathogen coevolution. Evolution 70(5):959–968. https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.12922

- Goswami R, Goswami D, Kabra M et al (2003) Prevalence of the triple X syndrome in phenotypically normal women with premature ovarian failure and its association with autoimmune thyroid disorders. Fertil Steril 80(4):1052–1054. S001502820301121X [pii]
- Gubbels Bupp MR, Jorgensen TN (2018) Androgen-Induced immunosuppression. Front Immunol 9
- Guo X, Su B, Zhou Z et al (2009) Rapid evolution of mammalian X-linked testis microRNAs. BMC Genomics 10(1):97.https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-97
- Hacisuleyman E, Goff LA, Trapnell C et al (2014) Topological organization of multichromosomal regions by the long intergenic noncoding RNA Firre. Nat Struct Mol Biol 21(2):198–206. https:/ /doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.2764
- Hamada H, Okae H, Toh H et al (2016) Allele-Specific methylome and transcriptome analysis reveals widespread imprinting in the human placenta. The American Journal of Human Genetics 99(5):1045–1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2016.08.021
- Hiby SE, Walker JJ, O'Shaughnessy KM et al (2004) Combinations of maternal KIR and fetal HLA-C genes influence the risk of preeclampsia and reproductive success. J Exp Med 200(8):957–965. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041214
- Hjerrild BE, Mortensen KH, Gravholt CH (2008) Turner syndrome and clinical treatment. Br Med Bull 86:77–93. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldn015
- Hsu P, Nanan RKH (2014) Innate and adaptive immune interactions at the fetal-maternal interface in healthy human pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Front Immunol 5:125. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00125
- Hughes JF, Page DC (2015) The biology and evolution of mammalian Y chromosomes. Annu Rev Genet 49(1):507–527. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-genet-112414-055311
- Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Selmi C et al (2005) X chromosome monosomy: a common mechanism for autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 175(1):575–578. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.175. 1.575
- Jørgensen KT, Rostgaard K, Bache I et al (2010) Autoimmune diseases in women with turner's syndrome. Arthritis Rheum 62(3):658–666. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.27270
- Kanaan SB, Onat OE, Balandraud N et al (2016) Evaluation of X chromosome inactivation with respect to HLA genetic susceptibility in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic sclerosis. PLoS ONE 11(6):e0158550
- Kaneko S, Li X (2018) X chromosome protects against bladder cancer in females via a KDM6Adependent epigenetic mechanism. Sci Adv 4(6):eaar5598. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aar 5598
- Kho EM, McCowan LME, North RA et al (2009) Duration of sexual relationship and its effect on preeclampsia and small for gestational age perinatal outcome. J Reprod Immunol 82(1):66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2009.04.011
- Kinder JM, Stelzer IA, Arck PC et al (2017) Immunological implications of pregnancy-induced microchimerism. Nat Rev Immunol 17(8):483–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2017.38
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626– 638. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.90
- Lahn BT, Page DC (1999) Four evolutionary strata on the human X chromosome. Science 286(5441):964–967. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5441.964
- Lambert NC (2009) The price of silence. Arthritis Rheum 60(11):3164–3167. https://doi.org/10. 1002/art.24962
- Lewandowski JP, Lee JC, Hwang T et al (2019) The Firre locus produces a trans-acting RNA molecule that functions in hematopoiesis. Nat Commun 10(1):5137–5144. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41467-019-12970-4
- Liu K, Kurien BT, Zimmerman SL et al (2016) X chromosome dose and sex bias in autoimmune diseases: increased prevalence of 47, XXX in systemic lupus erythematosus and Sjögren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheumatol 68(5):1290–1300. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.39560

- Lokossou GAG, Kouakanou L, Schumacher A et al (2022) Human breast milk: from food to active immune response with disease protection in infants and mothers. Front Immunol 13:849012. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.849012
- Lopes AM, Burgoyne PS, Ojarikre A et al (2010) Transcriptional changes in response to X chromosome dosage in the mouse: implications for X inactivation and the molecular basis of turner syndrome. BMC Genomics 11:82–82. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-11-82
- Lovell-Badge R, Robertson E (1990) XY female mice resulting from a heritable mutation in the primary testis-determining gene Tdy. Development 109(3):635–646. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.109.3.635
- Lu Y, Liu X, Xie M et al (2017) The NF-κB-Responsive long noncoding RNA FIRRE regulates posttranscriptional regulation of inflammatory gene expression through interacting with hnRNPU. J Immunol 199(10):3571–3582. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1700091
- Luo X, Ikeda Y, Schlosser DA et al (1995) Steroidogenic factor 1 is the essential transcript of the mouse Ftz-F1 gene. Mol Endocrinol 9(9):1233–1239. https://doi.org/10.1210/mend.9.9.749 1115
- Mak W, Nesterova TB, de Napoles M et al (2004) Reactivation of the paternal X chromosome in early mouse embryos. Science 303(5658):666–669. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1092674
- Masoudian P, Nasr A, de Nanassy J et al (2016) Oocyte donation pregnancies and the risk of preeclampsia or gestational hypertension: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol 214(3):328–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2015.11.020
- McCartney SA, Kolarova T, Kanaan SB et al (2022) Increased fetal microchimerism in immune and stem cell subsets in preeclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol:e13666. https://doi.org/10.1111/ aji.13666
- Miga KH, Koren S, Rhie A et al (2020) Telomere-to-telomere assembly of a complete human X chromosome. Nature 585(7823):79–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2547-7
- Migeon BR (2007) Why females are mosaics, x-chromosome inactivation, and sex differences in disease. Gend Med 4(2):97–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1550-8579(07)80024-6
- Migeon BR (2020) X-linked diseases: susceptible females. Genet Med 22(7):1156–1174. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41436-020-0779-4
- Miyakawa H, Iyonaga K, Arima S et al (1997) A superfemale with primary Sjögren's syndrome which involved systemic organs. J Intern Med 242(3):261–265. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2796.1997.00190.x
- Morohashi K, Tsuboi-Asai H, Matsushita S et al (1999) Structural and functional abnormalities in the spleen of an mFtz-F1 gene-disrupted mouse. Blood 93(5):1586–1594
- Mousavi MJ, Mahmoudi M, Ghotloo S (2020) Escape from X chromosome inactivation and female bias of autoimmune diseases. Mol Med 26(1):127. https://doi.org/10.1186/s10020-020-00256-1
- Navarro-Cobos MJ, Balaton BP, Brown CJ (2020) Genes that escape from X-chromosome inactivation: Potential contributors to Klinefelter syndrome. Am J Med Genet C Semin Med Genet 184(2):226–238. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.c.31800
- Nelson JL (2012) The otherness of self: microchimerism in health and disease. Trends Immunol 33(8):421–427. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.03.002
- Okamoto I, Otte AP, Allis CD et al (2004) Epigenetic dynamics of imprinted X inactivation during early mouse development. Science 303(5658):644–649. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1092727
- Otter M, Schrander-Stumpel CTRM, Curfs LMG (2010) Triple X syndrome: a review of the literature. Eur J Hum Genet 18(3):265–271. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2009.109
- Ozbalkan Z, Bagişlar S, Kiraz S et al (2005) Skewed X chromosome inactivation in blood cells of women with scleroderma. Arthritis Rheum 52(5):1564–1570. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.21026
- Ozcelik T, Uz E, Akyerli CB et al (2006) Evidence from autoimmune thyroiditis of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. Eur J Hum Genet 14(6):791–797. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ejhg.5201614

- Palaszynski KM, Smith DL, Kamrava S et al (2005) A yin-yang effect between sex chromosome complement and sex hormones on the immune response. Endocrinology 146(8):3280–3285. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2005-0284
- Panimolle F, Tiberti C, Spaziani M et al (2021) Non-organ-specific autoimmunity in adult 47, XXY Klinefelter patients and higher-grade X-chromosome aneuploidies. Clin Exp Immunol 205(3):316–325. https://doi.org/10.1111/cei.13616
- Petropoulos S, Edsgärd D, Reinius B et al (2016) Single-Cell RNA-Seq reveals lineage and X chromosome dynamics in human preimplantation embryos. Cell 165(4):1012–1026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.023
- Pinheiro I, Dejager L, Libert C (2011) X-chromosome-located microRNAs in immunity: might they explain male/female differences? BioEssays 33(11):791–802. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201 100047
- Rae W, Gao Y, Bunyan D et al (2015) A novel FOXP3 mutation causing fetal akinesia and recurrent male miscarriages. Clin Immunol 161(2):284–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2015.09.006
- Rhie A, Nurk S, Cechova M et al (2022) The complete sequence of a human Y chromosome. bioRxiv:2022.12.01.518724. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.12.01.518724
- Rice WR (1992) Sexually antagonistic genes: experimental evidence. Science 256(5062):1436
- Robillard PY, Hulsey TC, Alexander GR et al (1993) Paternity patterns and risk of preeclampsia in the last pregnancy in multiparae. J Reprod Immunol 24(1):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-0378(93)90032-d
- Robillard P, Dekker G, Chaouat G et al (2011) Epidemiological studies on primipaternity and immunology in preeclampsia–a statement after twelve years of workshops. J Reprod Immunol 89(2):104–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2011.02.003
- Robinson DP, Huber SA, Moussawi M et al (2011) Sex chromosome complement contributes to sex differences in coxsackievirus B3 but not influenza A virus pathogenesis. Biol Sex Differ 2:8–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-6410-2-8
- Rolff J (2002) Bateman's principle and immunity. Proc Biol Sci 269(1493):867–872. https://doi. org/10.1098/rspb.2002.1959
- Sabapatha A, Gercel-Taylor C, Taylor DD (2006) Specific isolation of placenta-derived exosomes from the circulation of pregnant women and their immunoregulatory consequences1. Am J Reprod Immunol 56(5–6):345–355. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.2006.00435.x
- San Roman AK, Godfrey AK, Skaletsky H et al (2023) The human inactive X chromosome modulates expression of the active X chromosome. Cell Genom 3(2):100259. doi:10.1016/ j.xgen.2023.100259.
- Seminog OO, Seminog AB, Yeates D et al (2015) Associations between Klinefelter's syndrome and autoimmune diseases: English national record linkage studies. Autoimmunity 48(2):125–128. https://doi.org/10.3109/08916934.2014.968918
- Shenoda BB, Ramanathan S, Gupta R et al (2021) Xist attenuates acute inflammatory response by female cells. Cell Mol Life Sci 78(1):299–316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-020-03500-3
- Smith-Bouvier DL, Divekar AA, Sasidhar M et al (2008) A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 205(5):1099–1108. https://doi.org/10. 1084/jem.20070850
- Sood B, Clemente Fuentes RW (2022) Jacobs Syndrome. In: StatPearls, StatPearls Publishing LLC, Treasure Island (FL)
- Stoehr AM, Kokko H (2006) Sexual dimorphism in immunocompetence: what does life-history theory predict? Behav Ecol 17(5):751–756. https://doi.org/10.1093/beheco/ark018
- Syrett CM, Anguera MC (2019) When the balance is broken: X-linked gene dosage from two X chromosomes and female-biased autoimmunity. J Leukoc Biol 106(4):919–932. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/JLB.6RI0319-094R
- Syrett CM, Paneru B, Sandoval-Heglund D et al (2019a) Altered X-chromosome inactivation in T cells may promote sex-biased autoimmune diseases. JCI Insight 4(7):e126751. https://doi.org/ 10.1172/jci.insight.126751.eCollection2019Apr4.doi:10.1172/jci.insight.126751

- Syrett CM, Sindhava V, Sierra I et al (2019b) Diversity of epigenetic features of the inactive Xchromosome in NK cells, dendritic cells, and macrophages. Front Immunol 9:3087. https://doi. org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.03087
- Tartaglia NR, Howell S, Sutherland A et al (2010) A review of trisomy X (47, XXX). Orphanet J Rare Dis 5:8–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1750-1172-5-8
- Thrasher BJ, Hong LK, Whitmire JK et al (2016) Epigenetic dysfunction in turner syndrome immune cells. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep 16(5):36-y. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11882-016-0612-y
- Trolle C, Nielsen MM, Skakkebæk A et al (2016) Widespread DNA hypomethylation and differential gene expression in turner syndrome. Sci Rep 6:34220. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34220
- Tukiainen T, Villani A, Yen A et al (2017) Landscape of X chromosome inactivation across human tissues. Nature 550(7675):244–248. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature24265
- Úbeda F, Jansen VAA (2016) The evolution of sex-specific virulence in infectious diseases. Nat Commun 7(1):13849. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13849
- Uz E, Mustafa C, Topaloglu R et al (2009) Increased frequency of extremely skewed X chromosome inactivation in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 60(11):3410–3412. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/art.24956
- Wood GW (1994) Is restricted antigen presentation the explanation for fetal allograft survival? Immunol Today 15(1):15–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-5699(94)90020-5
- Yamazaki S, Akutsu Y, Shimbo A et al (2021) Childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus with trisomy X and the increased risk for bone complications: a case report. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 19(1):20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12969-021-00507-3
- Youness A, Miquel C, Guéry J (2021) Escape from X chromosome inactivation and the female predominance in autoimmune diseases. Int J Mol Sci 22(3):1114. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijm s22031114.doi:10.3390/ijms22031114
- Zuk M (2009) The sicker sex. PLOS Pathogens 5(1):e1000267
- Zuk M, Stoehr AM (2002) Immune defense and host life history. Am Nat 160(Suppl 4):S9–S22. https://doi.org/10.1086/342131

The Influence of Sex Hormones and X Chromosome in Immune Responses



Nina Anesi, Charles-Henry Miquel, Sophie Laffont, and Jean-Charles Guéry

Abstract Males and females differ in their susceptibility to develop autoimmunity and allergy but also in their capacity to cope with infections and cancers. Cellular targets and molecular pathways underlying sexual dimorphism in immunity have started to emerge and appeared multifactorial. It became increasingly clear that sexlinked biological factors have important impact on the development, tissue maintenance and effector function acquisition of distinct immune cell populations, thereby regulating multiple layers of innate or adaptive immunity through distinct mechanisms. This review discusses the recent development in our understanding of the cell-intrinsic actions of biological factors linked to sex, sex hormones and sex chromosome complement, on immune cells, which may account for the sex differences in susceptibility to autoimmune diseases and allergies, and the sex-biased responses in natural immunity and cancer.

1 Introduction

Autoimmune diseases (AIDs) differentially affect females and males. In developed countries, about 5% of the population suffers from autoimmune diseases, which is estimated to represent between 14 and 23 million people in the USA (Committe 2005), of which women are the most affected category (70 to 80%). Women also produced a greater antibody response than men, with higher range of protection and of better quality, to various types of pathogens and vaccines (Fink and Klein 2018).

S. Laffont e-mail: Sophie.Laffont-Pradines@inserm.fr

J.-C. Guéry

N. Anesi · C.-H. Miquel · S. Laffont · J.-C. Guéry (🖂)

Toulouse Institute for Infectious and Inflammatory Diseases (INFINITY), Université de Toulouse, INSERM, CNRS, UPS, 31300 Toulouse, France e-mail: Jean-Charles.Guery@inserm.fr

INSERM UMR1291, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Purpan, Place du Dr. Baylac, 31024 Toulouse Cedex 3, France

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_2

This sex bias in the anti-viral immune response has been clearly documented during the COVID-19 pandemic, whose infected female patients presented a lower risk of disease severity as compared to males at all classes of age above 50 (Scully et al. 2020; Takahashi and Iwasaki 2021).

This accumulated ability of women to induce a stronger immune response has been associated to a higher risk to develop AIDs, as scleroderma, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis (MS), Sjögren's syndrome or systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), each of them with a specific high female/male sex ratio (Billi et al. 2019). This female predominance is commonly seen in SLE patients, of which, nine women for one man are affected (Whitacre 2001), female predominance is also observed in childhood before puberty or in postmenopausal women, when estrogen levels are low (Smith et al. 2019), suggesting that alternative mechanisms besides sex hormones may be at play.

The difference in antibody response is one of the best conserved sex differences in immunology within mammals. In accordance with it, studies have revealed that the differences are due to the composition of the immune system itself. In general, women have a higher number of T lymphocytes (LT) CD4/CD8, B lymphocytes (LB) and plasma cells (PC), while men have a higher proportion of Natural Killer cells (NK) and CD14 and CD16 monocytes (Klein and Flanagan 2016). This difference in the composition of the immune system has also been found in mice (Menees et al. 2021), suggesting that it represents an evolutionary advantage for females that have been conserved over time (Zuk 2009). The female bias in autoimmune diseases was initially mainly attributed to sex hormones. Indeed, estrogens in females and androgens in males can positively or negatively influence the maintenance, development and effector functions of various immune cell subsets from the innate and adaptive immune system (Laffont et al. 2017a; Laffont and Guery 2019; Wilkinson et al. 2022).

In addition to the action of sex steroid hormones, genetic mechanisms linked to sex chromosome effects have recently emerged as a potential contributor of sex differences in immune responses across a wide range of age (Youness et al. 2021; Jiwrajka and Anguera 2022), and men with Klinefelter syndrome (47,XXY) have an equivalent susceptibility to women (46, XX) to develop lupus (Liu et al. 2016), while women with turner syndrome (45 X0) appear protected (Bai et al. 2015). Thus, the dosage of the X chromosome seems to be involved in the development of lupus pathology, scleroderma and Sjögren's syndrome.

Understanding the X-linked genetic mechanisms by which biological sex influences the strength and magnitude of innate and adaptive immunity may therefore have implications not only for the treatment of these immunopathological disorders, but also for promoting optimal protective immunity in response to pathogens or for improving vaccine efficacy in both sexes.

23

2 Sex Hormone Signaling and X Chromosome Dosage Effects

2.1 Sex Steroid Hormones Signaling

2.1.1 Molecular Structure of ERs and AR

Sex steroid hormones, estrogen and androgen, essentially mediate their actions through estrogen receptor α and β and androgen receptor, respectively. ERs and AR belong to the large family of nuclear receptors whose members share similar structures and functions. Their molecular structures can be subdivided into six functional domains: the N-terminal transcriptional regulation domain (or A/B domain), the DNA binding domain (DBD or C domain), the hinge region (D domain), the ligand binding domain (LBD) and the C-terminal region (F domain) (Thomas and Gustafsson 2011). The highly variable A/B region, both in length and sequence, contains the AF-1 transactivation domain which can regulate transcription activity of targeted genes through the recruitment of co-activators or repressors. The A/B domain also contains target sites for phosphorylation by several kinases involved in signaling pathways downstream of growth factors or cytokines (Arnal et al. 2017). The C domain encompasses the DBD which is the most highly conserved domain among the different nuclear receptor members. The DBD consists of two zinc fingers that recognize specific hormone responsive element (HRE) within target genes to modulate their transcription allowing their specificity of action. The D domain is a flexible hinge region, poorly conserved, joining the DBD and the LBD. It contains, among other function domains, the nuclear localization domain (NLS) which is requires for the translocation of the receptor to the nucleus. The large C-term E/ F region includes the LBD, the transcriptional activation function 2 (AF-2) and domain responsible for the binding with chaperons. Binding of the hormone to the LBD induces conformational changes allowing stabilization of the receptor dimers.

2.1.2 Mode of Action of ERα and AR.

Hormones and their receptors trigger cellular responses through different pathways that can be grouped into ligand-dependent and non-dependent pathways. In the classical ligand-dependent genomic pathway, binding of the hormone to its receptor induces the release from chaperones, which sequestered them in the nucleus, its homodimerization and its translocation to the nucleus. Liganded receptors can influence target gene transcription through direct DNA binding at HRE or indirect DNA binding via association with transcription factors such as AP-1 and SP-1 for ER α or ETS for AR. Co-activators or inhibitors of the transcription will further be recruited to AF-1 and AF-2 domains to regulate the transcription. In addition to this classical mode of action that is relatively slow, non-genomic signaling can rapidly be initiated, within couple of minutes, upon binding of the hormone to cell membrane-bound

receptors (Arnal et al. 2017). These membrane initiated steroid signaling effects (MISS) trigger cascades of kinases or phosphatases generating second messengers ultimately influencing transcription (Arnal et al. 2017; Dai et al. 2017). Cell surfaceinitiated androgen action can also occur via non-classical membrane AR, unrelated to nuclear steroid receptors (ZIP9, GPRC6A, OXER1), which engage G-protein coupled signaling mechanisms (Thomas 2019; Kalyvianaki et al. 2019). Besides these ligand-dependent pathways, ER α and AR can be reactivated by others signals such as cytokines like IL-6 or growth factors like epidermal growth factors (EGF) (Arnal et al. 2017; Bennett et al. 2010) that can trigger protein kinase cascade leading to receptor phosphorylation and subsequent activation in the absence of their ligands.

If the mode of actions of ER and AR is similar in many respects, the way the two receptors limit hormone responsiveness is very different (Lee and Chang 2003). In the presence of estrogen, ER is rapidly exported from the nucleus and degraded by the proteasome in the cytoplasm, limiting the duration of promotor occupancy by ER and allowing the constant binding of newly imported receptors (Reid et al. 2003). Conversely, level of AR protein is increased in the presence of androgen. This positive feedback loop could be due to a combination of nuclear localization promotion of the receptor by androgen (Astapova et al. 2021) together with the promotion of AR translation by the hormone (Siciliano et al. 2022). Recent study suggests that deprivation of androgen may lead to the ubiquitination and degradation of AR within the nucleus (Lv et al. 2021).

2.2 X Chromosome Gene Dosage and X Chromosome Inactivation Escape

2.2.1 General Principles of X Chromosome Inactivation

The process of X chromosome inactivation (XCI) begins during embryonic development and is inherited through somatic cell divisions over life. The initiation of XCI is genetically controlled by a regulatory region called the X inactivation center (XIC) located on the long arm of the X chromosome (Xq13.2) in humans (Loda et al. 2022). The inactivation center hosts many genes and transcriptional regulators. One of the best characterized locus is the gene coding for *Xist*, a long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) of approximately 19 Kb in Human and 18 kb in mice which covers in cis the X chromosome to be inactivated. *Xist* will induce the extinction of gene expression or "gene silencing". However, although required for the initiation of the process, *Xist* does not appear necessary in the maintenance of the inactive state in differentiated cells (Loda et al. 2022). During the initiation of XCI, the coating *in cis* of the inactive X chromosome (Xi) by the lncRNA *Xist* leads to a disruption of the structure of the chromosome as well as a complete reorganization of the chromatin. *Xist* then induces a cascade of epigenetic mechanisms leading to the transition from an open and transcriptionally active chromatin (euchromatin) to a condensed and inactive chromatin (heterochromatin). Thus, locking of chromatin on the Xi is dependent on complex epigenetic mechanisms (Loda et al. 2022). During the initiation process, Xist will be recognized by SPEN, a transcriptional repressor which harbors RNA-binding domains. This interaction will lead to the activation of histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3) targeting permissive epigenetic marks (euchromatin), such as acetylated histone H3 Lys27 (H3K27ac) thereby initiating chromatin locking. Concomitantly, the RNA polymerase II will be excluded from the future inactive compartment. Subsequently, the polycomb PRC1 and PRC2 protein complexes, via their enzymatic activity, will participate in the maintenance of gene extinction. All of these molecular modifications will eventually extend to the entire X chromosome to ensure inactivation, except in the pseudoautosomal regions PAR1 and PAR2, which are shared by both X and Y chromosomes and recombine during meiosis. In addition, the Xa, unlike Xi, is organized into topological associated domains (TADs) where transcriptionally active genes can interact with each others over long distances, forming loops. These loops or TADs, with an average size of 1 Mb (Nora et al. 2012), regulate gene expression by facilitating or preventing interactions between gene promoters and regulatory elements (enhancer) over long distances. From a structural point of view, these spatial conformations are made possible thanks to two architectural proteins: zinc finger protein 11 or CTCF (CCTC-binding factor) and cohesin which can modulate and separate the different TADs. In addition to being poor in TADs, the Xi presents a bipartite structure divided into two large domains called "mega-domains". These two mega-domains are separated by a microsatellite region DXZ4 on which the transcriptional repressor CTCF can also bind and modulate the three-dimensional conformation of the Xi (Rao et al. 2014; Giorgetti et al. 2016) (Fig. 1).

However, the process of XCI to repress X-linked gene expression is incomplete. Indeed, some genes will escape from the global gene extinction of Xi. These genes called "escapees" will then be expressed from the two chromosomes (Xa and Xi) at variable levels.

2.2.2 Escape from XCI: Facultative Versus Constitutive Escapees

As mentioned above, two categories of genes that escape XCI can be distinguished: those which escape constitutively and those which escape in a facultative manner (Fig. 2). Variable escapees can be expressed from the Xi in one or more given tissues but will be completely inactivated in others. At the population level, several studies have also described significant inter-individual variability in XCI escape (Tukiainen et al. 2017; Cotton et al. 2013). In a study investigating 51 variable escapees in monozygotic twins, only 3% of the 51 genes studied were different between twins, i.e., they escape in one twin and are subjected to XCI in the other twin (Cotton et al. 2015). These results therefore suggest the existence of genetic and hereditary factors explaining the great similarity in the "escapees" profile observed between twins. However, genetics alone does not explain all the inter-individual variability observed, given that 3% of variable escape genes are found to be different between twins. Finally, this variability can also be traced over time. Indeed, it has been described



Fig. 1 3D organization of the Xi. The X inactivation process is genetically controlled by a regulatory region known as the X inactivation center (XIC) located on the long arm of the X chromosome (Xq13.2) in humans. During XCI initiation, Xist a long non-coding RNA (lncRNA), encoded on XIC, spreads throughout along the future X inactive chromosome and induces the extinction of gene expression or gene silencing on the Xi (a). The inactive chromosome (Xi) is organized into two repressive superdomains (red clouds) separated by DXZ4. As opposed to the active X chromosome (Xa) organized into topological associated domains (TADs) with a large euchromatin domain, the Xi is depleted in TAD but presents chromatin loops that are accessible to the transcriptional machinery (green clouds), allowing the constitutive or facultative escape of certain X genes. As example, *TLR7* is represented as a facultative escapee gene and *KDM5c* for a constitutive escapee (b). Created with BioRender.com

that certain genes are inactivated, notably during embryonic development, but are subject to reactivation later in life (Giorgetti et al. 2016). For instance, *Kdm5a* is partially inactivated during embryonic development but constitutively escapes from XCI later in development, while *Huwe1* (E3 ubiquitin-protein ligase) escapes early in development and is highly repressed after embryo implantation (Patrat et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2010). Several constitutive escapees, such as the histone demethylases,

KDM5c and *KDM6a*, are involved in the regulation of transcription by catalyzing the demethylation of di- and tri-methylated histone H3 Lys4 (H3K4me2 and H3K4me3) and of H3K27me3, respectively (Loda et al. 2022). This led to the hypothesis that constitutive escapees could also themselves directly contribute to the establishment/ maintenance of XCI and/or to the regulation of others facultative escapees.



Fig. 2 X chromosome inactivation, facultative versus constitutive escapee genes. X chromosome inactivation occurs in all individuals whose chromosome conformation is XX; this mechanism is randomly carried out in one of the maternal or paternal X chromosome. XCI is initiated by the long non-coding RNA *XIST* (green), which becomes highly expressed on one allele and coats the future inactive X chromosome (Xi) *in cis*, leading to transcriptional repression. The result is a mosaic of cells where in theory half of the cells have an active chromosome (Xa) of maternal origin and the other half of paternal origin, and an inactivation of more than 77% of the X-linked genes in one of two X chromosomes (**a**). Nevertheless, some genes, as *KDM5a and KDM6a*, always escape from XCI in all cells, tissues and individuals, representing among the 15% of the X-linked genes, and are referred as constitutive escapee genes (**b**), whereas approximately another 10% of the X-linked genes, as *TLR7* and *CXCR3*, are tissue specific with dedicated functions and variably escape between cells, tissues and individuals. They are referred as facultative escapee genes (**c**). Dot plots on the right illustrate the putative allelic expression pattern of each alleles from the Xp and/or the Xm at single-cell resolution

2.2.3 Escapees of Interest in Immunity

Escape from XCI is a process found in many mammals, which underlines the importance and advantages of this mechanism in the female. As previously discussed, many immunity-related genes are carried by the X chromosome and some of them escape from XCI at varying levels (Youness et al. 2021). The facultative escapees generate much more cellular heterogeneity in the expression of X-linked genes, as compared to the constitutive escapees (Fig. 1). This diversity could be advantageous during the course of the development of adaptive immune responses, by selecting those cells endowed with enhanced functional properties in response to particular pathogens. However, this same mechanism could be deleterious and contribute to the development and exacerbation of AIDs and in particular of SLE (Youness et al. 2021). Indeed, a growing literature shows that some genes escaping from XCI such as CD40L, CXCR3, BTK, IRAK-1, TLR7/TRL8 and CXorf21 (Table 1) are overexpressed in many autoimmune pathologies, including lupus, and are likely contributing factors to the development of AIDs (Youness et al. 2021). Using CXCR3 bi-cistronic dual reporter mice, it was shown that biallelic CXCR3-expressing T cells were endowed with enhanced functional properties during Leishmania Mexicana infection (Oghumu et al. 2019). Because CXCR3 is a T-bet-induced homing receptor highly expressed in Th1 and T-bet+ "age-associated B cells" (ABC), it is tempting to speculate that CXCR3 biallelic cells will be more efficiently recruited to the site of inflammation, resulting in sex-associated predisposition to autoimmunity and resistance to infection.

3 Biological Role of Sex-Linked Factors in Autoimmunity

3.1 Sex Hormone and X Chromosome Regulation in Organ-Specific Autoimmunity: The Example of Multiple Sclerosis.

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a T cell-mediated autoimmune disease with a female to male ratio of 3:1. Multiple sclerosis and its mouse model, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), are characterized by the recruitment of inflammatory leukocytes, including autoreactive T cells, into the central nervous system (CNS), resulting in myelin damage (Dendrou et al. 2015). Reduced disease activity in women with multiple sclerosis is commonly observed during pregnancy suggesting that sex hormones, such as estrogens, could down-modulate the autoimmune response and associated neuro-inflammation (Abramsky 1994; Korn-Lubetzki et al. 1984; Confavreux et al. 1998). Because of the protective effect of pregnancy on EAE/MS, this disease is considered as a relevant model to study the mechanism by which sex hormones could control autoimmunity. Indeed, studies in EAE have clearly established protective effects of estrogen administration on disease activity (Bebo et al.

Gene symbol	Gene nomenclature	XCI escapee type	Cell type	References
IRAK1	Interleukin 1 receptor associated kinase 1	Facultative	Variable escape in primary fibroblast cell lines	Carrel and Willard (2005)
CD40LG	CD40 ligand	Facultative	Escape in activated T	Wang et al.
CXCR3	C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 3	Facultative	cells and immortalized B cell lines generated from pediatric SLE patients or healthy females	(2016)
IL13RA1	Interleukin 13 receptor subunit alpha 1	Facultative	Escape in pDC from healthy women	Hagen et al. 2020)
CYBB	cytochrome b-245 beta chain	Facultative		
TLR7	Toll like receptor 7	Facultative	Escape in monocyte, lymphocyte B and pDC from healthy women and Klinefelter syndrome males (XXY)	Souyris et al. (2018)
		Facultative	Escape in pDC from healthy women	Hagen et al. 2020)
KDM6a	Lysine demethylase 6A	Constitutive	Escape in hamster-human somatic cell hybrids and immune cells (unpublished)	Greenfield et al. 1998)
KDM5c (SMCX)	Lysine demethylase 5c	Constitutive	Escape in hamster-human somatic cell hybrids and mouse tissues (unpublished)	Greenfield et al. (1998; Agulnik et al. (1994)
BTK	Burton tyrosine kinase	Facultative	escape in pDC from healthy women	Hagen et al. (2020)
CXorf21/ TASL	Chromosome X open reading frame 21; also known as TASL (TLR adaptor interacting with SLC15A4 on the lysosome) (Heinz et al. 2020)	Facultative	Variable escape in primary fibroblast cell lines	Carrel and Willard (2005)

 Table 1
 Genes that escape from XCI in immune cells

2001; Polanczyk et al. 2004a; Liu et al. 2003; Ito et al. 2001; Garidou et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2009; Lelu et al. 2011). Likewise, protective effects of estrogens have been reported in clinical trials using estriol (E3) (Sicotte et al. 2002; Soldan et al. 2003; Voskuhl et al. 2016) or estradiol (E2) (Pozzilli et al. 2015) in relapsing–remitting MS patients.

3.1.1 Direct Action of Sex Hormones in T Cells (Treg Th17)

As mentioned above, estrogens (E2, E3) emerged as a major pregnancy-associated sex hormones responsible for disease protection in MS/EAE (Spence and Voskuhl 2012; Laffont et al. 2015). It has been clearly established that E2 could inhibit CNS autoimmunity and inflammation through distinct non-overlapping mechanisms, involving anti-inflammatory and/or neuroprotective actions (Spence and Voskuhl 2012; Laffont et al. 2015). Multiple targets have been previously proposed to explain the anti-inflammatory actions of E2 on CNS autoimmunity (Wang et al. 2009, 2008; Polanczyk et al. 2004b; Papenfuss et al. 2011; Bodhankar et al. 2011). However, these conclusions were mostly based on correlative analysis of the effect of estrogen supplementation on various immune cell subsets in lymphoid tissues or in the CNS (Laffont et al. 2015). The use of conditional ER-mutant mice has clearly helped resolving contradictory results in the field (Laffont et al. 2015). Using such models to validate the cellular ER targets in vivo, estrogens or ER-selective ligands have been shown to exert potent neuroprotective effects by acting in CNS-resident cells, through either ER α expressed in astrocytes (Giraud et al. 2010; Spence et al. 2011, 2013) or ERß expressed in microglia (Saijo et al. 2011; Khalaj et al. 2013).

The immunosuppressive action of E2 supplementation on peripheral encephalitogenic CD4 T cell activation was certainly the most consensual effects particularly when using high doses of E2 or E3 (Laffont et al. 2015). This suppressive effect, characterized by inhibition of Th1/Th17 cell priming in inflammatory lymph nodes, was elicited with serum concentrations of E2 congruent with pregnancy values. Using such supplementation model, we previously reported a requirement for ER α expression in hematopoietic cells, and more specifically CD4+ T cells rather than dendritic or myeloid cells, or Foxp3+ Treg cells (Lelu et al. 2011; Garnier et al. 2018). Surprisingly, bystander rather than cognate CD4+ T cells were found to represent the primary target of E2 probably through the induction of trans-acting mechanism of suppression involving PD-1 expression on cognate CD4⁺ T cells (Garnier et al. 2018). Because E2-mediated inhibition was reverted by in vivo immune check-point blockade using anti-PD-L1 antibody, it was suggested that E2 supplementation may act to promote PD-L1 expressing cells in vivo as PD-1/PD-L1 interactions have been shown to inhibit Th17 development (Hirahara et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2017).

Few studies have examined the effect of natural pregnancy on EAE protection (Engler et al. 2017). Although such analyses are quite challenging, they have the advantage to study a physiological situation as compared to pharmacological supplementation. In such study, progesterone (P4) was reported to subvert signaling through the glucocorticoid receptor (GC) in Treg cells (Engler et al. 2017). P4 was found to
robustly induce Tregs during pregnancy and T cell-specific deletion of GR in pregnant animals undergoing EAE resulted in a reduced Treg increase and a selective loss of pregnancy-induced protection (Engler et al. 2017). Indeed, it has been reported that P4 can promote the generation of "induced" Tregs (iTregs) through inhibition of mTOR signaling in a mechanism partially involving progesterone receptor (PR) expression (Lee et al. 2012). Whether cross-talk or complementary/synergistic actions exist between ER, PR and GC signaling in distinct T cell subsets to coordinate suppression during pregnancy will certainly deserve further investigation.

In the EAE model, we clearly established that ER α signaling in Treg cells was dispensable for in vivo Treg cell development and for E2-mediated EAE protection (Garnier et al. 2018). However, evidence for ER α -mediated cell-intrinsic action of endogenous E2 on Treg cells has been recently provided at steady state. T cell-specific deletion of ER α in T cells promoted T cell activation-induced apoptosis and down-regulated Foxp3 expression. These effects were mostly observed in competition experiment with ER α -sufficient T cells upon adoptive transfer into Rag2-deficient mice (Mohammad et al. 2018). Ablation of ER α in T cells resulted in the development of mild-autoimmune phenotype with aging associated with anti-nuclear antibodies and increased proportion of T_{FH} cells, suggesting that ER α -signaling suppresses T_{FH} cell development (Kim et al. 2019).

Besides ERa in T cells and Treg cells, recent reports pointed to converging and reproducible actions of E2 or ER ligands on Treg cells through ERB activation. Although ER_b-agonist ligand can protect from EAE development through microglia expression of ERB (Saijo et al. 2011), peripheral action of ERB ligand on CD4 T cells has been suggested to contribute to EAE protection by others (Aggelakopoulou et al. 2016). Whether this effect of ERB-ligand was mediated through ERB signaling in cognate CD4⁺ T cells or Treg cells was not established. In experimental model of intestinal inflammation, ERB agonist ligands were found to be protective by promoting Treg cell expansion (Goodman et al. 2014). Indeed, using an in vitro model, the expression of ER β , but not ER α , was found necessary in naïve CD4 T cells to generate TGF-B-induced Foxp3 iTregs cells (Goodman et al. 2020). E2mediated ER^β activation was required to maintain an effective immune suppression by limiting Treg-specific expression of the glucocorticoid transcription factor GILZ, not normally expressed in mature Tregs (Goodman et al. 2020). Thus, by inhibiting GLIZ which interferes with functional Treg suppression mechanism, E2 through ERß helps maintain peripheral tolerance in the gut (Goodman et al. 2020). A similar role for ERB in Tregs has also been supported in a model of pneumococcal pneumonia characterized by accelerated resolution in female compared to male (Xiong et al. 2021). As the role of ER α and ER β within the same cell type is complex and often antagonistic (Thomas and Gustafsson 2011), it will be critical to determine the respective contribution of each ER in the regulation of Treg cell functions and whether this involves liganded or unliganded ERs. Together, although ER^β appears to be required for in vitro iTreg development in vitro and for their in vivo maintenance in some experimental models, the role of ER α in driving Treg cells is less clear despite previous correlative studies pointing to increased proportion of Foxp3 Treg

in E2-treated mice (Polanczyk et al. 2004b; Garnier et al. 2018; Mohammad et al. 2018).

3.1.2 Indirect Effect on Central Mechanisms of Negative Selection of Autoreactive T Cells Through AIRE Crisscross Regulation in the Thymus

Evidence has been provided for sex hormones regulation of central T cell tolerance mechanisms in the thymus (Dragin et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2016). The autoimmune regulator (AIRE) gene is a key transcription factor expressed in rare medullary epithelial cells (mTECs) in the thymus, which promotes expression of tissue-specific antigens (TSAs). Ag presentation of mTEC-derived TSAs by mTECs or local DCs deletes developing T cells that recognize self-antigens with high affinity, primarily through apoptosis. In addition, AIRE stimulates Treg induction and mTEC differentiation and maturation. Mutations in the AIRE gene sequence induce an autoimmune monogenic disease, the autoimmune polyendocrinopathy candidiasis ectodermal dystrophy (APCED) syndrome. In mice and humans, thymic AIRE expression is higher in males compared to females (Dragin et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2016), and whereas the female sex hormones, estrogens, down-regulated AIRE expression in mTECs, androgens had the opposite effect by upregulating its expression (Dragin et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2016). Of note, estrogen induced CpG hypermethylation at the AIRE promoter (Dragin et al. 2016), while the AR agonist ligand DHT activates the AIRE gene through androgen responsive element (Zhu et al. 2016). Male sex was associated with less severe EAE in an AIRE-dependent manner and upregulation of the MOG CNS autoantigen by mTECs, suggesting enhanced negative selection of self-reactive T cells as a potential mechanism of protection (Zhu et al. 2016). Hence, these data support the idea that males are less susceptible than females to autoimmune disorders due to the androgen-mediated reinforcement of central tolerance mechanisms, thereby limiting the output of autoimmune T cells in the periphery (Dragin et al. 2016: Kim et al. 2016).

3.1.3 X Chromosome Dosage Effects: FCG Mice and the Role of Kdm6a in EAE

X disomy or polysomy is clearly associated with a greater risk of developing autoimmunity (Scofield et al. 2008, 2022; Harris et al. 2016; Seminog et al. 2015). For SLE, the risk is ninefold higher in women (46, XX) than in men (46, XY) (Whitacre 2001). Relative to healthy men, the supernumerary X is associated with 15-fold greater susceptibility to SLE in men with Klinefelter syndrome (47, XXY) and 25-fold greater susceptibility in women with triple X syndrome (47, XXX) (Liu et al. 2016). Furthermore, although many autoimmune diseases have been reported in women with Turner syndrome (45,X0), these patients rarely develop SLE (Bai et al. 2015). The effect of the sex chromosome complement on autoimmune disease susceptibility has been addressed specifically using a set of mouse strains known as the four core genotypes (FCG) (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008). In this model, the testesdetermining *Sry* gene was deleted from the Y chromosome (Y⁻), and ovary-bearing animals of either XX or XY⁻ karyotype were generated. Backcrossing these females to males expressing a *Sry* transgene autosomally resulted in XX *Sry* and XY⁻ *Sry* testes-bearing animals. A comparison was thus possible between XX and XY⁻ mice against a shared female hormonal background and between XX *Sry* and XY⁻ *Sry* animals of a male hormonal background (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008; Arnold and Burgoyne 2004). Relative to XY carriers, the XX sex chromosome complement was associated with enhanced susceptibility to pristane-induced (Smith-Bouvier et al. 2008) and spontaneous lupus (Sasidhar et al. 2012).

KDM6a, also known as UTX, has been recently proposed as a putative X-linked genes contributing to X chromosome effects on EAE/MS development (Itoh et al. 2019). KDM6a removes the repressive marks associated with the triple methylation of lysine 27 of histone H3 (H3K27me3) and then associates with the methyltransferase KMT2D which can add the activating marks on lysine 4 of histone H3 (H3K4me3) (Berletch et al. 2015). KDM6a/Kdm6a constitutively escapes from XCI both in human and mouse, which means that this gene can be expressed at similar level from both X chromosomes across many different tissues including immune cells (Berletch et al. 2015). Deletion of Kdm6a selectively in T cells promoted a naïve T cell phenotype and a shift toward Th2 polarized cytokine production, thereby diminishing neuro-inflammation and protecting mice from developing MS-like symptoms (Itoh et al. 2019). The observation that *Kdm6a* expression was associated with a collection of immunological processes having the potential to skew immunity toward inflammatory responses suggested that Kdm6a is a master switch for many genes involved in autoimmunity (Itoh et al. 2019). Indeed, the diabetes drug metformin, known to regulate KDM6A by blocking its demethylase activity, is thought to increase gene silencing across the genome (Cuyas et al. 2018). Since Kdm6a/Utx expression in CD4⁺ T cells promotes EAE, escape from XCI and overexpression of Kdm6a in females is consistent with the increased susceptibility of women to MS (Itoh et al. 2019).

T cell-specific deletion of *Kdm6a* has been also examined in the context of chronic LCMV infection, where it was found to promote Tfh lymphocyte accumulation thereby promoting optimal GC reaction and protective humoral immunity (Cook et al. 2015). Mechanistically, *Kdm6a/Utx* was required in Tfh cells to promote upregulation of IL-6R α and other Tfh related genes, while repressing Th1 signature genes (Cook et al. 2015). This indicates that the mechanisms of action of Kdm6a in T cells may be broadly divergent according to the cellular and environmental context and the type of immune responses examined. Although evidence was provided in the Cook et al. studies (Cook et al. 2015) for a dosage-dependent effect of Kdm6a, whether selective expression of *Kdm6a* from the Xi was important for EAE development or clearance of persistent virus infection was not established.

3.2 Sex Hormones and X Chromosome Effects in Systemic Autoimmunity (SLE)

3.2.1 Cell-Intrinsic Action of Sex Hormones and Sex Chromosomes in Immune Cells (e.g., pDCs and B Cells)

SLE is characterized by a strong sex bias, with females being affected about 9 times more often than males (Arnaud et al. 2014). In murine models of SLE, mainly affecting females, castration and E2 supplementation have been reported to influence disease onset and severity (Roubinian et al. 1978). B cells and pDCs are among the immune cell populations involved in SLE pathogenesis that have been shown to be directly regulated by estrogens. By enhancing the expression of CD22 and SHP-1 by B cells, estrogens decreased the signaling threshold of the B cell receptor and allowed autoreactive B cell survival via the positive up regulation of anti-apoptotic factor Blc-2 and by promoting the accumulation of marginal zone B cells (Grimaldi et al. 2002; Hill et al. 2011). Whether estrogens promoted the accumulation of autoreactive B cells in MZ compartment through positive selection mechanisms is unknown.

Estrogens may also promote somatic hypermutation by increasing the expression and function of the enzyme activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) in B cells (Pauklin et al. 2009). Whether this effect is particularly relevant during the GC reaction, where AID is up-regulated in germinal center B cells in response to T-dependent antigens will deserve further investigations. Although, constitutive ER α -deficiency or E2-blockade experiments in mouse SLE models has led to inconsistent or contradictory results, specific ER α inactivation in B cells delayed disease development in (NZBxNZW) F1 mice (Tabor and Gould 2017). This was associated with decreased B cell activation in young pre-autoimmune mice, suggesting that B cell-intrinsic ER α signaling may control B cell activation and autoantibody production (Tabor and Gould 2017). On the other hand, B cell-extrinsic actions of the male sex hormone testosterone have been reported to negatively control splenic B cell numbers (Wilhelmson et al. 2067) or antigen-specific B cell positioning during the GC reaction, thereby also contributing to the sexual dimorphism associated with lower humoral immunity in males (Zhao et al. 2020).

Besides B cells, pDCs are an important contributor of SLE pathogenesis through their capacity to produce type I IFN upon activation of their endosomal TLR, TLR7 or TLR9, by self-nucleic acids bound in complexes to autoantibodies (Theofilopoulos et al. 2017). Interestingly, a marked sex bias exists in the type 1 IFN production by human pDCs, with pDCs from females releasing larger amounts of type 1 IFN in response to stimulation by TLR7-specific ligands (Berghofer et al. 2006). Subsequent studies showed that this sex bias was due to an increased frequency of pDCs capable to secrete IFN- α , rather than a sex bias in IFN- α production on a per cell basis (Meier et al. 2009; Seillet et al. 2012; Azar et al. 2020). E2 supplementation of postmenopausal women was found to substantially enhance IFN- α production by blood pDCs not only in response to TLR7 stimulation, but also to TLR9 ligands. Importantly, enhanced cytokine production by pDCs was elicited not only by synthetic ligands of TLR7 or TLR9, but also by natural ligands such as self-nucleic acidcontaining immune complexes present in the sera of SLE patients (Seillet et al. 2012). Cell-intrinsic ER α activation by estrogens was required to up-regulate pDC innate functions in vivo, but also in vitro (Seillet et al. 2012, 2013; Griesbeck et al. 2015; Laffont et al. 2014). Estrogen signaling was subsequently found to up-regulate the expression of the transcription factor IRF5 in mouse and human pDCs, which may act by enhancing IFN- α production in synergy with IRF7 (Griesbeck et al. 2015) (Fig. 3).

However, besides estrogens, X-linked genetic factors independently contribute to the strong sex bias in the TLR7-driven response of pDCs (Seillet et al. 2012; Laffont et al. 2014). In a humanized mouse model, the frequency of IFN- α - and TNF- α producing human pDCs in response to TLR7 ligands was greater in female than in male host mice. This confirmed that estrogens positively regulated the functions of human pDCs, but interestingly, functional differences were also observed depending on the sex of the human stem cell donors (Laffont et al. 2014). These data provided the first evidence for a critical role of X chromosome dosage on the functional competence of female pDCs and suggested that the X chromosome complement and sex hormone estrogens may act in concert to confer elevated production of type I IFN by pDCs in response to TLR7 ligands (Laffont et al. 2014). This genetic effect may explain the persistence of the female superiority in the TLR7-driven IFN- α response



Fig. 3 Global mechanisms of action of sex hormones on the immune system. (1): ref 195; (2): 101 and 103–105; (3): ref 196–197; (4): ref 190; (5): ref: 159–163; (6): ref 176; (7): ref 175; (8): ref 66–67; (9): ref 73–75. Created with BioRender.com

of pDCs across ages, including postmenopausal and elderly women (Congy-Jolivet et al. 2022).

TLR7 gene is on the X chromosome and escapes from XCI in immune cells (Souyris et al. 2018, 2019; Hagen et al. 2020). TLR7 belongs to the category of facultative "escapees" as expression from the Xi was not observed in all cells, but in a distinct subset ranging from 10 to 40% of immune cells, including B cells, pDCs and monocytes. So far, TLR7 biallelic cells have been found in all female subjects tested (Souyris et al. 2018; Hagen et al. 2020), including HIV-1-infected women under anti-retroviral therapy (ART) (Abbas et al. 2022). Of note, the frequency of pDCs with biallelic expression of TLR7 was similar between uninfected control and HIV/ART females, despite enhanced functional differences in the TLR7-driven pDC responses in HIV/ART women (Abbas et al. 2022). Consistent with the increased innate cytokine responses of pDC from HIV/ART females, a significant upregulation of TLR7 gene expression was observed in pDCs including mono-allelic ones where TLR7 was expressed from the Xa. These results provide evidence for an increased TLR7-driven pDC responsiveness associated with enhanced transcriptional activity of the TLR7 locus on both X chromosomes, in pDCs from HIV/ART females. This suggested that enhanced TLR7 mRNA levels in pDCs at single-cell resolution could promote enhanced responsiveness, whatever the mechanism, enhanced transcriptional activity of the TLR7 loci on both X chromosomes, TLR7 biallelic expression or both (Souyris et al. 2018; Hagen et al. 2020; Abbas et al. 2022). Indeed, singlecell resolution analysis of gene expression in female pDCs at steady state revealed that TLR7 biallelic pDCs not only expressed higher levels of TLR7 mRNA but also more transcripts coding for all IFN- α subtypes and IFN- β (Hagen et al. 2020). This observation suggested that the expression of basal level of IFN-I mRNA in TLR7 biallelic pDCs could be a consequence of a higher TLR7 mRNA expression thereby functionally discriminating mono-allelic and biallelic pDCs (Hagen et al. 2020). Indeed, constitutive production of low levels of IFN-I in pDCs has been reported to act in an autocrine/paracrine manner to drive high levels production of IFN-I by pDCs (Kim et al. 2014). Thus, pDCs with high level expression of TLR7 mRNA due to the cell-autonomous action of XCI escape of TLR7 (Souyris et al. 2018; Hagen et al. 2020) could belong to a group of early responder pDCs with superior ability to produce IFN-I (Wimmers et al. 2018).

Concerning adaptive immune cells like B cells, being *TLR7* biallelic could be even more advantageous for B cells due to antigen-driven positive selection processes occurring at various checkpoints of B cell responses. This is based on the hypothesis that female B cells with biallelic expression of *TLR7* would exhibit enhanced functional responses to pathogen-like antigens or self-antigens containing TLR7 ligands compared to mono-allelic cells (Laffont and Guery 2019; Souyris et al. 2018, 2019). In support of causality, using an in vitro model of naïve B cell differentiation, *TLR7* biallelic B cells displayed over twofold greater propensity to class switch relative to mono-allelic B cells, in response to TLR7 stimulation, whereas no association was found when B cells were stimulated through TLR9 (Souyris et al. 2018). Likewise, B cells with biallelic *TLR7* expression were enriched within the CD27^{hi} proliferating plasmablasts following treatment with TLR7-specific ligands, whereas

counter-selection of biallelic cells was instead observed in CD27hi PC that responded to a TLR9 ligand from the same donors (Souyris et al. 2018).

A strong indication that the number of X chromosomes, not just sex itself, is important in lupus susceptibility comes from Klinefelter syndrome males, who carry one or more extra X chromosomes and develop lupus and Sjögren's syndrome with a risk similar to females (Scofield et al. 2008, 2022; Harris et al. 2016; Seminog et al. 2015). *TLR7* escapes XCI in immune cells from 47, XXY Klinefelter syndrome males (Souyris et al. 2018). Because increased TLR7 signaling is a known risk factor in lupus in mice (Pisitkun et al. 2006; Deane et al. 2007; Brown et al. 2022), we propose that higher TLR7 dosage arising from X inactivation escape connects the presence of two X chromosomes in females and individuals with Klinefelter syndrome with the greater risk of developing lupus. In the FCG model, it has been shown that XX mice are more susceptible to SLE development than XY mice, independently of gonadal type, supporting the important contribution of the X chromosome complement also in mice (Sasidhar et al. 2012).

Regarding the causal relationship between XCI escape of *TLR7* alone or in combination with other genes and the sex differences in the development of spontaneous autoimmune diseases, important question still remains regarding the stability of XCI escape in immune cells and the underlying molecular mechanisms controlling XCI escape at single-cell resolution, particularly those related to facultative "escapees" like *TLR7*. In addition, the direct causal link between escape from XCI, namely the additional expression of genes from the Xi, and the greater susceptibility to develop autoimmune diseases remains to be demonstrated and will require the implementation of new genetic tools.

3.2.2 X Chromosome Inactivation Mechanisms in SLE

It has been suggested that XIST plays a central role in the sex bias observed especially in SLE and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Sierra and Anguera 2019). As discussed earlier, coating of the Xi by the lncRNA XIST/Xist induces gene expression silencing by recruiting polycomb complexes PRC1 and PRC2 that are responsible for deposition of repressive epigenetic marks and chromatin locking. The acquisition of these repressive epigenetic marks is involved in the stable maintenance of the inactive state (Fang et al. 2019). Although XIST/Xist is required for the initiation of the XCI process, it seems that it is dispensable to maintain the Xi status. Previous work reported that the absence of Xist in mature differentiated cells did not affect the maintenance of XCI (Brown and Willard 1994; Li et al. 1993). In general, in somatic cells such as fibroblasts, XIST/Xist is localized on the Xi as a "cloud" as visualized by RNA-FISH, suggesting that XCI is strongly maintained in this cell type. Dynamic regulation of XIST/Xist has been reported in lymphoid cells both in Human and mice (Sierra and Anguera 2019; Syrett et al. 2017), whereas common lymphoid progenitors (CLP) and common myeloid progenitors (CMP) present an inactive territory covered by Xist and H3K27me3 repressive marks, and this is not the case of mature

lymphoid cells and pDCs. Xi chromatin gradually changes during B cell development, initiated by the progressive loss of *Xist* together with heterochromatin marks, as cells differentiate into immature B cells (Syrett et al. 2017; Savarese et al. 2006). Thus, within mature follicular naive B cells, Xist is absent at the Xi level, which is associated with a depletion of repressive marks on chromatin. Although Xist is not visible on the Xi by RNA-FISH, it is however continuously transcribed and localized diffusely in the nucleus. Remarkably, following in vitro B cell activation by TLR ligands LPS (TLR4) or CpG (TLR9), Xist, as well as the repressive marks, relocate to the Xi according to a dynamic process involving the transcription factor YY1 (Syrett et al. 2017). YY1 can then recruit Xist either directly or indirectly via Xist binding proteins, allowing its relocation to the Xi. All these observations were also found in T cells (Syrett et al. 2019). Interestingly, a defect of XIST relocalization on the Xi was observed after in vitro activation of B cells, CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells from lupus patients (Syrett and Anguera 2019; Pyfrom et al. 2021). Similar observations were made in NZB/NZW F1 mice predisposed to lupus (Coz et al. 2018). Nevertheless, the consequences of this defect in the repositioning of XIST/Xist on Xi in activated lymphocytes remain to be defined as combined RNA-FISH analysis of XIST clouds and escapees were not performed, and no difference was observed in the frequency of biallelic cells, in particular for *Tlr7*, between the B cells of mice prone to lupus compared with wild-type mice (Coz et al. 2018). Of note, in mouse, escapees always appear to evade coating of Xist and localize outside the Xist compartment in RNA-Pol II-rich area (Chaumeil et al. 2006; Chow et al. 2010). Thus, the role of Xist repositioning to the Xi in the negative regulation of the expression of facultative escapees following lymphocyte activation needs further investigations.

Conditional deletion of *Xist* in neurons showed no impact on XCI, although a lack of expression of the repressive marks (H2AK119ub1, H3K27me3) on the Xi was observed. This suggested that maintenance of transcriptional repression of Xi is largely independent of Xist in differentiated cells (Adrianse et al. 2018). However, evidence has been provided for a role of *Xist* in XCI maintenance using targeting deletion or knock-down of this *Xist/XIST* gene in murine hematopoietic cells (Yildirim et al. 2013) and in human female B cell lines (Yu et al. 2021). In both studies, the *Xist* deficiency led to overexpression of many genes, a large part of which corresponds to X-linked genes, such as *Tlr7/TLR7*, *Cxcr3*, *TLR8* or *TASL/Cxorf21*. In addition, *Xist* knock-down in B cell lines after co-stimulation of BCR and TLR7 led to the development of unconventional T-bet + CD11c + memory B cells (Yu et al. 2021). It should also be noted that in Yildrim's study, mice with *Xist* deficiency in the hematopoietic compartment develop fatal leukemia (Yildirim et al. 2013).

In conclusion, all of these data suggest that reactivation of facultative escapees from the Xi could be due to an alteration in the maintenance of the inactive state, possibly mediated by *XIST/Xist*. However, as mentioned earlier (Fig. 2), constitutive escapees always evade coating by *Xist*. Whether this also occurs in activated T and B cells for facultative escapees, such as *Tlr7*, *Tasl* or others candidate genes, remains to be investigated.

Sex Differences in Allergic Asthma: A Prominent Role

of Sex Steroid Hormone Signaling

4

4.1 Sex Bias in Asthma Prevalence and Severity

Asthma is the most common chronic condition in children. WHO data show that in 2019, asthma affected 262 million people worldwide and was responsible for more than 450,000 deaths per year. Asthma is a complex upper airway disease with a heterogeneous pathophysiology that can be classified into two main endotypes: the more common type 2 inflammation related and the non-type 2, IL17 or IFN γ inflammation related (Hammad and Lambrecht 2021). As it is the case with many inflammatory diseases, there are marked sex differences in asthma incidence, prevalence and severity. While in childhood the incidence of the disease is increased in boys, this trend is reversed at puberty. In adults, asthma is not only more frequent but also more severe in women (Zein et al. 2016). Unsupervised clustering studies have identified asthma phenotypes that show the strongest sex-related differences: a sub-group of young women who reports early atopic asthma and another sub-group of obese older women who report severe non-eosinophilic late asthma (Haldar et al. 2008; Moore et al. 2010).

Changes in the prevalence of asthma around puberty, both exacerbation in women and amelioration in men, suggest a plausible involvement of sex hormones in sexrelated differences in this disease. The role of sex steroid hormones, estrogen in women and androgen in men, and their mechanisms of action are certainly complex and numerous.

In women, hormone levels vary throughout life and many studies have investigated the effect of menstruation, pregnancy, contraceptive use or menopause with or without hormone replacement therapy (HRT). As recently summarized by two comprehensive reviews (Chowdhury et al. 2021; Miyasaka et al. 2022), all combined, and although sometimes contradictory, data point toward a promoting/aggravating role of estrogen in asthma. Periods related to increased concentration of estrogen, either during pregnancy (Schatz et al. 2003), or in pre- versus postmenopausal cohorts (Troisi et al. 1995; Scioscia et al. 2020) for example, are associated with increased asthma severity.

In comparison, data related to the effect of androgen on asthma are less controversial, and many studies in mice but also in Human are supportive of a protective role of androgen in the disease which is in agreement with the clear reduction of asthma around puberty (Ross et al. 2020). Studies have shown that increased levels of free testosterone are associated with amelioration of asthma both in men and women (Han et al. 2020). Another study further reports that elevated testosterone to estradiol ratio is associated with better lung function in women (Han et al. 2021). In agreement with these observations, two trials have shown that administration of DHEA (dehydroepiandrosterone), a precursor of androstenediol which can be further catabolized into testosterone by the 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase-1 (3β -HSD1) encoded by the HSD3B1 gene, improves asthma control in women with no major adverse effect (Marozkina et al. 2019; Wenzel et al. 2010). In line with the beneficial effect of androgen in asthma, genetic studies have identified germline missenseencoding polymorphisms in the HSD3B1 gene that affect asthma. The HSD3B1 (1245A) variant limits DHEA conversion to androgens, whereas HSD3B1 (1245C) promotes DHEA conversion into potent androgens. Patients with severe asthma and homozygous for HSD3B1 1245C display better lung functions compared with AA or AC carrier patients, particularly in the context of glucocorticoid therapy (Zein et al. 2020).

Murine models of asthma recapitulate the greater susceptibility of female mice to develop severe asthma (Melgert et al. 2005; Blacquiere et al. 2010; Takeda et al. 2013; Laffont et al. 2017b; Fuseini et al. 2018). In line with this, the protective role of androgen on lung inflammation has been convincingly demonstrated in different studies as recently reviewed (Laffont and Guery 2019). Different non-exclusive mechanisms have been identified that could contribute to the protective effect of androgen on asthma, either through its action on the pulmonary tissue itself or by regulating the inflammatory response. Androgen has been shown to promote airway smooth muscle relaxation (Kouloumenta et al. 2006) and to reduce airway remodeling through epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Xu et al. 2014).

More recently, focus has been made on the role of androgen on type 2 immunity. In this context, we will highlight in the next paragraph recent data from the literature that demonstrate the central role of androgens in immune cells: the regulation of group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) and Treg cells.

4.2 Impact of Sex Hormones in Type 2 Mediated Allergic Airway Inflammation

4.2.1 AR Signaling, A Master Regulator of Group 2 Innate Lymphoid Cells

The discovery of ILC2, more than 10 years ago now, as a potent innate source of type 2 cytokines within tissue adds early effectors in the cascade of events leading to the so-called type 2-high endotype of asthma (Hammad and Lambrecht 2021). ILC2s are closely related to Th2; they share the expression of the transcriptional factor GATA-3 and the production of IL-5, IL-13 and IL-9 upon activation. ILC2s are particularly enriched in mucosal tissues, such as the gastrointestinal and the respiratory tract, and are primarily activated by cytokines/alarmins (IL-33, IL-25 and TSLP) released by damaged epithelial cells following allergen exposure. A broad spectrum of environmental allergens (fungi, pollen, HDM) possesses a common intrinsic proteolytic activity leading to cleavage and fully activation of IL-33(Cayrol et al. 2018). Upon activation, ILC2s proliferate and secrete large amount of IL-5 and IL-13. IL-5 promotes differentiation and recruitment of eosinophils to the lung, whereas IL-13 plays pleiotropic role among which increasing mucus production and

bronchoconstriction. IL-9 favors mast cell proliferation and activation. Model of ILC2 deficiency has demonstrated, not only the key role of ILC2s in innate cell activation upon allergen encounter, but also their contribution to adaptive Th2 response (Halim et al. 2014). ILC2-derived IL-13 licenses lung DCs to migrate to the draining lymph node and to prime Th2 cells (Halim et al. 2014). ILC2s can also directly promote Th2 responses in the tissue through their capacity to express MHC class II molecules (Oliphant et al. 2014) or to deliver instructive signaling dependent on OX40L expression to promote IL-33-driven expansion of Th2 and Treg cells(Halim et al. 2018).

In Human, the role of ILC2s in the pathophysiology of asthma has also been documented. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the numbers and the activation status of ILC2 are increased in samples (sputum, blood) from pediatric and adult asthmatic patients compared with controls (Laffont et al. 2017b). In addition, GWAS studies identify some of the top susceptibility genes in asthma to be linked with ILC2 biology (IL-33, IL-33 receptor IL1RL1, RORA, IL2RB and IL-13) (Torgerson et al. 2011). Furthermore, a recent study has demonstrated that genetic polymorphisms associated with asthma are localized with gene regulatory elements in ILC2 not only in mouse models of asthma, but also in patients with allergic asthma (Stadhouders et al. 2018).

Given the recent identified role of ILC2s in asthma and to better understand the mechanisms behind sex bias in the disease, the potential regulation of ILC2 by sex-linked biologic factors has been suspected. ILC2s, both in terms of numbers and functional properties, are subjected to sex differences. Female tissues, either at steady state or upon inflammation, harbor increased numbers of ILC2 equipped with enhanced cytokine production capacity (Laffont et al. 2017c; Cephus et al. 2017; Warren et al. 2017; Kadel et al. 2018). The possible involvement of estrogen receptor signaling in ILC2 sex bias has been ruled out, as ovariectomy, estrogen supplementation or ER deficiency in the hematopoietic compartment had no impact on ILC2 frequency (Laffont et al. 2017c; Cephus et al. 2017; Warren et al. 2017; Kadel et al. 2018; Blanquart et al. 2022). The lack of a specific role of estrogen in ILC2 regulation is in agreement with the absence of estrogen gene receptor expression in tissue ILC2 (Robinette et al. 2015; Ricardo-Gonzalez et al. 2018; Jacquelot et al. 2019) or their progenitors (Laffont et al. 2017b), with the notable exception of ILC2 from the uterus which express ER α and can be modulated by estrogen (Bartemes et al. 2018).

ILC2s are however highly sensitive to regulation by androgen. ILC2s express high levels of Ar gene expression (gene encoding for androgen receptor), similar to those of Nr3C1 (gene encoding glucocorticoid receptor) (Robinette et al. 2015; Ricardo-Gonzalez et al. 2018; Jacquelot et al. 2019). Ar has even been characterized to be a prototypic ILC2 signature gene in tissue-resident ILC2s (Robinette et al. 2015), the expression of Ar being restricted to ILC2 and not to other members of the ILC family (Robinette et al. 2015).

Through intrinsic activation of Ar within ILC2, naturally produced androgen in male mice is responsible for the reduced number of ILC2 that populate pulmonary male tissues at steady state (Laffont et al. 2017c) and protect male mice from an

allergen-induced lung inflammation (Fuseini et al. 2018; Laffont et al. 2017c; Cephus et al. 2017). However, mechanisms behind these observations have not been identified. One explanation of the reduced representation of ILC2 in the lung would be that androgen acts early in ILC2 progenitors to limit their development and consequently their seeding in tissues in agreement with the expression of *Ar* in ILC2 progenitors (ILC2p) (Laffont et al. 2017c). Indeed, ILC2p frequency together with their capacity to proliferate is decreased in the bone marrow of male compared to female mice (Laffont et al. 2017c), while the frequency of BM PLZF⁺ ILC precursors (or ILCp), the upstream progenitor of ILC2p, is higher in males and increased by excess androgens (Kadel et al. 2018). Accordingly, in vitro, ILC2 development can be pharmacologically manipulated through the modulation of AR activation, using the full agonist ligand 5α -DHT, selective AR modulators (SARM) such as Cl-4AS-1 or flutamide, a pure AR antagonist (Laffont et al. 2017a; Blanquart et al. 2021). Studies are now required to demonstrate if AR signaling in ILC progenitors inhibits ILC2 development in vivo.

Together with its action on ILC2 development, it has been recently demonstrated that exogenous androgen can regulate pulmonary ILC2 through intrinsic AR activation (Blanquart et al. 2022). Lung resident ILC2s express a functionally active AR that can be manipulated by androgen not only in males but also in females. A short-term androgen therapy is sufficient to reduce pulmonary ILC2 both at steady-state and upon allergen challenge and the resulting inflammation in female mice (Blanquart et al. 2022). This rapid reduction most probably occurs independently of the androgen-mediated inhibition of ILC2 development in the bone marrow, but directly in lung as ILC2 maintenance and proliferation within tissue have been shown to be largely independent of distal source such as the bone marrow (Gasteiger 2015; Schneider et al. 2019; Huang et al. 2018) but likely through tissue differentiation of resident ILC progenitors (Zeis et al. 2020).

The inhibitory receptor KLRG1, that is tightly up-regulated in ILC2 upon androgen-mediated activation of AR (Blanquart et al. 2022), has been suspected to be responsible for the inhibitory action of testosterone. However, our recent study could demonstrate that although KLRG1 expression impairs in vitro ILC2 proliferation together with the competitive fitness of pulmonary ILC2 in a sex and androgen receptor expression dependent manner, its absence has no impact on ILC2 number and functions neither at steady state nor at inflammation (Blanquart et al. 2022). Increased level of alarmins in female tissue has also been put forward to contribute to sex bias in ILC2 number, and functions (Cephus et al. 2017; Matha et al. 2019) between sexes have been reported (Blanquart et al. 2022). However, these differences are unlikely to be responsible for the higher responsiveness of female ILC2s as IL-33 deficiency is not associated with changes in ILC2 number or function (Blanquart et al. 2022). The molecular mechanisms behind the androgen regulation of ILC2 number and function are yet to be identified. The effect of AR on ILC2 are summarized in Fig. 3.

4.2.2 AR Signaling Promotes T Regulatory Cells Function During Allergic Airway Inflammation

Recently, another mechanism highlighting the protective role of testosterone on allergic airway inflammation has been identified. Gandhi et al. (2022) have shown that Foxp3-induced Tregs from male mice are more potent than female once to suppress allergic airway inflammation. Furthermore, mice selectively lacking AR signaling in Foxp3⁺ cells harbor higher lung inflammation. In the lungs, androgens were found to act by inhibiting the conversion of conventional Foxp3⁺ Tregs into ST2⁺ Tregs (ex-Treg) that have been reported to promote airway inflammation (Koh et al. 2020). Thus, androgen stabilizes Foxp3⁺ Tregs through two concomitant actions, the limitation of IL-33 production by epithelial cells and the decrease of ST2 expression on Tregs by inhibiting the expression of the transcription factor GATA2 (Koh et al. 2020) (Fig. 3).

4.2.3 Indirect Effect of AR Signaling in ILC2 on Skin cDC and Th2 Instructive Signaling

ILC2-derived IL-13 has been shown to license lung DCs to migrate to the draining lymph nodes and to prime Th2 cells (Halim et al. 2014) (Fig. 3). In a recent study, Mayer et al. further highlight the key role played by IL-13 in the development of Th2 responses through the promotion of a subset of dermal type 2 conventional DCs (cDC2) (Mayer et al. 2021). In the healthy skin, they could describe a unique subset of CD11b^{low} cDC2 that requires IL-13 for their development. They identified ILC2s as the main source of homeostatic production of IL-13 independently of any alarmin signaling. In the absence of IL-13 signaling in cDC2, the Th2 responses mounted following intra-dermal immunization with Nippostrongylus brasiliensis larvae are strongly impaired. Whether this mechanism is also at play within the course of allergy skin inflammation will require further investigation (Mayer et al. 2021). In agreement with androgen-mediated negative regulation of ILC2 in male tissues, Mayer et al. could show a selective decreased of CD11b^{lo} cDC2 in male tissues, whereas their CD11b^{hi} cDC2 counterparts were accordingly increased (Mayer et al. 2021). The indirect reduction of CD11b^{lo} cDC2 by androgen could represent an additional mechanism that may explain why males are less likely to develop asthma (Fig. 3).

5 Biological Sex Influences Natural Immunity to Neonatal Pathogens and Cancer

In this chapter, we will discuss some recent and remarkable examples as to how biological sex and particularly sex hormones influence the natural protective immunity in response to environmental pathogens involved in bloodstream infection and in the control of solid tumor growth through hormonal regulation of immune cells from the innate and adaptive immune system.

5.1 Sex-Biased Dimorphism in Bloodstream Infections: The Role of Estrogens/Peritoneal Macrophages/B-1 Cells Axis

Gram-negative bacteria, more specifically E. coli, are the predominant organisms responsible for bloodstream infections and are often involved in fatal sepsis (Laupland 2013). A sex-biased dimorphism has been documented for bloodstream infections. Although women are at higher risk than men for exposure to E. coli, especially via the genitourinary tract, they experience significantly less disease severity and mortality from sepsis induced by Gram-negative bacteria (Laupland 2013). Evidence for a sex-biased immunological dimorphism in the clearance of bacteria entering the bloodstream was recently provided (Zeng et al. 2018). In this study, Zeng et al. made the unexpected observation that capture of blood born entero-pathogeneic E. coli (EPEC) by Kupffer cells (KCs) relies on complement C3 fragments in male but not female mice. In C3-deficient female, full protection was still observed due to the presence of preexisting natural antibodies (nAbs) to E. coli of IgM and IgG3 subclasses. These nAbs were absent in males. Exploring further the mechanisms, the authors discovered that the production of this innate anti-E. coli nAb was estrogen dependent and started after sexual maturity. Estrogen was found to target peritoneal macrophages to express cytokines like IL-10, BAFF and APRIL, acting on peritoneal B.1 cells to produce nAbs specific for LPS O-antigens. Production of these nAbs did not require prior exposure to the cognate antigen and can be maternally transferable, thereby protecting male and female offspring from lethal EPEC infection. Similar nAbs to EPEC were found in the serum of adult women suggesting that this sexual dimorphism has been evolutionary conserved to protect newborns against infection with EPEC at a time where they have not fully developed their humoral response and complement system (Zeng et al. 2018). This landmark study provided important insights into how sex hormones act to regulate the immune system in adult female to provide natural protection to their progeny from bloodstream infections.

5.2 Sex Dimorphism in Solid Tumor Control: From Innate to Acquired Immunity

5.2.1 Sex Bias in Cancer

Cumulative evidence supports a role for sex-based differences in the susceptibility to develop cancers affecting non-reproductive tissues such as the liver, colon, lung, and also in leukemia and melanoma. It is well established that lung, colon and liver cancers manifest differently in men as compared to women (Haupt et al. 2021). For instance, at all ages, women are less likely than men to develop colon cancer (Lawrence et al. 2007). Likewise, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), the most common primary liver cancer, is three to five times more frequent in men than women (Ghebranious and Sell 1998). Another prototypical example of a cancer with a sex bias in occurrence and survival is melanoma. A study based on 11,000 patients with melanoma showed that women are less prone to this type of cancer, and that once affected, they have a survival advantage increased by 38% compared to men, their cancer being less likely to metastasize (Joosse et al. 2012). A large-scale multidimensional study also demonstrated that cancers that showed a sex bias in susceptibility could be associated with sex-specific molecular signatures. Interestingly, more than 50% of genes differentially regulated by sex can potentially be pharmacologically targeted (Yuan et al. 2016).

The higher risk of the onset of cancers in men can be attributed to extrinsic factors such as increased exposure to carcinogenic environmental factors (chemical agents, tobacco, alcohol) but also to biological intrinsic factors of genetic or hormonal origin. Indeed, it has been shown that the sex hormones (androgens, estrogens) and the genes encoded on the sex chromosomes can act both on the tumor cells themselves, but also on the tumor environment, modifying, for example, the tumor growth (Clocchiatti et al. 2016). At the same time, estrogens and androgens can act systemically by influencing anti-tumor immune responses (Clocchiatti et al. 2016). The mechanisms responsible for this sexual dimorphism in cancers were until recently poorly documented, but several recent studies have highlighted the intrinsic actions of sex hormones via their nuclear receptor in cells of the innate and adaptive immune compartment, opening up new therapeutic perspectives in the management of cancer according to sex. The most significant results are summarized below.

5.2.2 A Role for Estrogens in the Sex Differences in the Immune Response to Cancer

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), the most common liver cancer, occurs mainly in men and similar sex disparity is seen in mice given the chemical carcinogen diethylnitrosamine (DEN) (Naugler et al. 2007). DEN treatment in mice causes 100% HCC in males but only 10 to 30% in females. Relative female protection in this experimental model of HCC was attributed to estrogen-mediated regulation of IL-6 production by Kupffer cells through Myd88-dependent signaling in vivo (Naugler et al. 2007; Rakoff-Nahoum and Medzhitov 2007). Estrogen supplementation in DEN-treated males inhibited IL-6 secretion from KCs exposed to necrotic hepatocytes, thereby reducing circulating IL-6 (Naugler et al. 2007). Of note, sex disparity was lost in IL-6-deficient mice (Naugler et al. 2007). These estrogen-related sex differences may well extend to other cancers, as hormone replacement therapy also reduces the incidence of colorectal cancer in postmenopausal women (Chlebowski et al. 2004; Rennert et al. 2009). Indeed, in a spontaneous model of intestinal tumorigenesis, Myd88 signaling was critical for spontaneous and carcinogen-induced tumor development (Rakoff-Nahoum and Medzhitov 2007). This suggested that Myd88 signaling pathway downstream of members of the TLR and IL-1R family has a critical role in intestinal tumorigenesis (Rakoff-Nahoum and Medzhitov 2007). Whether this involved Myd88 signaling in somatic cells only, immune cells or both, and was influenced by sex will deserve further investigations (Rakoff-Nahoum and Medzhitov 2007).

As estrogens could contribute to sex-dependent differences in cancer (Naugler et al. 2007), it is essential to identify the cellular targets of estrogens and the mechanisms by which ERa-signaling outside the malignant cells could contribute to regulate cancer chemotherapy and anti-tumor immunity. Such a mechanism has been recently provided in a mouse model of ovarian cancer (Svoronos et al. 2017) and melanoma (Chakraborty et al. 2021). E2 treatment was first reported to promote the mobilization of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) of hematopoietic origin that exert immunosuppressive activity and were associated with tumor growth (Svoronos et al. 2017). However, whether this effect was mediated through ER α signaling in MDSCs or their immediate progenitors in vivo was unclear. In a recent study, MDSC gene signatures were not predictive of melanoma patient's response to immune check-point blockade, suggesting additional E2 targets in the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Chakraborty et al. 2021). Besides MDSCs, tumor associate macrophages (TAM) are the main immunosuppressive myeloid cell subsets in the TME. In melanoma models, E2 treatments promoted tumor growth by inducing the accumulation of M2-like TAM, thereby suppressing adaptive immunity (Chakraborty et al. 2021) (Fig. 3). Targeting ER α with Fulvestrant or selective inactivation of ER α in macrophages resulted in the upregulation of the M1/M2 ratio and exacerbated the cytotoxic CD8 + T cell anti-tumoral response upon check-point inhibitors blockage, thereby resulting in melanoma suppression (Chakraborty et al. 2021). Of note, tumor-derived factors were also necessary in conjunction with E2 signaling to promote the immune-suppressive phenotype in macrophages. This study highlighted the cell-intrinsic role of E2/ERa signaling together with uncharacterized tumor-associated factors in the regulation of TAM polarization (Chakraborty et al. 2021) (Fig. 3). Monocytes and macrophages are very well-established target of E2/ $ER\alpha$ signaling, which have been previously reported to modulate macrophage polarization and macrophage-associated tissue repair functions (Calippe et al. 2008, 2010; Campbell et al. 2014; Keselman et al. 2017). Although the study by Chakraborty et al. (2021) is informative regarding the deleterious action of E2-ER α in TAM, which could be targeted in females to improve the anti-melanoma response to

immune check-point blockade therapy, this mechanism is unlikely to explain the lower incidence of melanoma and the better survival of females (Joosse et al. 2012). Of note, the studies identifying E2-mediated induction MDSCs and M2-like TAM were performed in ovariectomized mice using pharmacological supplementation with exogenous E2, whether this mechanism also occurs in the context of physiological production of E2 is unknown (Svoronos et al. 2017; Chakraborty et al. 2021). Thus, further works are warranted to identify the physiological mechanisms by which female sex may positively influence tumor immunity and better control of metastasis (Joosse et al. 2012).

5.2.3 Androgen Negatively Impacts Tumor-Specific CD8 T Cell Immunity

Despite earlier evidence that androgen inhibited Th1 cell differentiation by blunting IL-12-induced Stat4 phosphorylation through upregulation of the phosphatase Ptpn1 in CD4 T cells (Kissick et al. 2014) (Fig. 4), little was known on the role of AR signaling in CD8 T cells. In prostate cancer patients undergoing androgen deprivation, a reduced expression of *Ptpn1* was observed in CD4 T cells although this was not associated with changes in IFN- γ or T-bet expression (Kissick et al. 2014), suggesting that this mechanism may have limited impact in vivo. The contribution of T cell immunity to the sex bias in cancer remained unclear until the recent discoveries that CD8 T cells, rather than CD4 T cells, may represent the primary targets of androgens (Kwon et al. 2022; Guan et al. 2022; Yang et al. 2022). In these three studies, a major role of AR signaling in CD8 T cells was established in the control of tumor growth and response to immune check-point blockade (Kwon et al. 2022; Guan et al. 2022; Yang et al. 2022). In the Kwon et al. study (Kwon et al. 2022), the authors observed in multiple cancer models a male-based tumor burden driven by gonadal androgen rather than sex chromosome effects using the FCG model. Using CD8-specific Ar knockout mice, they observed an enhanced intra-tumoral accumulation of a subset of antigen-experienced CD8⁺ T cells called "progenitor exhausted T cells" in male mice as a consequence of cell-intrinsic AR signaling (Kwon et al. 2022). Likewise, Yang et al. (2022) also reported that AR signaling in CD8⁺ T cells promoted the differentiation of stem cell-like CD8 T cells into terminally differentiated exhausted CD8⁺ T cells in tumor-bearing male mice (Fig. 4). Interestingly, by extending the analysis to sc-RNA-seq data to tumor infiltrating CD8⁺ T lymphocytes obtained from published research in human cancers, basal cell carcinoma and nonsmall cell lung cancer, Kwon and colleagues observed higher frequencies of terminally exhausted CD8⁺ T cells in males compared to females (Kwon et al. 2022). Using multiple approaches, they further identified the transcription factor TCF1, encoded by Tcf7, as a critical target of Ar signaling. Tcf7 expression in T cells was up-regulated by androgens resulting in the accumulation of TCF1⁺ CD8⁺ progenitor exhausted subsets associated with impaired tumor control (Kwon et al. 2022) (Fig. 4). The study by Guan et al. (2022) started from the analysis of patients with metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer undergoing PD-1 targeted therapy. By comparing the immune landscape of tumor infiltrating cells from responders and non-responder patients, they revealed distinct CD8 T cell states associated with response and resistance to PD-1 blockade. They found that favorable T cell signatures were associated with low AR-signaling activity suggesting a regulatory role for androgens (Guan et al. 2022). Indeed, using tumor mouse models, pharmacological inhibition of AR together with PD-L1 blockade was associated with enhanced tumor control associated with enhanced CD8 T cell function (Guan et al. 2022). Although conditional Ar^{KO} mice were not used in this latter study, the authors suggested that AR signaling inhibited IFN-y expression in CD8 T cells, thereby limiting anti-tumor immunity and check-point blockade efficacy (Guan et al. 2022). Importantly, in all three studies, AR blockade ameliorated responsiveness to PD-1 targeted therapies (Kwon et al. 2022: Guan et al. 2022; Yang et al. 2022). This may appear counterintuitive as males without and rogen deprivation therapy already benefit more from immune check-point blockade as compared to females (Conforti et al. 2019; Kwon et al. 2018), particularly for colorectal cancer (Haupt et al. 2021). A possible explanation could be that the CD8 T cell exhaustion program may vary depending on the tumor microenvironment. In some cancers, steady-state levels of androgens may promote the preferential accumulation of stem cell-like progenitor exhausted TCF1+ PD-1low CD8 T cells (T_{PFX}) with a memory/precursor-like phenotype prone for reactivation and longlasting immunity in response to PD-1 blockade (Kallies et al. 2020). In other settings where men may experience worse outcome, AR blockade by inducing less T cell exhaustion could sensitize the host to more effective immune check-point therapy and effector-like cell development (Fig. 4).

Despite fundamental differences in approaches and proposed underlying mechanisms, these three studies complement each other and probably cracked a critical



Fig. 4 Androgen negatively impacts tumor-specific CD8 T cell immunity. Androgen negatively regulates CD8 T cells by inducing an "exhausted precursor like" phenotype, characterized by the decreased production of IFN γ and increased expression of TCF1. Created with BioRender.com

mechanism contributing to the sex bias in cancer by identifying AR as a critical regulator of CD8 T cell immunity.

Acknowledgements The research carried out in the laboratory of JC Guéry benefits from the support of the Agence National de la Recherche (ANR-20-COV8-0004-01, ANR-20-CE15-0014-01, ANR-20-CE15-0027), the French National Agency for Research on AIDS and Viral Hepatitis (ANRS), SIDACTION, Fondation pour la Recherche Médicale (DEQ20180339187), the CSL Behring Research Funds, the Arthritis Foundation, the ARSEP Foundation, the FOREUM Foundation and the Inspire Program from the Région Occitanie/Pyrénées-Méditerranée (#1901175) and the European Régional Development Fund (MP0022856).

References

- Abbas F, Youness A, Azar P, Cenac C, Delobel P, Guéry J-C (2022) HIV-1 infection induces functional reprogramming of female plasmacytoid dendritic cells associated with enhanced TLR7 expression. MEDRXIV-2022-272210v1
- Abramsky O (1994) Pregnancy and multiple sclerosis. Ann Neurol 36(Suppl):S38-41
- Adrianse RL, Smith K, Gatbonton-Schwager T, Sripathy SP, Lao U, Foss EJ et al (2018) Perturbed maintenance of transcriptional repression on the inactive X-chromosome in the mouse brain after Xist deletion. Epigenetics Chromatin 11:50
- Aggelakopoulou M, Kourepini E, Paschalidis N, Panoutsakopoulou V (2016) ERbeta in CD4+ T Cells Is crucial for ligand-mediated suppression of central nervous system autoimmunity. J Immunol 196:4947–4956
- Agulnik AI, Mitchell MJ, Mattei MG, Borsani G, Avner PA, Lerner JL et al (1994) A novel X gene with a widely transcribed Y-linked homologue escapes X-inactivation in mouse and human. Hum Mol Genet 3:879–884
- Arnal JF, Lenfant F, Metivier R, Flouriot G, Henrion D, Adlanmerini M et al (2017) Membrane and nuclear estrogen receptor alpha actions: from tissue specificity to medical implications. Physiol Rev 97:1045–1087
- Arnaud L, Fagot JP, Mathian A, Paita M, Fagot-Campagna A, Amoura Z (2014) Prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus in France: a 2010 nation-wide population-based study. Autoimmun Rev 13:1082–1089
- Arnold AP, Burgoyne PS (2004) Are XX and XY brain cells intrinsically different? Trends Endocrinol Metab 15:6–11
- Astapova O, Seger C, Hammes SR (2021) Ligand binding prolongs androgen receptor protein half-life by reducing its degradation. J Endocr Soc 5:bvab035
- Azar P, Mejia JE, Cenac C, Shaiykova A, Youness A, Laffont S et al (2020) TLR7 dosage polymorphism shapes interferogenesis and HIV-1 acute viremia in women. JCI Insight 5:e136047
- Bai J, Qiao J, Wu Y, Zhao Z, Fang H (2015) Systemic lupus erythematosus in a patient with Turner syndrome. An Bras Dermatol 90:600–601
- Bartemes K, Chen CC, Iijima K, Drake L, Kita H (2018) IL-33-responsive group 2 Innate lymphoid cells are regulated by female sex hormones in the uterus. J Immunol 200:229–236
- Bebo BF Jr, Fyfe-Johnson A, Adlard K, Beam AG, Vandenbark AA, Offner H (2001) Lowdose estrogen therapy ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in two different inbred mouse strains. J Immunol 166:2080–2089
- Bennett NC, Gardiner RA, Hooper JD, Johnson DW, Gobe GC (2010) Molecular cell biology of androgen receptor signalling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 42:813–827

- Berghofer B, Frommer T, Haley G, Fink L, Bein G, Hackstein H (2006) TLR7 ligands induce higher IFN-alpha production in females. J Immunol 177:2088–2096
- Berletch JB, Ma W, Yang F, Shendure J, Noble WS, Disteche CM et al (2015) Escape from X inactivation varies in mouse tissues. PLoS Genet 11:e1005079
- Billi AC, Kahlenberg JM, Gudjonsson JE (2019) Sex bias in autoimmunity. Curr Opin Rheumatol 31:53–61
- Blacquiere MJ, Hylkema MN, Postma DS, Geerlings M, Timens W, Melgert BN (2010) Airway inflammation and remodeling in two mouse models of asthma: comparison of males and females. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 153:173–181
- Blanquart E, Laffont S, Guery JC (2021) Sex hormone regulation of innate lymphoid cells. Biomed J 44:144–156
- Blanquart E, Mandonnet A, Mars M, Cenac C, Anesi N, Mercier P et al (2022) Targeting androgen signaling in ILC2s protects from IL-33-driven lung inflammation, independently of KLRG1. J Allergy Clin Immunol 149(237–51):e12
- Bodhankar S, Wang C, Vandenbark AA, Offner H (2011) Estrogen-induced protection against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is abrogated in the absence of B cells. Eur J Immunol 41:1165–1175
- Brown CJ, Willard HF (1994) The human X-inactivation centre is not required for maintenance of X-chromosome inactivation. Nature 368:154–156
- Brown GJ, Canete PF, Wang H, Medhavy A, Bones J, Roco JA et al (2022) TLR7 gain-of-function genetic variation causes human lupus. Nature 605:349–356
- Calippe B, Douin-Echinard V, Laffargue M, Laurell H, Rana-Poussine V, Pipy B et al (2008) Chronic estradiol administration in vivo promotes the proinflammatory response of macrophages to TLR4 activation: involvement of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. J Immunol 180:7980–7988
- Calippe B, Douin-Echinard V, Delpy L, Laffargue M, Lelu K, Krust A et al (2010) 17Betaestradiol promotes TLR4-triggered proinflammatory mediator production through direct estrogen receptor alpha signaling in macrophages in vivo. J Immunol 185:1169–1176
- Campbell L, Emmerson E, Williams H, Saville CR, Krust A, Chambon P et al (2014) Estrogen receptor-alpha promotes alternative macrophage activation during cutaneous repair. J Invest Dermatol 134:2447–2457
- Carrel L, Willard HF (2005) X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. Nature 434:400–404
- Cayrol C, Duval A, Schmitt P, Roga S, Camus M, Stella A et al (2018) Environmental allergens induce allergic inflammation through proteolytic maturation of IL-33. Nat Immunology
- Cephus JY, Stier MT, Fuseini H, Yung JA, Toki S, Bloodworth MH et al (2017) Testosterone attenuates group 2 innate lymphoid cell-mediated airway inflammation. Cell Rep 21:2487–2499
- Chakraborty B, Byemerwa J, Shepherd J, Haines CN, Baldi R, Gong W et al (2021) Inhibition of estrogen signaling in myeloid cells increases tumor immunity in melanoma. J Clin Invest 131
- Chaumeil J, Le Baccon P, Wutz A, Heard E (2006) A novel role for Xist RNA in the formation of a repressive nuclear compartment into which genes are recruited when silenced. Genes Dev 20:2223–2237
- Chlebowski RT, Wactawski-Wende J, Ritenbaugh C, Hubbell FA, Ascensao J, Rodabough RJ et al (2004) Estrogen plus progestin and colorectal cancer in postmenopausal women. N Engl J Med 350:991–1004
- Chow JC, Ciaudo C, Fazzari MJ, Mise N, Servant N, Glass JL et al (2010) LINE-1 activity in facultative heterochromatin formation during X chromosome inactivation. Cell 141:956–969
- Chowdhury NU, Guntur VP, Newcomb DC, Wechsler ME (2021) Sex and gender in asthma. Eur Respir Rev 30
- Clocchiatti A, Cora E, Zhang Y, Dotto GP (2016) Sexual dimorphism in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 16:330–339
- Committee TADC (2005) Progress in autoimmune diseases research: Report to Congress. https:// wwwniaidnihgov/sites/default/files/adccfinalpdf

- Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T (1998) Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in Multiple Sclerosis Group. N Engl J Med 339:285–291
- Conforti F, Pala L, Bagnardi V, Viale G, De Pas T, Pagan E et al (2019) Sex-based heterogeneity in response to lung cancer immunotherapy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst 111:772–781
- Congy-Jolivet N, Cenac C, Dellacasagrande J, Puissant-Lubrano B, Apoil PA, Guedj K et al (2022) Monocytes are the main source of STING-mediated IFN-a production. EBioMedicine 80:104047
- Cook KD, Shpargel KB, Starmer J, Whitfield-Larry F, Conley B, Allard DE et al (2015) T follicular helper cell-dependent clearance of a persistent virus infection requires T Cell expression of the histone demethylase UTX. Immunity 43:703–714
- Cotton AM, Ge B, Light N, Adoue V, Pastinen T, Brown CJ (2013) Analysis of expressed SNPs identifies variable extents of expression from the human inactive X chromosome. Genome Biol 14:1–17
- Cotton AM, Price EM, Jones MJ, Balaton BP, Kobor MS, Brown CJ (2015) Landscape of DNA methylation on the X chromosome reflects CpG density, functional chromatin state and X-chromosome inactivation. Hum Mol Genet 24:1528–1539
- Cuyas E, Verdura S, Llorach-Pares L, Fernandez-Arroyo S, Luciano-Mateo F, Cabre N et al (2018) Metformin directly targets the H3K27me3 demethylase KDM6A/UTX. Aging Cell 17:e12772
- Dai C, Heemers H, Sharifi N (2017) Androgen signaling in prostate cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 7
- Deane JA, Pisitkun P, Barrett RS, Feigenbaum L, Town T, Ward JM et al (2007) Control of tolllike receptor 7 expression is essential to restrict autoimmunity and dendritic cell proliferation. Immunity 27:801–810
- Dendrou CA, Fugger L, Friese MA (2015) Immunopathology of multiple sclerosis. Nat Rev Immunol 15:545–558
- Dragin N, Bismuth J, Cizeron-Clairac G, Biferi MG, Berthault C, Serraf A et al (2016) Estrogenmediated downregulation of AIRE influences sexual dimorphism in autoimmune diseases. J Clin Invest 126:1525–1537
- Engler JB, Kursawe N, Solano ME, Patas K, Wehrmann S, Heckmann N et al (2017) Glucocorticoid receptor in T cells mediates protection from autoimmunity in pregnancy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114:E181–E190
- Fang H, Disteche CM, Berletch JB (2019) X Inactivation and escape: epigenetic and structural features. Front Cell Dev Biol 7:219
- Fink AL, Klein SL (2018) The evolution of greater humoral immunity in females than males: implications for vaccine efficacy. Curr Opin Physio 6:16–20
- Fuseini H, Yung JA, Cephus JY, Zhang J, Goleniewska K, Polosukhin VV et al (2018) Testosterone decreases house dust mite-induced type 2 and IL-17A-mediated airway inflammation. J Immunol 201:1843–1854
- Gandhi VD, Cephus JY, Norlander AE, Chowdhury NU, Zhang J, Ceneviva ZJ et al (2022) Androgen receptor signaling promotes Treg suppressive function during allergic airway inflammation. J Clin Invest 132
- Garidou L, Laffont S, Douin V, Krust A, Chambon P, Guy J et al (2004) Estrogen receptor alphasignaling in inflammatory leukocytes is dispensable for 17 beta-estradiol-mediated inhibition of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Neuroimmunol 154:83
- Garnier L, Laffont S, Lelu K, Yogev N, Waisman A, Guery JC (2018) Estrogen Signaling in Bystander Foxp3(neg) CD4(+) T Cells Suppresses Cognate Th17 Differentiation in Trans and Protects from Central Nervous System Autoimmunity. J Immunol 201:3218–3228
- Gasteiger G (2015) Tissue residency of innate lymphoid cells in lymphoid and nonlymphoid organs. Science
- Ghebranious N, Sell S (1998) Hepatitis B injury, male gender, aflatoxin, and p53 expression each contribute to hepatocarcinogenesis in transgenic mice. Hepatology 27:383–391

- Giorgetti L, Lajoie BR, Carter AC, Attia M, Zhan Y, Xu J et al (2016) Structural organization of the inactive X chromosome in the mouse. Nature 535:575–579
- Giraud SN, Caron CM, Pham-Dinh D, Kitabgi P, Nicot AB (2010) Estradiol inhibits ongoing autoimmune neuroinflammation and NFkappaB-dependent CCL2 expression in reactive astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:8416–8421
- Goodman WA, Garg RR, Reuter BK, Mattioli B, Rissman EF, Pizarro TT (2014) Loss of estrogenmediated immunoprotection underlies female gender bias in experimental Crohn's-like ileitis. Mucosal Immunol 7:1255–1265
- Goodman WA, Bedoyan SM, Havran HL, Richardson B, Cameron MJ, Pizarro TT (2020) Impaired estrogen signaling underlies regulatory T cell loss-of-function in the chronically inflamed intestine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:17166–17176
- Greenfield A, Carrel L, Pennisi D, Philippe C, Quaderi N, Siggers P et al (1998) The UTX gene escapes X inactivation in mice and humans. Hum Mol Genet 7:737–742
- Griesbeck M, Ziegler S, Laffont S, Smith N, Chauveau L, Tomezsko P et al (2015) Sex differences in plasmacytoid dendritic cell levels of IRF5 drive higher IFN-alpha production in women. J Immunol 195:5327–5336
- Grimaldi CM, Cleary J, Dagtas AS, Moussai D, Diamond B (2002) Estrogen alters thresholds for B cell apoptosis and activation. J Clin Invest 109:1625–1633
- Guan X, Polesso F, Wang C, Sehrawat A, Hawkins RM, Murray SE et al (2022) Androgen receptor activity in T cells limits checkpoint blockade efficacy. Nature
- Hagen SH, Henseling F, Hennesen J, Savel H, Delahaye S, Richert L et al (2020) Heterogeneous escape from X chromosome inactivation results in sex differences in type I IFN responses at the single human pDC level. Cell Rep 33:108485
- Haldar P, Pavord ID, Shaw DE, Berry MA, Thomas M, Brightling CE et al (2008) Cluster analysis and clinical asthma phenotypes. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 178:218–224
- Halim TY, Steer CA, Matha L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM et al (2014) Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cell-mediated allergic lung inflammation. Immunity 40:425–435
- Halim TYF, Rana BMJ, Walker JA, Kerscher B, Knolle MD, Jolin HE et al (2018) Tissue-restricted adaptive type 2 immunity is orchestrated by expression of the costimulatory molecule OX40L on group 2 innate lymphoid Cells. Immunity 48(1195–207):e6
- Hammad H, Lambrecht BN (2021) The basic immunology of asthma. Cell 184:1469-1485
- Han YY, Yan Q, Yang G, Chen W, Forno E, Celedon JC (2020) Serum free testosterone and asthma, asthma hospitalisations and lung function in British adults. Thorax 75:849–854
- Han YY, Forno E, Witchel SF, Manni ML, Acosta-Pérez E, Canino G et al (2021) Testosteroneto-estradiol ratio and lung function in a prospective study of Puerto Rican youth. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 127:236–42.e1
- Harris VM, Sharma R, Cavett J, Kurien BT, Liu K, Koelsch KA et al (2016) Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY) is in excess among men with Sjögren's syndrome. Clin Immunol 168:25–29
- Haupt S, Caramia F, Klein SL, Rubin JB, Haupt Y (2021) Sex disparities matter in cancer development and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 21:393–407
- Heinz LX, Lee J, Kapoor U, Kartnig F, Sedlyarov V, Papakostas K et al (2020) TASL is the SLC15A4-associated adaptor for IRF5 activation by TLR7-9. Nature 581:316–322
- Hill L, Jeganathan V, Chinnasamy P, Grimaldi C, Diamond B (2011) Differential roles of estrogen receptors alpha and beta in control of B-cell maturation and selection. Mol Med 17:211–220
- Hirahara K, Ghoreschi K, Yang XP, Takahashi H, Laurence A, Vahedi G et al (2012) Interleukin-27 priming of T cells controls IL-17 production in trans via induction of the ligand PD-L1. Immunity 36:1017–1030
- Huang Y, Mao K, Chen X, Sun MA, Kawabe T, Li W et al (2018) S1P-dependent interorgan trafficking of group 2 innate lymphoid cells supports host defense. Science 359:114–119
- Ito A, Bebo BF Jr, Matejuk A, Zamora A, Silverman M, Fyfe-Johnson A et al (2001) Estrogen treatment down-regulates TNF-alpha production and reduces the severity of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in cytokine knockout mice. J Immunol 167:542–552

- Itoh Y, Golden LC, Itoh N, Matsukawa MA, Ren E, Tse V et al (2019) The X-linked histone demethylase Kdm6a in CD4+ T lymphocytes modulates autoimmunity. J Clin Invest 130:3852– 3863
- Jacquelot N, Luong K, Seillet C (2019) Physiological regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cells. Front Immunol 10:405
- Jiwrajka N, Anguera MC (2022) The X in seX-biased immunity and autoimmune rheumatic disease. J Exp Med 219
- Joosse A, Collette S, Suciu S, Nijsten T, Lejeune F, Kleeberg UR et al (2012) Superior outcome of women with stage I/II cutaneous melanoma: pooled analysis of four European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer phase III trials. J Clin Oncol 30:2240–2247
- Kadel S, Ainsua-Enrich E, Hatipoglu I, Turner S, Singh S, Khan S et al (2018) A major population of functional KLRG1(-) ILC2s in female lungs contributes to a sex bias in ILC2 numbers. Immunohorizons 2:74–86
- Kallies A, Zehn D, Utzschneider DT (2020) Precursor exhausted T cells: key to successful immunotherapy? Nat Rev Immunol 20:128–136
- Kalyvianaki K, Panagiotopoulos AA, Malamos P, Moustou E, Tzardi M, Stathopoulos EN et al (2019) Membrane androgen receptors (OXER1, GPRC6A AND ZIP9) in prostate and breast cancer: a comparative study of their expression. Steroids 142:100–108
- Keselman A, Fang X, White PB, Heller NM (2017) Estrogen signaling contributes to sex differences in macrophage polarization during asthma. J Immunol 199:1573–1583
- Khalaj AJ, Yoon J, Nakai J, Winchester Z, Moore SM, Yoo T et al (2013) Estrogen receptor (ER) beta expression in oligodendrocytes is required for attenuation of clinical disease by an ERbeta ligand. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:19125–19130
- Kim S, Kaiser V, Beier E, Bechheim M, Guenthner-Biller M, Ablasser A et al (2014) Self-priming determines high type I IFN production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Eur J Immunol 44:807– 818
- Kim J, Kwon J, Kim M, Do J, Lee D, Han H (2016) Low-dielectric-constant polyimide aerogel composite films with low water uptake. Polym J 48:829–834
- Kim DH, Park HJ, Park HS, Lee JU, Ko C, Gye MC et al (2019) Estrogen receptor alpha in T cells suppresses follicular helper T cell responses and prevents autoimmunity. Exp Mol Med 51:41
- Kissick HT, Sanda MG, Dunn LK, Pellegrini KL, On ST, Noel JK et al (2014) Androgens alter T-cell immunity by inhibiting T-helper 1 differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:9887–9892
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16:626-638
- Koh B, Ulrich BJ, Nelson AS, Panangipalli G, Kharwadkar R, Wu W et al (2020) Bcl6 and Blimp1 reciprocally regulate ST2(+) Treg-cell development in the context of allergic airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 146:1121–36.e9
- Korn-Lubetzki I, Kahana E, Cooper G, Abramsky O (1984) Activity of multiple sclerosis during pregnancy and puerperium. Ann Neurol 16:229–231
- Kouloumenta V, Hatziefthimiou A, Paraskeva E, Gourgoulianis K, Molyvdas PA (2006) Nongenomic effect of testosterone on airway smooth muscle. Br J Pharmacol 149:1083–1091
- Kwon H, Lin CY, Chung D, Li X, Li Z (2018) Sex as a predictor of response to cancer immunotherapy. Lancet Oncol 19:e379
- Kwon H, Schafer JM, Song NJ, Kaneko S, Li A, Xiao T et al (2022) Androgen conspires with the CD8(+) T cell exhaustion program and contributes to sex bias in cancer. Sci Immunol
- Laffont S, Guery JC (2019) Deconstructing the sex bias in allergy and autoimmunity: from sex hormones and beyond. Adv Immunol 142:35–64
- Laffont S, Rouquie N, Azar P, Seillet C, Plumas J, Aspord C et al (2014) X-Chromosome complement and estrogen receptor signaling independently contribute to the enhanced TLR7-mediated IFN-alpha production of plasmacytoid dendritic cells from women. J Immunol 193:5444–5452
- Laffont S, Garnier L, Lelu K, Guery JC (2015) Estrogen-mediated protection of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis: lessons from the dissection of estrogen receptor-signaling in vivo. Biomed J 38:194–205

- Laffont S, Seillet C, Guery JC (2017a) Estrogen receptor-dependent regulation of dendritic cell development and function. Front Immunol 8:108
- Laffont S, Blanquart E, Guery JC (2017b) Sex Differences in Asthma: a key role of androgensignaling in group 2 innate lymphoid cells. Front Immunol 8:1069
- Laffont S, Blanquart E, Savignac M, Cenac C, Laverny G, Metzger D et al (2017c) Androgen signaling negatively controls group 2 innate lymphoid cells. J Exp Med 214:1581–1592
- Laupland KB (2013) Incidence of bloodstream infection: a review of population-based studies. Clin Microbiol Infect 19:492–500
- Lawrence T, Hageman T, Balkwill F (2007) Cancer. Sex, cytokines, and cancer. Science 317:51-52
- Le Coz C, Trofa M, Syrett CM, Martin A, Jyonouchi H, Jyonouchi S et al (2018) CD40LG duplication-associated autoimmune disease is silenced by nonrandom X-chromosome inactivation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 141(2308–11):e7
- Lee DK, Chang C (2003) Endocrine mechanisms of disease: expression and degradation of androgen receptor: mechanism and clinical implication. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88:4043–4054
- Lee JH, Lydon JP, Kim CH (2012) Progesterone suppresses the mTOR pathway and promotes generation of induced regulatory T cells with increased stability. Eur J Immunol 42:2683–2696
- Lelu K, Laffont S, Delpy L, Paulet PE, Perinat T, Tschanz SA et al (2011) Estrogen receptor alpha signaling in T lymphocytes is required for estradiol-mediated inhibition of Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation and protection against experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J Immunol 187:2386–2393
- Li E, Beard C, Jaenisch R (1993) Role for DNA methylation in genomic imprinting. Nature 366:362–365
- Liu HB, Loo KK, Palaszynski K, Ashouri J, Lubahn DB, Voskuhl RR (2003) Estrogen receptor alpha mediates estrogen's immune protection in autoimmune disease. J Immunol 171:6936–6940
- Liu K, Kurien BT, Zimmerman SL, Kaufman KM, Taft DH, Kottyan LC et al (2016) X chromosome dose and sex bias in autoimmune diseases: increased prevalence of 47, XXX in systemic lupus erythematosus and Sjogren's syndrome. Arthritis Rheumatol 68:1290–1300
- Loda A, Collombet S, Heard E (2022) Gene regulation in time and space during X-chromosome inactivation. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol
- Lv S, Song Q, Chen G, Cheng E, Chen W, Cole R et al (2021) Regulation and targeting of androgen receptor nuclear localization in castration-resistant prostate cancer. J Clin Invest 131
- Marozkina N, Zein J, DeBoer MD, Logan L, Veri L, Ross K et al (2019) Dehydroepiandrosterone supplementation may benefit women with asthma who have low androgen levels: a pilot study. Pulm Ther 5:213–220
- Matha L, Shim H, Steer CA, Yin YH, Martinez-Gonzalez I, Takei F (2019) Female and male mouse lung group 2 innate lymphoid cells differ in gene expression profiles and cytokine production. PLoS ONE 14:e0214286
- Mayer JU, Hilligan KL, Chandler JS, Eccles DA, Old SI, Domingues RG et al (2021) Homeostatic IL-13 in healthy skin directs dendritic cell differentiation to promote TH2 and inhibit TH17 cell polarization. Nat Immunol
- Meier A, Chang JJ, Chan ES, Pollard RB, Sidhu HK, Kulkarni S et al (2009) Sex differences in the Toll-like receptor-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to HIV-1. Nat Med 15:955–959
- Melgert BN, Postma DS, Kuipers I, Geerlings M, Luinge MA, van der Strate BW et al (2005) Female mice are more susceptible to the development of allergic airway inflammation than male mice. Clin Exp Allergy 35:1496–1503
- Menees KB, Earls RH, Chung J, Jernigan J, Filipov NM, Carpenter JM et al (2021) Sex- and agedependent alterations of splenic immune cell profile and NK cell phenotypes and function in C57BL/6J mice. Immun Ageing 18:3
- Miyasaka T, Dobashi-Okuyama K, Kawakami K, Masuda- Suzuki C, Takayanagi M, Ohno I (2022) Sex plays a multifaceted role in Asthma Pathogenesis. Biomolecules 12

- Mohammad I, Starskaia I, Nagy T, Guo J, Yatkin E, Vaananen K et al (2018) Estrogen receptor alpha contributes to T cell-mediated autoimmune inflammation by promoting T cell activation and proliferation. Sci Sig 11:eaap9415
- Moore WC, Meyers DA, Wenzel SE, Teague WG, Li H, Li X et al (2010) Identification of asthma phenotypes using cluster analysis in the severe Asthma research program. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 181:315–323
- Naugler WE, Sakurai T, Kim S, Maeda S, Kim K, Elsharkawy AM et al (2007) Gender disparity in liver cancer due to sex differences in MyD88-dependent IL-6 production. Science 317:121–124
- Nora EP, Lajoie BR, Schulz EG, Giorgetti L, Okamoto I, Servant N et al (2012) Spatial partitioning of the regulatory landscape of the X-inactivation centre. Nature 485:381–385
- Oghumu S, Varikuti S, Stock JC, Volpedo G, Saljoughian N, Terrazas CA et al (2019) Cutting Edge: CXCR3 Escapes X chromosome inactivation in T Cells during Infection: potential implications for sex differences in immune responses. J Immunol 203:789–794
- Oliphant CJ, Hwang YY, Walker JA, Salimi M, Wong SH, Brewer JM et al (2014) MHCII-mediated dialog between group 2 innate lymphoid cells and CD4(+) T cells potentiates type 2 immunity and promotes parasitic helminth expulsion. Immunity 41:283–295
- Papenfuss TL, Powell ND, McClain MA, Bedarf A, Singh A, Gienapp IE et al (2011) Estriol generates tolerogenic dendritic cells in vivo that protect against autoimmunity. J Immunol 186:3346–3355
- Patrat C, Okamoto I, Diabangouaya P, Vialon V, Le Baccon P, Chow J et al (2009) Dynamic changes in paternal X-chromosome activity during imprinted X-chromosome inactivation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:5198–5203
- Pauklin S, Sernandez IV, Bachmann G, Ramiro AR, Petersen-Mahrt SK (2009) Estrogen directly activates AID transcription and function. J Exp Med 206:99–111
- Pisitkun P, Deane JA, Difilippantonio MJ, Tarasenko T, Satterthwaite AB, Bolland S (2006) Autoreactive B cell responses to RNA-related antigens due to TLR7 gene duplication. Science 312:1669–1672
- Polanczyk M, Yellayi S, Zamora A, Subramanian S, Tovey M, Vandenbark AA et al (2004a) Estrogen receptor-1 (Esr1) and -2 (Esr2) regulate the severity of clinical experimental allergic encephalomyelitis in male mice. Am J Pathol 164:1915–1924
- Polanczyk MJ, Carson BD, Subramanian S, Afentoulis M, Vandenbark AA, Ziegler SF et al (2004b) Cutting edge: estrogen drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell compartment. J Immunol 173:2227–2230
- Pozzilli C, De Giglio L, Barletta VT, Marinelli F, Angelis FD, Gallo V et al (2015) Oral contraceptives combined with interferon beta in multiple sclerosis. Neurol Neuroimmunol Neuroinflamm 2:e120
- Pyfrom S, Paneru B, Knox JJ, Cancro MP, Posso S, Buckner JH et al (2021) The dynamic epigenetic regulation of the inactive X chromosome in healthy human B cells is dysregulated in lupus patients. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 118
- Rakoff-Nahoum S, Medzhitov R (2007) Regulation of spontaneous intestinal tumorigenesis through the adaptor protein MyD88. Science 317:124–127
- Rao SS, Huntley MH, Durand NC, Stamenova EK, Bochkov ID, Robinson JT et al (2014) A 3D map of the human genome at kilobase resolution reveals principles of chromatin looping. Cell 159:1665–1680
- Reid G, Hubner MR, Metivier R, Brand H, Denger S, Manu D et al (2003) Cyclic, proteasomemediated turnover of unliganded and liganded ERalpha on responsive promoters is an integral feature of estrogen signaling. Mol Cell 11:695–707
- Rennert G, Rennert HS, Pinchev M, Lavie O, Gruber SB (2009) Use of hormone replacement therapy and the risk of colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol 27:4542–4547
- Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Van Dyken SJ, Schneider C, Lee J, Nussbaum JC, Liang HE et al (2018) Tissue signals imprint ILC2 identity with anticipatory function. Nat Immunol 19:1093–1099

- Robinette ML, Fuchs A, Cortez VS, Lee JS, Wang Y, Durum SK et al (2015) Transcriptional programs define molecular characteristics of innate lymphoid cell classes and subsets. Nat Immunol 16:306–317
- Ross KR, Gupta R, DeBoer MD, Zein J, Phillips BR, Mauger DT et al (2020) Severe asthma during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 145(140–6):e9
- Roubinian JR, Talal N, Greenspan JS, Goodman JR, Siiteri PK (1978) Effect of castration and sex hormone treatment on survival, anti-nucleic acid antibodies, and glomerulonephritis in NZB/ NZW F1 mice. J Exp Med 147:1568–1583
- Saijo K, Collier JG, Li AC, Katzenellenbogen JA, Glass CK (2011) An ADIOL-ERbeta-CtBP trans repression pathway negatively regulates microglia-mediated inflammation. Cell 145:584–595
- Sasidhar MV, Itoh N, Gold SM, Lawson GW, Voskuhl RR (2012) The XX sex chromosome complement in mice is associated with increased spontaneous lupus compared with XY. Ann Rheum Dis 71:1418–1422
- Savarese F, Flahndorfer K, Jaenisch R, Busslinger M, Wutz A (2006) Hematopoietic precursor cells transiently reestablish permissiveness for X inactivation. Mol Cell Biol 26:7167–7177
- Schatz M, Dombrowski MP, Wise R, Thom EA, Landon M, Mabie W et al (2003) Asthma morbidity during pregnancy can be predicted by severity classification. J Allergy Clin Immunol 112:283– 288
- Schneider C, Lee J, Koga S, Ricardo-Gonzalez RR, Nussbaum JC, Smith LK et al (2019) Tissueresident group 2 innate lymphoid cells differentiate by layered ontogeny and in situ perinatal priming. Immunity 50(1425–38):e5
- Scioscia G, Carpagnano GE, Lacedonia D, Soccio P, Quarato CMI, Trabace L et al (2020) The role of airways 17beta-estradiol as a biomarker of severity in postmenopausal Asthma: a pilot study. J Clin Med 9
- Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, Kimberly RP, Ramsey-Goldman R, Petri M et al (2008) Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. Arthritis Rheum 58:2511–2517
- Scofield RH, Lewis VM, Cavitt J, Kurien BT, Assassi S, Martin J et al (2022) 47XXY and 47XXX in Scleroderma and Myositis. ACR Open Rheumatol
- Scully EP, Haverfield J, Ursin RL, Tannenbaum C, Klein SL (2020) Considering how biological sex impacts immune responses and COVID-19 outcomes. Nat Rev Immunol 20:442–447
- Seillet C, Laffont S, Tremollieres F, Rouquie N, Ribot C, Arnal JF et al (2012) The TLR-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells is positively regulated by estradiol in vivo through cell-intrinsic estrogen receptor alpha signaling. Blood 119:454–464
- Seillet C, Rouquie N, Foulon E, Douin-Echinard V, Krust A, Chambon P et al (2013) Estradiol promotes functional responses in inflammatory and steady-state dendritic cells through differential requirement for activation function-1 of estrogen receptor alpha. J Immunol 190:5459–5470
- Seminog OO, Seminog AB, Yeates D, Goldacre MJ (2015) Associations between Klinefelter's syndrome and autoimmune diseases: English national record linkage studies. Autoimmunity 48:125–128
- Siciliano T, Sommer U, Beier AK, Stope MB, Borkowetz A, Thomas C et al (2022) The androgen hormone-induced increase in androgen receptor protein expression is caused by the autoinduction of the androgen receptor translational activity. Curr Issues Mol Biol 44:597–608
- Sicotte NL, Liva SM, Klutch R, Pfeiffer P, Bouvier S, Odesa S et al (2002) Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the pregnancy hormone estriol. Ann Neurol 52:421–428
- Sierra I, Anguera MC (2019) Enjoy the silence: X-chromosome inactivation diversity in somatic cells. Curr Opin Genet Dev 55:26–31
- Smith EMD, Lythgoe H, Midgley A, Beresford MW, Hedrich CM (2019) Juvenile-onset systemic lupus erythematosus: update on clinical presentation, pathophysiology and treatment options. Clin Immunol 209:108274

- Smith-Bouvier DL, Divekar AA, Sasidhar M, Du S, Tiwari-Woodruff SK, King JK et al (2008) A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 205:1099–1108
- Soldan SS, Retuerto AI, Sicotte NL, Voskuhl RR (2003) Immune modulation in multiple sclerosis patients treated with the pregnancy hormone estriol. J Immunol 171:6267–6274
- Souyris M, Mejia JE, Chaumeil J, Guery JC (2019) Female predisposition to TLR7-driven autoimmunity: gene dosage and the escape from X chromosome inactivation. Semin Immunopathol 41:153–164
- Souyris M, Cenac C, Azar P, Daviaud D, Canivet A, Grunenwald S et al (2018) TLR7 escapes X chromosome inactivation in immune cells. Sci Immunol 3:eaap8855
- Spence RD, Voskuhl RR (2012) Neuroprotective effects of estrogens and androgens in CNS inflammation and neurodegeneration. Front Neuroendocrinol 33:105–115
- Spence RD, Hamby ME, Umeda E, Itoh N, Du S, Wisdom AJ et al (2011) Neuroprotection mediated through estrogen receptor-{alpha} in astrocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:8867–8872
- Spence RD, Wisdom AJ, Cao Y, Hill HM, Mongerson CR, Stapornkul B et al (2013) Estrogen mediates neuroprotection and anti-inflammatory effects during EAE through ERalpha signaling on astrocytes but not through ERbeta signaling on astrocytes or neurons. J Neurosci 33:10924– 10933
- Stadhouders R, Li BWS, de Bruijn MJW, Gomez A, Rao TN, Fehling HJ et al (2018) Epigenome analysis links gene regulatory elements in group 2 innate lymphocytes to asthma susceptibility. J Allergy Clin Immunol 142:1793–1807
- Svoronos N, Perales-Puchalt A, Allegrezza MJ, Rutkowski MR, Payne KK, Tesone AJ et al (2017) Tumor cell-independent estrogen signaling drives disease progression through mobilization of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Cancer Discov 7:72–85
- Syrett CM, Anguera MC (2019) When the balance is broken: X-linked gene dosage from two X chromosomes and female-biased autoimmunity. J Leukoc Biol 106:919–932
- Syrett CM, Sindhava V, Hodawadekar S, Myles A, Liang G, Zhang Y et al (2017) Loss of Xist RNA from the inactive X during B cell development is restored in a dynamic YY1-dependent two-step process in activated B cells. PLoS Genet 13:e1007050
- Syrett CM, Paneru B, Sandoval-Heglund D, Wang J, Banerjee S, Sindhava V et al (2019) Altered Xchromosome inactivation in T cells may promote sex-biased autoimmune diseases. JCI Insight 4
- Tabor DE, Gould KA (2017) Estrogen receptor alpha promotes lupus in (NZBxNZW)F1 mice in a B cell intrinsic manner. Clin Immunol 174:41–52
- Takahashi T, Iwasaki A (2021) Sex differences in immune responses. Science 371:347-348
- Takeda M, Tanabe M, Ito W, Ueki S, Konnno Y, Chihara M et al (2013) Gender difference in allergic airway remodelling and immunoglobulin production in mouse model of asthma. Respirology 18:797–806
- Theofilopoulos AN, Kono DH, Baccala R (2017) The multiple pathways to autoimmunity. Nat Immunol 18:716–724
- Thomas P (2019) Membrane androgen receptors unrelated to nuclear steroid receptors. Endocrinology 160:772–781
- Thomas C, Gustafsson JA (2011) The different roles of ER subtypes in cancer biology and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 11:597–608
- Torgerson DG, Ampleford EJ, Chiu GY, Gauderman WJ, Gignoux CR, Graves PE et al (2011) Metaanalysis of genome-wide association studies of asthma in ethnically diverse North American populations. Nat Genet 43:887–892
- Troisi RJ, Speizer FE, Willett WC, Trichopoulos D, Rosner B (1995) Menopause, postmenopausal estrogen preparations, and the risk of adult-onset asthma. A prospective cohort study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:1183–1188
- Tukiainen T, Villani AC, Yen A, Rivas MA, Marshall JL, Satija R et al (2017) Landscape of X chromosome inactivation across human tissues. Nature 550:244–248

- Voskuhl RR, Wang H, Wu TC, Sicotte NL, Nakamura K, Kurth F et al (2016) Estriol combined with glatiramer acetate for women with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis: a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 2 trial. Lancet Neurol 15:35–46
- Wang C, Dehghani B, Li Y, Kaler LJ, Proctor T, Vandenbark AA et al (2008) Membrane estrogen receptor regulates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis through up-regulation of programmed death 1. J Immunol 182:3294–3303
- Wang C, Dehghani B, Li Y, Kaler LJ, Vandenbark AA, Offner H (2009) Oestrogen modulates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and interleukin-17 production via programmed death 1. Immunology 126:329–335
- Wang J, Syrett CM, Kramer MC, Basu A, Atchison ML, Anguera MC (2016) Unusual maintenance of X chromosome inactivation predisposes female lymphocytes for increased expression from the inactive X. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 113:E2029–E2038
- Warren KJ, Sweeter JM, Pavlik JA, Nelson AJ, Devasure JM, Dickinson JD et al (2017) Sex differences in activation of lung-related type 2 innate lymphoid cells in experimental asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 118:233–234
- Wenzel SE, Robinson CB, Leonard JM, Panettieri RA Jr (2010) Nebulized dehydroepiandrosterone-3-sulfate improves asthma control in the moderate-to-severe asthma results of a 6-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Allergy Asthma Proc 31:461–471
- Whitacre CC (2001) Sex differences in autoimmune disease. Nat Immunol 2:777-780
- Wilhelmson AS, Lantero Rodriguez M, Stubelius A, Fogelstrand P, Johansson I, Buechler MB et al (2018) Testosterone is an endogenous regulator of BAFF and splenic B cell number. Nature Commun 9:2067
- Wilkinson NM, Chen HC, Lechner MG, Su MA (2022) Sex differences in immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 40:75–94
- Wimmers F, Subedi N, van Buuringen N, Heister D, Vivie J, Beeren-Reinieren I et al (2018) Single-cell analysis reveals that stochasticity and paracrine signaling control interferon-alpha production by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. Nat Commun 9:3317
- Xiong Y, Zhong Q, Palmer T, Benner A, Wang L, Suresh K et al (2021) Estradiol resolves pneumonia via ERbeta in regulatory T cells. JCI Insight 6
- Xu L, Xiang X, Ji X, Wang W, Luo M, Luo S et al (2014) Effects and mechanism of dehydroepiandrosterone on epithelial-mesenchymal transition in bronchial epithelial cells. Exp Lung Res 40:211–221
- Yang F, Babak T, Shendure J, Disteche CM (2010) Global survey of escape from X inactivation by RNA-sequencing in mouse. Genome Res 20:614–622
- Yang C, Jin J, Yang Y, Sun H, Wu L, Shen M et al (2022) Androgen receptor-mediated CD8(+) T cell stemness programs drive sex differences in antitumor immunity. Immunity 55(1268–83):e9
- Yildirim E, Kirby JE, Brown DE, Mercier FE, Sadreyev RI, Scadden DT et al (2013) Xist RNA is a potent suppressor of hematologic cancer in mice. Cell 152:727–742
- Youness A, Miquel CH, Guery JC (2021) Escape from X chromosome inactivation and the female predominance in autoimmune diseases. Int J Mol Sci 22
- Yu B, Qi Y, Li R, Shi Q, Satpathy AT, Chang HY (2021) B cell-specific XIST complex enforces X-inactivation and restrains atypical B cells. Cell 184(1790–803):e17
- Yuan Y, Liu L, Chen H, Wang Y, Xu Y, Mao H et al (2016) Comprehensive characterization of molecular differences in cancer between male and female patients. Cancer Cell 29:711–722
- Zein JG, Udeh BL, Teague WG, Koroukian SM, Schlitz NK, Bleecker ER et al (2016) Impact of age and sex on outcomes and hospital cost of acute asthma in the United States, 2011–2012. PLoS ONE 11:e0157301
- Zein J, Gaston B, Bazeley P, DeBoer MD, Igo RP Jr, Bleecker ER et al (2020) HSD3B1 genotype identifies glucocorticoid responsiveness in severe asthma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:2187–2193
- Zeis P, Lian M, Fan X, Herman JS, Hernandez DC, Gentek R et al (2020) In situ maturation and tissue adaptation of type 2 innate lymphoid cell progenitors. Immunity 53(775–92):e9

- Zeng Z, Surewaard BGJ, Wong CHY, Guettler C, Petri B, Burkhard R et al (2018) Sex-hormonedriven innate antibodies protect females and infants against EPEC infection. Nat Immunol 19:1100–1111
- Zhang Y, Ma CA, Lawrence MG, Break TJ, O'Connell MP, Lyons JJ et al (2017) PD-L1 upregulation restrains Th17 cell differentiation in STAT3 loss- and STAT1 gain-of-function patients. J Exp Med 214:2523–2533
- Zhao R, Chen X, Ma W, Zhang J, Guo J, Zhong X et al (2020) A GPR174-CCL21 module imparts sexual dimorphism to humoral immunity. Nature 577:416–420
- Zhu ML, Bakhru P, Conley B, Nelson JS, Free M, Martin A et al (2016) Sex bias in CNS autoimmune disease mediated by androgen control of autoimmune regulator. Nat Commun 7:11350
- Zuk M (2009) The sicker sex. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000267

Sex Differences in HIV Infection



Marcus Altfeld and Eileen P. Scully

Abstract Biological sex has wide-ranging impacts on HIV infection spanning differences in acquisition risk, the pathogenesis of untreated infection, impact of chronic treated disease and prospects for HIV eradication or functional cure. This chapter summarizes the scope of these differences and discusses several features of the immune response thought to contribute to the clinical outcomes.

1 Introduction

Since the initial recognition of the Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) and the identification of the causative agent HIV in the mid-1980s, the global HIV pandemic has been responsible for an estimated 40 million deaths (UNAIDS 2022). It has also demonstrated how intensive study of a single pathogen (HIV) can inform broader questions about the immune response, viral pathogenesis, in general, and the impact of host characteristics on the outcomes of infection. Aspects of both sex and gender impact HIV transmission and outcomes and highlight key features of pathogenesis, persistent challenges in the care for people living with HIV and potential barriers to an HIV cure (Addo and Altfeld 2014; Scully 2018) (Fig. 1).

Both sociobehavioral and biological factors are important determinants of HIV risk and disease pathogenesis. In this chapter, we are specifically discussing the role of biological sex, although this is at times difficult to disentangle from the influence of gender-based behavioral variables. In this chapter, we refer to women and men when the data referenced are derived from a clinical trial identifying participants as such, identifying cis and transgender participants when possible and use the terms

M. Altfeld

E. P. Scully (🖂)

Department Virus Immunology, Leibniz Institute for Virology, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: Marcus.altfeld@leibniz-liv.de

Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: escully1@jhmi.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_3

Time

CD4 coun



- Risk of acquisition modified by mucosal epithelium (vaginal vs penile vs rectal)
- Sex-steroid hormone modification of mucosal susceptibility
- Differences in PrEP efficacy
- Increased risk of in utero transmission to female infants

ART-Treated Disease

- More ART-treatment associated weight gain in women versus men
- Larger HIV-driven increase in risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease in women vs men
- Differences in treatment associated changes in inflammation in women vs men



Pathogenesis

- Lower viral load in females (red dashed female, red solid male) with the same rate of CD4 depletion (blue)
- Higher incidence of spontaneous viral control in females
- Higher Type I interferon response to HIV RNA exposure in females

Lower residual viral activity in

HIV Reservoir

women vs men



- Direct role of estradiol in maintenance of reservoir latency
- Potential impact of sex differences on immunomodulatory therapy and therapeutic vaccines

Fig. 1 Overview of selected sex differences in HIV acquisition, pathogenesis, treated disease and the HIV reservoir

female and male when referring to sex-based features such as the reproductive tract environments and to in vitro studies of biological factors.

2 Sex Differences in HIV Acquisition

Acquisition of HIV infection is the first level at which there is an impact of sex. Transmission risk varies by the type and body site of exposure, with bloodborne exposure linked to the highest rate of seroconversion (Patel et al. 2014). Sexual transmission risk varies substantially between receptive anal intercourse (138 per 10,000 exposures) and receptive penile-vaginal intercourse (8 per 10,000 exposures) (Patel et al. 2014). Both the anal and vaginal mucosal microbiome (Abdool Karim et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2021; Fulcher et al. 2022) and the respective mucosal immune environments are among the factors that modulate the risk of infection. The relative enrichment of immune cells in the gastrointestinal versus the vaginal mucosa, high frequency of infection-susceptible cells in the rectal environment, and characteristic of the epithelial layer (McElrath et al. 2013; Poles et al. 2001) are postulated to drive the specific risk of acquisition via anal sex. In the female reproductive tract, sex steroid hormone variation during the menstrual cycle impacts the phenotype of epithelial and immune cell complement (Wira et al. 2014). In a study of serodiscordant couples,

among those individuals with incident pregnancy, the per sex-act risk of HIV acquisition increased through pregnancy and peaked in the postpartum period, supporting that hypothesis that hormone exposure, which varies during pregnancy, may impact transmission risk (Thomson et al. 2018). Likewise, exogenous sex steroids in contraceptive therapy alter immune cell populations and microbiome composition, although it is difficult to parse these factors from sociobehavioral and gender features that also alter risk of HIV acquisition (reviewed in Griesbeck et al. (2016); Haddad et al. 2014)). In a large randomized trial comparing the risk of HIV infection among women receiving one of three methods of contraception including a non-hormonal option (depot medroxyprogesterone acetate, copper intrauterine device, and levonorgestrel implant) there was no significant difference in the risk of HIV acquisition (Evidence for Contraceptive O, Consortium HIVOT 2019), suggesting contraceptives are not a primary driver of risk. Taken together, the results from these studies demonstrate that in addition to the location and type of HIV-1 exposure, variations in sex steroid hormone can play a role in impacting the risk of HIV-1 acquisition, in particular in the female genital tract.

While there is no effective preventive vaccine for HIV, biomedical prevention with pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) with antiretroviral agents does significantly reduce the risk of HIV acquisition. Initial studies establishing this therapy demonstrated substantial risk reduction in a population of men and transgender women who have sex with men (Grant et al. 2010). In subsequent studies, performance of oral PrEP in populations of women at risk has been less consistent, with some studies demonstrating significant protection (Baeten et al. 2012; Choopanya et al. 2013; Murnane et al. 2013) and others with low efficacy (Damme et al. 2012; Marrazzo et al. 2015). The weight of the data from these studies suggests that adherence is the driver of low efficacy and that this requirement may be more stringent for women than for men and transgender women, potentially related to the specific features of the anal versus vaginal mucosa (Sheth et al. 2016). For topical PrEP agents, specific components of the vaginal microbiome appear to modulate the local concentration and preventive efficacy of the PrEP drug tenofovir (Klatt et al. 2017), again highlighting the potential for sex-specific biology to directly impact efficacy.

Several studies have shown an increased female susceptibility to in utero HIV-1 transmission (Marinda et al. 2007; Taha et al. 2005; Thorne et al. 2004). In a recent cohort of over 170 in utero HIV-1-infected infants in South Africa, HIV-1-infected female infants significantly outnumber male infants by 1.7:1 (Adland et al. 2020). The mechanisms underlying these sex differences in in utero HIV-1 transmission are not fully understood, but comparative studies of cord blood from HIV-1-uninfected sex-discordant twins demonstrated that cord blood cells from newborn females were more activated and more susceptible to HIV-1 infection in vitro (Adland et al. 2020). These studies show that sex differences in HIV-1 acquisition are already manifested prior to birth.

3 Sex Differences in HIV Pathogenesis

Following HIV acquisition and in the absence of antiretroviral therapy (ART), there continue to be features of disease that are distinct between cisgender men and women. The most notable is the set point viral load, an average number of HIV copies/mL that is linked to risk of disease progression (Henrard et al. 1995; Mellors et al. 1996). Early studies enrolled predominantly cisgender men, but as data accumulated from both men and women, most studies demonstrated lower HIV viral loads in women as compared to men, in particular early during infection (Anastos et al. 2000; Bush et al. 1996; Evans et al. 1997; Farzadegan et al. 1998; Gandhi et al. 2002; Katzenstein et al. 1996; Lyles et al. 1999; Meditz et al. 2014; Moore et al. 1999; Napravnik et al. 2002; Sterling et al. 1999, 2001). However, the lower viral load in women did not stall pathogenesis, with similar rates of progression to AIDS. Guidelines for initiation of ART early during the HIV epidemic included consideration of the viral load, and the lower levels in women meant that in one cohort, only 37% of women who progressed to AIDS were eligible for treatment, as compared to 74% of men (Sterling et al. 2001). This is one clear example where consideration of biological sex is critical in setting clinical treatment guidance. The mechanisms that lead to lower viral load in women are still incompletely understood, but there is evidence for a role for the sex steroid hormone 17β-estradiol in suppressing HIV replication (Szotek et al. 2013) and data demonstrating lower per cell production of HIV RNA from CD4⁺ T cells from lymph nodes (Meditz et al. 2014). It is also unclear why the lower viral loads in women are not associated with a slower kinetics in CD4⁺ T cell decline. One hypothesis is that immune activation, a key determinant of AIDS progression (Giorgi et al. 1999), has a sex-specific threshold with higher responses to similar levels of viral exposure in women driving pathogenesis (discussed below).

Another notable sex difference in the natural history of HIV pathogenesis is in the frequency of spontaneous viral control. In rare individuals, HIV replication is controlled to low or undetectable levels in the absence of ART. Host genetic features including specific HLA genotypes and the delta 32 deletion in the CCR5 gene are associated with the HIV control (Pereyra et al. 2010), but are neither necessary nor sufficient to predict the emergence of this phenotype. Although accounting for relatively few of the controllers who have been extensively studied, women are overrepresented in population-based cohorts of spontaneous HIV control with associated odds ratios of control in women versus men ranging between 1.9 and > 5 across several studies (Crowell et al. 2015; Madec et al. 2005; Price et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2017). Of note, in a report of a small number of pediatric spontaneous controllers, there was again a female preponderance (10 of 11 cases) (Vieira et al. 2019), although the mechanisms of control appear to differ between children and adults. The biological basis for this enrichment of controller phenotypes among women is unknown but may provide insight into mechanisms of viral control across both men and women and pathways to a preventive vaccine.

4 Immune Mechanisms Underlying Sex Differences

While sex differences in the clinical manifestations of HIV-1 infection are well established, the underlying mechanisms are less well understood. Increasing evidence suggests that differences in antiviral immune responses of females and males might contribute to the observed sex differences in the clinical manifestations of HIV-1. Biological sex represents an important variable in immunity, and sex differences have been described for different components of the immune system, both in mouse models and in humans. The nature and strength of immune responses differ between females and males, resulting in differences in the prevalence, manifestations and outcome of autoimmune and infectious diseases (Klein and Flanagan 2016; Fish 2008). In general, females develop stronger immune responses against pathogens and vaccines, but also are at higher risk to develop autoimmune responses.

In the context of sex differences in the clinical manifestations of HIV-1 infection, increasing data indicate that these sex differences can be mediated by sexspecific differences in Type I interferon (IFN) responses. Type I IFNs are produced predominantly by innate immune cells and in particular by plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) that exhibit the strongest Type I IFN production on a per cell basis (Fitzgerald-Bocarsly et al. 2008). Multiple studies have demonstrated that Type I IFN responses of pDCs after toll-like receptor 7- (TLR7) stimulation are stronger in females compared to males (Berghofer et al. 2006; Griesbeck et al. 2015; Laffont et al. 2014; Meier et al. 2009; Seillet et al. 2012; Spiering and Vries 2021). Initial studies described that PBMCs derived from females secreted higher amount of IFNa in response to TLR7 stimulation and that these differences were due to sex differences in the production of IFN α by pDCs (Berghofer et al. 2006; Meier et al. 2009). HIV-1, as a single-stranded (ss) RNA virus, encodes for several GU-rich regions viral genome that can serve as TLR7 ligands and induce IFNa production (Beignon et al. 2005; Meier et al. 2007). In vitro studies demonstrated that pDCs derived from females produced more IFNa in response to stimulation with HIV-1-encoded TLR7 ligands than pDCs derived from males (Meier et al. 2009). In untreated HIV-1 infection, prior to initiation of ART, higher expression levels of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) were furthermore observed in immune cells of women living with HIV (WLWH) compared to men living with HIV (MLWH) after adjusting for the level of viral replication (viral load) (Chang et al. 2013), indicating stronger Type I IFN responses in WLWH in response to same amount of viral antigen compared to MLWH.

Studies be several groups have subsequently started to unravel the mechanisms underlying these differences in TLR7-induced responses between females and males (Laffont et al. 2014; Seillet et al. 2012; Douin-Echinard et al. 2008; Souyris et al. 2018; Souyris et al. 2019; Webb et al. 2018). The gene encoding for TLR7 is located on the X chromosome and can escape from inactivation of the second X chromosome, leading to higher TLR7 mRNA levels and also protein levels in B cells and pDCs derived from females with bi-allelic TLR7 expression (Souyris et al. 2018; Hagen et al. 2020). These higher TLR7 expression levels result in higher induction

of IFN α production following TLR7 stimulation in pDCs of females. Furthermore, sex hormones can regulate Type I IFN production of pDCs following TLR7 stimulation, probably by affecting signaling events downstream of TLR7 (Laffont et al. 2014; Seillet et al. 2012; Douin-Echinard et al. 2008). For example, IRF5, a critical signaling molecule in the TLR7 pathway, was expressed at higher levels in pDCs derived from females, and IRF5 expression levels were strongly associated with IFN α production after TLR7 stimulation (Griesbeck et al. 2015). Higher expression of IRF5 in female pDCs depended on estrogen, and pDCs from mice with an estrogen receptor (ERalpha) knockout expressed less IRF5 and exhibited lower IFN α production after TLR7 stimulation (Griesbeck et al. 2015; Laffont et al. 2014). Overall, these data suggest that stronger Type I IFN responses in WLWH compared to MLWH can be mediated by both the effects of sex hormones on innate immune responses to HIV-1 and by differences in expression levels of genes encoded by the X chromosome that escape inactivation (Fig. 2).

Type I IFNs play a critical role in HIV-1 pathogenesis (Sandler et al. 2014; Utay and Douek 2016) and differences in Type I IFN responses between the sexes can therefore affect different stages of HIV-1 infection (Addo and Altfeld 2014; Scully 2018). During primary viral infections, Type I IFNs can mediate strong antiviral effects through the activation of ISG that include viral restriction factors. Stronger Type I IFN responses in females compared to males in primary HIV-1 infection might therefore contribute to the better control of viral replication observed in WLWH than MLWH (Gandhi et al. 2002; Meditz et al. 2014) and might also result in the seeding of a smaller viral reservoir in WLWH (Gandhi et al. 2017; Prodger et al. 2020; Scully



Fig. 2 Mechanisms underlying sex differences in Type I IFN responses by pDCs, and consequences for HIV-1 disease

Genes encoded by the X chromosome that escape inactivation of the second X chromosome and sex steroid hormones can both affect Type I IFN responses by pDCs following TLR7 stimulation, resulting in higher production of IFN α by pDCs from females. Higher levels of IFNA and ISGs in females can contribute to better control of HIV-1 replication in primary infections in WLWH, but also in higher levels of immune activation during chronic untreated HIV-1 infection in WLWH

et al. 2018). However, persistent induction of Type I IFNs in chronic untreated HIV-1 infection induces immune activation that contributes to the pathogenesis in chronic HIV-1 infection, including the loss of CD4+ T cells, and might therefore provide an underlying mechanism for the described faster CD4+ T cell loss and progression to AIDS in WLWH compared to MLWH after adjusting for the level of viral replication (Farzadegan et al. 1998; Gandhi et al. 2002; Meditz et al. 2014; Sterling et al. 2001). Stronger Type I IFN responses during acute viral infections in females compared to males might also have consequences for the characteristics of viral strains that establish an infection. Previous studies have described that primary HIV-1 infection is preferentially established by HIV-1 strains with a higher level of Type I IFN responses during acute HIV-1 infection and on the size of the viral reservoir, but also on the quality to the HIV-1 strains that establish the HIV-1 reservoir.

The impact of sex on adaptive immune responses to HIV-1 is less well understood. Cytotoxic CD8+ T cells have been shown to play an important role in the control of HIV-1 replication. Some studies have suggested sex differences in CD8+ T cell function, including stronger antiviral activities against CMV (Abdullah et al. 2012; Poon et al. 2021), but sex differences in HIV-1-specific T cell responses have not been systematically studied to data. Strong HIV-1-specific CD8+ T cell responses have been reported in individuals that control HIV-1 replication in the absence of ART (HIV controllers), and several studies have described an overrepresentation of females in cohorts of HIV controllers, including post-treatment controllers (Crowell et al. 2015; Madec et al. 2005; Price et al. 2019; Yang et al. 2017). However, it remains unknown whether differences in the strength of antiviral T cell responses between the sexes might be linked to this overrepresentation of females in HIV controller cohorts. Furthermore, Type I IFN responses play a critical role in regulating the induction and function of antigen-specific CD8+ T cells, and potential differences in HIV-1specific T cell responses between females and males might therefore not represent T cell-intrinsic aspects, but the consequence of extrinsic Type I IFN-mediated effects (Pujantell and Altfeld 2022). Overall, additional studies are required to better understand the potential effect of sex differences in adaptive immune responses, including antibody responses that have been described to be stronger in females compared to males (Klein et al. 2010), on sex differences in the clinical manifestations of HIV-1.

5 Sex Differences in ART-Treated Disease

Broadly considered, ART has similar efficacy in males and females, with modern treatments achieving high rates of viral suppression. However, the rate of adverse effects may differ for some agents. In a large, randomized trial of three treatment regimens identifying a significant excess of weight gain linked to specific ART, there was a disproportionate impact on women (Venter et al. 2019). In separate
studies, weight gain following ART initiation was linked to a smaller decrease in inflammatory markers (IL-6, TNF-RII, CXCL10, sCD163) specifically in women (Bares et al. 2021). Other studies have similarly demonstrated that the magnitude of the impact of ART on inflammatory markers is sex specific (Mathad et al. 2016; Ticona et al. 2015). Residual immune activation is linked to the risk of non-AIDS comorbid conditions (Raghavan et al. 2017), and HIV confers a greater increase in the relative risks of cerebrovascular and cardiovascular disease as compared to controls without HIV infection in women than in men (Chow et al. 2012, 2017; Triant et al. 2007). There are also sex and gender-specific features impacting the rates of bone and metabolic disease associated with HIV infection (Pond et al. 2021). Taken together, the data suggest that there are some off-target impacts of ART, including weight gain, that may be exacerbated in women as compared to men and that HIV has a greater impact on risk of comorbid conditions and residual inflammation in women as compared to men.

Despite the residual evidence of immune activation, markers of HIV reservoir activity are generally lower in women compared to men, with lower levels of residual HIV viremia by single copy assay and lower levels of cell-associated HIV RNA expression despite comparable levels of HIV proviral DNA (Gandhi et al. 2017; Scully et al. 2018). A lower frequency of HIV virus outgrowth was observed in females from a cohort from Uganda, but no significant difference was identified in a North American cohort (Prodger et al. 2020; Falcinelli et al. 2020). The apparently tighter control of residual virus activity could be linked to differences in establishment or maintenance of latency or in innate host restriction of viral replication. Similar to the observations in active replication, 17β -estradiol suppresses latency reversal in model cell lines and in ex vivo reactivation in cells from people living with HIV (Das et al. 2018). The potential role of estrogen is further supported by data indicating that there is an increase in HIV RNA expression during reproductive aging, while HIV DNA levels are stable to declining (Gianella et al. 2022).

These differences in HIV reservoir dynamics and potentially in the mechanisms of latency maintenance and threshold of immune response are relevant for efforts toward HIV eradication or functional cure. These interventions aim to either purge the reservoir or achieve a state of durable immune control of viremia. Host factors, including the transcriptional controls that either maintain latency or drive HIV transcription and the immune response itself, are the therapeutic targets for these efforts. As such, sources of host variation, including biological sex, become highly relevant (Gianella et al. 2016). A higher barrier to latency reversal may render curative approaches in women even more difficult to achieve, but conversely enhanced immune responses may enhance the efficacy of immunomodulatory treatments.

6 Summary

Differences in risks of acquisition, fundamental features of the antiviral response, and comorbid conditions associated with treated infection all show clear evidence of the impact of biological sex in HIV. These differences obligate tailored prevention and therapeutic approaches. They also provide leverage points where delineating the biological mechanisms underlying differences may inform the understanding of HIV pathogenesis more broadly.

References

- Abdool Karim SS, Baxter C, Passmore JS, McKinnon LR, Williams BL (2019) The genital tract and rectal microbiomes: their role in HIV susceptibility and prevention in women. J Int AIDS Soc 22(5):e25300
- Abdullah M, Chai PS, Chong MY, Tohit ER, Ramasamy R, Pei CP et al (2012) Gender effect on in vitro lymphocyte subset levels of healthy individuals. Cell Immunol 272(2):214–219
- Addo MM, Altfeld M (2014) Sex-based differences in HIV type 1 pathogenesis. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S86–92
- Adland E, Millar J, Bengu N, Muenchhoff M, Fillis R, Sprenger K et al (2020) Sex-specific innate immune selection of HIV-1 in utero is associated with increased female susceptibility to infection. Nat Commun 11(1):1767
- Anastos K, Gange SJ, Lau B, Weiser B, Detels R, Giorgi JV et al (2000) Association of race and gender with HIV-1 RNA levels and immunologic progression. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 24(3):218–226
- Baeten JM, Donnell D, Ndase P, Mugo NR, Campbell JD, Wangisi J et al (2012) Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV prevention in heterosexual men and women. N Engl J Med 367(5):399–410
- Bares SH, Smeaton LM, Scott SE, Smith BA, Godfrey C, McComsey GA (2021) The association between weight gain, sex, and immune activation following the initiation of antiretroviral therapy. J Infect Dis 224(10):1765–1774
- Beignon AS, McKenna K, Skoberne M, Manches O, DaSilva I, Kavanagh DG et al (2005) Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor-viral RNA interactions. J Clin Invest 115(11):3265–3275
- Berghofer B, Frommer T, Haley G, Fink L, Bein G, Hackstein H (2006) TLR7 ligands induce higher IFN-alpha production in females. J Immunol 177(4):2088–2096
- Bush CE, Donovan RM, Markowitz N, Baxa D, Kvale P, Saravolatz LD (1996) Gender is not a factor in serum human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA levels in patients with viremia. J Clin Microbiol 34(4):970–972
- Chang JJ, Woods M, Lindsay RJ, Doyle EH, Griesbeck M, Chan ES et al (2013) Higher expression of several interferon-stimulated genes in HIV-1-infected females after adjusting for the level of viral replication. J Infect Dis 208(5):830–838
- Chen Y, Lin H, Cole M, Morris A, Martinson J, McKay H et al (2021) Signature changes in gut microbiome are associated with increased susceptibility to HIV-1 infection in MSM. Microbiome 9(1):237
- Choopanya K, Martin M, Suntharasamai P, Sangkum U, Mock PA, Leethochawalit M et al (2013) Antiretroviral prophylaxis for HIV infection in injecting drug users in Bangkok, Thailand (the Bangkok Tenofovir Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 3 trial. Lancet 381(9883):2083–2090

- Chow FC, Regan S, Feske S, Meigs JB, Grinspoon SK, Triant VA (2012) Comparison of ischemic stroke incidence in HIV-infected and non-HIV-infected patients in a US health care system. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 60(4):351–358
- Chow FC, Regan S, Zanni MV, Looby SE, Bushnell CD, Meigs JB et al (2017) Elevated ischemic stroke risk among women living with HIV infection. AIDS
- Crowell TA, Gebo KA, Blankson JN, Korthuis PT, Yehia BR, Rutstein RM et al (2015) Hospitalization rates and reasons among HIV elite controllers and persons with medically controlled HIV infection. J Infect Dis 211(11):1692–1702
- Das B, Dobrowolski C, Luttge B, Valadkhan S, Chomont N, Johnston R et al (2018) Estrogen receptor-1 is a key regulator of HIV-1 latency that imparts gender-specific restrictions on the latent reservoir. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115(33):E7795–E7804
- Douin-Echinard V, Laffont S, Seillet C, Delpy L, Krust A, Chambon P et al (2008) Estrogen receptor alpha, but not beta, is required for optimal dendritic cell differentiation and [corrected] CD40-induced cytokine production. J Immunol 180(6):3661–3669
- Evans JS, Nims T, Cooley J, Bradley W, Jagodzinski L, Zhou S et al (1997) Serum levels of virus burden in early-stage human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease in women. J Infect Dis 175(4):795–800
- Evidence for Contraceptive O, Consortium HIVOT. HIV incidence among women using intramuscular depot medroxyprogesterone acetate, a copper intrauterine device, or a levonorgestrel implant for contraception: a randomised, multicentre, open-label trial. Lancet 394(10195):303– 13
- UNAIDS. Fact Sheet 2022: Global HIV statistics 2022. Available from: https://www.unaids.org/ en/resources/fact-sheet
- Falcinelli SD, Shook-Sa BE, Dewey MG, Sridhar S, Read J, Kirchherr J et al (2020) Impact of biological sex on immune activation and frequency of the latent HIV reservoir during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. J Infect Dis 222(11):1843–1852
- Farzadegan H, Hoover DR, Astemborski J, Lyles CM, Margolick JB, Markham RB et al (1998) Sex differences in HIV-1 viral load and progression to AIDS. Lancet 352(9139):1510–1514
- Fish EN (2008) The X-files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 8(9):737–744
- Fitzgerald-Bocarsly P, Dai J, Singh S (2008) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and type I IFN: 50 years of convergent history. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 19(1):3–19
- Fulcher JA, Li F, Tobin NH, Zabih S, Elliott J, Clark JL et al (2022) Gut dysbiosis and inflammatory blood markers precede HIV with limited changes after early seroconversion. EBioMedicine 84:104286
- Gandhi M, Bacchetti P, Miotti P, Quinn TC, Veronese F, Greenblatt RM (2002) Does patient sex affect human immunodeficiency virus levels? Clin Infect Dis 35(3):313–322
- Gandhi RT, McMahon DK, Bosch RJ, Lalama CM, Cyktor JC, Macatangay BJ et al (2017) Levels of HIV-1 persistence on antiretroviral therapy are not associated with markers of inflammation or activation. PLoS Pathog 13(4):e1006285
- Gianella S, Tsibris A, Barr L, Godfrey C (2016) Barriers to a cure for HIV in women. J Int AIDS Soc 19(1):20706
- Gianella S, Rawlings SA, Dobrowolski C, Nakazawa M, Chaillon A, Strain M et al (2022) Sex differences in human immunodeficiency virus persistence and reservoir size during aging. Clin Infect Dis 75(1):73–80
- Giorgi JV, Hultin LE, McKeating JA, Johnson TD, Owens B, Jacobson LP et al (1999) Shorter survival in advanced human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection is more closely associated with T lymphocyte activation than with plasma virus burden or virus chemokine coreceptor usage. J Infect Dis 179(4):859–870
- Gondim MVP, Sherrill-Mix S, Bibollet-Ruche F, Russell RM, Trimboli S, Smith AG et al (2021) Heightened resistance to host type 1 interferons characterizes HIV-1 at transmission and after antiretroviral therapy interruption. Sci Transl Med 13(576)

- Grant RM, Lama JR, Anderson PL, McMahan V, Liu AY, Vargas L et al (2010) Preexposure chemoprophylaxis for HIV prevention in men who have sex with men. N Engl J Med 363(27):2587–2599
- Griesbeck M, Ziegler S, Laffont S, Smith N, Chauveau L, Tomezsko P et al (2015) Sex differences in plasmacytoid dendritic cell levels of IRF5 drive higher IFN-alpha production in women. J Immunol 195(11):5327–5336
- Griesbeck M, Scully E, Altfeld M (2016) Sex and gender differences in HIV-1 infection. Clin Sci (lond) 130(16):1435–1451
- Haddad LB, Polis CB, Sheth AN, Brown J, Kourtis AP, King C et al (2014) Contraceptive methods and risk of HIV acquisition or female-to-male transmission. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 11(4):447–458
- Hagen SH, Henseling F, Hennesen J, Savel H, Delahaye S, Richert L et al (2020) Heterogeneous escape from X chromosome inactivation results in sex differences in Type I IFN responses at the single human pDC level. Cell Rep 33(10):108485
- Henrard DR, Phillips JF, Muenz LR, Blattner WA, Wiesner D, Eyster ME et al (1995) Natural history of HIV-1 cell-free viremia. JAMA 274(7):554–558
- Iyer SS, Bibollet-Ruche F, Sherrill-Mix S, Learn GH, Plenderleith L, Smith AG et al (2017) Resistance to type 1 interferons is a major determinant of HIV-1 transmission fitness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 114(4):E590–E599
- Katzenstein DA, Hammer SM, Hughes MD, Gundacker H, Jackson JB, Fiscus S et al (1996) The relation of virologic and immunologic markers to clinical outcomes after nucleoside therapy in HIV-infected adults with 200 to 500 CD4 cells per cubic millimeter. AIDS clinical trials group study 175 virology study team. N Engl J Med 335(15):1091–1098
- Klatt NR, Cheu R, Birse K, Zevin AS, Perner M, Noel-Romas L et al (2017) Vaginal bacteria modify HIV tenofovir microbicide efficacy in African women. Science 356(6341):938–945
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638
- Klein SL, Jedlicka A, Pekosz A (2010) The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. Lancet Infect Dis 10(5):338–349
- Laffont S, Rouquie N, Azar P, Seillet C, Plumas J, Aspord C et al (2014) X-Chromosome complement and estrogen receptor signaling independently contribute to the enhanced TLR7-mediated IFN-alpha production of plasmacytoid dendritic cells from women. J Immunol 193(11):5444–5452
- Lyles CM, Dorrucci M, Vlahov D, Pezzotti P, Angarano G, Sinicco A et al (1999) Longitudinal human immunodeficiency virus type 1 load in the italian seroconversion study: correlates and temporal trends of virus load. J Infect Dis 180(4):1018–1024
- Madec Y, Boufassa F, Porter K, Meyer L, Collaboration C (2005) Spontaneous control of viral load and CD4 cell count progression among HIV-1 seroconverters. AIDS 19(17):2001–2007
- Marinda E, Humphrey JH, Iliff PJ, Mutasa K, Nathoo KJ, Piwoz EG et al (2007) Child mortality according to maternal and infant HIV status in Zimbabwe. Pediatr Infect Dis J 26(6):519–526
- Marrazzo JM, Ramjee G, Richardson BA, Gomez K, Mgodi N, Nair G et al (2015) Tenofovir-based preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med 372(6):509– 518
- Mathad JS, Gupte N, Balagopal A, Asmuth D, Hakim J, Santos B et al (2016) Sex-related differences in inflammatory and immune activation markers before and after combined antiretroviral therapy initiation. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 73(2):123–129
- McElrath MJ, Smythe K, Randolph-Habecker J, Melton KR, Goodpaster TA, Hughes SM et al (2013) Comprehensive assessment of HIV target cells in the distal human gut suggests increasing HIV susceptibility toward the anus. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 63(3):263–271
- Meditz AL, Folkvord JM, Lyle NH, Searls K, Lie YS, Coakley EP et al (2014) CCR5 expression is reduced in lymph nodes of HIV type 1-infected women, compared with men, but does not mediate sex-based differences in viral loads. J Infect Dis 209(6):922–930

- Meier A, Alter G, Frahm N, Sidhu H, Li B, Bagchi A et al (2007) MyD88-dependent immune activation mediated by human immunodeficiency virus type 1-encoded Toll-like receptor ligands. J Virol 81(15):8180–8191
- Meier A, Chang JJ, Chan ES, Pollard RB, Sidhu HK, Kulkarni S et al (2009) Sex differences in the Toll-like receptor-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to HIV-1. Nat Med 15(8):955–959
- Mellors JW, Rinaldo CR Jr, Gupta P, White RM, Todd JA, Kingsley LA (1996) Prognosis in HIV-1 infection predicted by the quantity of virus in plasma. Science 272(5265):1167–1170
- Moore RD, Cheever L, Keruly JC, Chaisson RE (1999) Lack of sex difference in CD4 to HIV-1 RNA viral load ratio. Lancet 353(9151):463–464
- Murnane PM, Celum C, Mugo N, Campbell JD, Donnell D, Bukusi E et al (2013) Efficacy of preexposure prophylaxis for HIV-1 prevention among high-risk heterosexuals: subgroup analyses from a randomized trial. AIDS 27(13):2155–2160
- Napravnik S, Poole C, Thomas JC, Eron JJ Jr (2002) Gender difference in HIV RNA levels: a meta-analysis of published studies. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 31(1):11–19
- Patel P, Borkowf CB, Brooks JT, Lasry A, Lansky A, Mermin J (2014) Estimating per-act HIV transmission risk: a systematic review. AIDS 28(10):1509–1519
- Pereyra F, Jia X, McLaren PJ, Telenti A, de Bakker PI et al International HIVCS (2010) The major genetic determinants of HIV-1 control affect HLA class I peptide presentation. Science 330(6010):1551–1557
- Poles MA, Elliott J, Taing P, Anton PA, Chen IS (2001) A preponderance of CCR5(+) CXCR4(+) mononuclear cells enhances gastrointestinal mucosal susceptibility to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 75(18):8390–8399
- Pond RA, Collins LF, Lahiri CD (2021) Sex differences in Non-AIDS comorbidities among people with human immunodeficiency virus. Open Forum Infect Dis 8(12):ofab558
- Poon MML, Byington E, Meng W, Kubota M, Matsumoto R, Grifoni A et al (2021) Heterogeneity of human anti-viral immunity shaped by virus, tissue, age, and sex. Cell Rep 37(9):110071
- Price MA, Rida W, Kilembe W, Karita E, Inambao M, Ruzagira E et al (2019) Control of the HIV-1 load varies by viral subtype in a large cohort of African adults with incident HIV-1 infection. J Infect Dis 220(3):432–441
- Prodger JL, Capoferri AA, Yu K, Lai J, Reynolds SJ, Kasule J et al (2020) Reduced HIV-1 latent reservoir outgrowth and distinct immune correlates among women in Rakai, Uganda. JCI Insight 5(14)
- Pujantell M, Altfeld M (2022) Consequences of sex differences in Type I IFN responses for the regulation of antiviral immunity. Front Immunol 13:986840
- Raghavan A, Rimmelin DE, Fitch KV, Zanni MV (2017) Sex differences in select noncommunicable HIV-associated comorbidities: exploring the role of systemic immune activation/ inflammation. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep
- Sandler NG, Bosinger SE, Estes JD, Zhu RT, Tharp GK, Boritz E et al (2014) Type I interferon responses in rhesus macaques prevent SIV infection and slow disease progression. Nature 511(7511):601–605
- Scully EP (2018) Sex differences in HIV infection. Curr HIV/AIDS Rep 15(2):136-146
- Scully EP, Gandhi M, Johnston R, Hoh R, Lockhart A, Dobrowolski C et al (2018) Sex-based differences in HIV-1 reservoir activity and residual immune activation. J Infect Dis
- Seillet C, Laffont S, Tremollieres F, Rouquie N, Ribot C, Arnal JF et al (2012) The TLR-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells is positively regulated by estradiol in vivo through cell-intrinsic estrogen receptor alpha signaling. Blood 119(2):454–464
- Sheth AN, Rolle CP, Gandhi M (2016) HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis for women. J Virus Erad 2(3):149–155
- Souyris M, Mejia JE, Chaumeil J, Guery JC (2019) Female predisposition to TLR7-driven autoimmunity: gene dosage and the escape from X chromosome inactivation. Semin Immunopathol 41(2):153–164

- Souyris M, Cenac C, Azar P, Daviaud D, Canivet A, Grunenwald S et al (2018) TLR7 escapes X chromosome inactivation in immune cells. Sci Immunol 3(19)
- Spiering AE, de Vries TJ (2021) Why females do better: the X chromosomal TLR7 gene-dose effect in COVID-19. Front Immunol 12:756262
- Sterling TR, Lyles CM, Vlahov D, Astemborski J, Margolick JB, Quinn TC (1999) Sex differences in longitudinal human immunodeficiency virus type 1 RNA levels among seroconverters. J Infect Dis 180(3):666–672
- Sterling TR, Vlahov D, Astemborski J, Hoover DR, Margolick JB, Quinn TC (2001) Initial plasma HIV-1 RNA levels and progression to AIDS in women and men. N Engl J Med 344(10):720–725
- Szotek EL, Narasipura SD, Al-Harthi L (2013) 17beta-Estradiol inhibits HIV-1 by inducing a complex formation between beta-catenin and estrogen receptor alpha on the HIV promoter to suppress HIV transcription. Virology 443(2):375–383
- Taha TE, Nour S, Kumwenda NI, Broadhead RL, Fiscus SA, Kafulafula G et al (2005) Gender differences in perinatal HIV acquisition among African infants. Pediatrics 115(2):e167–e172
- Thomson KA, Hughes J, Baeten JM, John-Stewart G, Celum C, Cohen CR et al (2018) Increased risk of HIV acquisition among women throughout pregnancy and during the postpartum period: a prospective per-coital-act analysis among women with HIV-infected partners. J Infect Dis 218(1):16–25
- Thorne C, Newell ML, European CS (2004) Are girls more at risk of intrauterine-acquired HIV infection than boys? AIDS 18(2):344–347
- Ticona E, Bull ME, Soria J, Tapia K, Legard J, Styrchak SM et al (2015) Biomarkers of inflammation in HIV-infected Peruvian men and women before and during suppressive antiretroviral therapy. AIDS 29(13):1617–1622
- Triant VA, Lee H, Hadigan C, Grinspoon SK (2007) Increased acute myocardial infarction rates and cardiovascular risk factors among patients with human immunodeficiency virus disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 92(7):2506–2512
- Utay NS, Douek DC (2016) Interferons and HIV Infection: the good, the bad, and the ugly. Pathog Immun 1(1):107–116
- Van Damme L, Corneli A, Ahmed K, Agot K, Lombaard J, Kapiga S et al (2012) Preexposure prophylaxis for HIV infection among African women. N Engl J Med 367(5):411–422
- Venter WDF, Moorhouse M, Sokhela S, Fairlie L, Mashabane N, Masenya M et al (2019) Dolutegravir plus two different prodrugs of Tenofovir to treat HIV. N Engl J Med 381(9):803–815
- Vieira VA, Zuidewind P, Muenchhoff M, Roider J, Millar J, Clapson M et al (2019) Strong sex bias in elite control of paediatric HIV infection. AIDS 33(1):67–75
- Webb K, Peckham H, Radziszewska A, Menon M, Oliveri P, Simpson F et al (2018) Sex and pubertal differences in the type 1 interferon pathway associate with both X chromosome number and serum sex hormone concentration. Front Immunol 9:3167
- Wira CR, Fahey JV, Rodriguez-Garcia M, Shen Z, Patel MV (2014) Regulation of mucosal immunity in the female reproductive tract: the role of sex hormones in immune protection against sexually transmitted pathogens. Am J Reprod Immunol 72(2):236–258
- Yang OO, Cumberland WG, Escobar R, Liao D, Chew KW (2017) Demographics and natural history of HIV-1-infected spontaneous controllers of viremia. AIDS 31(8):1091–1098

Effects of Biological Sex and Pregnancy on SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis and Vaccine Outcomes



Janna R. Shapiro, Craig W. Roberts, Kasandra Arcovio, Lisa Reade, Sabra L. Klein, and Santosh Dhakal

Abstract SARS-CoV-2 is the causative agent of COVID-19 in humans and has resulted in the death of millions of people worldwide. Similar numbers of infections have been documented in males and females; males, however, are more likely than females to be hospitalized, require intensive care unit, or die from COVID-19. The mechanisms that account for this are multi-factorial and are likely to include differential expression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 molecules that are required for viral entry into hosts cells and sex differences in the immune response, which are due to modulation of cellular functions by sex hormones and differences in chromosomal gene expression. Furthermore, as comorbidities are also associated with poorer outcomes to SARS-CoV-2 infection and several comorbidities are overrepresented in males, these are also likely to contribute to the observed sex differences. Despite their relative better prognosis following infection with SARS-CoV-2, females do have poorer outcomes during pregnancy. This is likely to be due to pregnancy-induced changes in the immune system that adversely affect viral immunity and disruption of the renin-angiotensin system. Importantly, vaccination reduces the severity of disease in males and females, including pregnant females, and there is no evidence that vaccination has any adverse effects on the outcomes of pregnancy.

C. W. Roberts · K. Arcovio · L. Reade Institute of Pharmacy and Biomedical Sciences, University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, Scotland, UK

 S. L. Klein · S. Dhakal
 W. Harry Feinstone Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

S. Dhakal (⊠) Department of Diagnostic Medicine/Pathobiology, College of Veterinary Medicine, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS, USA e-mail: sdhakal3@vet.k-state.edu

J. R. Shapiro · S. L. Klein Department of International Health, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_4

1 Sex Differences in Viral Pathogenesis

Sex as a biological variable refers to the differences between males and females based on their sex chromosome complement, reproductive tissues, and concentrations of sex steroid hormones, all of which define most of us as being either male or female. For the past several decades, it has become increasingly apparent that the intensity, prevalence, and pathogenesis of infections caused not only by viruses, but by parasites, fungi, and bacteria can vary between the sexes (vom Steeg and Klein 2016). The mechanisms explaining how sex-based differences occur in immune responses include differences in genetics and epigenetics (X versus Y chromosome and differential epigenetic programming), concentrations of sex steroid hormones (i.e., progesterone, estrogens, and androgens), and environmental factors (Klein and Flanagan 2016). Although biological differences between the sexes can contribute significantly to differential immune responses and outcomes of infectious diseases, equally relevant are gender-associated factors that define the social or cultural norms that impact lifestyle choices, access to health care, and occupational exposures, and even vaccine hesitancy (Morgan and Klein 2019; Kini et al. 2022; Scully et al. 2021). Gender can intersect with sex to impact outcomes of many infectious diseases and responses to treatments (Mauvais-Jarvis et al. 2020; Shapiro et al. 2021).

The pathogenesis of infectious diseases as well as responses to vaccines that protect against infectious diseases can change throughout the life course (Klein and Flanagan 2016; Flanagan et al. 2017). For many viruses, disease severity is heightened in infants and young children as well as older adults (Troy and Bosco 2016; Hause et al. 2018). Among children (i.e., individuals < 18 years of age), males are more vulnerable to severe outcomes from respiratory viral infections, such as RSV, than females (Klein and Flanagan 2016). At the other end of the spectrum, among individuals 65 years and older, chronic inflammation combined with reduced antibody responses typically occurs at a faster rate among males compared with females (Marquez et al. 2020). The greater age-associated decline in immunity among males may partially explain how males are typically more susceptible to infections than females in later decades of life (Ursin and Klein 2021). During reproductive years (e.g., after puberty and prior to menopause in females), females often experience worse outcomes from respiratory viral infections than males (vom Steeg and Klein 2016; Klein and Flanagan 2016), which may be associated with immunological shifts associated with pregnancy as well as overall greater inflammatory immune responses and tissue damage following infection of non-pregnant, reproductive aged females as compared with age-matched males (Hause et al. 2018; Englund and Chu 2018). In this chapter, we will explore the specific effects of biological sex, gender, pregnancy, and aging on outcomes of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) and responses to COVID-19 vaccines.

2 Sex Differences in SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis

Around the world, males suffer worse outcomes from COVID-19, which was reported early before the pandemic was declared in China (Chen et al. 2020a; Guan et al. 2020) and was further supported by epidemiological evidence from countries in Europe and Asia as well as in the United States (Gebhard et al. 2020; Scully et al. 2020; Klein et al. 2020a). Throughout the pandemic, the Global Health 50/50 organization tracked sex-disaggregated data on severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) confirmed infections, hospitalizations, and deaths worldwide (The COVID-19 Sex-Disaggregated Data Tracker 2022). Despite similar number of confirmed SARS-CoV-2 cases (based on PCR or antigen tests) between males and females, hospitalizations, intensive care unit (ICU) admissions, and deaths from COVID-19 are greater for males than females. Based on a meta-analysis of over 10 million patients from 229 studies, male COVID-19 patients are 41% more likely to require ICU admission and are 35% more likely to die as compared with female patients (Pijls et al. 2022). Sex differences in the outcome of other beta coronavirus infections have been reported, including during the 2003 outbreak of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and sporadic outbreaks of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV), both of which cause greater mortality in male compared to female patients (Karlberg et al. 2004; Alghamdi et al. 2014). Whether these sex differences in COVID-19 outcomes reflect biological differences in cellular virus entry, virus replication, or transmission will be discussed. Further, how sex differences in innate and adaptive immune responses to SARS-CoV-2 result in differential outcomes from infection and vaccination will be explored. Finally, with reports of females being more likely to experience symptoms of post-acute sequalae of SARS-CoV-2 (PASC or long-COVID), greater consideration into the biology of these differences is required.

2.1 SARS-CoV-2 Entry, Replication, and Transmission

Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is the principal receptor for SARS-CoV-2 spike (S) binding and its entry into the host cell. This process is facilitated by a transmembrane serine protease 2 (TMPRSS2) enzyme which cleaves and activates viral S glycoprotein (Hoffmann et al. 2020). ACE2 and TMPRSS2 are expressed at varying levels in different tissues of the respiratory, cardiovascular, digestive, and urinary systems (Zou et al. 2020; Sungnak et al. 2020). ACE2 is an X chromosome-encoded gene, and a systematic transcriptomic analysis of X-chromosomal inactivation in 29 adult (20–70 years) human tissues revealed that the expression of ACE2 was greater in tissues derived from male than female patients, including in the lungs (Tukiainen et al. 2017). In mice, the presence of estradiol, which is found in higher concentrations among females than males, reduces the renal ACE2 activity in females (Liu

et al. 2010). Whether sex steroids affect ACE2 expression in the lungs has not been reported.

In the human nasal epithelium (age 4–60 years), age-dependent increases in ACE2 gene expression are observed (Bunyavanich et al. 2020). Similarly, in developing mouse lungs as well as in human lung tissues (collected between birth to 69 years of age), age-dependent increases in TMPRSS2 gene expression are reported (Schuler et al. 2021) indicating the potential association of low levels of receptor distribution in the respiratory tract and lower risk of COVID-19 in children. These studies, however, did not perform sex-specific analysis for receptor distribution. Okwan-Duodu et al. performed sex-specific analysis of ACE2 and TMPRRSS2 expression in the lungs of 13 adult male (mean age 51.8 ± 4 years) and 13 adult females (mean age 46.9 ± 6 years) (Okwan-Duodu et al. 2021). Though ACE2 expression was similar, TMPRSS2 expression was significantly greater in males compared to females. Moreover, ACE2 + TMPRSS2 + double-positive alveolar type 2 (AT2) epithelial cells were threefold enriched in male lungs (Okwan-Duodu et al. 2021). As these cells are important in mediating virus replication, the differences in receptor distribution may explain, to some extent, the risk of developing severe COVID-19 in adult males compared to adult females. Co-expression of ACE2 and TMPRSS2 also is observed in oral epithelial cells, with both expressed at greater levels in older individuals and with TMPRSS2 expressed at greater levels in males than females (Peng et al. 2021). Because SARS-CoV-2 infects the oral mucosa and salivary glands, with salivary viral burden correlating with COVID-19 symptoms (Huang et al. 2021), these data suggest that sex and age differences in TMPRSS2 expression might contribute to the age and sex distributions in COVID-19 outcomes.

Early data from Wuhan, China showed that male sex and older age were associated with prolonged virus shedding in symptomatic COVID-19 patients (Xu et al. 2020). Another retrospective study from the Zhejiang province in China also showed similar findings, where virus shedding was prolonged in male and older (> 60 years) patients with severe disease (Zheng et al. 2020). While Carrouel et al. reported neither age nor sex differences in salivary viral quantification in adults (18–85 years) with asymptomatic or mild COVID-19 (Carrouel et al. 2021), Kobayashi et al. reported 10 times lower viral load in the saliva obtained from symptomatic adult female compared to male patients (Kobayashi et al. 2021). A systematic review of SARS-CoV-2 shedding dynamics, however, indicated that disease severity rather than age or sex better predicts viral shedding kinetics (Chen et al. 2021). Thus, sex difference in SARS-CoV-2 replication and shedding might be dependent on other factors including age, disease severity, and comorbidities or an interaction of these factors.

Studies of sex differences in SARS-CoV-2 transmission are limited. One epidemiological survey among adult Brazilian couples living together without any protective measures during SARS-CoV-2 infection indicated that males are more likely to transmit virus to their spouse in the household setting (Silva et al. 2022). Another systematic review showed that the most typical super-spreader for SARS-CoV-2 is likely to be a male over 40 years of age and having a mild disease course (Brainard et al. 2023). Because males produce 34% more aerosol than females, it is plausible that males spread SARS-CoV-2 better than females (Good et al. 2021). Other

gender-associated factors that can contribute to spread (e.g., use or acceptance of non-pharmacological interventions [NPIs]) must also be considered as males across diverse countries were shown to be less accepting of NPIs than females (Galasso et al. 2020).

2.2 Development of Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses

SARS-CoV-2 infection of the respiratory system induces production of interferons (IFNs) and other cytokines and chemokines, though the interferon response to SARS-CoV-2 is less pronounced as compared to other human coronavirus infections (Zhou et al. 2020; Chu et al. 2020; Hadjadj et al. 2020). Increases in interleukin-6 (IL-6), IL-10, and C-reactive protein (CRP) are observed among severe COVID-19 patients at the time of inpatient admission (Tan et al. 2020). Similarly, reduced numbers of total lymphocytes, CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, CD19+ B cells, and NK cells but increases in monocytes, neutrophils, and neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR) occur in severe cases (Tan et al. 2020; Lucas et al. 2020). Longitudinal analyses of immune responses indicate a strong association of an early rise in the plasma cytokine level with severe COVID-19 outcome (Lucas et al. 2020). Moreover, patients with severe disease maintained the elevated levels of cytokines for a longer period compared to the patients with moderate disease (Lucas et al. 2020).

Among patients with moderate disease, Takahashi et al. observed significantly greater levels of IL-8 and IL-18 in male than female patients at baseline, whereas greater C-C motif chemokine ligand 5 (CCL5) responses are observed in male patients over the course of the disease (Takahashi et al. 2020). Females have greater numbers of intermediate monocytes (CD14+ CD16+), while males have higher frequencies of non-classical monocytes (CD14loCD16+), suggesting stronger activation of innate immune cells in males leading to the production of greater levels of inflammatory cytokines (Takahashi et al. 2020). Similar observations have been made in hamsters infected with the ancestral strain of SARS-CoV-2, in which infected males suffer worse outcomes than females and have greater frequencies of myeloid cells than lymphocytes (Dhakal et al. 2021; Ruiz-Bedoya et al. 2022). The NLR is positively correlated with negative COVID-19 outcomes, and male patients are more likely to have higher NLRs than females (Yan et al. 2020). Likewise, the initial and peak plasma levels of IL-6 and CRP are significantly greater in male than in female COVID-19 patients (Lau et al. 2021). Moreover, the effect of change in peak CRP level is more robust in males than females, where a one standard deviation higher peak in CRP level was associated with over 7- and ninefold increased odds of ICU admission and death in males compared to 2.7- and 2.8-fold increased odds in females, respectively (Lau et al. 2021). Auto-antibodies against at least one type of type I IFNs is reported in 10.2% of severe COVID-19 patients, and 94% of these patients bearing auto-antibodies were males (Bastard et al. 2020). Males with life-threatening COVID-19 have 5.22 times higher odds of having type I IFN

auto-antibodies (Bastard et al. 2020) highlighting their possible role in mediating sex difference in COVID-19 outcomes.

Male sex, older age, and hospitalization are associated with a greater antibody response in COVID-19 convalescent plasma donors (Klein et al. 2020b). Grzelak et al. reported that binding and virus neutralizing antibodies are significantly greater in males than in females at 1 month, while the decay of these antibodies is faster in male than female patients over a period of 6 months (Grzelak et al. 2021). Male-biased greater SARS-CoV-2 binding and neutralizing antibody titers also were reported in another study which further showed that the age and symptom grade are positively correlated with antibody levels only in males but not in females (Markmann et al. 2021). This study, however, observed no sex difference in antibody durability (Markmann et al. 2021). Another study showed significantly greater IgM antibody responses in male than female patients, but sex difference in IgG responses was inconsistent (Wu et al. 2021). In contrast, in hamsters infected with the ancestral strain of SARS-CoV-2, females develop greater IgG and neutralizing antibody responses against SARS-CoV-2 antigens and viruses, both peripherally in blood and locally in the lungs (Dhakal et al. 2021). Such disparities may be explained by differences in disease severity among patients in different studies as hospitalization with severe disease is the strongest predictor of antibody response than male sex and age (Klein et al. 2020b).

During COVID-19, female patients have greater frequencies of activated and terminally differentiated T cells compared to male patients (Takahashi et al. 2020). The inferior T cell response is associated with worse disease outcome in male but not female patients (Takahashi et al. 2020). Sex difference in mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells also is reported during COVID-19 where the extravasation and recruitment of these cells in the airway epithelium is greater in female than male patients (Yu et al. 2021). The qualitative and quantitative superiority of MAIT cells in females may play a role in providing better protection to females during COVID-19 (Yu et al. 2021).

2.3 Sex Differences in Post-Acute Sequelae SARS-CoV-2 Infection (PASC)

PASC or long-COVID is characterized by the occurrence of a wide range of physical and psychological symptoms beyond the acute recovery phase of COVID-19 (Aiyegbusi et al. 2021). The most common persistent symptoms during long-COVID include fatigue, shortness of breath, muscle pain, cough, chest pain, and altered smell or taste (Aiyegbusi et al. 2021). A recent meta-analysis and systematic review suggested that 43% of COVID-19 patients experience at least one symptom beyond 28 days of infection (Chen et al. 2022). The long-COVID prevalence is greater (54%) in hospitalized patients compared to the non-hospitalized (34%) patients (Chen et al. 2022).

Long-COVID is more prevalent in female (49%) compared to male (37%) patients, and females have 1.57 times greater odds of developing long-COVID (Chen et al. 2022). During long-COVID, ear, nose, and throat (ENT), gastrointestinal, psychiatric, and neurological disorders are reported more frequently by females, whereas males report more symptoms associated with endocrine and renal disorders (Sylvester et al. 2022). In the Mayo clinic, between January and April 2021, 75% of the patients admitted with long-COVID were females (Ganesh et al. 2022). While fatigue is more common in females, dyspnea is more prevalent in male patients. Increased IL-6 concentrations are observed in 61% of the patients, with most of them being females, suggesting the possible association of persistent inflammation with long-COVID (Ganesh et al. 2022). Long-COVID patients suffer from neurocognitive symptoms at least up to a year, and this is more common in female than male patients (Seessle et al. 2022). Antinuclear antibodies are detected more frequently in female long-COVID patients than in males, and a higher antinuclear antibody titer is associated with the greater number of symptoms in females but not males (Seessle et al. 2022). This suggests for the possible association of long-COVID with autoimmunity, as autoimmune diseases are more prevalent in females (Klein and Flanagan 2016).

2.4 Comorbidities, Sex Difference, and COVID-19

Comorbidities, including hypertension, obesity, diabetes, and malignancy, are known risk factors for COVID-19 (Guan et al. 1590; Richardson et al. 2020). COVID-19-associated ICU admission is 2–3 times greater in patients with hypertension, cardio-vascular disease, and diabetes (Li et al. 2020a). The odds of death, compared to patients having no comorbidity, is 1.53 times higher for patients with one comorbidity and 3.82 times higher for patients with more than 10 comorbidities, indicating that risk increases with increasing number of comorbidities (Kompaniyets et al. 2021). Among COVID-19 patients, the incidence of comorbidities, including diabetes, hypertension, and cancer, is greater in males than in females (Chakravarty et al. 2020). However, sex-specific distribution of comorbidities is also reported where males have a higher prevalence of cardiovascular, pulmonary, and renal diseases during admission, while dementia and autoimmune diseases are more prevalent in females (Raparelli et al. 2020).

Males, in general, have a greater incidence of cardiovascular disease (Gao et al. 2019). A higher prevalence of heart disease during hospital admission with COVID-19 also is reported in males compared to females (Raparelli et al. 2020). Among heart failure patients, circulating plasma ACE2 level is significantly elevated in males than females suggesting a role in greater COVID-19 severity in males (Sama et al. 2020). Risk of developing severe or fatal COVID-19 disease is 2.3 times greater with type 1 diabetes and 1.3 times greater with type 2 diabetes compared with patients without diabetes (McGurnaghan et al. 2021). COVID-19 patients with diabetes are most predominantly males (McGurnaghan et al. 2021; Tramunt et al. 2021). Lymphocytopenia at hospital admission is the independent predictor of death at 28 days in

females, while increased plasma concentration of CRP is the predictor in both sexes (Tramunt et al. 2021). A population-based study from Italy showed that males with prostate cancer have 79% increased risk of getting SARS-CoV-2 infection compared to males without prostate cancer (Montopoli et al. 2020).

Obesity is an independent risk factor for severe COVID-19 (Simonnet et al. 2020). Visceral obesity, which is greater in males than in females, is reported to be positively associated with severe disease (Petersen et al. 2020; Foldi et al. 2021). With every ten square centimeter increase in visceral fat area, the risk of ICU admission is increased by 1.37-fold (Petersen et al. 2020). As visceral adipose tissue contains macrophages that promote inflammation and release of inflammatory cytokines, it is likely that greater visceral adiposity in males drives elevated cytokine response and severe disease (Foldi et al. 2021). A recent study in mice showed a sex-specific effect of diet-induced obesity (DIO), in which greater lung virus titers and shortened time to death due to obesity was observed in adult female, but not male, mice (Lee et al. 2021).

2.5 Role of Sex Steroids

In males, lower testosterone levels correlate with greater COVID-19 severity. Male COVID-19 patients have reduced levels of testosterone, elevated levels of luteinizing hormone, and reduced testosterone to luteinizing hormone ratio compared to healthy controls (Ma et al. 2021; Rastrelli et al. 2021). Likewise, male patients who require ICU admission, ventilator use, or who died from COVID-19, all have significantly lower concentrations of testosterone at hospital admission as compared to their respective non-severe counterparts (Dhindsa et al. 2021). The baseline plasma testosterone level in male patients is negatively associated with neutrophils, CRP, and IL-6, which are elevated in severe COVID-19 cases, and positively correlated with lymphocyte count, which is reduced with disease severity (Rastrelli et al. 2021; Dhindsa et al. 2021). Further, upregulation of androgen signaling pathways in classical (CD14+ CD16-) and non-classical (CD14-CD16+) monocytes obtained from the male patients that require ICU admission also is reported (Dhindsa et al. 2021). In females, a probable protective role of estradiol is reported. Menopausal females are more likely to be hospitalized for a longer duration compared to premenopausal female COVID-19 patients. Moreover, estradiol concentrations are negatively correlated with COVID-19 severity and concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-8 (Ding et al. 2021).

Testosterone and estradiol can influence the SARS-CoV-2 receptor expression and function. In male mice, androgen deprivation after castration results in reduced TMPRSS2 expression in type II alveolar cells, while ACE2 expression levels are reduced in lung parenchyma, type I and II alveolar cells, and bronchial epithelium (Deng et al. 2021). The expression of ACE2+ TMPRSS2+ double-positive cells also is lower in lungs of castrated compared with gonadally intact male mice. ACE2 and TMPRSS2 downregulation also is observed in human lung cancer cells (i.e., H460) that are grown in androgen-deprived environment (Deng et al. 2021). Then, 17 β -estradiol (i.e., the primary biologically active form of estrogen found in premenopausal females) treatment of differentiated normal human bronchial epithelial (NHBE) cells, derived from a female donor, results in significantly lower levels of ACE2, but not TMPRSS2 mRNA expression (Stelzig et al. 2020). In A549 human lung epithelial cells, however, 17 β -estradiol treatment reduced expression of both ACE and TMPRSS2 mRNAs (Baristaite and Gurwitz 2022). These studies suggest that sex steroids can modulate SARS-CoV-2 receptor expression in the respiratory tract which may contribute to sex difference in SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis and COVID-19 outcomes.

Sex steroid-related therapies also have been considered during the COVID-19 pandemic. Early studies suggested that androgen-deprivation therapy reduces the risk of severe COVID-19 in prostate cancer patients (Montopoli et al. 2020; Patel et al. 2020). A protective role for androgen deprivation, however, was not observed in subsequent studies (Gedeborg et al. 2021; Schmidt et al. 2021). In vitro studies suggested that anti-androgens, such as enzalutamide, can reduce TMPRSS2 expression and SARS-CoV-2 entry into human cells (Qiao et al. 2020; Leach et al. 2021). Anti-androgen treatment in humans, however, showed mixed results. In one study, male COVID-19 patients with mild disease were treated with dutasteride for 30 days after enrollment and experienced reduced virus shedding as well as inflammatory responses (Cadegiani et al. 2021). Another study showed that patients taking antiandrogens, dutasteride, finasteride, or spironolactone, for at least 6 months prior to hospitalization have significantly lower risk of ICU admission after SARS-CoV-2 infection (Wambier et al. 2020). Phase 2 clinical trial results, however, found that treatment with enzalutamide does not provide any therapeutic benefit in COVID-19 (Welén et al. 2022). One retrospective study observed that females who received hormone replacement therapy within 6 months of having COVID-19 have reduction in all-cause mortality (Dambha-Miller et al. 2022). Similarly, treatment with a commonly used contraceptive and hormone replacement therapy drug, Evra (norelgestromin and ethinylestradiol), resulted in significantly reduced hospital stay, mechanical ventilation, and intubation (Alfredo et al. 2022).

2.6 Role of Genetic Variations

Genetic associations with susceptibility to SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV infection have been reported (Made et al. 2022). For example, polymorphisms in mannosebinding lectin (MBL), chemokine (C–C motif] ligand 2 gene (CCL2], interferon gamma (IFN γ], and Regulated upon Activation, Normal T cell-Expressed and Secreted (RANTES] are associated with increased risk of SARS-CoV infection or mortality, while certain human leukocyte antigen class II alleles increase susceptibility to MERS-CoV infection (Tu et al. 2015; Chong et al. 2006; Ng et al. 2007; Hajeer et al. 2016). Studies with COVID-19 have also identified alteration in different genes that encode antiviral and pro-inflammatory proteins responsible for increased severity (Made et al. 2022). For example, low expression of *IFNAR2* and high expression of *TYK2* and *CCR2* are associated with severe COVID-19 (Pairo-Castineira et al. 2021). Likewise, single nucleotide polymorphisms in genes encoding SARS-CoV-2 entry receptors ACE2 and TMPRSS2 also impact virus infectivity (Zhang et al. 2022). In a mouse model, mice with the apolipoprotein E2 (APOE2) or APOE4 had greater viral loads and suffered worse clinical outcomes after SARS-CoV-2 infection as compared to the mice bearing the most dominant APOE3 allele (Ostendorf et al. 2022). The clinical outcomes are more pronounced in male than female mice. Consistently, the association of APOE genotype with COVID-19 survival and male bias in adverse survival outcomes are also observed in human patients (Ostendorf et al. 2022).

Inborn errors of immunity (IEI) are observed more frequently in male patients admitted into the hospital with COVID-19, with the subsequent need of ICU admission also being greater in younger male compared to female patients (Meyts et al. 2021; Castano-Jaramillo et al. 2021). Severe COVID-19 patients have enrichment of genetic defects in the loci governing TLR3 and IRF7-mediated activation of type I IFN responses (Zhang et al. 2020). These inborn errors are observed in 3.5% (23/ 659) of the patients with severe COVID-19, and majority of them (15/23) were males (Zhang et al. 2020). IRF7 can be activated by viral nucleic acids through different signaling pathways including the TLR7-mediated pathway. TLR7 is encoded on the X chromosome and can escape X-inactivation process, resulting in its greater expression in female-derived immune cells (Souvris et al. 2018). TLR7 is highly expressed in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), which are the predominant source of type I IFNs, and during viral infection, pDCs from females have greater type I IFN responses compared to males (Meier et al. 2009; Chang et al. 2013). Genetic loss-of-function variants of TLR7 are reported in four young adult (21-32 year) male COVID-19 patients admitted to ICU (Made et al. 2020). In these patients, the type I IFN response is downregulated. Association of genetic alteration on TLR7 and severe COVID-19 also have been reported in subsequent studies (Kosmicki et al. 2021; Solanich et al. 2021; Asano et al. 2021). Around 1.8% of the male patients under 60 years of age carry deleterious TLR7 variants (Asano et al. 2021). When peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) derived from these patients are treated with TLR7 agonists and SARS-CoV-2, the expression of genes involved in type I IFN production, including IRF7, as well as interferon production is diminished (Solanich et al. 2021; Asano et al. 2021). These findings highlight the importance of TLR7-mediated type I IFN immunity in sex differences in SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis.

3 Pregnancy and SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis

Pregnancy is associated with enhanced susceptibility to COVID-19 (Table 1). Pregnant women have worse outcomes from SARS-CoV-2 infection, including increased viral load, disease severity, and adverse effects on the developing fetus. Successful pregnancy is dependent on physiological, endocrinological, and immunological adaptations from insemination to parturition. During pregnancy, the immune system is altered mostly in the local environment of the reproductive tract, but the immuno-logical effects also are observed systemically. Local immune modulation could affect the outcome of pregnancy including the integrity of the fetoplacental unit, fetus infection, and survival. Pregnancy-induced systemic changes in the immune system are associated with modulation of both autoimmune, e.g., arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus, and infectious diseases, including Influenza (Ostensen 1999; Abdullahi et al. 2021). There has been considerable concern regarding the potential detrimental effects of COVID-19 on fetal and maternal health.

Several studies highlight that adverse effects are likely to be increased in SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant women compared to healthy non-pregnant control (Chen et al. 2020b; Akbar et al. 2022; Khan et al. 2020; Jering et al. 2021; Li et al. 2020b). In one study in Indonesia, the maternal mortality rate was 8.3% among females with COVID-19, compared to 1.3% in healthy females (Akbar et al. 2022). Infected females also are more likely to suffer increased rate of pregnancy-related complications, including hypertension, premature rupture of the membrane, and miscarriage (Akbar et al. 2022).

SARS-CoV-2 induces robust immune activation in pregnant females, including cytokine responses (Tanacan et al. 2021). SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant females exhibit an overall increase in pregnancy complications, including miscarriage, gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), gestational hypertension (GHT), intrahepatic cholestasis of pregnancy (ICHP), pre-eclampsia, and preterm delivery. Concentrations of CRP, IFNy, and IL-6 are significantly greater in SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant females, whereas uninfected pregnant females have greater numbers of peripheral blood lymphocytes and levels of IL-2, IL-10, and IL-17. In pregnant females, a significant positive association is observed between COVID-19 disease severity and increased concentrations of IFNy and IL-6, whereas increased levels of IL-2 and IL-10 correlate with reduced severity (Tanacan et al. 2021). Another study also illustrates that IL-6 and IFNy together with IL-1β, CXCL10, TNFa, and NF-kB transcript levels are increased in pregnant females infected with SARS-CoV-2 relative to uninfected pregnant females (Foo et al. 2021). In contrast, IL-13 levels are reduced in COVID-19 pregnant females relative to healthy pregnant females (Foo et al. 2021). Although it is difficult to assign cause and effect, these findings suggest that SARS-CoV-2-mediated adverse effects on pregnancy are associated with immunological modulation.

An alternative or even additional possibility that could explain the detrimental effects of SARS-CoV-2 infection on pregnancy is through direct interactions of the virus with the placenta. ACE2 is expressed on the placenta where its canonical role is to exert its protective effects over the actions of angiotensin II (AngII) in the renin-angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS), which is essential for maintaining heathy homeostasis during pregnancy (Tamanna et al. 2021). ACE2 expression is greater in placenta tissue during the first trimester. As ACE2 is used by SARS-CoV-2 to infect cells, this could facilitate viral infection of the placenta (and potentially the fetus). SARS-CoV-2 infection could be more severe in pregnant women because of

	Key findings	5 lymphopenia (56%) 6 > CRP (66%) 2 PROM (22%)	2 > CRP (67%)	(continued)
	PE	1* (11%)	N/R	
	PT delivery	4 (44%)	1 (33%)	
	Pregnancy outcome	No maternal or fetal death	No maternal or fetal death	
	Mode of delivery	9 cesarean (100%)	3 vaginal (100%)	
it people	COVID-19/ viral symptoms	8 (88%)	3 cough (100%) 2 fever (67%) 1 chest tightness (33%)	
omes in pregnar	Comorbidities/ complications	1 gestational hypertension (pre-infection) (11%) 1 influenza (11%)	N/R	
D-19 outc	Cohort number	6	ς.	
analysis of COVID	Pregnant person inclusion criteria	COVID-19 detected by qRT-PCR with associated pneumonia admitted to Zhongnan Hospital, Wuhan (China), between January 20 and 31 2020	COVID-19 detected by qRT-PCR admitted to Remmin Hospital (China) during January 28-March 1, 2020	
mprehensive a	COVID-19 status	+	+	
Table 1 Co	References	Chen et al. (2020a, b)	Khan et al. (2020)	

86

T ALANT	(manining)								
References	COVID-19	Pregnant person	Cohort	Comorbidities/	COVID-19/	Mode of delivery	Pregnancy	PT delivery	PE
	status	inclusion criteria	number	complications	viral		outcome		
					symptoms				
Akbar et al.	+	Suspected	62	37 pregnancy	15 (24%)	14 vaginal (23%)	6 maternal	9 (15%)	1 (2%)
(2022)		COVID-19		complications		43 C-section	death (10%)		
		infection		(60%)		(71%)	$(p^a = 0.044)$		
		displaying at least				3 conservative	5 fetal death		
		one symptom				(5%)	(8%)		
		including	79	37 pregnancy	19 (24%) **	25 vaginal (32%)	1 maternal	7 (9%)	N/R
		abnormal blood	2	complications		50	death (1%)		
		count.		(47%)		C-section (63%)	3 fetal death		
		Categorized by		(11,12)		4 conservative	(4%)		
		qRT-PCR,				(5%)			
		April-August							
		2020 (Indonesia)							

hypertension, and PROM

No significant findings

Increased hospital

admission,

Key findings

 Table 1 (continued)

(continued)

Table 1 (c	ontinued)									
References	COVID-19 status	Pregnant person inclusion criteria	Cohort number	Comorbidities/ complications	COVID-19/ viral symptoms	Mode of delivery	Pregnancy outcome	PT delivery	PE	Key findings
Li et al. (2020a, b)	+ (laboratory confirmed) - (Suspected)	Patients displaying signs of COVID-19 pneumonia admitted to Hubei provincial Maternal and Child Centre (Wuhan), January 24-February 29, 2020. Categorized by PCR result and chest X-ray	16	3 diabetes (19%), 1 PROM (6%), 3 hypertension (19%), 2 hypothyroidism (19%), 1 PE (6%), 1 PE (6%), 1 PE (6%), 1 PE (6%), 1 PE (6%), 1 PE (6%) hypertension, PCOS, and Hepatitis B 1 depatitis B 1 depatitis B 1 depatitis B 1 depatitis B Hepatitis B 1 depatitis B Hepatitis	(25%) 1 fever (6%)	2 vaginal (12.5%) 14 C-section (87.5%) (87.5%) 2 vaginal (11%) 16 C-section (89%)	No maternal or fetal death No maternal or fetal death	3 (19%) 1 set of twins = 4 (24%) *** 3 (17%) = 4 (21%) = 4 (21%)	1 (6%) N/R	1 placental bleeding 2 lymphopenia (12.5%) 5 > CRP 1st postpart blood test (31%) ($\mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{b}} < 0.001$) 2 gestational hypertension, 1 placental previa causing PT delivered 5 lymphopenia (28%) 11 > CRP 1st postpartum blood test (61%) ($\mathbf{p}^{\mathbf{c}} < 0.02$)
										(continued)

	Key findings	15 lymphopenia (13%) 68 > CRP (58%)	14 13 mphopenia (12%) 57 > CRP (47%)	212 admitted to ICU (3%) p < 0.001 22 thrombotic event (0.3%) p < 0.001	(continued)
	PE	N/R	N/R	564 (9%) (p ^m < 0.001)	
	PT delivery	7 (6%)	6 (5%)	459 (7%) (p ¹ < 0.001)	
	Pregnancy outcome	No maternal or fetal death	No maternal or fetal death	34 stillbirth (0.5%) ($p\mathbf{j}$] = 0.003) 9 maternal death (0.1%) ($p^{k} < 0.001$)	
	Mode of delivery	64 vaginal (53%) 57 C-section (47%) (p ^d = 0.003)	77 vaginal (64%) 44 C-section (36%) (p ^e < 0.001)	1847 C-section (29%) (pⁱ = 0.01)	
	COVID-19/ viral symptoms	N/R	N/R	N/R	
	Comorbidities/ complications	 38 gestational complications (31%) 5 chronic illness (4%) 	32 gestational complications (33%) 0 chronic illness (0%)	Gestational complications: 381 hypertension (6%) 667 diabetes $(10.5\%) (p^g =$ 0.01)	
ntinued)	Cohort number	121	121	6380 *****	
	Pregnant person inclusion criteria	Age matched women randomly selected from between 25 and 35 admitted during January 24–February 29, 2020	Age matched women randomly selected admitted during January 24-February 11, 2019	Women giving birth between April 1–November 23, 2020, within the premier healthcare healthcare et al. 2021b Categorized by COVID-19 result	
	COVID-19 status	- (2020)	- (2019)	+	
Table 1 (cc	References			Jering et al. (2021)	

Effects of Biological Sex and Pregnancy on SARS-CoV-2 Pathogenesis ...

89

	10 Dreamant nercon	Cohort	Comorbidities/	COVID-19/	Mode of delivery	Dregnancy	PT delivery	PF	Kev findings
status	inclusion criteri	a number	complications	viral		outcome		1	
				symptoms					
1		400,066	Chronic illness:	N/R	109,865	1289 stillbirth	23,234 (6%)	27,078 (7%)	1747 ICU (0.4%)
			19,117		C-section (28%)	(0.3%)			300 thrombotic
			hypertension			20 maternal			event (0.1%)
			(5%)			death (0%)			
			5716 diabetes						
			(1%)						
			Gestational						
			complications:						
			29,584						
			hypertension						
			$(7\%) (p^{h} < $						
			0.001)						
			38,066 diabetes						
			(9.5%)						

Abbreviations: PROM, premature rupture of membrane; CRP, C-reactive protein; PT, preterm birth; PE, pre-eclampsia; PCOS, polycystic ovarian syndrome; N/R, not reported; ICU, intensive care unit. *Lowest birth weight seen in PE patient, **Pregnant women with suspected COVID-19 displaying at least 1 typical viral symptom including abnormal blood count, ***Significantly higher rate of premature birth defined as birth before 37 weeks of gestation compared to both 2019 and 2020 control (p = 0.031 and p = 0.021, respectively); **** Women with COVID-19 were significantly younger (p < 0.001) and more often part of an ethnic minority. ^aMaternal death significantly higher in positive COVID-19 cases; ^bCRP higher in the blood of COVID-19 patients postpartum compared to admission and following test; ^cCRP higher in the blood of suspected COVID-19 patients postpartum compared to admission and following test; ^dC-section delivery significantly higher in confirmed COVID-19 positive women compared to 2020 control; °C-section delivery significantly higher in confirmed COVID-19 positive women compared to 2019 control: ^f Diabetes higher in COVID-19 positive patients compared to control; ^gGestational diabetes higher in COVID-19 positive patients compared to control; ^hGestational hypertension death higher in COVID-19 positive women compared to control; ¹PT delivery higher in COVID-19 positive women compared to control; ^{and E} higher in COVID-19 positive women compared to higher in control than positive patients, ¹C-section higher in COVID-19 positive women compared to control; ³Stillbirth higher in COVID-19 positive women compared to control; ^kMaternal control the disruption of the RAAS. Both COVID-19 and pregnancy are associated with increased risk of thrombosis due to their hypercoagulable state, meaning infection during pregnancy could exacerbate prothrombotic conditions, potentially due to increased AngII which is implicated in thrombus formation (Servante et al. 2021). Four studies have examined placentas for SARS-CoV-2, ACE2, and TMPRSS2 protein or transcript levels from control and SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant females and used histopathology to gage the damage (Lu-Culligan et al. 2021; Taglauer et al. 2020; Mourad et al. 2021; Verma et al. 2021). Viral protein or RNA was detected in placenta of some of the COVID-19 positive pregnant females. One study observed that ACE2 protein levels were increased in placentas from SARS-CoV-2-infected females (Lu-Culligan et al. 2021), although none of the other studies could replicate this observation (Taglauer et al. 2020; Verma et al. 2021). One study, however, reported that ACE2 transcript levels were greater in the placentas of females with severe COVID-19 than in placenta tissue from females with mild disease or who were uninfected (Mourad et al. 2021). In this study, a significant increase in IFNinduced transmembrane proteins 1 and 3 (IFITM1 and IFITM3) in the placenta tissue of positive patients is observed compared to asymptomatic and negative patients (Mourad et al. 2021). IFITM3 plays a key part in innate immunity and has recently been linked to COVID-19, exerting both protective and pathogenic effects (Shi et al. 2021). There is no consistent alteration of placental TMPRSS2 levels in infected and non-infected pregnant females. In vitro studies using human trophoblast cells that were infected with SARS-CoV-2 expressing a GFP reporter (spike/VSV-eGFP-SARS-CoV-2-S) illustrate downregulation of ACE2 and angiotensin II receptor type 2 (AT₂R) after viral infection, whereas AT_1R and soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase-1 (sFlt1) are upregulated (Verma et al. 2021). A finding that is largely consistent in all studies is that placentas from pregnant females infected with SARS-CoV-2 have increased histopathology, including increased intervillous fibrin, chorionitis, or maternal vascular malperfusion (MVM). Together, these studies illustrate that SARS-CoV-2 is capable of infecting human placentas, but the contribution of direct infection to pregnancy-associated adverse outcomes is not clearly or consistently understood. More studies are needed to define the risks and mechanisms of RAAS disruption in pregnant females with COVID-19.

4 Sex Differences in COVID-19 Vaccine Outcomes

The COVID-19 vaccines saved an estimated 20 million lives from December 2020 to December 2021 (Watson et al. 2022). Despite the clear sex differences in disease pathogenesis described above, however, the large Phase III trials failed to consider sex differences in the a priori design or analyses of vaccine efficacy or safety (Vries et al. 2022; Jensen et al. 2022). This trend of failing to test for sex differences, or even to provide sex-disaggregated data, has continued in post-licensure research (Zhu et al. 2021). For example, of 75 COVID-19 vaccine studies included in one systematic review, only 24% provided sex-disaggregated data for their main outcome, and only

13% included a discussion of the implications of their findings for males and females (Heidari et al. 2021). Despite the lack of data, sex differences have been identified in the immunogenicity, effectiveness, and safety of the COVID-19 vaccines.

4.1 Immunogenicity

Most vaccine immunogenicity studies that have incorporated sex as a biological variable have focused on the BNT162b2 (Pfizer) vaccine. Among these studies, it has consistently been reported that females mount stronger IgG responses to vaccination than males in both the general adult population and in older adults (Lustig et al. 2021; Demonbreun et al. 2021; Visci et al. 2022; Kondo et al. 2022; Kageyama et al. 1861; Shapiro et al. 2022). This sex difference holds true when controlling for potential confounders, such as age and previous SARS-CoV-2 infection (Lustig et al. 2021; Visci et al. 2022), and in a meta-analysis combining data from 32 studies (Notarte et al. 2022). Furthermore, six months after receipt of the second vaccine dose, a large study from Israel revealed that neutralizing antibody titers were significantly lower in males than in females (Levin et al. 2021). One study of the AZD1222 (AstraZeneca) vaccine also found greater anti-spike IgG titers in females than males, but no sex differences are observed in pseudoneutralization titers, antibody isotypes, or antibody subclasses (Marchevsky et al. 2022).

In addition to females mounting stronger antibody responses to the COVID-19 vaccines than males, intersectional analyses have revealed several sex-specific effects of the humoral vaccine response. For example, in a sample of hospital-based healthcare workers, aging had a more pronounced negative association with antibody responses in males than females (Resta et al. 2021). Similarly, in a sample of older adults (above 75 years of age), the effect of aging on four different measures of humoral immunity (i.e., anti-spike IgG, anti-spike receptor binding domain IgG, ACE2-inhibiting antibodies, and neutralizing antibodies) is significant in males but not females, leading to sex-specific effects of aging (Shapiro et al. 2022). In the same study, sex-specific effects of frailty also are observed in older adults, whereby frailty is associated with impaired antibody responses in males but not females (Shapiro et al. 2022). The effects of both age and frailty are attenuated after reciept of the third vaccine dose, highlighing the importance of booster vaccines, particularly for older males. Turning toward the role of BMI in vaccine-induced antibody responses, once again effects are more pronounced in males than females, leading a significant interaction between sex and BMI in anti-spike IgG titers (Yamamoto et al. 2022). Together, these data suggest that across diverse populations, males have lower antibody respones to vaccination and are also more vulnerable to intersecting factors, such as BMI and age, further decreasing antibody-mediated protection.

To our knowledge, a single study has investigated sex differences in vaccineinduced cell-mediated immunity after two doses of BNT162b2 (Kondo et al. 2022). In a small sub-sample (10 males and 10 females), Kondo et al. reported that post-vaccination, females have more SARS-CoV-2-specific CD8⁺ T cells, memory precursor effector cells (CD8⁺KLRG1⁻CD127⁺CD8⁺ T cells), and activated T cells (CD8⁺CD38⁻HLA-DR⁺). Further, ex vivo stimulation of T cells from female participants leads to more antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells expressing CD107a (a marker cytotoxic potential), a greater intensity of CD107a staining, and greater secretion of IFN γ and TNF α than T cells isolated from male participants. The authors posit that this small study provides evidence that females mount stronger memory T cell responses after two doses of BNT162b2 than males. Given the importance of cell-mediated immunity in mRNA vaccine-mediated protection, more work is needed to better understand the implications of sex differences in this context.

4.2 Effectiveness

The large Phase III efficacy trials for the SARS-CoV-2 vaccines were not powered to detect sex differences (Polack et al. 2020; Baden et al. 2020; Sadoff et al. 2021; Falsey et al. 2021). With widespread use of the vaccines beginning in late 2020, however, several large studies have investigated whether there are sex differences in vaccine effectiveness. For example, in a cohort of over 2.5 million individuals in Scotland, male sex was associated with a greater risk of hospitalization or death from COVID-19 among vaccinated people (Agrawal et al. 2021). Similarly, in the United Kingdom, the reduction in the risk of infection associated with vaccination is greater in females than males (Menni et al. 2021). In a total population cohort study in Sweden, including individuals who received BNT162b2, mRNA-1273, AZD1222, or a combination of BNT162b2 and AZD1222, evidence emerged of higher vaccine effectiveness in females than males, particularly when time since vaccination was taken into account (Nordström et al. 2022). By 181 days post-vaccination, there is no detectable vaccine effectiveness in males, whereas vaccination remained efficacious in females (Nordström et al. 2022). In a follow-up study in July 2021–January 2022, when Delta and then Omicron were dominant variants, an interaction between sex, age, and comorbidity in the risk of severe COVID-19 among vaccinated individuals is reported (Kahn et al. 2022). Whereas for females aged 40-64 during the Deltapredominant period the risk of severe disease remains low regardless of the number of comorbid conditions, risk becomes elevated for males in the same age group who had ≥ 1 comorbidities. A similar trend is observed in the ≥ 65 age group, where the risk of severe disease in vaccinated males is approximately double that in females among those who had at least one comorbidity. Data also are consistent during the early Omicron-predominant period, albeit with a lower overall risk of severe disease. Together, like the immunogenicity data, vaccine effectiveness is found to be greater in females than males, and the factors that dampen effectiveness, such as the presence of comorbidities, have a larger effect in males than females.

4.3 Vaccine Reactogenicity

As with many other vaccines (Cook 2009), a stark sex difference in the rate of adverse events following SARS-CoV-2 immunization is reported. In the first month of vaccine use in the United States, 79% of the adverse events reported to the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System (VAERS) occurred in females. In a larger study in the United Kingdom, the proportion of people who experience either a local or a systemic adverse event is greater in females than males, regardless of vaccine type (BNT162b2 or the AZD1222) or dose number (Menni et al. 2021). A meta-analysis of four cross-sectional studies in Israel found that females report more local, systemic, and sensory adverse events than males across all age groups (Green et al. 2022). In addition, multiple studies report that both male sex and old age are associated with a lower rate of adverse events (Resta et al. 2021; Iguacel et al. 2021; Lee et al. 2021; Izumo et al. 2021). At the intersection of sex and age, among older adults, the rate of adverse events decreases with age in females only (Hoffmann et al. 2021). Sex differences in adverse events are often attributed to a gender bias, with women thought to be more likely to report adverse events than men (Cook 2009; Robb et al. 1996). When objective measures of adverse events, such as the presence of fever, are used following the SARS-CoV-2 vaccines, however, the female preponderance is maintained (Marchevsky et al. 2022). These data suggest that along with potential influences of gender, biological sex differences also contribute to the occurrence of adverse events.

In addition to local and systemic adverse events that were identified during clinical development (Polack et al. 2020; Baden et al. 2020; Sadoff et al. 2021; Falsey et al. 2021), several severe but extremely rare adverse events have received a tremendous amount of public attention. This includes anaphylaxis, myocarditis, and vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT).

4.3.1 Anaphylaxis

The incidence of anaphylaxis after vaccination with an mRNA COVID-19 vaccine is greater in females than males. In the first month of vaccine administration in the United States (December 2021–January 2021), 94% of anaphylaxis cases associated with BNT162b2 and 100% of cases associated with mRNA-1273 were in females (Shimabukuro et al. 2021a). Similarly, of the first million vaccine doses administered in Japan, 70 of the 79 reported cases of anaphylaxis were in females (Somiya et al. 2021). While it was initially argued that the female bias may be explained by health-care workers, who are predominantly female, being prioritized for early vaccination, the trend continued throughout 2021 in Israel, where 78% of cases of anaphylaxis were in females (Anis et al. 2022). Convincingly, a systematic review of 26 articles found that female sex, along with a history of allergy, were the two most common risk factors for anaphylaxis (Alhumaid et al. 2021).

While the mechanism underlying the sex difference in anaphylaxis remains unknown, two main hypotheses have been proposed. First, the COVID-19 mRNA vaccines contain a polyethylene glycol (PEG)-conjugated lipid derivative, which is known to cause allergic reactions through both IgE- and non-IgE-mediated pathways (Laisuan 2021). Prior exposure to PEG may be more common in females due to exposure to PEG-containing products, such as contraceptive injections and certain cosmetic products, leading to hypersensitivity (Somiya et al. 2021). Lending credibility to this hypothesis is the finding that females are more likely to have serum anti-PEG IgM than males (Yang et al. 2016). Second, sex steroid hormones are known to modulate drug-induced anaphylactic reactions, which become more common in females after puberty (Norton and Broyles 2019). Treatment of female mice with an estrogen receptor antagonist or ovariectomy reduced the severity of anaphylaxis, while estradiol supplementation of ovariectomized animals restored the severity (Hox et al. 2015). Mechanistically, high doses of estrogen are known to promote helper T cell type 2 (Th2) responses through upregulation of nitric oxide production leading to the vascular permeability that promotes anaphylaxis and through stimulation of mast cell degranulation (Norton and Broyles 2019; Risma et al. 2021). In contrast, testosterone inhibits IgE production, promotes regulatory T cells which prevent allergic symptoms, and inhibits mast cell degranulation (Norton and Broyles 2019; Risma et al. 2021). Although more research is needed, it is likely that higher levels of exposure to PEG prior to vaccination coupled with a hormonal environment that promotes allergic reactions have led to the higher prevalence of anaphylaxis following COVID-19 vaccination in females.

4.3.2 Myocarditis

Myocarditis, the inflammation of the myocardium that can cause acute heart failure in adults and children, has been reported following administration of the COVID-19 mRNA vaccines. Of the first 300 million doses administered in the United States, 1226 cases of myocarditis or pericarditis were identified, with the vast majority occurring in males (79%) and in younger individuals (median age of 24) (Bozkurt et al. 2021). It has been estimated that for every million vaccine doses administered to males 12–29 years of age, 11,000 cases of COVID-19, 560 hospitalizations, 138 ICU admissions, and 6 deaths are prevented, while 39–47 cases of myocarditis may occur (Gargano et al. 2021). The benefits of vaccination greatly outweigh the risks, even in younger males, but a better understanding of the mechanisms mediating the sex difference in myocarditis may contribute to lowering the risk of severe adverse events following vaccination.

Bozkurt et al. proposed three mechanisms through which mRNA vaccination may cause myocarditis: (1) The mRNA itself is immunostimulatory, and in some cases (e.g., potentially in those with certain genetic predispositions), the mRNA may be recognized as an antigen and initiate a pro-inflammatory cascade that causes myocarditis; (2) the vaccine may stimulate the production of heart-reactive auto-antibodies, which have previously been implicated in the pathogenesis of myocarditis; and (3) molecular mimicry between the SARS-COV-2 spike glycoprotein and self-antigens, such as α -myosin, may lead to the production of crossreactive antibodies that can stimulate pre-existing dysregulated pathways in predisposed individuals, resulting in polyclonal B cell expansion, the formation of immune complexes, and inflammation (Bozkurt et al. 2021). Most data on potential mechanisms for the sex difference in myocarditis, however, come from pre-pandemic research on viral infection-induced myocarditis, where a male predominance also is reported (Fairweather et al. 2013; Fung et al. 2016). In a mouse model of coxsackievirus B3-induced myocarditis, males develop a pro-inflammatory helper T cell type 1 (Th1)-skewed response characterized by IgG2A production and T cell secretion of IFNy and IL-2, while females mount a Th2-skewed response characterized by IgG1 production and T cell secretion of IL-4 and IL-5 (Huber and Pfaeffle 1994). In this model, treatment of males with estradiol and of females with testosterone alters Th-skewing, pointing to a fundamental role of sex steroid hormones in mediating this sex difference (Huber and Pfaeffle 1994). Further, adoptive transfer of female T cells to male mice suppresses the development of myocarditis (Huber and Pfaeffle 1994). Together, these data suggest that regardless of how the COVID-19 mRNA vaccines may initiate a response that leads to myocarditis in certain predisposed individuals, sex steroid hormones likely exacerbate this response in males, resulting in greater incidence of post-vaccination myocarditis.

4.3.3 Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia

In the spring of 2021, several case series were published identifying cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) in individuals, predominantly females, who had been vaccinated with either of the adonovirus vector-based vaccines (AZD1222 or Ad26.COV2.S) (See et al. 2021; Schultz et al. 2021; Greinacher et al. 2021a; Scully et al. 2021; Wolf et al. 2021; Tiede et al. 2021). Later renamed vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT), several systematic reviews also found that female sex and younger age (< 60 years) are risk factors (Sharifian-Dorche et al. 2021; Rizk et al. 2021; Jaiswal et al. 2022; Palaiodimou et al. 2021). One study comparing cases of CVST identified from 2015-2018 to those identified within 28 days of vaccination between March and June of 2021 found that females acount for the majority of cases in both the post-vaccination and control groups (81 and 70%, respectively) (Kammen et al. 2021). A larger study of 294 cases of VITT in Germany, however, did not find a female bias (Pavord et al. 2021), with several authors commenting that the early female predominance could be explained by females being vaccinated earlier than males (Krzywicka et al. 2021; Epidemiology of VITT 2022). Despite conflicting epidemiological data, the higher rate of thrombotic events in females both pre-pandemic and post-vaccination supports a role for biological sex in the occurrence of VITT.

While the precise mechanism of VITT remains largely unknown, it is thought to follow a similar pathway as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia, which is also more common in females (Warkentin et al. 2006). Briefly, components of the vaccine may

form complexes with platelet factor 4 (PF4) causing neo-antigen exposure and stimulating a B cell response, which is further amplified by the vaccine-induced inflammatory environment, that results in the production of anti-PF4 antibodies (Greinacher et al. 2021b). These anti-PF4 antibodies then activate platelets and granulocytes to produce neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which promote coagulation and are characteristic of CVST (Greinacher et al. 2021b). Pre-pandemic research suggests that gender-specific risk factors, such as oral contraceptives, pregnancy, and hormonal replacement therapy, are present in approximately 65% of women who are diagnosed with CVST (Coutinho et al. 2009). It is currently unclear whether the same risk factors predispose women to VITT, or if other mechanisms may contribute, and more research is needed to better understand the epidemiology of this rare adverse event.

5 Pregnancy and COVID-19 Vaccines

Vaccination during pregnancy has several unique considerations regarding safety and efficacy. As discussed above, pregnant people are at greater risk of severe COVID-19 than non-pregnant people, and vaccination can be a tool to protect them and their fetus from adverse consequence of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The safety of medical interventions in pregnant people must be considered for both mother and fetus. Pregnancy also induces changes to the immune system that could in theory alter the efficacy of vaccination or the safety of live vaccines. Pregnant females were not included in the initial trials of the COVID-19 vaccines (Klein et al. 2021).

There is now substantial literature emerging for the mRNA-based vaccines produced by Pfizer (BNT162b2) and Moderna (mRNA-1273) and AstraZeneca's adenovirus-vector-based vaccine (AZD1222) during pregnancy (Hernández et al. 2021), but the immunization guidelines for pregnant people differ from country to country. Development and reproductive toxicology (DART) studies are performed on most therapeutics and are designed to detect adverse effects within a complete reproductive cycle. They are generally performed in rodents (guidelines have been published by the FDA, https://www.fda.gov/media/148475/download). Preliminary DART studies have been performed for all 3 vaccines (Table 2) (Hernández et al. 2021; Stebbings et al. 2021). Various systemic effects are reported including elevated body temperature and increased cytokine production. The mRNA vaccine studies administered the full human dose, while half the human dose of AZD1222 was administered. Overall, the results of the DART data for these COVID-19 vaccines demonstrate no detrimental maternal or fetal adverse outcomes. Following confirmation that COVID-19 vaccines showed no detrimental preclinical DART effects (Table 2), they were rapidly deployed for trial in the public. In the pregnant population, their safety is continually being examined through various studies and self-reporting platforms, and many studies have now reported on their use and safety. One multinational study reported pregnancy outcomes after preconception AZD1222 inoculation (Hillson et al. 2021). Several articles investigated the effect of BNT162b2

or mRNA-1273 vaccines on adverse maternal pregnancy outcomes (Rottenstreich et al. 2022; Bookstein Peretz et al. 2021; Shimabukuro et al. 2021b; Gray et al. 2019; Theiler et al. 2021). Shimabukuro et al. included data on mRNA vaccines from two voluntary surveillance programs, V-safe and VAERS (Shimabukuro et al. 2021b). Magnus et al. (Magnus et al. 2021) investigating BNT162b2, mRNA-1273, and AZD1222 distinguished between vaccine and outcomes, while another study did not (Blakeway et al. 2022). None of the studies demonstrate an increased risk of spontaneous abortion, defined as pregnancy loss before 20 weeks of gestation without medical intervention, in recipients. Similarly, adverse maternal outcomes, including cesarean delivery, preterm delivery, stillbirth, or hypertensive disorders, are not affected by any of these vaccinations. No adverse neonatal outcomes, such as neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) admission, small for gestational age, congenital abnormalities, or neonatal death, are increased in any of the vaccinated groups.

Several clinical trials were started to establish the efficacy of the vaccines in pregnant women (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT04754594; NCT04958304; NCT04877743). NCT04754594 that examines the efficacy of BNT16b2 is now complete; all the data have not yet been reported. Completion of NCT04958304 that examines mRNA-1273 is expected in January 2024. NCT04877743 that looked at AZD1222 has been terminated. Even in the absence of the reports from these clinical trials, some publications have already reported beneficial effects of vaccinations. One study showed that mRNA vaccination induced significantly greater titers of antibodies compared to SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy (Gray et al. 2019). Another study, however, reports lower IgG titers in the vaccinated than naturally infected women (Collier et al. 2021). Variable sample collection time and declining immunity may explain this discrepancy. mRNA vaccines have similar immunogenicity in pregnant females compared to non-pregnant females, with equivalent antibody titers (Gray et al. 2019). Vaccinated pregnant females are significantly less likely than unvaccinated pregnant females to contract SARS-CoV-2 before delivery (Theiler et al. 2021). These studies suggest that the vaccines are effective in preventing COVID-19 during pregnancy. COVID-19 vaccines also have the potential to confer passive immunity, as research shows IgG can be transferred to the fetus in utero (Prabhu et al. 2021) and IgG and IgA can be transferred via breast milk (Collier et al. 2021).

Overall, evidence from preclinical and clinical research suggests that COVID-19 vaccination has a negligible impact on adverse pregnancy outcomes. This contrasts with SARS-CoV-2 infection during pregnancy which has significant adverse effects on pregnancy (as discussed above). The risk of adverse long-term neonatal outcomes is unknown, but it is less likely if we extrapolate evidence from vaccines in use for other diseases. This should not be interpreted as opprobrium of vaccines, but rather an opportunity to continue preclinical research and commence long-term epidemiological investigations of COVID-19 vaccines which will provide more thorough reassurance on their safety during pregnancy. The weight of evidence supports that COVID-19 vaccination during pregnancy is safe and beneficial in this vulnerable population when based on individual risk.

COVID-19 vaccine	BNT16252	MRNA-1273	AZD1222
Animal model	Wistar rats	Sprague Dawley rats	CD-1 mice (Baristaite and Gurwitz 2022)
GLP compliant studies	Not reported	Non-GLP compliant	GLP compliant (using 2 platforms: ChAdOx1 and AdCh63)
Side effects	Increased:Acute phase proteinsFibrinogen	Increased: • Body temperature • Globulin • Fibrinogen • Cytokines	Increased:Body temperatureGlobulin
	 Decreased: Albumin-globulin ratio Hematological parameters 	Decreased:AlbuminAlbumin-globulin ratio	Decreased: • Albumin
Dose administered	30 μg RNA/dose (4 human doses) (Gedeborg et al. 2021) ^b	100 µg RNA/dose (4 human doses) (Schmidt et al. 2021)	2.59×10^{10} viral particles (2 doses) The dose given to mice was half the human dose (Qiao et al. 2020)
DART-EFD	No known direct or indirect adverse effects on pregnancy or embryo, fetal, or postnatal development	No adverse effects on embryo, fetal, postnatal development No dose administered during early organogenesis	No adverse effects observed on pup survival, no abnormal gross pathology, visceral or skeletal findings The definitive study is ongoing in mice ^c
Source	European Commission summary of product characteristics: Comirnaty. Available from: https://ec.eur opa.eu/health/docume nts/community-reg ister/2020/202012211 50522/anx_150522_ en.pdf. (Accessed October 7, 2021)	The American College of Obstetricians and gynecologists COVID-19 vaccines and pregnancy. (Technical document). Available from: https:// www.izsummitpart ners.org/content/upl oads/covid19-vaccines- and-pregnancy.pdf. (Accessed October 7, 2021)	European Medicines Agency. Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use. Assessment report—COVID-19 vaccine AstraZeneca. Available from: https://www.ema.eur opa.eu/en/documents/assess ment-report/vaxzevria-pre viously-covid-19-vaccine- astrazeneca-epar-public-ass essment-report_en.pdf. (Accessed October 7, 2021)

Table 2 Primary results of preclinical toxicology studies for selected COVID-19 vaccines^a

 $^{\mathrm{a}}$ Adapted from Hernández et al. (2021) and augmented from other sources where available as referenced

^b If adjusted for body weight, the clinical dose of BNT16262 is over 300 times the human dose in rat models

^c With the exception of common skeletal variations which routinely resolve without intervention *DART-EFD* Developmental and reproductive toxicity-Embryo-fetal development *GLP* Good Laboratory Practice

6 Conclusions and Future Directions

The available evidence demonstrates that males are disproportionately affected by SARS-CoV-2, with increased disease severity and poorer outcomes compared with females. The reasons for this are multi-factorial, including physiological, immunological (driven both by hormones and chromosomal dependent mechanisms) as well as behavioral aspects. The logical application of this information is to recognize males as a susceptible group and work to develop improved and even specific malefocused treatment regimens. Fortunately, the benefits of vaccination are clear in both sexes. Curiously, although many countries have prioritized vaccination programs by age, profession, and/or comorbidities, the literature does not suggest that any of the programs have been prioritized by sex. Pregnancy represents a special state in females and is associated with worse outcomes relative to non-pregnant females following infection. However, available evidence supports that vaccines are safe and afford a degree of protection in pregnant people consistent with what is observed in the general population. Clinical trials currently underway should provide stronger data, especially regarding the relative efficacies of each vaccine in pregnant females. The enormous scale of COVID-19 vaccine roll out throughout the world provides an unprecedented opportunity for recruitment, collation of recipients and collection of data regarding long-term safety and efficacy of vaccines for adults and their offspring.

References

- Abdullahi H, Elnahas A, Konje JC (2021) Seasonal influenza during pregnancy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 258:235–239
- Agrawal U, Katikireddi SV, McCowan C, Mulholland RH, Azcoaga-Lorenzo A, Amele S et al (2021) COVID-19 hospital admissions and deaths after BNT162b2 and ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccinations in 2. 57 million people in Scotland (EAVE II): a prospective cohort study. Lancet Respir Med 9(12):1439–1449
- Aiyegbusi OL, Hughes SE, Turner G, Rivera SC, McMullan C, Chandan JS et al (2021) Symptoms, complications and management of long COVID: a review. J R Soc Med 114(9):428–442
- Akbar MIA, Gumilar KE, Andriya R, Wardhana MP, Mulawardhana P, Anas JY et al (2022) Clinical manifestations and pregnancy outcomes of COVID-19 in indonesian referral hospital in central pandemic area. Obstet Gynecol Sci 65(1):29–36
- Alfredo CA, Noemi CR, Samuel RL, Daniel OC, Rodrigo RB, Paul MT, et al (2022) Effect of norelgestromin and ethinylestradiol in transdermal patches on the clinical outcomes and biochemical parameters of COVID-19 patients: a clinical trial pilot study. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 15(6)
- Alghamdi IG, Hussain II, Almalki SS, Alghamdi MS, Alghamdi MM, El-Sheemy MA (2014) The pattern of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus in Saudi Arabia: a descriptive epidemiological analysis of data from the Saudi Ministry of Health. Int J Gen Med 7:417–423
- Alhumaid S, Al Mutair A, Al Alawi Z, Rabaan AA, Tirupathi R, Alomari MA et al (2021) Anaphylactic and nonanaphylactic reactions to SARS-CoV-2 vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 17(1):1–24

- Anis E, Preis SA, Cedar N, Tal Y, Hershkowitz I, Hershko AY (2022) Reporting of allergic reactions during Pfizer-BioNTech BNTT162B2 vaccination in Israel. J Allergy Clin Immunol: In Pract 10(11):2969–2976
- Asano T, Boisson B, Onodi F, Matuozzo D, Moncada-Velez M, Maglorius Renkilaraj MRL et al (2021) X-linked recessive TLR7 deficiency in ~1% of men under 60 years old with life-threatening COVID-19. Sci Immunol 6(62)
- Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R et al (2020) Efficacy and safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. New Engl J Med
- Baristaite G, Gurwitz D (2022) Estradiol reduces ACE2 and TMPRSS2 mRNA levels in A549 human lung epithelial cells. Drug Dev Res 83(4):961–966
- Bastard P, Rosen LB, Zhang Q, Michailidis E, Hoffmann HH, Zhang Y et al (2020) Autoantibodies against type I IFNs in patients with life-threatening COVID-19. Science 370(6515)
- Blakeway H, Prasad S, Kalafat E, Heath PT, Ladhani SN, Le Doare K et al (2022) COVID-19 vaccination during pregnancy: coverage and safety. Am J Obstet Gynecol 226(2):236e1–236e14
- Bookstein Peretz S, Regev N, Novick L, Nachshol M, Goffer E, Ben-David A et al (2021) Short-term outcome of pregnant women vaccinated with BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 58(3):450–456
- Bozkurt B, Kamat I, Hotez PJ (2021) Myocarditis with COVID-19 mRNA vaccines. Circulation 144(6):471-484
- Brainard J, Jones NR, Harrison FCD, Hammer CC, Lake IR (2023) Super-spreaders of novel coronaviruses that cause SARS, MERS and COVID-19: a systematic review. Ann Epidemiol 82:66–76.e6.
- Bunyavanich S, Do A, Vicencio A (2020) Nasal gene expression of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 in children and adults. JAMA 323(23):2427–2429
- Cadegiani FA, McCoy J, Gustavo Wambier C, Goren A (2021) Early antiandrogen therapy with Dutasteride reduces viral shedding, inflammatory responses, and time-to-remission in males with COVID-19: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled interventional trial (EAT-DUTA AndroCoV Trial—Biochemical). Cureus 13(2):e13047
- Carrouel F, Gadea E, Esparcieux A, Dimet J, Langlois ME, Perrier H et al (2021) Saliva quantification of SARS-CoV-2 in real-time PCR from asymptomatic or mild COVID-19 adults. Front Microbiol 12:786042
- Castano-Jaramillo LM, Yamazaki-Nakashimada MA, O'Farrill-Romanillos PM, Muzquiz Zermeño D, Scheffler Mendoza SC, Venegas Montoya E et al (2021) COVID-19 in the context of inborn errors of immunity: a case series of 31 patients from Mexico. J Clin Immunol 41(7):1463–1478
- Chakravarty D, Nair SS, Hammouda N, Ratnani P, Gharib Y, Wagaskar V et al (2020) Sex differences in SARS-CoV-2 infection rates and the potential link to prostate cancer. Commun Biol 3(1):374
- Chang JJ, Woods M, Lindsay RJ, Doyle EH, Griesbeck M, Chan ES et al (2013) Higher expression of several interferon-stimulated genes in HIV-1-infected females after adjusting for the level of viral replication. J Infect Dis 208(5):830–838
- Chen N, Zhou M, Dong X, Qu J, Gong F, Han Y et al (2020a) Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. Lancet 395(10223):507–513
- Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, Luo F, Yu X, Zhang W et al (2020b) Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet 395(10226):809–815
- Chen PZ, Bobrovitz N, Premji ZA, Koopmans M, Fisman DN, Gu FX (2021) SARS-CoV-2 shedding dynamics across the respiratory tract, sex, and disease severity for adult and pediatric COVID-19. Elife 10
- Chen C, Haupert SR, Zimmermann L, Shi X, Fritsche LG, Mukherjee B (2022) Global prevalence of post COVID-19 condition or long COVID: a meta-analysis and systematic review. J Infect Dis 6: 100122

- Chong WP, Ip WK, Tso GH, Ng MW, Wong WH, Law HK et al (2006) The interferon gamma gene polymorphism +874 A/T is associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome. BMC Infect Dis 6:82
- Chu H, Chan JF, Wang Y, Yuen TT, Chai Y, Hou Y et al (2020) Comparative replication and immune activation profiles of SARS-CoV-2 and SARS-CoV in human lungs: an ex vivo study with implications for the pathogenesis of COVID-19. Clin Infect Dis 71(6):1400–1409
- Collier AY, McMahan K, Yu J, Tostanoski LH, Aguayo R, Ansel J et al (2021) Immunogenicity of COVID-19 mRNA vaccines in pregnant and lactating women. JAMA 325(23):2370–2380
- Cook IF (2009) Sex differences in injection site reactions with human vaccines. Hum Vaccin 5(7):441–449
- Coutinho JM, Ferro JM, Canhao P, Barinagarrementeria F, Cantú C, Bousser M-G et al (2009) Cerebral venous and sinus thrombosis in women. Stroke 40(7):2356–2361
- Dambha-Miller H, Hinton W, Wilcox CR, Joy M, Feher M de Lusignan S (2022) Mortality in COVID-19 among women on hormone replacement therapy: a retrospective cohort study. Family Pract
- Demonbreun AR, Sancilio A, Velez ME, Ryan DT, Pesce L, Saber R et al (2021) COVID-19 mRNA vaccination generates greater IgG levels in women compared to men. J Infect Dis jiab314
- Deng Q, Rasool RU, Russell RM, Natesan R, Asangani IA (2021) Targeting androgen regulation of TMPRSS2 and ACE2 as a therapeutic strategy to combat COVID-19. iScience 24(3):102254
- Dhakal S, Ruiz-Bedoya CA, Zhou R, Creisher PS, Villano JS, Littlefield K et al (2021) Sex differences in lung imaging and SARS-CoV-2 antibody responses in a COVID-19 golden Syrian Hamster model. mBio 12(4):e0097421
- Dhindsa S, Zhang N, McPhaul MJ, Wu Z, Ghoshal AK, Erlich EC et al (2021) Association of circulating sex hormones with inflammation and disease severity in patients with COVID-19. JAMA Netw Open 4(5):e2111398
- Di Resta C, Ferrari D, Viganò M, Moro M, Sabetta E, Minerva M et al (2021) The gender impact assessment among healthcare workers in the SARS-CoV-2 vaccination—an analysis of serological response and side effects. Vaccines 9(5):522
- Ding T, Zhang J, Wang T, Cui P, Chen Z, Jiang J et al (2021) Potential influence of menstrual status and sex hormones on female severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus 2 infection: a cross-sectional multicenter study in Wuhan, China. Clin Infect Dis 72(9):e240–e248
- Englund JA, Chu HY (2018) Respiratory virus infection during pregnancy: does it matter? J Infect Dis 218(4):512–515
- Pai M (ed) (2022) Epidemiology of VITT. In: Seminars in hematology. Elsevier
- Fairweather D, Cooper LT Jr, Blauwet LA (2013) Sex and gender differences in myocarditis and dilated cardiomyopathy. Curr Probl Cardiol 38(1):7–46
- Falsey AR, Sobieszczyk ME, Hirsch I, Sproule S, Robb ML, Corey L et al (2021) Phase 3 safety and efficacy of AZD1222 (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19) COVID-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med 385(25):2348–2360
- Flanagan KL, Fink AL, Plebanski M, Klein SL (2017) Sex and gender differences in the outcomes of vaccination over the life course. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 33:577–599
- Foldi M, Farkas N, Kiss S, Dembrovszky F, Szakacs Z, Balasko M et al (2021) Visceral adiposity elevates the risk of critical condition in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity (silver Spring) 29(3):521–528
- Foo SS, Cambou MC, Mok T, Fajardo VM, Jung KL, Fuller T et al (2021) The systemic inflammatory landscape of COVID-19 in pregnancy: extensive serum proteomic profiling of mother-infant dyads with in utero SARS-CoV-2. Cell Rep Med 2(11):100453
- Fung G, Luo H, Qiu Y, Yang D, McManus B (2016) Myocarditis. Circ Res 118(3):496-514
- Galasso V, Pons V, Profeta P, Becher M, Brouard S, Foucault M (2020) Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 117(44):27285–27291

- Ganesh R, Grach SL, Ghosh AK, Bierle DM, Salonen BR, Collins NM et al (2022) The femalepredominant persistent immune dysregulation of the post-COVID syndrome. Mayo Clin Proc 97(3):454–464
- Gao Z, Chen Z, Sun A, Deng X (2019) Gender differences in cardiovascular disease. Med Novel Technol Dev 4:100025
- Gargano JW, Wallace M, Hadler SC, Langley G, Su JR, Oster ME et al (2021) Use of mRNA COVID-19 vaccine after reports of myocarditis among vaccine recipients: update from the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices—United States, June 2021. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 70(27):977
- Gebhard C, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Neuhauser HK, Morgan R, Klein SL (2020) Impact of sex and gender on COVID-19 outcomes in Europe. Biol Sex Differ 11(1):29
- Gedeborg R, Styrke J, Loeb S, Garmo H, Stattin P (2021) Androgen deprivation therapy and excess mortality in men with prostate cancer during the initial phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. PLoS ONE 16(10):e0255966
- Good N, Fedak KM, Goble D, Keisling A, L'Orange C, Morton E et al (2021) Respiratory aerosol emissions from vocalization: age and sex differences are explained by volume and exhaled CO₂. Environ Sci Technol Lett 8(12):1071–1076
- Gray KJ, Bordt EA, Atyeo C, Deriso E, Akinwunmi B, Young N et al (2021) Coronavirus disease 2019 vaccine response in pregnant and lactating women: a cohort study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 225(3):303.e1–303.e17
- Green MS, Peer V, Magid A, Hagani N, Anis E, Nitzan D (2022) Gender differences in adverse events following the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine. Vaccines 10(2):233
- Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S (2021a) Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med 384(22):2092–2101
- Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, Wesche J, Handtke S, Wolff M et al (2021b) Insights in ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. Blood J Am Soc Hematol 138(22):2256–2268
- Grzelak L, Velay A, Madec Y, Gallais F, Staropoli I, Schmidt-Mutter C et al (2021) Sex differences in the evolution of neutralizing antibodies to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. J Infect Dis 224(6):983–988
- Guan WJ, Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX et al (2020) Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med 382(18):1708–1720
- Guan WJ, Liang WH, Zhao Y, Liang HR, Chen ZS, Li YM et al (2020) Comorbidity and its impact on 1590 patients with COVID-19 in China: a nationwide analysis. Eur Respir J 55(5)
- Hadjadj J, Yatim N, Barnabei L, Corneau A, Boussier J, Smith N et al (2020) Impaired type I interferon activity and inflammatory responses in severe COVID-19 patients. Science 369(6504):718–724
- Hajeer AH, Balkhy H, Johani S, Yousef MZ, Arabi Y (2016) Association of human leukocyte antigen class II alleles with severe Middle East respiratory syndrome-coronavirus infection. Ann Thorac Med. 11(3):211–213
- Hause AM, Avadhanula V, Maccato ML, Pinell PM, Bond N, Santarcangelo P et al (2018) A crosssectional surveillance study of the frequency and etiology of acute respiratory illness among pregnant women. J Infect Dis 218(4):528–535
- Heidari S, Palmer-Ross A, Goodman T (2021) A systematic review of the sex and gender reporting in COVID-19 clinical trials. Vaccines 9(11):1322
- Hernández AF, Calina D, Poulas K, Docea AO, Tsatsakis AM (2021) Safety of COVID-19 vaccines administered in the EU: should we be concerned? Toxicol Rep 8:871–879
- Hillson K, Clemens SC, Madhi SA, Voysey M, Pollard AJ, Minassian AM (2021) Fertility rates and birth outcomes after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccination. Lancet 398(10312):1683– 1684
- Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Kruger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 cell entry depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is blocked by a clinically proven protease inhibitor. Cell 181(2):271–80.e8

- Hoffmann MA, Wieler HJ, Enders P, Buchholz H-G, Plachter B (2021) Age- and sex-graded data evaluation of vaccination reactions after initial injection of the BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine in a local vaccination center in Germany. Vaccines 9(8):911
- Hox V, Desai A, Bandara G, Gilfillan AM, Metcalfe DD, Olivera A (2015) Estrogen increases the severity of anaphylaxis in female mice through enhanced endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric oxide production. J Allergy Clin Immunol 135(3):729–36.e5
- Huang N, Pérez P, Kato T, Mikami Y, Okuda K, Gilmore RC et al (2021) SARS-CoV-2 infection of the oral cavity and saliva. Nat Med 27(5):892–903
- Huber SA, Pfaeffle B (1994) Differential Th1 and Th2 cell responses in male and female BALB/c mice infected with coxsackievirus group B type 3. J Virol 68(8):5126–5132
- Iguacel I, Maldonado AL, Ruiz-Cabello AL, Casaus M, Moreno LA, Martínez-Jarreta B (2021) Association between COVID-19 vaccine side effects and body mass index in Spain. Vaccines 9(11):1321
- Izumo T, Kuse N, Awano N, Tone M, Sakamoto K, Takada K et al (2021) Side effects and antibody titer transition of the BNT162b2 messenger ribonucleic acid coronavirus disease 2019 vaccine in Japan. Respir Investig 59(5):635–642
- Jaiswal V, Nepal G, Dijamco P, Ishak A, Dagar M, Sarfraz Z et al (2022) Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis following COVID-19 vaccination: a systematic review. J Prim Care Community Health 13:21501319221074450
- Jensen A, Stromme M, Moyassari S, Chadha AS, Tartaglia MC, Szoeke C et al (2022) COVID-19 vaccines: considering sex differences in efficacy and safety. Contemp Clin Trials 115:106700
- Jering KS, Claggett BL, Cunningham JW, Rosenthal N, Vardeny O, Greene MF et al (2021) Clinical characteristics and outcomes of hospitalized women giving birth with and without COVID-19. JAMA Intern Med 181(5):714–717
- Kageyama T, Ikeda K, Tanaka S, Taniguchi T, Igari H, Onouchi Y et al (2021) Antibody responses to BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine and their predictors among healthcare workers in a tertiary referral hospital in Japan. Clin Microbiol Infect 27(12):1861.e1–e5
- Kahn F, Bonander C, Moghaddassi M, Rasmussen M, Malmqvist U, Inghammar M et al (2022) Risk of severe COVID-19 from the Delta and Omicron variants in relation to vaccination status, sex, age and comorbidities–surveillance results from southern Sweden, July 2021 to January 2022. Eurosurveillance 27(9):2200121
- Karlberg J, Chong DS, Lai WY (2004) Do men have a higher case fatality rate of severe acute respiratory syndrome than women do? Am J Epidemiol 159(3):229–231
- Khan S, Peng L, Siddique R, Nabi G, Nawsherwan, Xue M et al (2020) Impact of COVID-19 infection on pregnancy outcomes and the risk of maternal-to-neonatal intrapartum transmission of COVID-19 during natural birth. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 41(6):748–50
- Kini A, Morgan R, Kuo H, Shea P, Shapiro J, Leng SX et al (2022) Differences and disparities in seasonal influenza vaccine, acceptance, adverse reactions, and coverage by age, sex, gender, and race. Vaccine 40(11):1643–1654
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638
- Klein SL, Dhakal S, Ursin RL, Deshpande S, Sandberg K, Mauvais-Jarvis F (2020a) Biological sex impacts COVID-19 outcomes. PLoS Pathog 16(6):e1008570
- Klein SL, Pekosz A, Park HS, Ursin RL, Shapiro JR, Benner SE et al (2020b) Sex, age, and hospitalization drive antibody responses in a COVID-19 convalescent plasma donor population. J Clin Invest 130(11):6141–6150
- Klein SL, Creisher PS, Burd I (2021) COVID-19 vaccine testing in pregnant females is necessary. J Clin Invest 131(5)
- Kobayashi GS, Brito LA, Moreira DP, Suzuki AM, Hsia GSP, Pimentel LF et al (2021) A novel saliva RT-LAMP workflow for rapid identification of COVID-19 cases and restraining viral spread. Diagnostics (Basel) 11(8)
- Kompaniyets L, Pennington AF, Goodman AB, Rosenblum HG, Belay B, Ko JY et al (2021) Underlying medical conditions and severe illness among 540,667 adults hospitalized with COVID-19, March 2020–March 2021. Prev Chronic Dis 18:E66
- Kondo H, Kageyama T, Tanaka S, Otsuka K, Tsukumo S-i, Mashimo Y et al (2022) Markers of memory CD8 T cells depicting the effect of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in Japan. Front Immunol 13:836923
- Kosmicki JA, Horowitz JE, Banerjee N, Lanche R, Marcketta A, Maxwell E et al (2021) Panancestry exome-wide association analyses of COVID-19 outcomes in 586,157 individuals. Am J Hum Genet 108(7):1350–1355
- Krzywicka K, Heldner MR, Sánchez van Kammen M, van Haaps T, Hiltunen S, Silvis SM et al (2021) Post-SARS-CoV-2-vaccination cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: an analysis of cases notified to the European Medicines Agency. Eur J Neurol 28(11):3656–3662
- Laisuan W (2021) COVID-19 vaccine anaphylaxis: current evidence and future approaches. Front Allerg 2
- Lau ES, McNeill JN, Paniagua SM, Liu EE, Wang JK, Bassett IV et al (2021) Sex differences in inflammatory markers in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 infection: Insights from the MGH COVID-19 patient registry. PLoS ONE 16(4):e0250774
- Leach DA, Mohr A, Giotis ES, Cil E, Isac AM, Yates LL et al (2021) The antiandrogen enzalutamide downregulates TMPRSS2 and reduces cellular entry of SARS-CoV-2 in human lung cells. Nat Commun 12(1):4068
- Lee YW, Lim SY, Lee J-H, Lim JS, Kim M, Kwon S et al (2021) Adverse reactions of the second dose of the BNT162b2 mRNA COVID-19 vaccine in healthcare workers in Korea. J Korean Med Sci 36(21)
- Lee KS, Russ BP, Wong TY, Horspool AM, Winters MT, Barbier M et al (2022) Obesity and metabolic dysfunction drive sex-associated differential disease profiles in hACE2-mice challenged with SARS-CoV-2. iScience 25(10):105038
- Levin EG, Lustig Y, Cohen C, Fluss R, Indenbaum V, Amit S et al (2021) Waning immune humoral response to BNT162b2 Covid-19 vaccine over 6 months. N Engl J Med 385(24):e84
- Li B, Yang J, Zhao F, Zhi L, Wang X, Liu L et al (2020a) Prevalence and impact of cardiovascular metabolic diseases on COVID-19 in China. Clin Res Cardiol 109(5):531–538
- Li N, Han L, Peng M, Lv Y, Ouyang Y, Liu K et al (2020b) Maternal and Neonatal outcomes of pregnant women with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pneumonia: a case-control study. Clin Infect Dis 71(16):2035–2041
- Liu J, Ji H, Zheng W, Wu X, Zhu JJ, Arnold AP et al (2010) Sex differences in renal angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) activity are 17beta-oestradiol-dependent and sex chromosomeindependent. Biol Sex Differ 1(1):6
- Lucas C, Wong P, Klein J, Castro TBR, Silva J, Sundaram M et al (2020) Longitudinal analyses reveal immunological misfiring in severe COVID-19. Nature 584(7821):463–469
- Lu-Culligan A, Chavan AR, Vijayakumar P, Irshaid L, Courchaine EM, Milano KM et al (2021) Maternal respiratory SARS-CoV-2 infection in pregnancy is associated with a robust inflammatory response at the maternal-fetal interface. Med (NY) 2(5):591-610.e10
- Lustig Y, Sapir E, Regev-Yochay G, Cohen C, Fluss R, Olmer L et al (2021) BNT162b2 COVID-19 vaccine and correlates of humoral immune responses and dynamics: a prospective, single-centre, longitudinal cohort study in health-care workers. Lancet Respir Med
- Ma L, Xie W, Li D, Shi L, Ye G, Mao Y et al (2021) Evaluation of sex-related hormones and semen characteristics in reproductive-aged male COVID-19 patients. J Med Virol 93(1):456–462
- Magnus MC, Gjessing HK, Eide HN, Wilcox AJ, Fell DB, Håberg SE (2021) Covid-19 vaccination during pregnancy and first-trimester miscarriage. N Engl J Med 385(21):2008–2010
- Marchevsky NG, Li G, Aley P, Clemens SAC, Barrett JR, Belij-Rammerstorfer S et al (2022) An exploratory analysis of the response to ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZD1222) vaccine in males and females. eBioMedicine 81:104128

- Markmann AJ, Giallourou N, Bhowmik DR, Hou YJ, Lerner A, Martinez DR et al (2021) Sex disparities and neutralizing-antibody durability to SARS-CoV-2 infection in convalescent individuals. mSphere 6(4):e0027521
- Marquez EJ, Chung CH, Marches R, Rossi RJ, Nehar-Belaid D, Eroglu A et al (2020) Sexualdimorphism in human immune system aging. Nat Commun 11(1):751
- Mauvais-Jarvis F, Bairey Merz N, Barnes PJ, Brinton RD, Carrero JJ, DeMeo DL et al (2020) Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. Lancet 396(10250):565–582
- McGurnaghan SJ, Weir A, Bishop J, Kennedy S, Blackbourn LAK, McAllister DA et al (2021) Risks of and risk factors for COVID-19 disease in people with diabetes: a cohort study of the total population of Scotland. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol 9(2):82–93
- Meier A, Chang JJ, Chan ES, Pollard RB, Sidhu HK, Kulkarni S et al (2009) Sex differences in the Toll-like receptor-mediated response of plasmacytoid dendritic cells to HIV-1. Nat Med 15(8):955–959
- Menni C, Klaser K, May A, Polidori L, Capdevila J, Louca P et al (2021) Vaccine side-effects and SARS-CoV-2 infection after vaccination in users of the COVID Symptom Study app in the UK: a prospective observational study. Lancet Infect Dis 21(7):939–949
- Meyts I, Bucciol G, Quinti I, Neven B, Fischer A, Seoane E et al (2021) Coronavirus disease 2019 in patients with inborn errors of immunity: an international study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 147(2):520–531
- Montopoli M, Zumerle S, Vettor R, Rugge M, Zorzi M, Catapano CV et al (2020) Androgendeprivation therapies for prostate cancer and risk of infection by SARS-CoV-2: a populationbased study (N = 4532). Ann Oncol 31(8):1040–1045
- Morgan R, Klein SL (2019) The intersection of sex and gender in the treatment of influenza. Curr Opin Virol 35:35–41
- Mourad M, Jacob T, Sadovsky E, Bejerano S, Simone GS, Bagalkot TR et al (2021) Placental response to maternal SARS-CoV-2 infection. Sci Rep 11(1):14390
- Ng MW, Zhou G, Chong WP, Lee LW, Law HK, Zhang H et al (2007) The association of RANTES polymorphism with severe acute respiratory syndrome in Hong Kong and Beijing Chinese. BMC Infect Dis 7:50
- Nordström P, Ballin M, Nordström A (2022) Risk of infection, hospitalisation, and death up to 9 months after a second dose of COVID-19 vaccine: a retrospective, total population cohort study in Sweden. The Lancet 399(10327):814–823
- Norton AE, Broyles AD (2019) Drug allergy in children and adults: is it the double X chromosome? Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 122(2):148–155
- Notarte KI, Ver AT, Velasco JV, Pastrana A, Catahay JA, Salvagno GL et al (2022) Effects of age, sex, serostatus, and underlying comorbidities on humoral response post-SARS-CoV-2 Pfizer-BioNTech mRNA vaccination: a systematic review. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 1–18
- Okwan-Duodu D, Lim EC, You S, Engman DM (2021) TMPRSS2 activity may mediate sex differences in COVID-19 severity. Signal Transduct Target Ther 6(1):100
- Ostendorf BN, Patel MA, Bilanovic J, Hoffmann HH, Carrasco SE, Rice CM et al (2022) Common human genetic variants of APOE impact murine COVID-19 mortality. Nature
- Ostensen M (1999) Sex hormones and pregnancy in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann NY Acad Sci 876:131–43
- Pairo-Castineira E, Clohisey S, Klaric L, Bretherick AD, Rawlik K, Pasko D et al (2021) Genetic mechanisms of critical illness in COVID-19. Nature 591(7848):92–98
- Palaiodimou L, Stefanou M-I, Katsanos AH, de Sousa DA, Coutinho JM, Lagiou P et al (2021) Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis and thrombotic events after vector-based COVID-19 vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Neurology 97(21):e2136–e2147
- Patel VG, Zhong X, Liaw B, Tremblay D, Tsao CK, Galsky MD et al (2020) Does androgen deprivation therapy protect against severe complications from COVID-19? Ann Oncol 31(10):1419– 1420
- Pavord S, Scully M, Hunt BJ, Lester W, Bagot C, Craven B et al (2021) Clinical features of vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia and thrombosis. N Engl J Med 385(18):1680–1689

- Peng J, Sun J, Zhao J, Deng X, Guo F, Chen L (2021) Age and gender differences in ACE2 and TMPRSS2 expressions in oral epithelial cells. J Transl Med 19(1):358
- Petersen A, Bressem K, Albrecht J, Thiess HM, Vahldiek J, Hamm B et al (2020) The role of visceral adiposity in the severity of COVID-19: highlights from a Unicenter cross-sectional pilot study in Germany. Metabolism 110:154317
- Pijls BG, Jolani S, Atherley A, Dijkstra JIR, Franssen GHL, Hendriks S et al (2022) Temporal trends of sex differences for COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation, severe disease, intensive care unit (ICU) admission and death: a meta-analysis of 229 studies covering over 10M patients. F1000Res 11:5
- Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S et al (2020) Safety and Efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med 383(27):2603–2615
- Prabhu M, Murphy EA, Sukhu AC, Yee J, Singh S, Eng D et al (2021) Antibody response to coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) messenger RNA vaccination in pregnant women and transplacental passage into cord blood. Obstet Gynecol 138(2):278–280
- Qiao Y, Wang XM, Mannan R, Pitchiaya S, Zhang Y, Wotring JW et al (2020) Targeting transcriptional regulation of SARS-CoV-2 entry factors ACE2 and TMPRSS2. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA
- Raparelli V, Palmieri L, Canevelli M, Pricci F, Unim B, Lo Noce C et al (2020) Sex differences in clinical phenotype and transitions of care among individuals dying of COVID-19 in Italy. Biol Sex Differ 11(1):57
- Rastrelli G, Di Stasi V, Inglese F, Beccaria M, Garuti M, Di Costanzo D et al (2021) Low testosterone levels predict clinical adverse outcomes in SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia patients. Andrology 9(1):88–98
- Richardson S, Hirsch JS, Narasimhan M, Crawford JM, McGinn T, Davidson KW et al (2020) Presenting characteristics, comorbidities, and outcomes among 5700 patients hospitalized with COVID-19 in the New York city area. JAMA 323(20):2052–2059
- Risma KA, Edwards KM, Hummell DS, Little FF, Norton AE, Stallings A et al (2021) Potential mechanisms of anaphylaxis to COVID-19 mRNA vaccines. J Allergy Clin Immunol 147(6):2075–82.e2
- Rizk JG, Gupta A, Sardar P, Henry BM, Lewin JC, Lippi G et al (2021) Clinical characteristics and pharmacological management of COVID-19 vaccine–induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis: a review. JAMA Cardiol 6(12):1451–1460
- Robb H, Fausone CA, Rudy DR, McArthur S (1996) Side effects from influenza vaccination: differences between returned and random surveys. Mil Med 161(1):29–32
- Rottenstreich M, Sela HY, Rotem R, Kadish E, Wiener-Well Y, Grisaru-Granovsky S (2022) Covid-19 vaccination during the third trimester of pregnancy: rate of vaccination and maternal and neonatal outcomes, a multicentre retrospective cohort study. BJOG 129(2):248–255
- Ruiz-Bedoya CA, Mota F, Ordonez AA, Foss CA, Singh AK, Praharaj M et al (2022) (124)I-Iodo-DPA-713 positron emission tomography in a hamster model of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Mol Imaging Biol 24(1):135–143
- Sadoff J, Gray G, Vandebosch A, Cárdenas V, Shukarev G, Grinsztejn B et al (2021) Safety and efficacy of single-dose Ad26. COV2. S vaccine against Covid-19. New Engl J Med 384(23):2187–201
- Sama IE, Ravera A, Santema BT, van Goor H, Ter Maaten JM, Cleland JGF et al (2020) Circulating plasma concentrations of angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 in men and women with heart failure and effects of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone inhibitors. Eur Heart J 41(19):1810–1817
- Schmidt AL, Tucker MD, Bakouny Z, Labaki C, Hsu CY, Shyr Y et al (2021) Association between androgen deprivation therapy and mortality among patients with prostate Cancer and COVID-19. JAMA Netw Open 4(11):e2134330
- Schuler BA, Habermann AC, Plosa EJ, Taylor CJ, Jetter C, Negretti NM et al (2021) Age-determined expression of priming protease TMPRSS2 and localization of SARS-CoV-2 in lung epithelium. J Clin Invest 131(1)

- Schultz NH, Sørvoll IH, Michelsen AE, Munthe LA, Lund-Johansen F, Ahlen MT et al (2021) Thrombosis and thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med 384(22):2124–2130
- Scully EP, Haverfield J, Ursin RL, Tannenbaum C, Klein SL (2020) Considering how biological sex impacts immune responses and COVID-19 outcomes. Nat Rev Immunol 20(7):442–447
- Scully M, Singh D, Lown R, Poles A, Solomon T, Levi M et al (2021a) Pathologic antibodies to platelet factor 4 after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med 384(23):2202–2211
- Scully EP, Schumock G, Fu M, Massaccesi G, Muschelli J, Betz J et al (2021b) Sex and gender differences in testing, hospital admission, clinical presentation, and drivers of severe outcomes from COVID-19. Open Forum Infect Dis 8(9):ofab448
- See I, Su JR, Lale A, Woo EJ, Guh AY, Shimabukuro TT et al (2021) US case reports of cerebral venous sinus thrombosis with thrombocytopenia after Ad26. COV2. S Vaccination, March 2– April 21, 2021. JAMA 325(24):2448–56
- Seessle J, Waterboer T, Hippchen T, Simon J, Kirchner M, Lim A et al (2022) Persistent symptoms in adult patients 1 year after coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a prospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis 74(7):1191–1198
- Servante J, Swallow G, Thornton JG, Myers B, Munireddy S, Malinowski AK et al (2021) Haemostatic and thrombo-embolic complications in pregnant women with COVID-19: a systematic review and critical analysis. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 21(1):108
- Shapiro JR, Klein SL, Morgan R (2021) COVID-19: use intersectional analyses to close gaps in outcomes and vaccination. Nature 591(7849):202
- Shapiro JR, Sitaras I, Park H-S, Aytenfisu TY, Caputo C, Li M et al (2022) Association of frailty, age, and biological sex with SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine-induced immunity in older adults. Clin Infect Dis ciac397
- Sharifian-Dorche M, Bahmanyar M, Sharifian-Dorche A, Mohammadi P, Nomovi M, Mowla A (2021) Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia and cerebral venous sinus thrombosis post COVID-19 vaccination; a systematic review. J Neurol Sci 428:117607
- Shi G, Kenney AD, Kudryashova E, Zani A, Zhang L, Lai KK et al (2021) Opposing activities of IFITM proteins in SARS-CoV-2 infection. Embo J 40(3):e106501
- Shimabukuro TT, Cole M, Su JR (2021a) Reports of anaphylaxis after receipt of mRNA COVID-19 vaccines in the US—December 14, 2020-January 18, 2021. JAMA 325(11):1101–1102
- Shimabukuro TT, Kim SY, Myers TR, Moro PL, Oduyebo T, Panagiotakopoulos L et al (2021b) Preliminary findings of mRNA Covid-19 vaccine safety in pregnant persons. N Engl J Med 384(24):2273–2282
- Silva MVR, de Castro MV, Passos-Bueno MR, Otto PA, Naslavsky MS, Zatz M (2022) Men are the main COVID-19 transmitters: behavior or biology? Discov Ment Health 2(1):1
- Simonnet A, Chetboun M, Poissy J, Raverdy V, Noulette J, Duhamel A et al (2020) High prevalence of obesity in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) requiring invasive mechanical ventilation. Obesity (silver Spring) 28(7):1195–1199
- Solanich X, Vargas-Parra G, van der Made CI, Simons A, Schuurs-Hoeijmakers J, Antolí A et al (2021) Genetic screening for TLR7 variants in young and previously healthy men with severe COVID-19. Front Immunol 12:719115
- Somiya M, Mine S, Yasukawa K, Ikeda S (2021) Sex differences in the incidence of anaphylaxis to LNP-mRNA COVID-19 vaccines. Vaccine 39(25):3313
- Souyris M, Cenac C, Azar P, Daviaud D, Canivet A, Grunenwald S et al (2018) TLR7 escapes X chromosome inactivation in immune cells. Sci Immunol 3(19)
- Stebbings R, Maguire S, Armour G, Jones C, Goodman J, Maguire AK et al (2021) Developmental and reproductive safety of AZD1222 (ChAdOx1 nCoV-19) in mice. Reprod Toxicol 104:134– 142
- Stelzig KE, Canepa-Escaro F, Schiliro M, Berdnikovs S, Prakash YS, Chiarella SE (2020) Estrogen regulates the expression of SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 in differentiated airway epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 318(6):L1280–L1281

- Sungnak W, Huang N, Becavin C, Berg M, Queen R, Litvinukova M et al (2020) SARS-CoV-2 entry factors are highly expressed in nasal epithelial cells together with innate immune genes. Nat Med 26(5):681–687
- Sylvester SV, Rusu R, Chan B, Bellows M, O'Keefe C, Nicholson S (2022) Sex differences in sequelae from COVID-19 infection and in long COVID syndrome: a review. Curr Med Res Opin 38(8):1391–1399
- Taglauer E, Benarroch Y, Rop K, Barnett E, Sabharwal V, Yarrington C et al (2020) Consistent localization of SARS-CoV-2 spike glycoprotein and ACE2 over TMPRSS2 predominance in placental villi of 15 COVID-19 positive maternal-fetal dyads. Placenta 100:69–74
- Takahashi T, Ellingson MK, Wong P, Israelow B, Lucas C, Klein J et al (2020) Sex differences in immune responses that underlie COVID-19 disease outcomes. Nature 588(7837):315–320
- Tamanna S, Lumbers ER, Morosin SK, Delforce SJ, Pringle KG (2021) ACE2: a key modulator of the renin-angiotensin system and pregnancy. Am J Physiol-Regul Integr Comp Physiol 321(6):R833–R843
- Tan M, Liu Y, Zhou R, Deng X, Li F, Liang K et al (2020) Immunopathological characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 cases in Guangzhou, China. Immunology 160(3):261–268
- Tanacan A, Yazihan N, Erol SA, Anuk AT, Yucel Yetiskin FD, Biriken D et al (2021) The impact of COVID-19 infection on the cytokine profile of pregnant women: a prospective case-control study. Cytokine 140:155431
- The COVID-19 Sex-Disaggregated Data Tracker (2022) Global Health 50/50. Available from: https://globalhealth5050.org/the-sex-gender-and-covid-19-project/the-data-tracker/
- Theiler RN, Wick M, Mehta R, Weaver AL, Virk A, Swift M (2021) Pregnancy and birth outcomes after SARS-CoV-2 vaccination in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 3(6):100467
- Tiede A, Sachs UJ, Czwalinna A, Werwitzke S, Bikker R, Krauss JK et al (2021) Prothrombotic immune thrombocytopenia after COVID-19 vaccination. Blood 138(4):350–353
- Tramunt B, Smati S, Coudol S, Wargny M, Pichelin M, Guyomarch B et al (2021) Sex disparities in COVID-19 outcomes of inpatients with diabetes: insights from the CORONADO study. Eur J Endocrinol 185(2):299–311
- Troy NM, Bosco A (2016) Respiratory viral infections and host responses; insights from genomics. Respir Res 17(1):156
- Tu X, Chong WP, Zhai Y, Zhang H, Zhang F, Wang S et al (2015) Functional polymorphisms of the CCL2 and MBL genes cumulatively increase susceptibility to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus infection. J Infect 71(1):101–109
- Tukiainen T, Villani AC, Yen A, Rivas MA, Marshall JL, Satija R et al (2017) Landscape of X chromosome inactivation across human tissues. Nature 550(7675):244–248
- Ursin RL, Klein SL (2021) Sex differences in respiratory viral pathogenesis and treatments. Annu Rev Virol. 8(1):393–414
- van der Made CI, Simons A, Schuurs-Hoeijmakers J, van den Heuvel G, Mantere T, Kersten S et al (2020) Presence of genetic variants among young men with severe COVID-19. JAMA 324(7):663–673
- van der Made CI, Netea MG, van der Veerdonk FL, Hoischen A (2022) Clinical implications of host genetic variation and susceptibility to severe or critical COVID-19. Genome Med 14(1):96
- Van Kammen MS, De Sousa DA, Poli S, Cordonnier C, Heldner MR, Van De Munckhof A et al (2021) Characteristics and outcomes of patients with cerebral venous sinus thrombosis in SARS-CoV-2 vaccine–induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. JAMA Neurol 78(11):1314– 1323
- Verma S, Joshi CS, Silverstein RB, He M, Carter EB, Mysorekar IU (2021) SARS-CoV-2 colonization of maternal and fetal cells of the human placenta promotes alteration of local renin-angiotensin system. Med (NY) 2(5):575–90.e5
- Visci G, Zunarelli C, Mansour I, Porru S, Palma GD, Duval X et al (2022) Serological response after SARS-CoV2 vaccination in healthcare workers: a multicenter study. Med Lav 113(2):e2022022
- vom Steeg LG, Klein SL (2016) SeXX matters in infectious disease pathogenesis. PLoS Pathog 12(2):e1005374

- Vries STD, Starokozhko V, Schellens IMM, Wijnans L, Enzmann H, Cavaleri M et al (2022) Attention for sex in COVID-19 trials: a review of regulatory dossiers. BMJ Glob Health 7(3):e008173
- Wambier CG, Vaño-Galván S, McCoy J, Gomez-Zubiaur A, Herrera S, Hermosa-Gelbard Á et al (2020) Androgenetic alopecia present in the majority of patients hospitalized with COVID-19: the "Gabrin sign." J Am Acad Dermatol 83(2):680–682
- Warkentin TE, Sheppard J-AI, Sigouin CS, Kohlmann T, Eichler P, Greinacher A (2006) Gender imbalance and risk factor interactions in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. Blood 108(9):2937–2941
- Watson OJ, Barnsley G, Toor J, Hogan AB, Winskill P, Ghani AC (2022) Global impact of the first year of COVID-19 vaccination: a mathematical modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 22:1293– 1302
- Welén K, Rosendal E, Gisslén M, Lenman A, Freyhult E, Fonseca-Rodríguez O et al (2022) A phase 2 trial of the effect of antiandrogen therapy on COVID-19 outcome: no evidence of benefit, supported by epidemiology and in vitro data. Eur Urol 81(3):285–293
- Wolf ME, Luz B, Niehaus L, Bhogal P, Bäzner H, Henkes H (2021) Thrombocytopenia and intracranial venous sinus thrombosis after "COVID-19 vaccine AstraZeneca" exposure. J Clin Med 10(8):1599
- Wu J, Liang B, Chen C, Wang H, Fang Y, Shen S et al (2021) SARS-CoV-2 infection induces sustained humoral immune responses in convalescent patients following symptomatic COVID-19. Nat Commun 12(1):1813
- Xu K, Chen Y, Yuan J, Yi P, Ding C, Wu W et al (2020) Factors associated with prolonged viral RNA shedding in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Clin Infect Dis 71(15):799–806
- Yamamoto S, Mizoue T, Tanaka A, Oshiro Y, Inamura N, Konishi M et al (2022) Sex-associated differences between BMI and SARS-CoV-2 antibody titers following the BNT162b2 vaccine. Obesity 30(5):999–1003
- Yan X, Li F, Wang X, Yan J, Zhu F, Tang S et al (2020) Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio as prognostic and predictive factor in patients with coronavirus disease 2019: a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Med Virol 92(11):2573–2581
- Yang Q, Jacobs TM, McCallen JD, Moore DT, Huckaby JT, Edelstein JN et al (2016) Analysis of preexisting IgG and IgM antibodies against polyethylene glycol (PEG) in the general population. Anal Chem 88(23):11804–11812
- Yu C, Littleton S, Giroux NS, Mathew R, Ding S, Kalnitsky J et al (2021) Mucosal-associated invariant T cell responses differ by sex in COVID-19. Med 2(6):755–72.e5
- Zhang Q, Bastard P, Liu Z, Le Pen J, Moncada-Velez M, Chen J et al (2020) Inborn errors of type I IFN immunity in patients with life-threatening COVID-19. Science 370(6515)
- Zhang L, Sarangi V, Liu D, Ho M-F, Grassi AR, Wei L et al (2022) ACE2 and TMPRSS2 SARS-CoV-2 infectivity genes: deep mutational scanning and characterization of missense variants. Hum Mol Genet
- Zheng S, Fan J, Yu F, Feng B, Lou B, Zou Q et al (2020) Viral load dynamics and disease severity in patients infected with SARS-CoV-2 in Zhejiang Province, China, January-March 2020: retrospective cohort study. BMJ 369:m1443
- Zhou Z, Ren L, Zhang L, Zhong J, Xiao Y, Jia Z et al (2020) Heightened innate immune responses in the respiratory tract of COVID-19 patients. Cell Host Microbe 27(6):883–90.e2
- Zhu Z, Xu L, Chen G (2021) Is there a difference in the efficacy of COVID-19 vaccine in males and females?—a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hum Vaccin Immunother 17(12):4741–4746
- Zou X, Chen K, Zou J, Han P, Hao J, Han Z (2020) Single-cell RNA-seq data analysis on the receptor ACE2 expression reveals the potential risk of different human organs vulnerable to 2019-nCoV infection. Front Med 14(2):185–192

Biological Sex and Pregnancy Affect Influenza Pathogenesis and Vaccination



Patrick S. Creisher, Kumba Seddu, Alice L. Mueller, and Sabra L. Klein

Abstract Males and females differ in the outcome of influenza A virus (IAV) infections, which depends significantly on age. During seasonal influenza epidemics, young children (< 5 years of age) and aged adults (65+ years of age) are at greatest risk for severe disease, and among these age groups, males tend to suffer a worse outcome from IAV infection than females. Following infection with pandemic strains of IAVs, females of reproductive ages (i.e., 15–49 years of age) experience a worse outcome than their male counterparts. Although females of reproductive ages experience worse outcomes from IAV infection, females typically have greater immune responses to influenza vaccination as compared with males. Among females of reproductive ages, pregnancy is one factor linked to an increased risk of severe outcome of influenza. Small animal models of influenza virus infection and vaccination illustrate that immune responses and repair of damaged tissue following IAV infection also differ between the sexes and impact the outcome of infection. There is growing evidence that sex steroid hormones, including estrogens, progesterone, and testosterone, directly impact immune responses during IAV infection and vaccination. Greater consideration of the combined effects of sex and age as biological variables in epidemiological, clinical, and animal studies of influenza pathogenesis is needed.

1 Introduction

Influenza is a significant public health threat, with influenza A viruses (IAVs) causing seasonal epidemics, occasional outbreaks, and sporadic pandemics. Pulmonary disease following infection with IAV is caused by excessive and aberrant inflammatory responses to the virus, which leads to immunopathology and tissue damage (Peiris et al. 2010). Effective therapies for limiting severe pulmonary disease

111

P. S. Creisher \cdot K. Seddu \cdot A. L. Mueller \cdot S. L. Klein (\boxtimes)

Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, Bloomberg School of Public Health, Johns Hopkins University, 615 North Wolfe Street, Baltimore, MD, United States e-mail: saklein@jhsph.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_5

following IAV infection often limit the 'cytokine storm' and pulmonary inflammation (Cloutier et al. 2012; Walsh et al. 2011), in addition to controlling viral replication. The severity of influenza disease is typically worse for young children, aged adults, individuals with compromised immune function, and pregnant women. Rarely are biological sex or gender-related factors considered when assessing the pathogenesis of influenza. In this chapter, we aim to illustrate that in humans, the influenza virus strain, age, sex, and reproductive status of an individual contribute to the outcome of IAV infection, but rarely are these viral and host factors considered together in either epidemiological or clinical studies. Furthermore, age, biological sex, and reproductive status are rarely reported or systematically evaluated in studies utilizing animal models. Despite limited data, the available evidence indicates that host factors contribute significantly to influenza pathogenesis and vaccine-induced immunity through multiple pathways (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1 Biological sex and pregnancy modify immune responses to influenza virus infection and vaccination though multiple mechanisms. Outcomes after influenza virus infection and vaccination are affected by diverse host factor modifiers, such as biological sex, which includes sex chromosome complement, gonadal sex characteristics, and concentrations of sex steroid hormones. Concentrations of sex steroid hormones change dramatically with age and reproductive status (e.g., pregnancy), which can in turn modify influenza outcomes. Host biological factors impact immunity through multiple pathways, including modifying receptor usage and selectivity as well as cellular transcriptional activity to impact downstream immune cell phenotypes and the production of cytokines and antibodies, depending on the cell type affected. As documented in this chapter, the impact of sex differential gene expression and hormonal activity in immune cells results in sex, age, and pregnancy-specific outcomes of influenza virus infection and vaccination

2 Sex Differences in Influenza Pathogenesis

2.1 Seasonal Influenza Epidemics

Because of the transient nature of influenza symptoms in most individuals, most influenza cases are unreported at hospital, national, and continental levels; for the cases that are reported, sex- and age-specific data are sparse. Extracting observations from the limited available data reveals that cases of more severe infection that require hospitalization are greater in prepubertal and older aged males compared with age-matched females (World Health Organization 2020). For seasonal epidemics around the world, most of the reported cases have been of influenza A viruses (IAVs) (H1N1 and H3N2), although influenza B viruses (IBVs) also circulate annually (World Health Organization 2020). There are a few countries that are particularly responsive to analyzing annual and pandemic influenza data through a 'gender lens,' meaning that reported and published clinical and epidemiological data are disaggregated by sex.

In Australia, both IAV and IBV cases requiring hospitalization are greater among males than females prior to puberty and at later decades of life, whereas greater numbers of cases are observed in females than males for ages 20 to 54 years (i.e., reproductive year) (Grant et al. 2018; Wong et al. 2019). Similar observations are reported in Denmark, in which differences between males and females in the risk of hospitalization from seasonal influenza virus shift at puberty. Males are more likely to have severe seasonal influenza illness before puberty, whereas females are more likely to have severe seasonal influenza illness after puberty and before menopause (Jensen-Fangel et al. 2004). In China, pneumonia and influenza death rates are elevated with older age, which is apparent among males aged 65-74 years but not among females until ages \geq 75 years and older (Yu et al. 2015). Similar observations also are reported in Hong Kong, in which among children and older adults, males experience more severe disease (i.e., are hospitalized) than age-matched females not only for IAV but IBV as well (Wang et al. 2015). Taken together, these data illustrate that across diverse countries, social norms, and economies, sex and age differences in the severity of influenza are reported, implicated a shared biological mechanism.

2.2 Outbreaks of Avian Influenza

Avian H5N1 is a highly pathogenic IAV that affects the lower respiratory tract in humans and is primarily transmitted from diseased poultry to humans, with rare person-to-person transmission. Worldwide, the incidence and severity of H5N1 infection and mortality caused by H5N1 infection has been greater among young adult females (10–39 years of age) than males (WHO 2012). There is annual, as well as country, variation in the male–female differences suggesting that gender-related

factors, including occupational exposure, play a significant role. Since the March 2013 outbreak of avian H7N9 influenza, primarily in China with one confirmed case in Malaysia (Xiang et al. 2017, 2016), there have been a total of five epidemics resulting in 1564 confirmed cases up to 2017, with a positive rate of 3.84 and a fatality rate of about 40% (Xiang et al. 2017, 2016; WHO 2022). In this recent 2017 outbreak, 379 cases were laboratory confirmed, all reported cases were severe and required hospitalization, with the median age of 53 years, 52% of the infection resulting in death, and a male-to-female ratio of 2.86 (Wang et al. 2019). The female-biased severity of H5N1 and male-biased severity of H7N9 suggest that age and gender-related variables associated with exposure are likely involved.

2.3 Influenza A Virus Pandemics

The 1918 H1N1 influenza pandemic was the most deadly influenza pandemic to date (Noymer and Garenne 2000). This influenza pandemic was disproportionately fatal in young adult males (i.e., 20–40 years of age) and was exacerbated by co-infection with tuberculosis, which is also considered to be a male-dominant disease (Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014; Noymer 2009). Unlike the 1918 H1N1 pandemic, the 1957 H2N2 pandemic was the first pandemic that was lethal without a secondary bacterial infection. The 1957 H2N2 pandemic resulted in higher fatality rates among adult females than males (i.e., < 50 years of age), despite the widespread use of vaccine therapy (Serfling et al. 1967; Kilbourne 2006). Many of the fatal cases during the H2N2 pandemic had underlying cardiac or pulmonary conditions; thus, sex-biased comorbid conditions may have contributed to the increased rates of severe disease and mortality among young adult females during the 1957 H2N2 pandemic (Kilbourne 2006).

During the 2009 H1N1 pandemic in the USA, females were more likely to develop severe disease than males (53.2% female vs. 46.8% male hospitalizations) (Klein et al. 2010a). Age at the time of infection, however, was a strong predictor of the male–female differences in the incidence and severity of 2009 H1N1 pandemic infection and mortality rates. Among adults, females were at a higher risk of hospitalization and death from 2009 H1N1 infection than males (Jacobs et al. 2012). In Japan, a similar female bias was observed in clinical disease following infection with 2009 H1N1 influenza among adults of reproductive ages, which contrasted with the male bias observed prior to puberty (Eshima et al. 2011). In Canada, during the first wave of the pandemic, a majority of critically ill patients with confirmed or probable 2009 H1N1 influenza were young adult females (Kumar et al. 2009). The reason for the greater proportion of hospitalized adult females than males in Canada is not known, but many cases involved comorbid conditions, including chronic lung disease (e.g., asthma), which is typically more severe in young adult females than males (Townsend et al. 2012).

2.4 Animal Models of Sex Differences in Influenza Pathogenesis

Small animal models are instrumental for uncovering mechanisms mediating sex differences in influenza pathogenesis (Robinson et al. 2011a, b; Larcombe et al. 2011; Nguyen et al. 2011; Hoffmann et al. 2015; Tuku et al. 2020). Using different strains mice and IAVs, adult females suffer more severe disease than males (Table 1). Infection of adult C57BL/6 mice with either H1N1 (i.e., A/Puerto Rico/8/34 or mouseadapted A/California/04/09) or H3N2 (i.e., A/Hong Kong/68) results in increased disease severity in female compared to male mice, as measured by morbidity (i.e., body mass loss and hypothermia) and mortality at lower virus dilutions (Robinson et al. 2011a, b; Avitsur et al. 2011; Lorenzo et al. 2011; Vermillion et al. 2018a, b). Infection of BALB/c mice with some (i.e., A/Hamburg/NY1580/09), but not all (i.e., A/Puerto Rico/8/34), H1N1 strains causes greater disease severity in female compared to male mice (Celestino et al. 2018). In general, female mice experience greater pulmonary inflammation during the acute phase of infection, increased production of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-6, TNF-a, CCL2), and increased cellular infiltration followed by decreased tissue recovery post infection, despite similar viral clearance from the lungs (Robinson et al. 2011b; Larcombe et al. 2011; Vermillion et al. 2018b). Infection of C57BL/6 mice with mouse-adapted A/ California/04/09 induces more robust antibody responses, CD4+ T cell, and CD8+ T cell memory responses in adult females compared to males (Fink et al. 2018). Repair of the damaged lung tissue following IAV infection is generally orchestrated by both immune cells (e.g., regulatory T cells and macrophages) and epithelial cells and involves the production of cytokines and growth factors (Sun et al. 2009; Tate et al. 2011). In response to damage, epithelial cells release factors, including amphiregulin (AREG), that can promote repair and integrity of lung tissue damaged during IAV infection (Monticelli et al. 2011). Expression of AREG is greater in lung tissue as well as in respiratory epithelial cells derived from males as compared with females during IAV (i.e., mouse-adapted A/California/04/09) (Vermillion et al. 2018b). Males also depend on AREG more than females for faster recovery from IAV, because when AREG is deleted from mice, the impact on pulmonary inflammation and function is significantly greater for male than female mice (Vermillion et al. 2018b). Infection of adult female mice with IAVs reduces ovarian function and concentrations of sex hormones (Robinson et al. 2011b; Vermillion et al. 2018a) suggesting that inhibition of sex hormones, including estrogens and progesterone (P4), may contribute to severe outcomes from IAV in females (see below).

Mouse strain	Virus	Pathogenesis	Vaccination					
C57BL/6	A/Puerto Rico/8/ 1934 (H1N1)	M < F (Avitsur et al. 2011; Lorenzo et al. 2011; Robinson et al. 2011a; Robinson et al. 2011b)						
	Mouse-adapted A/ California/04/09 (H1N1)	M < F (Vermillion et al. 2018b)	F > M (Fink et al. 2018)					
	A/Hong Kong/68 (H3N2)	M < F (Lorenzo et al. 2011)						
BALB/c	A/Memphis/1/71 (H3N2)	M < F (Larcombe et al. 2011)						
	A/Puerto Rico/8/ 1934 (H1N1)	M > F (Celestino et al. 2018)						
	A/Anhui/1/13 (H7N9)	M < F (Hoffmann et al. 2015)						
	A/Hamburg/ NY1580/09 (H1N1)	M < F (Hoffmann et al. 2015; Tuku at al. 2020)						
	A/Aichi/2/68 (H3N2)	M < F (Hoffmann et al. 2015)						
	A/Perth/16/2009 (H3N2)		F > M (Arsenović-Ranin et al. 2019)					

Table 1 Mouse models of sex differences in influenza virus pathogenesis and vaccination

*Gdx_F: gonadectomized female mice; Gdx_F + E2: gonadectomized female mice given exogenous estradiol

2.5 Role of Sex Steroids in Modulating Sex Differences in Influenza Pathogenesis

Estrogens

Estrogens, including 17 β -estradiol (E2), occur in higher concentrations in nonpregnant and pregnant adult females than males. E2 is responsible for most of the classical estrogenic effects in both reproductive and non-reproductive tissues. Both cytosolic and membrane-bound estrogen receptors (ERs) are identified in innate and adaptive immune cells (Kovats 2015) (Fig. 2). E2 can have positive or negative regulatory effects on the production of proinflammatory cytokines depending on the cell type, E2 dose, and ER subtype utilized (Robinson et al. 2011b; Kovats 2015; Graham et al. 2020; Fuentes and Silveyra 2019). Physiologic levels of E2 promote the production of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- α) in response to toll-like receptor ligand stimulation of DCs and macrophages (Laffont et al. 2017). Conversely, high concentrations of E2, as occurs during pregnancy, promote antiinflammatory responses (Robinson and Klein 2012). Dose-dependent effects of E2 also result in low E2 concentrations promoting helper T cell type 1 (Th1) responses and cell-mediated immunity and high concentrations of E2 augmenting helper T cell type 2 (Th2) responses and humoral immunity (Straub 2007).

Murine models of IAV pathogenesis illustrate that E2 treatment of females protects against infection-induced morbidity and mortality (Robinson et al. 2011b; Robinson et al. 2014; Pazos et al. 2012). E2 treatment of gonadectomized females reduces pulmonary production of CCL2, a chemokine involved in migration of T cells, and increases production of CCL3 and CXCL1, which are involved in neutrophil recruitment (Robinson et al. 2014). E2 treatment also inhibits pulmonary IFN- γ and TNF- α



Fig. 2 Sex steroids, including 17β-estradiol (E2), signal through hormone receptors in various immune cell types to cause sex differences in immunity to viruses and vaccines. Estrogens, including 17β-estradiol (E2), transcriptional regulate the activity of innate and adaptive immune cells. Several immune cells, including but not limited to plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs), T cells, and B cells, have intracellular estrogen receptors in the cytoplasm. Estrogen receptor alpha (ERα) is a dominate receptor in immune cells and when E2 binds to ERα, the steroid receptor complex can translocate to the nucleus of these cells to bind to estrogen response elements (ERE) typically in the promotors of responsive genes, resulting in either activation or repression of gene activity. E2 regulates the production of type I interferons (IFNs) via E2/ERα binding to IRF5 and NFκB, the prototypical antiviral transcription factor, in pDCs and via E2/ERα binding to STAT4 and T-bet in helper T cells, including follicular helper T cells (Tfh). In B cells, E2/ERα signaling regulates the transcription of *TLR7* and *AICDA* to facilitate class switch recombination and somatic hypermutation, resulting in greater affinity and diversity of antibody in female compared with male mice

production (Pazos et al. 2012), while increasing cytokine production by virus-specific CD8+ T cells (Robinson et al. 2014). The anti-inflammatory effects of E2 on protection against severe disease are mediated by signaling through ER α and not ER β (Robinson et al. 2011b). Some (Pazos et al. 2012), but not all (Robinson et al. 2011b; Robinson et al. 2014), studies suggest that E2 treatment decreases type I IFN production and reduces IAV replication in the lungs. Neutrophil depletion in E2-treated females increased morbidity, reduced pulmonary production of chemoattractants for neutrophils, and reduced IFN- γ production by virus-specific CD8 T cells (Robinson et al. 2011b). Neutrophils mediate both inflammation and tissue repair during IAV infection and are regulated by E2 to improve the outcome of influenza in females.

Estriol, a 16α -hydroxylated metabolite of E2 (E3), is produced by the placenta and occurs in high concentrations during pregnancy (Longcope 1984; Zhou et al. 2022). Unlike E2, E3 exhibits weak binding affinity for ER α and greater binding affinity for ER β (Kuiper et al. 1997). Gonadally intact adult female mice administered E3 after IAV infection have reduced pulmonary inflammation and morbidity as compared to females that received placebo, suggesting that like E2, E3 dampens inflammation and protects against severe influenza (Vermillion et al. 2018a).

Progesterone

Natural P4 is produced by the corpus luteum during the menstrual cycle in nonpregnant females, and its production is sustained at high levels by the placenta during pregnancy (Cable et al. 2022). P4 primarily signals through the progesterone receptor (PR), but can also signal through other steroid receptors including glucocorticoid, mineralocorticoid, and androgen receptors (Hapgood et al. 2014). Progesterone affects the activity of many immune cells, including monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, T cells, and B cells (Dressing et al. 2011). In the presence of P4, macrophages and DCs have a lower state of activation, produce greater concentrations of anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-10), produce lower concentrations of proinflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-1 β and TNF- α), and decrease nitric oxide production (Butts et al. 2007; Jones et al. 2010; Kyurkchiev et al. 2007; Su et al. 2009). P4 dampens overall CD4+ T cell activation and skews naïve T cells toward a Th2 phenotype (Hellberg et al. 2021; Miyaura and Iwata 2002). As evidence for the regulatory role of P4, the proportion of regulatory T cells (Tregs) increases in response to P4 as well as during the second and third trimesters of human and rodent pregnancies (Lee et al. 2011; Mao et al. 2010; Saito et al. 2010).

Physiological concentrations of P4 protect against both lethal and sub-lethal IAV infection by promoting faster repair of damaged lungs tissue, without altering the viral load. Ovariectomized mice administered exogenous P4 have increased production of tissue repair cytokines, including TGF- β , IL-6, and IL-22, increased numbers of CD39+ Th17 cells, and increased cellular proliferation (Hall et al. 2016). Production of the epidermal growth factor AREG also is increased following P4 treatment, which promotes proliferation and repair of respiratory epithelial cells following IAV infection (Hall et al. 2016). Treatment with either P4 or the synthetic progestin, levonorgestrel also reduces IAV-specific antibody titers as well as IAV-specific memory CD8+ T cells numbers, which results in worse outcome following secondary

IAV challenge in female mice (Hall et al. 2017). While the anti-inflammatory effects of P4-based compounds protect against a primary virus infection, the reduction in memory T cell responses increase susceptibility to secondary IAV challenge. Because P4-based compounds reduce inflammation and expedite repair of lung tissue following primary IAV infection, this may make females less susceptible to secondary bacterial infections, which are the primary cause of mortality following IAV infection in humans.

Androgens

Androgens, including testosterone and dihydrotestosterone (DHT), are secreted from Leydig cells in the testes. Androgens occur in higher concentrations in post pubertal males than females, although circulating testosterone declines with age in both male mice and humans (Potluri et al. 2019; vom Steeg et al. 2016). Androgens signal through androgen receptors (ARs), but if aromatized into E2 also can signal through ER (Davey and Grossmann 2016). AR expression has been detected in various immune cell types, including neutrophils, mast cells, macrophages, B cells, and T cells (Chen et al. 2010; Mantalaris et al. 2001; Viselli et al. 1997). AR signaling in immune cells is generally immunosuppressive (vom Steeg and Klein 2017). Exposure to either testosterone or DHT reduces the production of proinflammatory cytokines, e.g., TNFa, and increases production of anti-inflammatory cytokines, e.g., IL-10 and TGFB (D'Agostino et al. 1999; Gold et al. 2008; Liva and Voskuhl 2001). Human males with androgen deficiencies have higher concentrations of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1β, IL-2, TNF-α, and CCL3), leptin, antibody titers, and CD4+:CD8+ T cell ratios as compared to healthy males (Bobjer et al. 2013; Kalinchenko et al. 2010; Kocar et al. 2000; Malkin et al. 2004; Musabak et al. 2003).

The anti-inflammatory environment caused by testosterone protects against sublethal IAV morbidity without reducing peak viral titers (vom Steeg et al. 2016), suggesting that the effects are immunomodulatory and involve dampening of inflammation. Males with physiological levels of testosterone as well as castrated males treated with exogenous testosterone have reduced pulmonary pathology and morbidity after sub-lethal IAV infection as compared to either castrated adult males that have surgically reduced concentrations of testosterone or aged males that have reduced naturally occurring concentrations of testosterone (vom Steeg et al. 2016). Testosterone in male mice improves the outcome of IAV infection not by mitigating global pulmonary cytokine production, but by promoting the contraction of pulmonary inflammatory monocytes during peak disease and the frequencies of IAVspecific pulmonary CD8+ T cells and eosinophils in the lungs following control of viral replication (vom Steeg et al. 2020). The protective effects of testosterone on IAV pathogenesis are dependent on AR signaling, which creates a pulmonary environment conducive to reduced pulmonary inflammation. Rather than acting directly on a single cell population, AR signaling has multicellular effects and creates a local environment that promotes accelerated contraction of inflammatory immune cells (vom Steeg et al. 2020). Activation of AR signaling confers protection during IAV

infection by modulating the immune response, which may have therapeutic potential in both male and female patients.

3 Sex Differences in Influenza Vaccine Outcomes

3.1 Human Clinical Data

Of the few human vaccine trials that have considered sex differences in vaccine outcomes, in adults of reproductive ages (18-49 years), females have greater antibody titers (i.e., either neutralizing or hemagglutination inhibition (HAI) titers) than males following receipt of the seasonal influenza vaccine (Potluri et al. 2019; Engler et al. 2008; Furman et al. 2014; Klein and Pekosz 2014). The sex difference is influenced by both age and pre-existing immunity to selected IAV and IBV strain (Furman et al. 2014; Shapiro et al. 2021). During the 2008–2009 influenza season, adult females produced more neutralizing antibodies against the H3N2 and IBV vaccine virus strains, but not the H1N1 vaccine virus strain (Furman et al. 2014). During the 2017–2018 influenza season, adult females mounted more robust neutralizing responses to vaccine H3N2 compared to males (Ursin et al. 2020). In general, sex differences in antibody responses to influenza vaccine viruses are reduced with age (Potluri et al. 2019). Among individual 65+ years of age, antibody titers to both the standard and high dose seasonal influenza vaccine are still often greater in females than males (Falsey et al. 2009), with greater season to season durability of immunity against influenza among older females than males (Shapiro et al. 2021). Both younger age and greater concentrations of circulating E2 are associated with greater monovalent 2009 H1N1 vaccine-induced immunity (Potluri et al. 2019), suggesting that sex steroids and not just chronological aging could reduce immunity following vaccination. Estrogen replacement therapy in postmenopausal women increases antibody responses to seasonal influenza vaccines (Engelmann et al. 2016). Limited data also suggest that sex differences in influenza vaccine-induced antibody responses involve the effects of testosterone on lipid biosynthesis in males (Furman et al. 2014).

Although sex differences in antibody titers are reduced with older age, the quality of the antibody response still differs between the sexes. Older males are at greater risk for severe influenza, despite rates of vaccination being higher for older males compared to older females (Eshima et al. 2011; Kini et al. 2022). In a cohort of adults aged 50–74 years, older females have increased number of antibody secreting cells recognizing H1N1 virus, with greater B cell transcriptional activity (Ovsyannikova et al. 2016). Older females also have greater frequencies of age-associated B cells (ABCs) compared to older males (Cancro 2020). ABCs are a unique B cell population that expand following vaccination against multiple viruses, including influenza (Andrews et al. 2019; Lau et al. 2017). While the function of ABCs post-vaccination and in older individuals is still being investigated, these cells may provide a unique

mechanism by which older females produce greater quality and quantity of antibody responses following influenza vaccination than their male counterparts.

3.2 Animal Models

Animal models have been integral for providing mechanistic insights into sex differences in vaccine-induced immunity against influenza (Fink et al. 2018; Potluri et al. 2019; Ursin et al. 2022) (Table 1). Sex differences in antibody responses are reported in response to an inactivated H1N1 as well as human TIV (Fink et al. 2018; Arsenovic-Ranin et al. 2019). When immunized with live H1N1 or H3N2 influenza virus, adult female mice mount greater neutralizing and total antibody responses than males, which provide greater heterosubtypic protection against IAV viruses (Lorenzo et al. 2011).

After inactivated 2009 H1N1 virus vaccination, young adult female mice develop greater total anti-2009 H1N1 IgG titers, greater neutralizing antibody titers, and are better protected against live virus challenge than their male counterparts (Fink et al. 2018). Through antibody transfer experiments, vaccine-induced antibodies from females can equally protect naïve adult males and females from live virus challenge, illustrating that vaccine-induced antibody is sufficient for protection. Class switch recombination (CSR) of antibody is partially mediated by the expression of the X-linked gene, *Tlr7*, in B cells (Pone et al. 2015). Following vaccination, anti-2009 H1N1 IgG2c, but not IgG1, is greater in females than males. There is greater expression of *Tlr7* in B cells isolated from vaccinated females than males, which is associated with reduced DNA methylation in the *Tlr7* promoter region, greater neutralizing antibody titers, CSR, and antibody avidity in females (Fink et al. 2018). Deletion of *Tlr7* eliminates sex differences in vaccine-induced antibody responses and protection, with a greater impact on females than males.

To determine cross-recognition and cross-protection against IAVs, a panel of 2009 H1N1 viruses that contain mutations in the immunodominant HA protein, including a single amino acid mutant (at position K166Q), a double mutant (K166Q and G157E), a triple mutant (K166Q, G157E, and N211D), and a virus with the K166Q mutation plus an entire antigenic region substituted with a non-human HA were developed (Ursin et al. 2022). Following 2009 H1N1 vaccination, adult females produce greater virus-specific, class-switched total IgG and IgG2c antibodies against the vaccine and all mutant viruses, and antibodies from females recognized more unique, linear HA epitopes than antibodies from males. While females have greater neutralizing antibody titers against the vaccine virus, both sexes show lower neutralization capacity against mutant viruses. After live virus challenge, vaccinated adult females have lower pulmonary virus titers and reduced morbidity than males against the single and double mutant viruses, but not the substitution virus (Ursin et al. 2022), raising questions about sex differences in non-neutralizing antibody functions in protection. Inactivated 2009 H1N1 virus vaccination also causes greater numbers of germinal center (GC) B cells containing superior somatic hypermutation (SHM) frequencies

in vaccinated females than males. Deletion of the gene (*AICDA*) that encodes for activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) eliminates female-biased immunity and protection against live virus challenge (Ursin et al. 2022).

There is growing interest in universal influenza vaccines that can provide protection against diverse IAV and IBV strains. Universal influenza vaccine based on an adjuvanted chimeric HA stem (Bernstein et al. 2020) were used to evaluate sex and age differences. Using a prime and boost strategy, while sex differences in vaccineinduced antibody responses are not observed among young adult mice, there is an age-associated decline in immunity, including in non-neutralizing antibody functions (e.g., antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity [ADCC]), and protection from infection that is apparent among female but not male mice (Dhakal et al. 2022).

Mechanistically, data illustrate that sex steroids mediate sex differences in vaccine-induced immunity and protection in animal models. For example, following vaccination with an inactivated H1N1, females with higher concentrations of E2 have greater neutralizing antibody responses and protection from challenge among both young adult and aged mice (Nguyen et al. 2011; Potluri et al. 2019) Ovariectomy of female mice reduces and treatment of ovariectomized female mice with exogenous E2 enhances vaccine-specific IgG and neutralizing antibody titers, illustrating that E2 causes greater antibody production following vaccination of females (Potluri et al. 2019). Both aging and reduced E2 are associated with lower antibody responses post-vaccination in humans and reduced protection following live virus challenge in mice (Potluri et al. 2019). Aging (Frasca and Blomberg 2020) and reduced E2 signaling through ER α (Jones et al. 2020) also significantly reduce expression of AID, which have not been evaluated together.

4 Effects of Pregnancy on Influenza Pathogenesis and Vaccine Outcomes

4.1 Influenza Pathogenesis

Pregnancy is a female-specific risk factor for severe disease and death following infection with seasonal and pandemic influenza viruses (Jamieson et al. 2009; Woolston and Conley 1918; Harris 1919; Cox et al. 2006a; Rogers et al. 2010; Mertz et al. 2017). Pregnancy-associated increased mortality rates following influenza infection were noted as early as the 1918 H1N1 pandemic, with 18.1% greater fatality in hospitalized pregnant women versus nonpregnant patients in one hospital, and a 27% mortality rate observed in a survey of 1350 cases of pregnant women (Woolston and Conley 1918; Harris 1919). During the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, pregnant women experienced greater morbidity than the general population and accounted for a disproportionally higher percentage of pandemic influenza deaths. In 2009, pregnant women accounted for 5% of pandemic influenza deaths in the USA, while representing only approximately 1% of the population (Siston et al. 2010; Klein et al. 2010b). Seasonal

influenza viruses, while generally considered less pathogenic than pandemic IAVs, are reported to infect between 483 and 1097 per 10,000 pregnant women annually (Katz et al. 2017), and pregnant women have greater odds of adverse outcomes, including intensive care unit (ICU) admission, acute cardiopulmonary morbidity, and increased hospital length of stay than nonpregnant comparators (Vousden et al. 2021; Neuzil et al. 1998; Cox et al. 2006b).

Risk for severe seasonal and pandemic influenza disease is greater in the third than in other trimesters, in studies that consider gestational age, highlighting that pregnancy is not a static physiological state (Rogers et al. 2010; Neuzil et al. 1998; Rojas-Suarez et al. 2014). Pregnancy induces profound anatomical, physiological, and immunological changes across the gestational trimesters. As gestation progresses, the cardiovascular and respiratory system are altered to accommodate the developing fetus; cardiac output, cardiac stroke volume, pulmonary tidal volume, and systemic demand for oxygen increase, while pulmonary residual capacity is reduced due to the raised diaphragm (LoMauro and Aliverti 2022; Soma-Pillay et al. 2016; Kourtis et al. 2014). Altered cardiopulmonary function during pregnancy are, therefore, hypothesized to increase the risk of hypoxemia and contribute to severe disease during influenza virus infection (Kourtis et al. 2014). Additionally, the immune system during pregnancy undergoes gestational-age-dependent shifts (Abu-Raya et al. 2020), which may increase susceptibility to influenza viruses. Proinflammatory cells and signaling are required during the first trimester for successful implantation and the development of pregnancy-associated tissues such as the placenta and amniotic sac (Mor et al. 2011). Subsequently, an anti-inflammatory state is induced to protect the developing semi-allogenic fetus in the second and third trimester, with increased regulatory T and B cells, reduced cytotoxic T cells and cellular immunity, and a general shift from helper T cell type 1 (Th1) to helper T cell type 2 (Th2) responses (Kourtis et al. 2014; Abu-Raya et al. 2020; Vanders et al. 2013). These immunological shifts are in part supported by the concomitant rise in estrogens and P4 throughout gestation (Tate et al. 2011). While pregnancy-associated hormonal, anatomical, physiological, and immunological changes are hypothesized to contribute to severe disease and death following infection with influenza viruses, the exact mechanisms and individual factors contributing to severe influenza disease during pregnancy in humans remain unknown.

To better understand the contributions of pregnancy to severe disease following influenza infection, murine models have been developed to gain mechanistic insight (Table 2). Murine pregnancy recapitulates many facets of human pregnancy, including similar, but not identical cardiovascular, hormonal, and immunological shifts (Abu-Raya et al. 2020; Arany et al. 2022; Zoller et al. 2007; Malassine et al. 2003). For example, P4 concentrations increase throughout pregnancy in both humans and mice, with secretion by the corpus luteum followed by the placenta in humans and solely the corpus luteum in mice (Malassine et al. 2003). Murine models of pregnancy have limitations, including, but not limited to, shorter (~20 days versus ~ 9 months) gestation period, differing mechanisms of placentation between the species, and the absence of a semi-allogeneic fetus if using inbred mice (Arany et al. 2022; Malassine et al. 2003; Krishnan et al. 2013). Despite these limitations, murine

models of have provided evidence for pregnancy-specific mechanisms of severe influenza disease that would otherwise remain untestable hypotheses in humans.

Studies of influenza virus infection during pregnancy have utilized both pandemic and seasonal influenza viruses, multiple inbred and outbred strains of mice, with infections at timepoints throughout murine gestation (Table 2). Disease following influenza virus infection, as measured by reduced weight gain, clinical signs of respiratory distress, and/or mortality, is consistently greater after infection with pandemic than seasonal influenza viruses and in pregnant compared with nonpregnant females, consistent with human observational studies (Pazos et al. 2012; Kim et al. 2012; Littauer et al. 2017; Marcelin et al. 2011; Engels et al. 2017; Chan et al. 2010; Lauzon-Joset et al. 2019; Swieboda et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2014; Vermillion et al. 2018c). Pregnant dams infected with IAV at embryonic days equivalent to the second or third human trimester have reduced adaptive immune responses to IAV, including reduced systemic CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, IAV-specific antibody titers, and IAV-specific cytotoxic T cell activity, with these effects mediated by the femalesex steroid hormones of progesterone and estrogens (Pazos et al. 2012; Chan et al. 2010; Swieboda et al. 2020). Pregnancy alters local innate immune responses and tissue repair activity with infection of pregnant dams resulting in reduced antiviral IFN responses, increased IL-1 β and IL-6), and increased numbers of neutrophils and macrophages in lungs as compared to nonpregnant infected females (Pazos et al. 2012; Marcelin et al. 2011; Engels et al. 2017; Chan et al. 2010; Lauzon-Joset et al. 2019). Proinflammatory responses in the lungs are associated with pulmonary tissue damage, impaired epithelial regeneration, reduced pulmonary P4 concentrations, and a pregnancy-specific shift of alveolar macrophages from a classical (M1) to an alternative (M2) activation state (Marcelin et al. 2011; Lauzon-Joset et al. 2019; Swieboda et al. 2020). Whether viral clearance is diminished during pregnancy remains unclear as reported viral loads between pregnant and nonpregnant mice are contradictory (Kim et al. 2012; Littauer et al. 2017; Marcelin et al. 2011; Chan et al. 2010; Vermillion et al. 2018c). Taken together, murine studies highlight that pregnancy-associated immunomodulation contributes to influenza disease severity.

There is no evidence from either humans or animal models that seasonal or pandemic influenza viruses cross the placenta or infect the developing fetus, yet influenza virus infection during pregnancy is associated with adverse pregnancy and fetal outcomes, including pre-term delivery, fetal growth restriction, and fetal distress (Cox et al. 2006b; Omer et al. 2012; Hartel et al. 2016; Song et al. 2020; Pierce et al. 2009; Naresh et al. 2013; Buchy et al. 2020; He et al. 2017; Dawood et al. 2021; Jacobsen et al. 2021). The 2009 H1N1 pandemic highlighted adverse fetal outcomes. According to a systematic review and meta-analysis of 10 studies from the 2009 H1N1 pandemic, maternal infection resulted in a 71% and 136% increased relative risk of low birth weights and stillbirths, respectively, compared to pregnant women without influenza disease (He et al. 2017). Influenza infection during pregnancy also has been associated with long-term adverse outcomes for offspring, including increased risk of development of metabolic and neuropsychological disorders in adulthood (Song et al. 2020; Brown et al. 2004; Parboosing et al. 2013).

Influenza virus	Mouse strain(s)	Embryonic (E) age(s) at infection	Maternal outcomes	Offspring outcomes	Mechanistic insights	References
A/ Brisbane/ 59/07 (H1N1)	BALB/c	E12, E14	↓ weight gain ↓ gestation length	↓ offspring size ↑ stillbirths	Disrupted placental architecture ↑ placental inflammation ↑ lung viral load	Littauer et al. 2017
A/ California/ 04/09 (H1N1)	C57BL/ 6, BALB/c	E10, E13	↓ weight gain ↑ mortality	↑ abortions ↓ offspring size	 ↑ cytokines, macrophages, and neutrophils in lungs ↓ epithelial regeneration in lungs ↓ serum progesterone 	Marcelin et al. 2011; Vermillion et al. 2018c
A/ California/ 07/09 (H1N1)	C55BL/ 6J, BALB/c	E3.5, E7.5, E12, E12.5	 ↓ weight gain ↓ gestation length ↑ mortality 	 ↓ offspring size ↓ fetal thymic gene expression 	 ↑ Placental inflammation ↓ labyrinth development ↑ pulmonary T cells ↑ uterine macrophages 	Swieboda et al. 2020; Van Campen et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2012
A/ Hamburg/ NY1580/ 09 (H1N1)	C57BL/ 6J females mated with BALB/c males	E5.5, E12.5	↓ weight gain ↑ mortality	↓ offspring growth ↑ vulnerability to infections	 ↓ pulmonary anti-viral cytokines ↓ hematopoietic development in offspring ↑ morbidity and mortality with allogenic pregnancy 	Jacobsen et al. 2021; Engels et al. 2017
A/HK/ 415742/09 (H1N1)	BALB/c	E12-E14	↑ mortality	↓ fetus mass	 ↑ severity of pneumonitis ↓ adaptive immune responses ↑ pulmonary proinflammatory cytokines Placental necrosis 	Chan et al. 2010

 Table 2
 Mouse models of influenza virus infection during pregnancy provide mechanistic insights

(continued)

Influenza virus	Mouse strain(s)	Embryonic (E) age(s) at infection	Maternal outcomes	Offspring outcomes	Mechanistic insights	References
A/PR/8/34 (H1N1)	C57BL/ 6, BALB/c	E9.5, E10.5	↓ weight gain ↑ clinical score	↓ fetus mass	↓ cytotoxic T cell activity Delayed viral clearance ↑ neutrophils in bronchoalveolar lavage Alveolar macrophage phenotype shift	Pazos et al. 2012; Lauzon-Joset et al. 2019
B/ Brisbane/ 60/08 (IBV)	CD1	E14	↓ weight gain	↓ fetus mass	 ↑ lung viral titers ↓ uterine progesterone ↓ uterine estrogen 	Kim et al. 2014
HK-x31 (H3N2)	C57BL/ 6J, C57BL/ 6N	E10, E12	↓ weight gain	↓ fetal mass ↑ abortions	 ↑ vascular oxidative stress ↑ vascular inflammation ↑ immune cells in placenta ↓ placental integrity Evidence of placental and fetal hypoxia 	Liong et al. 2020; Oseghale et al. 2022; Antonson et al. 2021

Table 2 (continued)

While murine models of influenza virus infection during pregnancy have reported short- and long-term adverse fetal outcomes (Table 2), few studies have focused on uncovering mechanisms. One potential mechanism is placental damage and inflammation, with evidence of disrupted placental architecture, placental necrosis, increased proinflammatory cytokines, and the infiltration of immune cells such as neutrophils in the placenta of dams infected with influenza viruses (Littauer et al. 2017; Chan et al. 2010; Swieboda et al. 2020; Antonson et al. 2021; Van Campen et al. 2020; Liong et al. 2020). Placental damage and inflammation are associated with adverse fetal outcomes in other models, including preeclampsia and infection with 'TORCH' (i.e., *Toxoplasma gondii*, other, rubella virus, cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus) microbes (Megli and Coyne 2022; Goldstein et al. 2020; Ilekis et al. 2016). The mechanisms by which infection with influenza viruses causes damage and inflammation in the placenta without direct viral infection or a causal link to adverse fetal outcomes, however, remain unknown.

4.2 Influenza Vaccines

To reduce the risk of severe influenza disease and prevent adverse fetal outcomes, pregnant women are recommended to receive an inactivated influenza vaccine (IIV) at any trimester of pregnancy (Vaccines against influenza WHO position paper 2012). Seasonal and pandemic vaccination with inactivated influenza vaccines is safe during pregnancy, with no reported association with adverse fetal or pregnancy outcomes, immunogenic, and efficacious during pregnancy (Sumaya and Gibbs 1979; Englund et al. 1993; Moro et al. 2011; Christian et al. 2013). Pregnancy does not appear to negatively impact influenza vaccine responses as influenza-specific antibody production and cytokine responses after vaccination with IIV do not significantly differ between pregnant and nonpregnant women (Christian et al. 2013), and vaccine effectiveness for pregnant women after IIV is similar to that of the general population for the influenza season studied (Thompson et al. 2014). Moreover, IIV vaccination during pregnancy is associated with reduced rates of premature and small for gestational age births during influenza season and reduced rates of influenza illness in infants up to 6 months of age (Omer et al. 2011; Steinhoff et al. 2012; Zaman et al. 2008). There is no licensed influenza vaccine for infants less than 6 months of age, and therefore, vaccination during pregnancy and transplacental transfer of influenza-specific antibodies provides valuable protection to this population (Buchy et al. 2020). Maternal vaccination is a method to protect the mother and fetus during pregnancy and the newborn infants in early life from influenza disease.

5 Conclusions and Future Directions

Sex is a biological variable that should be considered in studies of influenza vaccination and pathogenesis. There are gaps in our understanding of the precise mechanisms mediating sex-biased immune responses and how this affects the outcome of influenza virus infection and vaccination. Future research must continue to define the pathways mediating how hormones, as reviewed here, but also genes and even the microbiota differently affect immunity to influenza virus infection and vaccination in males compared with females. Future studies should continue to consider the age and reproductive status of individuals as well as whether females or even males are using exogenous hormones, either through contraceptives or hormone replacement therapy, at the time of infection or vaccination. We recommend that clinicians, epidemiologists, and basic biomedical scientists design experiments that include both males and females, develop a priori hypotheses that the sexes will differ in their responses to and the outcome of influenza virus infection and vaccination across the life course. and statistically analyze outcome data by sex and age. The end goal should be that clinicians and researchers alike consider the sex of their patients or animals when interpreting data pertaining to influenza virus pathogenesis and vaccination.

References

- Abu-Raya B, Michalski C, Sadarangani M, Lavoie PM (2020) Maternal immunological adaptation during normal pregnancy. Front Immunol 11:575197. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020. 575197
- Andrews SF, Chambers MJ, Schramm CA, Plyler J, Raab JE, Kanekiyo M et al (2019) Activation dynamics and immunoglobulin evolution of pre-existing and newly generated human memory B cell responses to influenza hemagglutinin. Immunity 51(2):398-410.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.immuni.2019.06.024
- Antonson AM, Kenney AD, Chen HJ, Corps KN, Yount JS, Gur TL (2021) Moderately pathogenic maternal influenza A virus infection disrupts placental integrity but spares the fetal brain. Brain Behav Immun 96:28–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2021.05.004
- Arany Z, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Karumanchi SA (2022) Animal models of cardiovascular complications of pregnancy. Circ Res 130(12):1763–1779. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.122. 320395
- Arsenović-Ranin N, Petrović R, Živković I, Bufan B, Stoiljković V, Leposavić G (2019) Influence of aging on germinal centre reaction and antibody response to inactivated influenza virus antigens in mice: sex-based differences. Biogerontology 20(4):475–496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-019-09811-8. PMID: 31049769
- Avitsur R, Mays JW, Sheridan JF (2011) Sex differences in the response to influenza virus infection: modulation by stress. Horm Behav 59(2):257–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.12.002
- Bernstein DI, Guptill J, Naficy A, Nachbagauer R, Berlanda-Scorza F, Feser J et al (2020) Immunogenicity of chimeric haemagglutinin-based, universal influenza virus vaccine candidates: interim results of a randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Infect Dis 20(1):80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30393-7
- Bobjer J, Katrinaki M, Tsatsanis C, Lundberg Giwercman Y, Giwercman A (2013) Negative association between testosterone concentration and inflammatory markers in young men: a nested cross-sectional study. PLoS ONE 8(4):e61466. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061466
- Brown AS, Begg MD, Gravenstein S, Schaefer CA, Wyatt RJ, Bresnahan M et al (2004) Serologic evidence of prenatal influenza in the etiology of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 61(8):774– 780. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.61.8.774
- Buchy P, Badur S, Kassianos G, Preiss S, Tam JS (2020) Vaccinating pregnant women against influenza needs to be a priority for all countries: an expert commentary. Int J Infect Dis 92:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.12.019
- Butts CL, Shukair SA, Duncan KM, Bowers E, Horn C, Belyavskaya E et al (2007) Progesterone inhibits mature rat dendritic cells in a receptor-mediated fashion. Int Immunol 19(3):287–296. https://doi.org/10.1093/intimm/dx1145
- Cable JK, Grider MH (2022) Physiology, progesterone. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC
- Van Campen H, Bishop JV, Abrahams VM, Bielefeldt-Ohmann H, Mathiason CK, Bouma GJ, et al (2020) Maternal influenza A virus infection restricts fetal and placental growth and adversely affects the fetal thymic transcriptome. Viruses 12(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/v12091003
- Cancro MP (2020) Age-associated B cells. Annu Rev Immunol 38:315–340. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev-immunol-092419-031130
- Celestino I, Checconi P, Amatore D, De Angelis M, Coluccio P, Dattilo R, Alunni Fegatelli D, Clemente AM, Matarrese P, Torcia MG et al. (2018) Differential redox state contributes to sex disparities in the response to influenza virus infection in male and female mice. Front Immunol 9:1747. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01747
- Chan KH, Zhang AJ, To KK, Chan CC, Poon VK, Guo K et al (2010) Wild type and mutant 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) viruses cause more severe disease and higher mortality in pregnant BALB/c mice. PLoS ONE 5(10):e13757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.001 3757

- Chen W, Beck I, Schober W, Brockow K, Effner R, Buters JT et al (2010) Human mast cells express androgen receptors but treatment with testosterone exerts no influence on IgE-independent mast cell degranulation elicited by neuromuscular blocking agents. Exp Dermatol 19(3):302–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0625.2009.00969.x
- Christian LM, Porter K, Karlsson E, Schultz-Cherry S, Iams JD (2013) Serum proinflammatory cytokine responses to influenza virus vaccine among women during pregnancy versus nonpregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 70(1):45–53. https://doi.org/10.1111/aji.12117
- Cloutier A, Marois I, Cloutier D, Verreault C, Cantin AM, Richter MV (2012) The prostanoid 15deoxy-Delta 12,14-prostaglandin-j2 reduces lung inflammation and protects mice against lethal influenza infection. J Infect Dis 205(4):621–630. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jir804
- Cox S, Posner SF, McPheeters M, Jamieson DJ, Kourtis AP, Meikle S (2006a) Influenza and pregnant women: hospitalization burden, United States, 1998–2002. J Womens Health (larchmt) 15(8):891–893
- Cox S, Posner SF, McPheeters M, Jamieson DJ, Kourtis AP, Meikle S (2006b) Hospitalizations with respiratory illness among pregnant women during influenza season. Obstet Gynecol 107(6):1315–1322
- D'Agostino P, Milano S, Barbera C, Di Bella G, La Rosa M, Ferlazzo V et al (1999) Sex hormones modulate inflammatory mediators produced by macrophages. Ann N Y Acad Sci 876:426–429
- Davey RA, Grossmann M (2016) Androgen receptor structure, function and biology: from bench to bedside. Clin Biochem Rev 37(1):3–15
- Dawood FS, Kittikraisak W, Patel A, Rentz Hunt D, Suntarattiwong P, Wesley MG et al (2021) Incidence of influenza during pregnancy and association with pregnancy and perinatal outcomes in three middle-income countries: a multisite prospective longitudinal cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 21(1):97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30592-2
- Dhakal S, Deshpande S, McMahon M, Strohmeier S, Krammer F, Klein SL (2022) Female-biased effects of aging on a chimeric hemagglutinin stalk-based universal influenza virus vaccine in mice. Vaccine 40(11):1624–1633. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.11.057
- Dressing GE, Goldberg JE, Charles NJ, Schwertfeger KL, Lange CA (2011) Membrane progesterone receptor expression in mammalian tissues: a review of regulation and physiological implications. Steroids 76(1–2):11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.steroids.2010.09.006
- Engelmann F, Rivera A, Park B, Messerle-Forbes M, Jensen JT, Messaoudi I (2016) Impact of estrogen therapy on lymphocyte homeostasis and the response to seasonal influenza vaccine in post-menopausal women. PLoS ONE 11(2):e0149045
- Engels G, Hierweger AM, Hoffmann J, Thieme R, Thiele S, Bertram S et al (2017) Pregnancyrelated immune adaptation promotes the emergence of highly virulent H1N1 influenza virus strains in allogenically pregnant mice. Cell Host Microbe 21(3):321–333. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chom.2017.02.020
- Engler RJ, Nelson MR, Klote MM, VanRaden MJ, Huang CY, Cox NJ et al (2008) Half- vs fulldose trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (2004–2005): age, dose, and sex effects on immune responses. Arch Intern Med 168(22):2405–2414. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.200 8.513
- Englund JA, Mbawuike IN, Hammill H, Holleman MC, Baxter BD, Glezen WP (1993) Maternal immunization with influenza or tetanus toxoid vaccine for passive antibody protection in young infants. J Infect Dis 168(3):647–656. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/168.3.647
- Eshima N, Tokumaru O, Hara S, Bacal K, Korematsu S, Tabata M et al (2011) Sex- and age-related differences in morbidity rates of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus of swine origin in Japan. PLoS ONE 6(4):e19409. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0019409
- Falsey AR, Treanor JJ, Tornieporth N, Capellan J, Gorse GJ (2009) Randomized, double-blind controlled phase 3 trial comparing the immunogenicity of high-dose and standard-dose influenza vaccine in adults 65 years of age and older. J Infect Dis 200(2):172–180. https://doi.org/10.1086/ 599790

- Fink AL, Engle K, Ursin RL, Tang W-Y, Klein SL (2018) Biological sex affects vaccine efficacy and protection against influenza in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci 115(49):12477–12482. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1805268115
- Frasca D, Blomberg BB (2020) Aging induces B cell defects and decreased antibody responses to influenza infection and vaccination. Immun Ageing 17(1):37. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12979-020-00210-z
- Fuentes N, Silveyra P (2019) Estrogen receptor signaling mechanisms. Adv Protein Chem Struct Biol 116:135–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.apcsb.2019.01.001
- Furman D, Hejblum BP, Simon N, Jojic V, Dekker CL, Thiébaut R et al (2014) Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci 111(2):869–874. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1321060111
- Gold SM, Chalifoux S, Giesser BS, Voskuhl RR (2008) Immune modulation and increased neurotrophic factor production in multiple sclerosis patients treated with testosterone. J Neuroinflammation 5:32. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-5-32
- Goldstein JA, Gallagher K, Beck C, Kumar R, Gernand AD (2020) Maternal-fetal inflammation in the placenta and the developmental origins of health and disease. Front Immunol 11:531543. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.531543
- Graham JH, Yoachim SD, Gould KA (2020) Estrogen receptor alpha signaling is responsible for the female sex bias in the loss of tolerance and immune cell activation induced by the lupus susceptibility locus Sle1b. Front Immunol 11:582214. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu. 2020.582214
- Grant KA, Carville KS, Sullivan SG, Strachan J, Druce J, Fielding JE (2018) A severe 2017 influenza season dominated by influenza A(H3N2), Victoria, Australia. Western Pac Surveill Response J. 9(5 Suppl 1):18–26. https://doi.org/10.5365/wpsar.2018.9.5.010
- Hall OJ, Limjunyawong N, Vermillion MS, Robinson DP, Wohlgemuth N, Pekosz A et al (2016) Progesterone-based therapy protects against influenza by promoting lung repair and recovery in females. PLoS Pathog 12(9):e1005840. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005840
- Hall OJ, Nachbagauer R, Vermillion MS, Fink AL, Phuong V, Hirsh A et al (2017) Progesteronebased contraceptives reduce adaptive immune responses and protection against heterosubtypic infection with influenza A viruses. J Virol (in press)
- Hapgood JP, Africander D, Louw R, Ray RM, Rohwer JM (2014) Potency of progestogens used in hormonal therapy: toward understanding differential actions. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 142:39–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.08.001
- Harris JW (1919) Influenza occurring in pregnant women: a statistical study of thirteen hundred and fifty cases. J Am Med Assoc 72(14):978–980. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1919.026101 40008002
- Hartel C, Humberg A, Viemann D, Stein A, Orlikowsky T, Rupp J et al (2016) Preterm birth during influenza season is associated with adverse outcome in very low birth weight infants. Front Pediatr 4:130. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2016.00130
- He J, Liu ZW, Lu YP, Li TY, Liang XJ, Arck PC et al (2017) A systematic review and metaanalysis of influenza A virus infection during pregnancy associated with an increased risk for stillbirth and low birth weight. Kidney Blood Press Res 42(2):232–243. https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000477221
- Hellberg S, Raffetseder J, Rundquist O, Magnusson R, Papapavlou G, Jenmalm MC et al (2021) Progesterone dampens immune responses in in vitro activated CD4(+) T cells and affects genes associated with autoimmune diseases that improve during pregnancy. Front Immunol 12:672168. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2021.672168
- Hoffmann J, Otte A, Thiele S, Lotter H, Shu Y, Gabriel G (2015) Sex differences in H7N9 influenza A virus pathogenesis. Vaccine 33(49):6949–6954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.08.044
- Ilekis JV, Tsilou E, Fisher S, Abrahams VM, Soares MJ, Cross JC et al (2016) Placental origins of adverse pregnancy outcomes: potential molecular targets: an executive workshop summary of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development. Am J Obstet Gynecol 215(1 Suppl):S1–S46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2016.03.001

- World Health Organization (2020) Influenza laboratory surveillance information by the Global Influenza Surveillance and Response System (GISRS)
- Jacobs JH, Archer BN, Baker MG, Cowling BJ, Heffernan RT, Mercer G et al (2012) Searching for sharp drops in the incidence of pandemic A/H1N1 influenza by single year of age. PLoS ONE 7(8):e42328. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042328
- Jacobsen H, Walendy-Gnirss K, Tekin-Bubenheim N, Kouassi NM, Ben-Batalla I, Berenbrok N et al (2021) Offspring born to influenza A virus infected pregnant mice have increased susceptibility to viral and bacterial infections in early life. Nat Commun 12(1):4957. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-021-25220-3
- Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, Rasmussen SA, Williams JL, Swerdlow DL, Biggerstaff MS et al (2009) H1N1 2009 influenza virus infection during pregnancy in the USA. Lancet 374(9688):451–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61304-0
- Jensen-Fangel S, Mohey R, Johnsen SP, Andersen PL, Sorensen HT, Ostergaard L (2004) Gender differences in hospitalization rates for respiratory tract infections in Danish youth. Scand J Infect Dis 36(1):31–36
- Jones LA, Kreem S, Shweash M, Paul A, Alexander J, Roberts CW (2010) Differential modulation of TLR3- and TLR4-mediated dendritic cell maturation and function by progesterone. J Immunol 185(8):4525–4534. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0901155
- Jones BG, Sealy RE, Penkert RR, Surman SL, Birshtein BK, Xu B et al (2020) From influenza virus infections to lupus: synchronous estrogen receptor alpha and RNA polymerase II binding within the immunoglobulin heavy chain locus. Viral Immunol 33(4):307–315. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/vim.2019.0144
- Kalinchenko SY, Tishova YA, Mskhalaya GJ, Gooren LJ, Giltay EJ, Saad F (2010) Effects of testosterone supplementation on markers of the metabolic syndrome and inflammation in hypogonadal men with the metabolic syndrome: the double-blinded placebo-controlled Moscow study. Clin Endocrinol (oxf) 73(5):602–612. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2265.2010.03845.x
- Katz MA, Gessner BD, Johnson J, Skidmore B, Knight M, Bhat N et al (2017) Incidence of influenza virus infection among pregnant women: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 17(1):155. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-017-1333-5
- Kilbourne ED (2006) Influenza pandemics of the 20th century. Emerg Infect Dis 12(1):9–14. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1201.051254
- Kim HM, Kang YM, Song BM, Kim HS, Seo SH (2012) The 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus is more pathogenic in pregnant mice than seasonal H1N1 influenza virus. Viral Immunol 25(5):402–410. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2012.0007
- Kim JC, Kim HM, Kang YM, Ku KB, Park EH, Yum J et al (2014) Severe pathogenesis of influenza B virus in pregnant mice. Virology 448:74–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2013.10.001
- Kini A, Morgan R, Kuo H, Shea P, Shapiro J, Leng SX et al (2022) Differences and disparities in seasonal influenza vaccine, acceptance, adverse reactions, and coverage by age, sex, gender, and race. Vaccine 40(11):1643–1654. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.04.013
- Klein SL, Pekosz A (2014) Sex-based biology and the rational design of influenza vaccination strategies. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S114–S119. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu066
- Klein SL, Pekosz A, Passaretti C, Anker M, Olukoya P (2010a) Sex, gender and influenza. World Health Organization, Geneva, pp 1–58
- Klein SL, Passaretti C, Anker M, Olukoya P, Pekosz A (2010b) The impact of sex, gender and pregnancy on 2009 H1N1 disease. Biol Sex Differ 1(1):5. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-641 0-1-5
- Kocar IH, Yesilova Z, Ozata M, Turan M, Sengul A, Ozdemir I (2000) The effect of testosterone replacement treatment on immunological features of patients with Klinefelter's syndrome. Clin Exp Immunol 121(3):448–452. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2249.2000.01329.x
- Kourtis AP, Read JS, Jamieson DJ (2014) Pregnancy and infection. N Engl J Med 370(23):2211– 2218. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1213566
- Kovats S (2015) Estrogen receptors regulate innate immune cells and signaling pathways. Cell Immunol 294(2):63–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.018

- Krishnan L, Nguyen T, McComb S (2013) From mice to women: the conundrum of immunity to infection during pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 97(1):62–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2012. 10.015
- Kuiper GG, Carlsson B, Grandien K, Enmark E, Haggblad J, Nilsson S et al (1997) Comparison of the ligand binding specificity and transcript tissue distribution of estrogen receptors alpha and beta. Endocrinology 138(3):863–870. https://doi.org/10.1210/endo.138.3.4979
- Kumar A, Zarychanski R, Pinto R, Cook DJ, Marshall J, Lacroix J et al (2009) Critically ill patients with 2009 influenza A(H1N1) infection in Canada. JAMA 302(17):1872–1879. https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2009.1496
- Kyurkchiev D, Ivanova-Todorova E, Hayrabedyan S, Altankova I, Kyurkchiev S (2007) Female sex steroid hormones modify some regulatory properties of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Am J Reprod Immunol 58(5):425–433. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.2007.00526.x
- Laffont S, Seillet C, Guéry JC (2017) Estrogen receptor-dependent regulation of dendritic cell development and function. Front Immunol 8:108. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00108
- Larcombe AN, Foong RE, Bozanich EM, Berry LJ, Garratt LW, Gualano RC, Jones JE, Dousha LF, Zosky GR, Sly PD (2011) Sexual dimorphism in lung function responses to acute influenza A infection. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 5(5):334–342. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-2659. 2011.00236.x
- Lau D, Lan LY, Andrews SF, Henry C, Rojas KT, Neu KE et al (2017) Low CD21 expression defines a population of recent germinal center graduates primed for plasma cell differentiation. Sci Immunol 2(7). https://doi.org/10.1126/sciimmunol.aai8153
- Lauzon-Joset JF, Scott NM, Mincham KT, Stumbles PA, Holt PG, Strickland DH (2019) Pregnancy induces a steady-state shift in alveolar macrophage M1/M2 phenotype that is associated with a heightened severity of influenza virus infection: mechanistic insight using mouse models. J Infect Dis 219(11):1823–1831. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiy732
- Lee JH, Ulrich B, Cho J, Park J, Kim CH (2011) Progesterone promotes differentiation of human cord blood fetal T cells into T regulatory cells but suppresses their differentiation into Th17 cells. J Immunol 187(4):1778–1787. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1003919
- Liong S, Oseghale O, To EE, Brassington K, Erlich JR, Luong R et al (2020) Influenza A virus causes maternal and fetal pathology via innate and adaptive vascular inflammation in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117(40):24964–24973. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006905117
- Littauer EQ, Esser ES, Antao OQ, Vassilieva EV, Compans RW, Skountzou I (2017) H1N1 influenza virus infection results in adverse pregnancy outcomes by disrupting tissue-specific hormonal regulation. PLoS Pathog 13(11):e1006757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1006757
- Liva SM, Voskuhl RR (2001) Testosterone acts directly on CD4⁺ T Lymphocytes to Increase IL-10 production. J Immunol 167(4):2060–2067. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol. 167.4.2060
- LoMauro A, Aliverti A (2022) Respiratory physiology in pregnancy and assessment of pulmonary function. Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2022.05.007
- Longcope C (1984) Estriol production and metabolism in normal women. J Steroid Biochem 20(4b):959–962. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-4731(84)90004-9
- Lorenzo ME, Hodgson A, Robinson DP, Kaplan JB, Pekosz A, Klein SL (2011) Antibody responses and cross protection against lethal influenza A viruses differ between the sexes in C57BL/6 mice. Vaccine 29(49):9246–9255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.09.110
- Malassine A, Frendo JL, Evain-Brion D (2003) A comparison of placental development and endocrine functions between the human and mouse model. Hum Reprod Update 9(6):531–539. https://doi.org/10.1093/humupd/dmg043
- Malkin CJ, Pugh PJ, Jones RD, Kapoor D, Channer KS, Jones TH (2004) The effect of testosterone replacement on endogenous inflammatory cytokines and lipid profiles in hypogonadal men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 89(7):3313–3318. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2003-031069
- Mantalaris A, Panoskaltsis N, Sakai Y, Bourne P, Chang C, Messing EM et al (2001) Localization of androgen receptor expression in human bone marrow. J Pathol 193(3):361–366. https://doi. org/10.1002/1096-9896(0000)9999:9999%3c::Aid-path803%3e3.0.Co;2-w

- Mao G, Wang J, Kang Y, Tai P, Wen J, Zou Q et al (2010) Progesterone increases systemic and local uterine proportions of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells during midterm pregnancy in mice. Endocrinology 151(11):5477–5488. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2010-0426
- Marcelin G, Aldridge JR, Duan S, Ghoneim HE, Rehg J, Marjuki H et al (2011) Fatal outcome of pandemic H1N1 2009 influenza virus infection is associated with immunopathology and impaired lung repair, not enhanced viral burden, in pregnant mice. J Virol 85(21):11208–11219. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00654-11
- Megli CJ, Coyne CB (2022) Infections at the maternal-fetal interface: an overview of pathogenesis and defence. Nat Rev Microbiol 20(2):67–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-021-00610-y
- Mertz D, Geraci J, Winkup J, Gessner BD, Ortiz JR, Loeb M (2017) Pregnancy as a risk factor for severe outcomes from influenza virus infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Vaccine 35(4):521–528. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.12.012
- Miyaura H, Iwata M (2002) Direct and indirect inhibition of Th1 development by progesterone and glucocorticoids. J Immunol 168(3):1087–1094
- Monticelli LA, Sonnenberg GF, Abt MC, Alenghat T, Ziegler CG, Doering TA et al (2011) Innate lymphoid cells promote lung-tissue homeostasis after infection with influenza virus. Nat Immunol 12(11):1045–1054. https://doi.org/10.1031/ni.2131
- Mor G, Cardenas I, Abrahams V, Guller S (2011) Inflammation and pregnancy: the role of the immune system at the implantation site. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1221:80–87. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05938.x
- Moro PL, Broder K, Zheteyeva Y, Walton K, Rohan P, Sutherland A, et al (2011) Adverse events in pregnant women following administration of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine and live attenuated influenza vaccine in the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System, 1990–2009. Am J Obstet Gynecol 204(2):146e1–146e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.050
- Musabak U, Bolu E, Ozata M, Oktenli C, Sengul A, Inal A et al (2003) Gonadotropin treatment restores in vitro interleukin-1beta and tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Clin Exp Immunol 132(2):265–270
- Naresh A, Fisher BM, Hoppe KK, Catov J, Xu J, Hart J et al (2013) A multicenter cohort study of pregnancy outcomes among women with laboratory-confirmed H1N1 influenza. J Perinatol Official J California Perinat Assoc 33(12):939–943. https://doi.org/10.1038/jp.2013.110
- Neuzil KM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR (1998) Impact of influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. Am J Epidemiol 148(11):1094–1102
- Nguyen DC, Masseoud F, Lu X, Scinicariello F, Sambhara S, Attanasio R (2011) 17β-Estradiol restores antibody responses to an influenza vaccine in a postmenopausal mouse model. Vaccine 29(14):2515–2518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.01.080
- Nhamoyebonde S, Leslie A (2014) Biological differences between the sexes and susceptibility to tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S100–S106. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu147
- Noymer A (2009) Testing the influenza-tuberculosis selective mortality hypothesis with Union Army data. Soc Sci Med 68(9):1599–1608. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.02.021
- Noymer A, Garenne M (2000) The 1918 influenza epidemic's effects on sex differentials in mortality in the United States. Popul Dev Rev 26(3):565–581
- Omer SB, Goodman D, Steinhoff MC, Rochat R, Klugman KP, Stoll BJ et al (2011) Maternal influenza immunization and reduced likelihood of prematurity and small for gestational age births: a retrospective cohort study. PLoS Med 8(5):e1000441. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1000441
- Omer SB, Bednarczyk R, Madhi SA, Klugman KP (2012) Benefits to mother and child of influenza vaccination during pregnancy. Hum Vaccin Immunother 8(1):130–137. https://doi.org/10.4161/ hv.8.1.18601
- Oseghale O, Liong S, Coward-Smith M, To EE, Erlich JR, Luong R et al (2022) Influenza A virus elicits peri-vascular adipose tissue inflammation and vascular dysfunction of the aorta in pregnant mice. PLoS Pathog 18(8):e1010703. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010703

- Ovsyannikova IG, Oberg AL, Kennedy RB, Zimmermann MT, Haralambieva IH, Goergen KM et al (2016) Gene signatures related to HAI response following influenza A/H1N1 vaccine in older individuals. Heliyon 2(5):e00098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2016.e00098
- Parboosing R, Bao Y, Shen L, Schaefer CA, Brown AS (2013) Gestational influenza and bipolar disorder in adult offspring. JAMA Psychiat 70(7):677–685. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsych iatry.2013.896
- Pazos MA, Kraus TA, Muñoz-Fontela C, Moran TM (2012) Estrogen mediates innate and adaptive immune alterations to influenza infection in pregnant mice. PLoS ONE 7(7):e40502. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0040502
- Peiris JS, Hui KP, Yen HL (2010) Host response to influenza virus: protection versus immunopathology. Curr Opin Immunol 22(4):475–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coi.2010. 06.003
- Pierce M, Kurinczuk JJ, Spark P, Brocklehurst P, Knight M, Ukoss (2011) Perinatal outcomes after maternal 2009/H1N1 infection: national cohort study. BMJ 342:d3214. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.d3214
- Pone EJ, Lou Z, Lam T, Greenberg ML, Wang R, Xu Z et al (2015) B cell TLR1/2, TLR4, TLR7 and TLR9 interact in induction of class switch DNA recombination: modulation by BCR and CD40, and relevance to T-independent antibody responses. Autoimmunity 48(1):1–12. https:// doi.org/10.3109/08916934.2014.993027
- Potluri T, Fink AL, Sylvia KE, Dhakal S, Vermillion MS, Vom Steeg L et al (2019) Age-associated changes in the impact of sex steroids on influenza vaccine responses in males and females. NPJ Vaccines 4:29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-019-0124-6
- Robinson DP, Klein SL (2012) Pregnancy and pregnancy-associated hormones alter immune responses and disease pathogenesis. Horm Behav 62(3):263–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. yhbeh.2012.02.023
- Robinson DP, Huber SA, Moussawi M, Roberts B, Teuscher C, Watkins R et al (2011a) Sex chromosome complement contributes to sex differences in coxsackievirus B3 but not influenza A virus pathogenesis. Biol Sex Differ 2:8. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-6410-2-8
- Robinson DP, Lorenzo ME, Jian W, Klein SL (2011b) Elevated 17β-estradiol protects females from influenza A virus pathogenesis by suppressing inflammatory responses. PLoS Pathog 7(7):e1002149-e. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1002149
- Robinson DP, Hall OJ, Nilles TL, Bream JH, Klein SL (2014) 17β-estradiol protects females against influenza by recruiting neutrophils and increasing virus-specific CD8 T cell responses in the lungs. J Virol 88(9):4711–4720. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.02081-13
- Rogers VL, Sheffield JS, Roberts SW, McIntire DD, Luby JP, Trevino S et al (2010) Presentation of seasonal influenza A in pregnancy: 2003–2004 influenza season. Obstet Gynecol 115(5):924– 929. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181da0c5e
- Rojas-Suarez J, Paternina-Caicedo A, Cuevas L, Angulo S, Cifuentes R, Parra E et al (2014) Maternal mortality due to pandemic influenza A H1N1 2009 virus in Colombia. J Perinat Med 42(1):19–26. https://doi.org/10.1515/jpm-2013-0140
- Saito S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Ito M (2010) Th1/Th2/Th17 and regulatory T-cell paradigm in pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 63(6):601–610. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010. 00852.x
- Serfling RE, Sherman IL, Houseworth WJ (1967) Excess pneumonia-influenza mortality by age and sex in three major influenza A2 epidemics, United States, 1957–58, 1960 and 1963. Am J Epidemiol 86(2):433–441
- Shapiro JR, Li H, Morgan R, Chen Y, Kuo H, Ning X et al (2021) Sex-specific effects of aging on humoral immune responses to repeated influenza vaccination in older adults. NPJ Vaccines 6(1):147. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-021-00412-6
- Siston AM, Rasmussen SA, Honein MA, Fry AM, Seib K, Callaghan WM et al (2010) Pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1) virus illness among pregnant women in the United States. JAMA 303(15):1517–1525. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.479

- Soma-Pillay P, Nelson-Piercy C, Tolppanen H, Mebazaa A (2016) Physiological changes in pregnancy. Cardiovasc J Afr 27(2):89–94. https://doi.org/10.5830/CVJA-2016-021
- Song JY, Park KV, Han SW, Choi MJ, Noh JY, Cheong HJ et al (2020) Paradoxical long-term impact of maternal influenza infection on neonates and infants. BMC Infect Dis 20(1):502. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12879-020-05236-8
- Steinhoff MC, Omer SB, Roy E, El Arifeen S, Raqib R, Dodd C et al (2012) Neonatal outcomes after influenza immunization during pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. CMAJ 184(6):645– 653. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.110754
- Straub RH (2007) The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. Endocr Rev 28(5):521–574. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2007-0001
- Su L, Sun Y, Ma F, Lu P, Huang H, Zhou J (2009) Progesterone inhibits Toll-like receptor 4-mediated innate immune response in macrophages by suppressing NF-kappaB activation and enhancing SOCS1 expression. Immunol Lett 125(2):151–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imlet.2009.07.003
- Sumaya CV, Gibbs RS (1979) Immunization of pregnant women with influenza A/New Jersey/76 virus vaccine: reactogenicity and immunogenicity in mother and infant. J Infect Dis 140(2):141– 146. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/140.2.141
- Sun J, Madan R, Karp CL, Braciale TJ (2009) Effector T cells control lung inflammation during acute influenza virus infection by producing IL-10. Nat Med 15(3):277–284. https://doi.org/10. 1038/nm.1929
- Swieboda D, Littauer EQ, Beaver JT, Mills LK, Bricker KM, Esser ES et al (2020) Pregnancy downregulates plasmablast metabolic gene expression following influenza without altering longterm antibody function. Front Immunol 11:1785. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01785
- Tate MD, Schilter HC, Brooks AG, Reading PC (2011) Responses of mouse airway epithelial cells and alveolar macrophages to virulent and avirulent strains of influenza A virus. Viral Immunol 24(2):77–88. https://doi.org/10.1089/vim.2010.0118
- Thompson MG, Li DK, Shifflett P, Sokolow LZ, Ferber JR, Kurosky S et al (2014) Effectiveness of seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine for preventing influenza virus illness among pregnant women: a population-based case-control study during the 2010–2011 and 2011–2012 influenza seasons. Clin Infect Dis 58(4):449–457. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit750
- Townsend EA, Miller VM, Prakash YS (2012) Sex differences and sex steroids in lung health and disease. Endocr Rev 33(1):1–47. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2010-0031
- Tuku B, Stanelle-Bertram S, Sellau J, Beck S, Bai T, Kouassi NM, Preuß A, Hoenow S, Renné T, Lotter H, Gabriel G (2020) Testosterone protects against severe influenza by reducing the pro-inflammatory cytokine response in the murine lung. Front Immunol 11:697. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00697
- Ursin RL, Liu H, Powell HR, Westerbeck JW, Shaw-Saliba K, Sylvia KE et al (2020) Differential antibody recognition of H3N2 vaccine and seasonal influenza virus strains based on age, vaccine status, and sex in the 2017–2018 season. J Infect Dis 222(8):1371–1382. https://doi.org/10.1093/ infdis/jiaa289
- Ursin RL, Dhakal S, Liu H, Jayaraman S, Park HS, Powell HR et al (2022) Greater breadth of vaccine-induced immunity in females than males is mediated by increased antibody diversity in germinal center B cells. mBio 13(4):e0183922. https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.01839-22
- Vaccines against influenza WHO position paper—November 2012. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 87(47):461-476
- Vanders RL, Gibson PG, Murphy VE, Wark PA (2013) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and CD8 T cells from pregnant women show altered phenotype and function following H1N1/09 infection. J Infect Dis 208(7):1062–1070. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jit296
- Vermillion MS, Ursin RL, Attreed SE, Klein SL (2018a) Estriol reduces pulmonary immune cell recruitment and inflammation to protect female mice from severe influenza. Endocrinology 159(9):3306–3320. https://doi.org/10.1210/en.2018-00486
- Vermillion MS, Ursin RL, Kuok DIT, Vom Steeg LG, Wohlgemuth N, Hall OJ, Fink AL, Sasse E, Nelson A, Ndeh R et al (2018b) Production of amphiregulin and recovery from influenza

is greater in males than females. Biol Sex Differ 9(1):24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-018-0184-8

- Vermillion MS, Nelson A, Vom Steeg L, Loube J, Mitzner W, Klein SL (2018c) Pregnancy preserves pulmonary function following influenza virus infection in C57BL/6 mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 315(4):L517–L525. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00066.2018
- Viselli SM, Reese KR, Fan J, Kovacs WJ, Olsen NJ (1997) Androgens alter B cell development in normal male mice. Cell Immunol 182(2):99–104. https://doi.org/10.1006/cimm.1997.1227
- Vom Steeg LG, Klein SL (2017) Sex steroids mediate bidirectional interactions between hosts and microbes. Horm Behav 88:45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.10.016
- Vom Steeg LG, Vermillion MS, Hall OJ, Alam O, McFarland R, Chen H et al (2016) Age and testosterone mediate influenza pathogenesis in male mice. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 311(6):L1234–L1244. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00352.2016
- Vom Steeg LG, Dhakal S, Woldetsadik YA, Park HS, Mulka KR, Reilly EC et al (2020) Androgen receptor signaling in the lungs mitigates inflammation and improves the outcome of influenza in mice. PLoS Pathog 16(7):e1008506. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008506
- Vousden N, Bunch K, Knight M, Group UIC-I (2021) Incidence, risk factors and impact of seasonal influenza in pregnancy: a national cohort study. PLoS One 16(1):e0244986. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0244986
- Walsh KB, Teijaro JR, Wilker PR, Jatzek A, Fremgen DM, Das SC et al (2011) Suppression of cytokine storm with a sphingosine analog provides protection against pathogenic influenza virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108(29):12018–12023. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1107024108
- Wang XL, Yang L, Chan KH, Chan KP, Cao PH, Lau EH et al (2015) Age and sex differences in rates of influenza-associated hospitalizations in Hong Kong. Am J Epidemiol 182(4):335–344. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwv068
- Wang J, Jiang LN, Ning CY, Yang YP, Chen M, Zhang C et al (2019) First outbreak of human infection with avian influenza A(H7N9) virus in Guangxi, China, 2016 to 2017. Chin Med J (engl) 132(16):1995–1997. https://doi.org/10.1097/CM9.00000000000376
- WHO (2012) Update on human cases of influenza at the human-animal interface. In: WHO (ed) Weekly epidemiological record 2013, pp. 137–144
- WHO. Influenza at the Human-animal Interface. https://www.who.int/influenza/human_animal_int erface/Influenza_Summary_IRA_HA_interface_10_30_2017.pdf. Accessed 2022
- Wong KC, Luscombe GM, Hawke C (2019) Influenza infections in Australia 2009–2015: is there a combined effect of age and sex on susceptibility to virus subtypes? BMC Infect Dis 19(1):42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-019-3681-4
- Woolston WJ, Conley DO (1918) Epidemic pneumonia (Spanish influenza) in pregnancy: effect in one hundred and one cases. J Am Med Assoc 71(23):1898–1899. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama. 1918.02600490030008
- Xiang N, Li X, Ren R, Wang D, Zhou S, Greene CM et al (2016) Assessing change in avian influenza A(H7N9) virus infections during the fourth epidemic—China, September 2015-August 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 65(49):1390–1394. https://doi.org/10.15585/ mmwr.mm6549a2
- Xiang N, Bai T, Kang K, Yuan H, Zhou S, Ren R et al (2017) Sero-epidemiologic study of influenza A(H7N9) infection among exposed populations, China 2013–2014. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 11(2):170–176. https://doi.org/10.1111/irv.12435
- Yu L, Lin X, Liu H, Shi J, Nong Q, Tang H et al (2015) Sex and age differences in mortality in Southern China, 2004–2010. Int J Environ Res Public Health 12(7):7886–7898. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijerph120707886
- Zaman K, Roy E, Arifeen SE, Rahman M, Raqib R, Wilson E et al (2008) Effectiveness of maternal influenza immunization in mothers and infants. N Engl J Med 359(15):1555–1564

- Zhou Y, Gu B, Brichant G, Singh JP, Yang H, Chang H et al (2022) The steroid hormone estriol (E3) regulates epigenetic programming of fetal mouse brain and reproductive tract. BMC Biol 20(1):93. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12915-022-01293-4
- Zoller AL, Schnell FJ, Kersh GJ (2007) Murine pregnancy leads to reduced proliferation of maternal thymocytes and decreased thymic emigration. Immunology 121(2):207–215. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2567.2006.02559.x

Sex and Gender Differences in Tuberculosis Pathogenesis and Treatment Outcomes



Djeneba Dabitao and William R. Bishai

Abstract Tuberculosis remains a daunting public health concern in many countries of the world. A consistent observation in the global epidemiology of tuberculosis is an excess of cases of active pulmonary tuberculosis among males compared with females. Data from both humans and animals also suggest that males are more susceptible than females to develop active pulmonary disease. Similarly, male sex has been associated with poor treatment outcomes. Despite this growing body of evidence, little is known about the mechanisms driving sex bias in tuberculosis disease. Two dominant hypotheses have been proposed to explain the predominance of active pulmonary tuberculosis among males. The first is based on the contribution of biological factors, such as sex hormones and genetic factors, on host immunity during tuberculosis. The second is focused on non-biological factors such as smoking, professional exposure, and health-seeking behaviors, known to be influenced by gender. In this chapter, we review the literature regarding these two prevailing hypotheses by presenting human but also experimental animal studies. In addition, we presented studies aiming at examining the impact of sex and gender on other clinical forms of tuberculosis such as latent tuberculosis infection and extrapulmonary tuberculosis, which both appear to have their own specificities in relation to sex. We also highlighted potential intersections between sex and gender in the context of tuberculosis and shared future directions that could guide in elucidating mechanisms of sex-based differences in tuberculosis pathogenesis and treatment outcomes.

D. Dabitao

e-mail: ddabitao@icermali.org; dkdabitao@gmail.com

W. R. Bishai (⊠) Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD 21287, USA e-mail: wbishail@jhmi.edu

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_6 139

Faculty of Pharmacy and Faculty of Medicine and Odonto-Stomatology, University Clinical Research Center (UCRC), University of Sciences, Techniques, and Technologies of Bamako (USTTB), Bamako, Mali

1 Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is a contagious infection that is caused by acid-fast bacilli (AFB) belonging to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex (MTBC). This complex regroups ten closely related bacterial species that infect humans but also wild and domestic animals, namely *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MTB), *Mycobacterium africanum* (MAF), *Mycobacterium bovis, Mycobacterium microti, Mycobacterium caprae, Mycobacterium pinnipedii, Mycobacterium canetti, Mycobacterium orygis, Mycobacterium suricattae, and Mycobacterium mungi.* Among them, MTB is the most predominant human-adapted species, while MAF is mostly encountered in West Africa (Silva et al. 2022).

It is estimated that a quarter of the world population is infected with these bacilli in the form of latent TB infection (LTBI) (Houben and Dodd 2016). Infection usually occurs when infectious droplets from the cough or sneeze of a sick person are inhaled by a susceptible host. Bacteria in the droplets can traverse the upper respiratory tract and reach the alveoli of the lungs. Thus, TB is typically considered as a disease of the lungs, but basically any organ of the body can be affected leading to extrapulmonary TB (EPTB). Zoonotic transmission can also occur, mostly through close contact with infected animals, but also by drinking unpasteurized milk and dairy products, or eating raw meats contaminated with *Mycobacterium bovis* or other animal-adapted species of the MTBC (Olea-Popelka et al. 2017).

Following infection, two outcomes are possible (Abel et al. 2014). Most infected individuals will not have any clinical signs of disease despite being infected. Those asymptomatic carriers have LTBI; these individuals are not infectious despite having infection with quiescent bacilli that may remain silent but viable for years. Among the LTBI cases, only 5–10% will develop active disease later during their lifetime due to reactivation of the original infection (Comstock et al. 1974; Abel et al. 2014). These people are symptomatic and infectious. The symptoms include cough, fever, loss of weight, loss of appetite, and night sweats which are hallmarks of active pulmonary tuberculosis (PTB). Conversely, about 5% of infected individuals will develop a "primary" TB disease in the lungs within 2 years of infection (Abel et al. 2014). Primary TB disease mostly occurs at the extremes ages with clinical manifestations often associated with EPTB. Thus, in the absence of TB treatment, around 5-15% of people who are infected with MTB and who have a normal immune system will later develop active TB disease. The later one is one of the deadliest human diseases, ranking among the top ten causes of deaths in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) (WHO 2020b).

At the global level, TB notifications rates have been heavily impacted by the 2019 Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) pandemic which diverted health system resources. Therefore, the WHO global TB report based on 2019 estimates which were not affected by reporting bias due to COVID-19 will be used in this book chapter as reference. In that year, an estimated 10 million cases of TB were reported from all regions of the world (WHO 2020a). Most of those cases occurred in Southeast Asia,

Africa, and the Western Pacific, which are also regions where poverty is endemic and rates of HIV infection are high (WHO 2020a).

Active TB disease can be treated and prevented using antibiotics, including isoniazid (INH), rifampicin (RIF), pyrazinamide (PZA), and ethambutol (EMB) (Ncayiyana et al. 2016). These drugs are used in combination usually in a six-month regimen (a 2-month intensive phase with all four drugs and a 4-month maintenance phase with INH/RIF) in people newly diagnosed with PTB (Ncayiyana et al. 2016). Despite the potency of current TB drugs, primary and secondary drug resistances have been reported which comprise a serious global threat to the WHO's objective of reducing TB incidence by 90% and deaths by 95% by 2035 (WHO 2015). Control of TB is further complicated by the fact that there is only one licensed vaccine, namely Bacillus Calmette Guerin (BCG), which was shown to be most useful in preventing severe forms of TB disease, especially in children (Olea-Popelka et al. 2017).

An important yet understudied aspect of TB is that more males are affected by TB than females. The sex ratio on incident cases of TB has consistently shown higher rates in men, as reviewed elsewhere (Neyrolles and Quintana-Murci 2009). In 2019, adult males accounted for 56% of all incident TB cases compared to 36% in adult females and 12% in children (WHO 2020a). Similarly, the TB mortality rate is also higher in males compared to the opposite sex across the six WHO regions of the world. Along the same lines, treatment success rates and severity of disease appear to differ by sex (Dabitao et al. 2022; Chidambaram et al. 2021). These strong epidemiological and clinical observations have led to the question whether males are more vulnerable to TB than females. This chapter discusses the current state of knowledge on sex differences in TB. The chapter consists of 5 sections, not including the Introduction and Conclusion, encompassing important aspects of TB research such as epidemiology, treatment outcomes, and pathogenesis. Specifically, we will review biological factors that are potentially contributing to male bias in TB burden. We will also present non-biological gendered factors that may be interacting with sex-driven biological differences to amplify the male bias in TB.

2 Sex Differences in the Epidemiology of Tuberculosis

2.1 Latent Tuberculosis Infection

Latent tuberculosis infection (LTBI) is a form of tuberculosis characterized by a persistent *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-specific T cell response, yet with no sign of clinical disease (Mack et al. 2009). In 2014, it was estimated that 23% of the world population has LTBI (Houben and Dodd 2016). Among those, about 5–10% will develop active tuberculosis during their lifetime and hence contribute to the global burden of TB (Comstock, Livesay, and Woolpert 1974). Thus, identification of the risk factors that promote LTBI is important to achieving TB control. Traditionally, individuals working in healthcare settings (Joshi et al. 2006), prisoners (Margolis
et al. 2013), and miners (Hanifa et al. 2009) have been considered high-risk groups for LTBI, likely because of their increased odds of being frequently exposed to cases of PTB. Nowadays, additional risk factors are included to enable more comprehensive management of LTBI. Among those, the impact of patient sex on the risk of acquiring LTBI and, once acquired, to progress to active disease is increasingly being investigated. This research theme takes its roots on the evidence that males are more likely to develop PTB than females (Borgdorff et al. 2000; Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014). Likewise, males receiving TB therapy have lower sputum conversion rates after initiating treatment suggesting a less favorable treatment outcomes relative to females (Chidambaram et al. 2021; Dabitao et al. 2022). Despite these observations, it is still unclear whether males are more susceptible to LTBI than the opposite sex. In addition, the relationship between patient sex and progression from LTBI to active TB has not been clearly defined. In this section, we will present key studies which have focused on the impact of sex on LTBI burden (prevalence and incidence) as well as LTBI treatment outcomes.

The impact of sex on LTBI prevalence has been investigated mostly in Asia, where most of the high-burden TB countries are also located. For example, a study conducted in China to determine risk factors for LTBI among healthcare workers (HCW) reported a prevalence of LTBI of 46% and an incidence rate of 19.1% (He et al. 2015). This was achieved by using the Quantiferon TB Gold In-Tube assay (QTF), an IFN-y-release assay, which detects memory immune responses to mycobacterial antigens and is more specific than the classical Tuberculin Skin Test (TST) (Farhat et al. 2006). Risk factors associated with LTBI status among these HCWs included being male (aOR = 2.17, 95%CI 1.63–2.89), education level below college, and work experience in healthcare setting of greater than or equal to 25 years. In this study, the occurrence of new cases of LTBI (i.e., incidence of LTBI, as determined by conversion from negative to positive QTF test during one-year follow-up) was not associated with sex in multivariate analyses; variables that were associated with QTF conversion were the amount of time spent with a TB patient (more than 15 min per day) and absence of BCG scar. The lack of a sex difference in the LTBI incidence rate/QTF conversion rate in this study could be function of the small sample size, the type of population studied, namely HCWs, but also the relative short follow-up time (one year). In a similar study, Chen et al. addressed the same question, but this time by focusing on a general population from Eastern China (Chen et al. 2015). The prevalence of LTBI defined by QTF positivity with no clinical and laboratory evidence of TB was 19.98% which as expected was lower than that of the previous study conducted in HCWs. After adjusting for potential confounders, male sex was significantly associated with LTBI risk (aOR: 1.32, 95% CI 1.11-1.58). Additional risk factors were age, smoking, obesity, alcohol use, and close contact with TB patients. Protective factors were primarily found to be higher levels of education and BCG vaccination.

An additional important question is whether sex influences progression from LTBI to PTB. The most compelling data addressing this question are derived from a population-based, multicenter, prospective study conducted at four rural sites in China (Gao et al. 2017). In this study, 7505 LTBI individuals identified by either QTF

or TST were examined and followed for 2 years. During that period, 83 new cases of active TB occurred among the individuals who initially tested positive for both QTF and TST, yielding an incidence rate of 0.82 per 100 person-years. Remarkably, only two factors were identified as being significantly associated with development of active disease, and these were male sex (aHR: 2.36, 95% CI 1·30–4·30) and history of TB (aHR: 5.40, 95% CI 3·34–8·71) (Gao et al. 2017).

Since those studies were conducted mostly in Asia, it is important to examine whether there is a relationship between sex and risk of LTBI acquisition in Africa, a continent harboring more than half of the thirty highest TB burden countries (WHO 2020a). In South Africa, the LTBI prevalence in the general population of Johannesburg, the capital city, was reported to be 34.3% by Ncayiyana et al. using the TST test (Ncayiyana et al. 2016). As in Asia, the risk of infection was associated with male sex (aOR = 2.70, 95% CI = 1.55-4.70) and age but also with marital and socio-economic status, and these factors were independent of HIV status (Ncayiyana et al. 2016). The authors attributed the increased risk of LTBI in males to behavioral factors such as social gathering in informal townships bars which appear to be more frequently used by males. However, the association of male sex and risk of LTBI persisted in settings where there is no apparent difference between men and women in terms of TB exposure such as the healthcare setting. For instance, in Morocco, the prevalence of LTBI by QTF was estimated to be 40.7% in HCWs. The risk factors for LTBI were male sex (OR = 2.21; 95%CI 1.40–3.49), increased age, family history of TB, and working in the department of pulmonary diseases (Sabri et al. 2019). This suggests that the difference in LTBI risk might not solely be explained by behavioral differences between men and women.

A further question is whether there is a sex bias in LTBI rates in low TB burden settings such as in North America and Western Europe. This question has been addressed by Reichler et al., as part of the research activities of the Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies Consortium Task Order 2 (Reichler et al. 2020). The study consisted of a prospective cohort study of laboratory-confirmed TB cases and their close contacts at nine health departments in the US and Canada. Consistent with reports in high TB burden countries in Asia and Africa, they found that LTBI detection was associated with male sex (aOR: 1.4, 95%CI: 1.1, 1.6), age of 5 years or older, shared bedroom with a TB case, and exposure to more than one index case (Reichler et al. 2020).

Despite the growing evidence revealing a male sex bias for the development of LTBI in both high and low TB burden settings, it should be noted that there are also reports indicating no differences between the sexes in LTBI incidence. For instance, in Taiwan, Ting et al. conducted a hospital-based cross-sectional study by enrolling adult patients considered to be at high risk of contracting LTBI and to progress from LTBI to active disease (Ting et al. 2014). LTBI diagnosis was based on the QTF test. The participants consisted of close contacts of TB cases, HCWs, and subjects with chronic diseases such as cancer, renal disease, liver cirrhosis, or autoimmune diseases. A total of 1,113 subjects were enrolled. The LTBI rate was 26.6% with a male predominance of 32.6% versus 25.2% among women (p = 0.010). However, a male bias in LTBI prevalence was not confirmed in multivariate analyses after adjusting for

age, smoking status, and clinical status. Rather the authors found that age (p = 0.014), smoking (p = 0.048), and fibro-calcific lesions on chest radiograph (p = 0.009) were independent risk factors for LTBI while sex was not (Ting et al. 2014). The lack of a significant sex difference in this study may have been due to heterogeneity among participants since they consisted of healthy subjects (TB contacts and HCW) alongside individuals with major disease states and comorbidities. In addition, some of diseases among study participants, such as cancer and autoimmune diseases, are inherently influenced by sex which introduces a pre-existing bias for the relationship between sex and LTBI in this study. This is further supported by key differences in baseline characteristics between males and females. As noted by the authors, males were older, more likely to smoke, to have malignancies and fibro-calcific lesions by chest radiograph. Conversely, they were less likely to be HCWs, to have had past contact with TB cases, and to have autoimmune diseases. Thus, future studies in homogenous populations with similar baseline characteristics, irrespective of sex, are warranted.

Likewise in Southern Ethiopia, a cross-sectional study in a pastoral community (i.e., nomads living with herds of animals) found a prevalence of LTBI of 50.5% by QTF among adults with no apparent difference between the sexes and no relationship between age and risk of LTBI (Teklu et al. 2018). In contrast, being a resident of a specific Ethiopian region (Dasanech District), consumption of raw meat, and family size greater than 5 persons were associated with risk of having LTBI. The finding of the association between eating behavior and LTBI suggests that Mycobacterium bovis or other animal-adapted species might be the dominant cause of TB in this population and that TB is being transmitted as a zoonotic infection in this setting. Thus, it is difficult to extrapolate findings derived from such rural African communities to the general population where human-to-human transmission is predominant. Nevertheless, a recent prospective, multicenter cohort study in Brazil also investigated the possibility of sex differences in LTBI risk among close contacts of TB cases (Wada et al. 2022). In a cohort of 1093, more females were QTF positive (46%) compared to the opposite sex (40%), which was the reverse of what has been reported in the literature so far. After adjusting for covariates in multivariate analysis, the models used did not reveal significant differences in LTBI acquisition by sex (aOR: 1.14, 95% CI: 0.92-1.41) (Wada et al. 2022). As before, the findings reported here are not aligned with earlier studies which found sex-based differences in LTBI risk.

In addition to risk of LTBI acquisition or progression from LTBI to active disease, an outstanding question is whether males and females with LTBI who receive TB preventive treatment have differential outcomes. This is an important research question for effective public health interventions in countries, where identifying and treating people with LTBI are established practices. Treatment of LTBI in countries of low incidence of TB is currently based on 3 drugs, namely isoniazid alone, isoniazid plus rifapentine, or rifampin alone (CDC 2020). Thus, understanding the impact of sex on LTBI treatment outcomes may also involve the question of sex-based differences in the half-lives and metabolism of these three drugs. Unfortunately, studies focused on this question are rare. Nonetheless, the Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies Consortium (TBESC) based in the US and Canada has published

two articles on this question. In the first one, they reported that females with LTBI are more likely to discontinue isoniazid treatment because of adverse reactions (RR 1.67, 95% CI 1.32–2.10) (Pettit et al. 2013). The finding was based on a large cohort of 1,306 individuals. Drinking alcohol was also an independent predictor of treatment discontinuation in addition to female sex. In the second study, the authors focused on factors that are associated with LTBI treatment completion. At baseline, being male (aRR 1.19, 95% confidence interval [CI] 1.08–1.31), foreign birth, having health insurance, and not being worried about taking TB treatment were independently associated with treatment completion (Hirsch-Moverman et al. 2015). To understand the observed sex differences in adverse reactions to isoniazid, two independent factors were proposed, namely body weight and polymorphisms in genes involved in isoniazid metabolism (Pettit et al. 2013). For the first one, the authors speculated that there may have been females in the study weighing less than 60 kg who may have unintentionally received full-dose isoniazid (300 mg) instead of a weight-adjusted dose, thereby increasing the likelihood of adverse reactions among females. For the second one, the role of genetic polymorphisms on the activity of N-acetyltransferase-2 (NAT-2), an enzyme responsible for metabolizing isoniazid, has been proposed. NAT-2 activity is thought to be determined by its genotype (Ohno et al. 2000; Parkin et al. 1997). Polymorphisms that are linked to slow acetylation capacity have been associated with hepatotoxicity and peripheral neuropathy upon treatment with isoniazid. However, the study was unable to offer insight on these two hypotheses since body weight was not collected among participants and genotyping of NAT-2 polymorphisms was not performed.

In summary, there is a growing body of evidence coming from various geographic regions of the world and socio-professional categories suggesting that male sex is a risk factor for acquisition of LTBI, progression to active disease, but favorable LTBI treatment outcomes. There are also a handful of reports suggesting the contrary. This means that future studies, including experimental approaches, are needed to better clarify the presence or absence of a relationship between sex and LTBI incidence and outcomes.

2.2 Active Pulmonary Tuberculosis

According to the World Health Organization (WHO), PTB is defined as "any bacteriologically confirmed or clinically diagnosed case of TB involving the lung parenchyma or the tracheobronchial tree" (WHO 2013). Classical symptoms of PTB include a cough lasting more than 2 weeks, chronic unexplained fever, weight loss, pleuritic chest pain, loss of appetite, and night sweats. The diagnosis is based on the detection of lung lesions by chest X-ray or computerized tomography (CT) scan and in the laboratory by sputum smear microscopy, sputum culture on solid or liquid media, or molecular tests (Ryu 2015).

PTB is the most common form of TB disease globally and the most studied in terms of sex differences. In 2019 before the COVID-19 pandemic, PTB represented 84%

of the 7.1 million new cases of TB worldwide (WHO 2020a). Among the six world regions defined by WHO, namely the African Region (AFR), the Region of the Americas Region (AMR), South-East Asian Region (SEAR), the European (EUR) Region, the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR), and the Western Pacific Region (WPR), most PTB cases occurred in the SEAR, AFR, and WPC regions (WHO 2020a). Meanwhile, the EUR region had the lowest incidence of PTB. At the country level, 30 countries accounted for 86% of TB burden in 2019, among which eight countries comprised the epidemiologic epicenter, namely India, China, Indonesia, Philippines, Pakistan, Nigeria, Bangladesh, and South Africa (WHO 2020a). In countries like South Africa, the situation is further complicated by the dual HIV and TB epidemics. For example, 58% of people treated for TB disease by the National TB Program are co-infected with HIV in South Africa (Sizulu et al. 2018). By way of comparison, the global rate of HIV and TB co-infection is 8.2%.

The most reported risk factors of PTB are undernutrition, HIV infection, alcohol use, smoking, and diabetes (Hayashi and Chandramohan 2018; Imtiaz et al. 2017; Lonnroth et al. 2010; WHO 2022). As in LTBI, additional risk factors are being considered; these include virulence of the infecting mycobacterial strain, age, ethnic background, and the sex of the infected person. For the latter one, an excess of PTB in adult males when compared to females has been consistently reported in TB notification rates of the WHO's Global TB Reports as indicated in Fig. 1. Notably, in 2019, 56% of new cases of TB occurred in adult males, while 32% and 12% were in adult females and children, respectively (WHO 2020a). In most countries, males are on average more than two times more likely to develop PTB than women (Horton et al. 2016; Neyrolles and Quintana-Murci 2009). Specifically, the male-to-female sex ratio in term of TB incidence is consistently in favor for males across all WHO regions irrespective of socio-economic status or HIV disease burden (WHO 2020a). These observations thus raise the question of whether male sex is an independent risk factor for developing PTB. Below, we will describe some of the seminal papers that demonstrate an increased susceptibility of males in developing PTB compared to the opposite sex.

In 1929, 251 newborns were accidentally infected with a BCG vaccine that was contaminated with a virulent strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* during a TB prevention campaign at the Lübeck General Hospital in Germany (Fox, Orlova, and Schurr 2016). A total of 228 children (90.8%), developed radiological or clinical evidence of TB, among which 72 died from a TB-associated illness. After one year of follow-up, it was found that males were more likely to die from TB compared to females (36.5% versus 24%; relative risk [RR] 1.6, 95% CI 1.0–2.3) (Fox, Orlova, and Schurr 2016). Since the "Lübeck disaster" occurred before availability of antibiotics to cure TB, it provides one of the strongest pieces of evidence that sex has a biological impact on the natural history of TB disease progression.

In addition to the Lübeck disaster, a few rigorous investigations were also conducted to determine whether sex differences in TB notification rates are due to epidemiological biases or artifacts such as under-reporting or underdiagnosing in females or whether they are due to fundamental biologic differences. Firstly, Borgdoff et al. analyzed 29 prevalence surveys focused on smear positive TB cases from 14



Fig. 1 Proportion of adult males and females among incident TB cases reported across the six WHO regions in 2019 (Source: WHO 2020a) Note: AFR: African region, AMR: American Region, EMR: Eastern Mediterranean Region, EUR: European Region, SEAR: South-East Asia Region; WPR: Western Pacific Region

countries and compared those data to the notification rates of individual countries (Borgdorff et al. 2000). In this seminal paper, the authors showed that the female-tomale prevalence ratios were consistently below 1 across the 14 countries studied, but with varying intensities (Borgdorff et al. 2000). Interestingly, the prevalence ratios were very similar or lower to those found from the notification rates, suggesting that the difference observed between the sexes is a true epidemiological difference and not a bias introduced because of reduced access to care for women in these countries. Secondly, one of the best pieces of evidence demonstrating an increase susceptibility of males to TB is a population-wide prevalence survey conducted in Bangladesh (Hamid Salim et al. 2004). A total of 266,189 people from the general population were selected by two-stage random sampling to participate in the study, among whom 7001 TB suspects were identified based on interviews conducted to detect the presence or absence of symptoms indicative of active TB. A morning sputum sample of each suspected case was later tested in the laboratory by Ziehl-Neelsen sputum smear microscopy to confirm the diagnosis of PTB. By this strategy, 64 PTB cases (48 males and 16 females) were detected, yielding a substantially higher prevalence rate among males (75%). By virtue of how subjects were selected in this study, the results also indicate that the sex difference in PTB prevalence is not due to differences in access to healthcare services between men and women. Lastly, an investigation led by Horton et al. suggested that men, rather than women, are less likely to be diagnosed in a timely manner (Horton et al. 2016). In fact, Horton and colleagues conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of more TB surveys conducted in adult populations from low- and middle-income countries from 1993 to 2016. They confirmed that the TB prevalence among males was more than two times higher than for females even in regions where HIV infection rate is high. In addition, the maleto-female ratio of prevalent-to-notified cases (average time to diagnosis) based on

39 surveys was 1.5 times higher in males than females, demonstrating that a barrier to healthcare services for women in LMICs is unlikely to explain the male bias in TB prevalence.

The evidence reported in those seminal papers raises the question of whether males develop worse PTB disease severity and whether the male's response to TB treatment is inferior to that of females. We will be focusing on the influence of sex on disease severity in this paragraph, while the relationship between sex and treatment outcomes will be discussed in a separate section. We have shown that newly diagnosed males with PTB who are naïve to therapy have a higher bacterial load compared to females, irrespective of the mycobacterial genotype (Dabitao et al. 2022). These findings were based on both sputum smear grade and time to culture positivity which is defined as the time it takes (in days) for a mycobacterial clinical isolate to grow ex vivo (Dabitao et al. 2022). The higher smear bacterial grade in males suggests that males have more extensive lung involvement relative to females, before commencing treatment. This hypothesis is supported by two independent studies conducted in newly diagnosed cases with no history of smoking and who had no history of prior TB treatment. Computed tomography (CT) images revealed more severe pulmonary lesions suggestive of a higher bacterial burden in males compared to females (Chu et al. 2019). Scoring of CT images at baseline and after treatment also indicated a faster response to treatment in females than males (Tan et al. 2018). In addition to lung lesions, other markers indicative of disease severity such as Creactive protein, a marker of systemic inflammation, were elevated in males (Chu et al. 2019). This has led us to propose that there are sex-specific, host-pathogen interactions during PTB (Dabitao et al. 2022), but the mechanism(s) remain to be defined.

Therefore, regarding active PTB, unlike in LTBI, we have a wealth of epidemiological, clinical, and microbiological pieces of evidence indicating that males are more vulnerable than females. These observations have raised the question as to what factors drive the sex difference, and two dominant theories have been proposed in the literature. The first hypothesis is that non-biological factors such as access to health care, health-seeking behaviors, smoking, substance abuse, professional exposure, non-compliance, and comorbidities are the true drivers of male TB sex bias (Feng et al. 2012; Watkins and Plant 2006; Weiss et al. 2006). Notably, a multicenter study conducted by the WHO regarding treatment adherence during TB in four countries, namely Malawi, Bangladesh, India, and Colombia, found a higher dropout rate in men during the course of TB treatment (Weiss 2006). The second hypothesis is that biological factors such as sex hormones and genetic differences drive the male sex bias (Neyrolles and Quintana-Murci 2009; Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014; Gupta et al. 2022). A discussion of the data supporting or challenging these two prevailing theories based on published animal and human studies will be included later in this chapter.

2.3 Extrapulmonary Tuberculosis

Active TB disease can also affect non-pulmonary tissues of the body. This is known as extrapulmonary tuberculosis (EPTB). According to the WHO, any forms of tuberculosis that occur in tissues outside the lung parenchyma are defined as EPTB (WHO 2013). EPTB usually occurs when mycobacteria reach the bloodstream and the lymphatic system to invade non-pulmonary tissues. Thus, virtually any tissue of the body can be impacted (Kulchavenya et al. 2019). Clinical forms of EPTB include lymph node, pleural, osteoarticular, urogenital, cerebral, abdominal, and cardiac disease. The treatment of EPTB and PTB is similar, as they are both based on the same antibiotics, which for most forms are recommended to be given during six months. The duration of treatment, however, should be increased to 9 to 12 months with certain forms of cerebral or bone and joint manifestations of TB (Lee 2015; Nahid et al. 2016). Also, in TB meningitis, adjunctive corticosteroids are recommended at the initiation of treatment for a duration of 6–8 weeks (Nahid et al. 2016).

In 2019, the WHO estimated that EPTB represents on average 16% of the 7.1 million incident tuberculosis cases worldwide (WHO 2020a). However, the rates vary substantially by WHO region from 8% in the Western Pacific Region to 24% Eastern Mediterranean region. The disparity persists even in countries from the same geographic region. For example, EPTB rates range from 5.8% to 44% between European countries (Sandgren et al. 2013). The reason for these variations between countries is unclear, but the impact of HIV infection, socio-economic factors, and cessation of BCG vaccination in newborns in many countries are suspected factors. Another important aspect of EPTB epidemiology is the fact that the absolute number of EPTB cases is not declining as observed for PTB, and hence, the proportion of EPTB cases among all forms of TB is rising. For example, EPTB constituted only 7.6% of all TB in 1962 in the US, but this rate went up to 21% in 2006 (CDC 2007). Similarly, EPTB makes up 50% of all forms of active TB disease in Australia (Barry et al. 2012). In contrast to developed countries, the epidemiology of EPTB in Africa is poorly described mainly because of the challenge to diagnose certain clinical forms. However, it is recognized that the overall drop in incidence of TB in many African countries is not evident for certain forms of EPTB such as TB meningitis and TB osteomyelitis in countries like South Africa (Hoogendoorn et al. 2017). The increase of the EPTB proportion among TB cases has prompted investigations seeking to identifying risk factors promoting progression to EPTB.

In the literature, host factors are commonly reported as risk factors influencing the pathogenesis of EPTB, but the mechanisms remain ill-defined. The factors include race, HIV infection, extremes of age, and female sex. In 2010, Fiske et al., reported that men and women of African ancestry were the most affected by EPTB in the US (Fiske et al. 2010). The study also revealed that black people also have a higher risk of developing EPTB than white people after adjusting for covariates (OR: 1.82 and 1.54) (Fiske et al. 2010). Similarly, it has been established that HIV positive individuals have a higher risk of developing EPTB than HIV negative individuals in

the US (Yang et al. 2004). Also, both young infants and the elderly constitute high-risk groups for EPTB. For example, post-menopausal women have been hypothesized to be more likely to develop EPTB due to lower estrogen levels and sex hormone effects on the immune system (Lin et al. 2013). Equally, the most common forms of TB in prepubescent children are TB meningitis and miliary TB (Katsnelson 2017). We will focus on the role of sex as risk factor of EPTB in next paragraphs.

Historically, one of the most ancient cases of TB was found in a submerged archeological site in the Mediterranean Sea in a prehistoric village called Atlit Yam near Haifa, Israel (Hershkovitz et al. 2008). The skeletons of a woman and infant dated to be more than 9000 years old were confirmed to both have bone lesions caused by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, confirming presence of EPTB. Similarly, a meta-analysis of more than 31 published papers conducted between 2010 and 2016 in TB high-burden countries has reported a female-to-male ratio of EPTB of 2.9:1, 1:9:1, and 1:7:1, respectively, in Pakistan, Afghanistan, and Bangladesh (Mehraj et al. 2016). These observations among other have led to the hypothesis that females are more vulnerable to extrapulmonary forms of TB than males. The hypothesis also suggests a reversal of the sex bias that has been consistently observed in cases with PTB.

The increased risk of EPTB in women has been questioned by some research groups on the grounds of variable sex ratios in TB between countries. For example, the sex ratio of EPTB was 0.6:1 in favor of males in India, one of the hotspots for TB in the world (Mehraj et al. 2016), but in contrast EPTB was associated with female sex in the US (Fiske et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2004), the Netherlands (te Beek et al. 2006), Turkey (Musellim et al. 2005), Nepal (Sreeramareddy et al. 2008), China (Pang et al. 2019), and North Africa (Mened et al. 2019).

The reason for an excess of EPTB cases in females compared to the opposite sex is unknown. Biological factors such as sex hormones are potentially involved and will be discussed in a dedicated section below. Indeed, the current evidence from animal studies suggests that estradiol might have a protective role during TB, while testosterone has the opposite effect (Hertz and Schneider 2019). Similarly, there may be genetic influences that confer a predisposition to EPTB since people of African or Asian ancestries are more likely to develop EPTB than those of European ancestry (Fiske et al. 2010; Hayward et al. 2021; Asghar et al. 2008). Although genomic loci or genomic variants responsible for increased susceptibility in black ethnicity have not been clearly identified yet, a pilot genome-wide study has identified two single-nucleotides polymorphisms (SNPs), which are associated with EPTP but not PTB (Oki et al. 2011). Thus, future studies are needed to determine the impact sex hormones and genetic factors in EPTB pathogenesis and their intersection with of mycobacterial strains and route of infection. In addition, since there are various forms of EPTB, studies looking at each clinical form in relation to sex could provide insights.

On the other hand, while non-biological factors (healthcare access or differences in exposure) remain a potential argument for the male bias in PTB, it seems unlikely that these same non-biologic differences could simultaneously predispose females to EPTB but not to PTB. For example, a retrospective study conducted in Afghanistan

found that women were more likely to report that their TB-like symptoms existed for more than a year prior to seeking care than men (Fader et al. 2010). Thus, delay in receiving appropriate care has been proposed to explain higher rates of EPTB in females, while underdiagnosis of PTB in females is also considered as driver of excess of PTB in males. This seems to be a weak and counterintuitive argument since sex bias in EPTB rates is observed even in high-income countries where there is no apparent socio-cultural barrier to accessing care and TB diagnosis. A delay in diagnosis for females also may not be a solid argument because Horton et al. have shown that males are less likely to be diagnosed with TB than females (Horton et al. 2016). In addition, women gain unique access to healthcare services for their prenatal and postnatal care and are more likely to be the adult who seeks pediatric care for children, both which would argue for greater access than men. If reduced access to health care was the driving factor of higher risk of EPTB in females, the same trend would also be expected for other endemic infectious diseases such as HIV. However, this is not the case, since it is well established that more than 60% of incident HIV cases in developing countries in sub-Saharan Africa occur among women and young girls (UNAIDS 2021), suggesting that they have access to HIV diagnosis, a component of most national healthcare systems as is TB. Nevertheless, differential exposure to mycobacteria between the sexes, for example, by the means of zoonotic infections, primarily with Mycobacterium bovis, should be explored. It is known that TB infection can occur by eating contaminated food and via aerosols from infected livestock. So, it is possible that mycobacterial strains and route of transmission alongside other biological variables may be at play.

In summary, the rising proportion of EPTB among active TB cases is concerning given the challenges to establish an accurate TB diagnosis in LMICs. In stark contrast to PTB which occurs more frequently in males, the current global epidemiology suggests that EPTB is more common in females. However, at this stage, we do not have enough data to explain why females seem to be more vulnerable to EPTB than males and whether the excess in females is universal across all clinical manifestations of EPTB or just restricted to specific forms of EPTB. Future studies are indeed needed to investigate this underexplored phenomenon.

3 Sex Differences in Tuberculosis Treatment Outcomes

Sex differences in the burden of TB have been shown in most countries (Borgdorff et al. 2000; Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014). However, whether a patient's sex influences TB treatment outcomes is still an area of active research. In this section, we will review publications from the last 20 years (2001–2021) focusing on this topic to summarize key findings and discuss their implications for the clinical management of TB. As a note, studies examining risk factors for poor treatment outcomes in general were not included in this section. Similarly, those investigating TB outcomes primarily in HIV and TB-infected individuals or efficacy of investigational TB drugs in randomized trials were also not included. Our search strategy identified

13 peer-reviewed publications specifically designed to address the impact of sex on active PTB treatment outcomes during the last two decades (2001–2021). The study consisted of 4 prospective cohort studies, 9 retrospective studies, and one cross-sectional survey (Table 1). They were conducted in 11 countries covering four major populations living in Asia, Africa, America, and Oceania.

Treatment outcomes were determined with at least one of the following characteristics: smear and/or culture conversion at two months, treatment failure at five months, treatment success at six months (cure), treatment default (3 months or more delay in starting treatment after being diagnosed), retreatment, and mortality. In all studies, the male-to-female ratio showed a higher TB rate in men, with an average of 2.3. Similarly, the prevalence of TB was on average higher in males (66%) confirming sex bias in TB burden across study sites. Overall, 10 out of 13 studies (~77%) found sex-based differences in at least one of the outcomes listed above, suggesting that males and females do not respond equally to TB treatment. Below we will summarize key findings from these studies, as presented in Table 1 of this book chapter. We will also discuss potential reasons for some of the inconsistencies between studies and important clinical outcomes that are so far missing in the literature.

3.1 Studies Finding Sex-Based Differences in TB Treatment Outcomes

In 2003, a retrospective study from Syria on newly diagnosed TB cases revealed that male sex was significantly associated with treatment failure (2.9-fold increased risk) after adjusting for confounding variables such as socio-demographic factors, healthseeking behavior, and treatment compliance (Bashour and Mamaree 2003). Two large retrospective analyses conducted in India and Bangladesh subsequently reached similar conclusions (Balasubramanian et al. 2004; Karim et al. 2008). In addition to differences in cure rates between males and females, males were more likely not only to default in treatment (Balasubramanian et al. 2004), but also to die from TB (Hazard Ratio in the Bangladesh study: 2.3, p = 0.007) (Karim et al. 2008). An increase in mortality rates, but not cure rates, among males was also reported in similar studies conducted in Australia and Ethiopia (Dale et al. 2017; Ramos et al. 2020). Since retrospective studies have inherent limitations such as incomplete datasets to allow for robust multivariate analyses controlling for effects of confounding variables such as age, bacterial load, drug resistance, smoking status, alcoholism, HIV, and other comorbidities, independent prospective cohort studies were conducted to address the question whether males respond less favorably to TB therapy. In Mexico, a prospective cohort study conducted on a well characterized cohort of 623 TB cases reported that male sex was associated with poorer TB treatment outcomes, including higher retreatment and treatment default rates and higher odds of death after adjusting for potential covariates including diabetes and drug resistance (Jimenez-Corona et al. 2006). Likewise, in a prospective study in Taiwan, Feng and al. found that being of

atient sex and TB treatment outcomes	
the relationship between pa	
2021) on	_
(2001-2)	
of research	
wo decades o	
Overview of t	
Table 1	

First author	Continent	Country	Year	Study design	Sex ratio	Prevalence in males (%)	Multivariate analyses	Outcomes
Sex-based differences	in tuberculos	is treatment out	tcomes					
Bashour, H	Asia	Syria	2003	Prospective	1.97	66.3	Yes	Worse for males
Balasubramanian, R	Asia	India	2004	Retrospective	2.70	73.3	Yes	Worse for males
Jimenez-Corona, M	America	Mexico	2006	Prospective	1.58	59	Yes	Worse for males
Karim, F	Asia	Bangladesh	2008	Retrospective	2.46	71	No	Worse for males
Feng, J.Y	Asia	Taiwan	2012	Prospective	3.41	77.3	Yes	Worse for males
Mukherjee, A	Asia	India	2012	Retrospective	2.25	69.3	No	Worse for males
Oshi, S.N	Africa	Nigeria	2015	Retrospective	1.40	57.7	Yes	Worse for males
Dale, K	Oceania	Australia	2015	Retrospective	1.20	54.5	Yes	Worse for males
Jmaa, M.B	Africa	Tunisia	2020	Retrospective	1.20	54.4	Yes	Worse for males
Ramos, J.M	Africa	Ethiopia	2020	Retrospective	1.09	52	Yes	Worse for males
Chidambaram, V	Asia	Taiwan	2021	Retrospective	2.12	68.2	Yes	Worse for males
Lack of sex-based diffe	srences in tub	verculosis treatr	ment out	comes				
Begum, V	Asia	Bangladesh	2001	Retrospective	2.84	74	No	Similar outcomes
Kamel, M	Africa	Egypt	2008	Prospective	2.20	69.2	Yes	Similar outcomes
Belo, M.T	America	Brazil	2010	Cross-sectional	1.99	66.6	No	Similar outcomes

male sex was independently associated with lower rate of sputum culture negativity at two months, which corresponds to the end of the intensive phase of therapy (OR, 1.96; 95% CI, 1.12–3.41) (Feng et al. 2012). Also, male sex was associated with older age, comorbidities, and worse treatment outcomes in the same study (Feng et al. 2012).

It is worth noting that those studies revealing sex-based differences in TB treatment outcomes were mostly conducted in Asia except for the two studies performed in Mexico and Australia. Thus, it was not clear whether the magnitude of sex-based differences in outcomes varies between geographic regions; for example, differences in circulating mycobacterial strains, human genetics, and socio-economic and behavioral factors could influence the differences based on geography. Further to this point, our group has shown that infection with Mycobacterium africanum (MAF), which is a species of the MTBC mostly restricted to the West African region, is associated with a delay in the onset of TB symptoms, including cough, when compared to infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis (Baya et al. 2020). Accordingly, a retrospective study conducted in Nigeria, a West African country, also found that being an urban male was associated with unsuccessful TB treatment outcome after adjusting for socio-demographic and clinical factors (Oshi et al. 2015). However, there was no difference in mortality rates between males and females in the Nigerian study (Oshi et al. 2015), which is in sharp contrast to studies conducted in Asia and similar studies conducted in North and East Africa, namely in Tunisia and Ethiopia (Ben Jmaa et al. 2020; Ramos et al. 2020). These latter two studies reported an increased odds of males succumbing from TB after adjusting for covariates (Ben Jmaa et al. 2020; Ramos et al. 2020). Differences between the Nigerian's study and the other studies conducted in the African continent warrant future investigations.

We recently published a paper focused on a cohort from Mali in West Africa. Our data are more in line with the Nigerian study. Specifically, we did not find a relationship between sex and on-treatment mortality, but we rather found that males had lower smear conversion rates during the intensive phase of treatment but not at later time points of the six-month TB regimen (Dabitao et al. 2022). Though, in 2021, Chidambaram and al. conducted a retrospective analysis of a dataset generated in Taiwan which was combined with data from systematic review and meta-analysis of 398 articles (Chidambaram et al. 2021). The retrospective arm of the study found that male sex was associated with higher culture positivity at two months of treatment and higher adjusted hazard ratio (aHR: 1.53) for all-cause mortality at 9 months after initiating therapy. Meanwhile, mortality risk as function of patient sex was highly heterogenous within the meta-analysis, requiring sub-group analysis in terms of severity of disease (use of intensive care unit versus general setting) (Chidambaram et al. 2021).

Together, among studies reporting sex bias in treatment outcomes, none of them found unfavorable PTB outcomes in females compared to males. Thus, the preponderance of published data points to male sex as an independent predictor of worse TB treatment outcomes.

3.2 Studies Finding Lack of Sex-Based Differences in TB Treatment Outcomes

Although most of the studies reveal differences in TB treatment outcomes, in terms of success rate, treatment failure, retreatment, and mortality, we cannot ignore studies that fail to replicate these findings. In 2001, Begum et al. published a retrospective analysis conducted in a public health sector in Bangladesh based on a large registry of confirmed and suspected TB cases (Begum et al. 2001). The treatment success rate was similar between males and females, 86% and 84%, respectively, based on univariate analysis, suggesting lack of difference between the sexes following TB treatment. Similar findings were subsequently reported by a WHO-funded study in Egypt with a relatively small cohort of 334 individuals and by a cross-sectional and questionnaire-based survey in Brazil (Kamel et al. 2003; Belo et al. 2010). The lack of sex-based difference in TB outcomes in the Egyptian study may be explained by the fact that it included not only newly diagnosed TB cases but also relapse and treatment failure cases. Thus, it is likely that a mixture of patients was sampled including those with drug-sensitive and resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex and those receiving different drug regimens, and this may have diluted out sex-based differences in TB outcomes (Kamel et al. 2003). A similar limitation may impact the first study by Begum et al., as drug resistance status was not reported and data were not adjusted for potential confounders (Begum et al. 2001). Likewise, a relatively high rate of missing data among males may have masked unfavorable treatment outcomes (like mortality) in the study conducted in Brazil (Belo et al. 2010).

Together, failure to find differences between the sexes in terms of TB treatment outcomes might be explained by the inherent limitations of retrospective study design and/or the quality of data collected. For future studies, we strongly recommend careful prospective collection of socio-demographic, behavior, clinical, microbial, and compliance data to gain a full picture of this phenomenon. In terms of clinical data, it may be valuable to assess lung function in addition to the classical chest X-ray in TB cases. Similarly, in addition to drug resistance testing, measuring TB drug levels or their active metabolites may identify differences in treatment compliance between the sexes, as compared to self-reported treatment compliance, which is inherently biased.

In summary, the current literature suggests that males and females do not similarly respond to TB treatment. Specifically, being male appears to be an independent risk factor for poor treatment outcomes. These findings require public health consideration by designing strategies to closely monitor treatment in males, and they also suggest that sex-specific evaluation be included in clinical trials in which dose and duration of TB treatment is being studied. This could offer an opportunity of decreasing cost of treatment, but also increase compliance in males.

4 Sex Differences in Experimental Animal Models of Mycobacterial Infection and Disease

Despite compelling epidemiological data that consistently show that tuberculosis (TB) occurs more frequently in males than females (Borgdorff et al. 2000; Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014), most investigations of TB pathogenesis and response to treatment or immunization have been performed in experimental animal models exclusively of one sex. This important omission has been highlighted, in part because of a growing body of studies suggesting that males and females do not respond in a similar manner to infectious and non-infectious diseases (Klein and Flanagan 2016), as well as recent recommendations for all preclinical animal studies to be conducted in both sexes from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and top research journals (Clayton and Collins 2014). In this section, we will present studies which have been conducted in experimental animal models of TB to address the need of determining the role of sex in TB pathogenesis. The research articles presented here have been summarized in Table 2.

First author	Journal	Year	Mouse strains	Mycobacterial strains	Major findings
Brown, LN	Immunology	1987	A/J, BALB/ c,CBA/Ca, C3H/ He, C57BL, C57BL/ 10ScSn(B10), C57L, DBA/2, C57L (Ity ^r / Lsh ^r / Bcg ^r) ⁻ B10.LLsh ^r , B10 x B10 LLsh ^r	Mycobacterium lepraemurium (Douglas strain)	Sex influences resistance to infection, given that males were more susceptible than females in both resistant and susceptible mice strains
Yamamoto, Y	American Review of Respiratory Disease	1990	Balb/c	M. intracellular N-260 smooth T variant	Mycobacteria grow more rapidly in male's macrophages compared to females
Yamamoto, Y	Infection and Immunity	1991	C3H/He, A/J, BALB/c, DBA/2, B10.A, C57BL/6	M. marinum	Castration increases male resistance to infection, and this effect was reversed by testosterone treatment

Table 2 Summary of key studies focusing on sex differences in experimental models of tuberculosis

(continued)

First author	Journal	Year	Mouse strains	Mycobacterial strains	Major findings
Tsuyuguchi, K	Clinical Experimental Immunology	2001	DBA/2	M. avium	Lack of estrogen accelerated disease progression, as evidenced by increased number of bacteria in the lungs of ovariectomized mice compared to sham-operated animals
Bini, E.I	PLOS One	2014	BALB/c	H37Rv	Increased mortality and morbidity in non-castrated males relative to females and castrated males
Dibbern, J	Scientific Reports	2017	C57BL/6	H37Rv	Increased susceptibility to disease and death in males compared to females upon aerosol challenge
Hertz, D	Scientific Reports	2020	C57BL/6	HN878 Beijing strain and H37Rv	Impaired B cell follicles formation in the lungs is associated with accelerated disease progression in males

Table 2 (continued)

4.1 Infections with Non-tuberculous Mycobacteria

The first evidence of differential susceptibility to TB by sex was reported in studies of murine models of non-tuberculous mycobacterial (NTM) infection, namely *Mycobacterium lepraemurium* (Brown and Glynn 1987; Curtis and Turk 1984). The studies, conducted by two independent groups, initially sought to identify key genes involved in host resistance to mycobacterial infection, but also revealed that male mice were more vulnerable to productive mycobacterial infection than females, as

evidenced by the number of acid-fast bacilli (AFB) found in the spleen, draining lymph nodes, and footpads of infected animals (Brown and Glynn 1987; Curtis and Turk 1984). The two studies were descriptive, thus did not address the mechanistic basis of the observed sex-dependent phenotype. This was subsequently investigated by Yamamoto and collaborators through their examination of mice infected with Mycobacterium intracellulare and Mycobacterium marinum (Yamamoto et al. 1990, 1991). They found that the macroscopic lesions after intravenous (IV) injection of the M. intracellulare smooth T variant were more extensive in visceral organs of males compared to females and that significantly higher numbers of mycobacteria were recovered from the lungs of infected male mice relative to females, reinforcing the initial observation that male mice are more susceptible to infection than female mice. Furthermore, peritoneal macrophages from males were more permissive to productive infection than those from the opposite sex suggesting more potent antimicrobial activity of female compared to male macrophages. Since establishing that susceptibility to TB is influenced by host genetics, the same group of investigators performed a series of experiments using Mycobacterium marinum to infect common strains of mice including susceptible strains such as BALB/c and resistant ones like DBA/2 (Yamamoto et al. 1991). Once again, in both resistant and susceptible strains, males were found to be more susceptible to infection than females. Specifically, 90% of males succumbed to infection within the first 41 days of infection, while all females survived up to 80 days of infection. Combined, these results indicate that biological sex can influence mycobacterial disease outcomes and should be considered when conducting investigations in the context of TB. To determine whether sex hormones are involved in this process, Yamamoto et al. compared the phenotypes of castrated male mice to non-castrated male and female mice following mycobacterial infection and found that castration increased male resistance to infection to similar level as that seen in females with the effect of castration being reversed by exogenous testosterone treatment. A key outcome of testosterone treatment was reduction of mycobacteria in the lungs and kidneys suggesting a pathogenic role for testosterone in TB infection. Furthermore, resistance to infection in female mice was explained by a more potent immune response that is dependent on effective T cell responses and macrophage recruitment to the lungs of infected animals. Although these experiments were conducted mostly with the use of IV injections of high doses of mycobacteria with relatively few details provided regarding tissue pathology and the cell types involved in the local immune responses, they have nevertheless helped to lay the foundation to explore sex-dependent effects on innate and adaptive immune responses to TB.

Approximately one decade after these early studies Tsuyuguchi et al. revealed, in 2001, for the first time a protective role of estrogen during *Mycobacterium avium* complex (MAC) pulmonary infection in mice (Tsuyuguchi et al. 2001). MAC is an NTM microbe that typically causes lung disease in patients with immunodeficiencies or underlying structural lung disease, and MAC lung disease has long been known to be more prevalent in older populations and in women. The Tsuyuguchi et al. study was based on the prevailing theory that older women were more susceptible to *M. avium infection* due to a reduced level of estrogen during menopause.

Ovariectomized and sham-operated DBA/2 female mice were infected by intratracheal instillation of *M. avium*. Three weeks after infection, the mycobacterial burden in the lungs of ovariectomized mice was found to be significantly higher than in sham-operated mice, and treatment of the ovariectomized mice with estradiol (E2) reduced colony forming units (CFUs) to the same level as in sham-operated mice. In addition to these in vivo data, in vitro studies of murine macrophages showed that E2 pre-treatment of interferon-y-activated macrophages significantly increased their antimicrobial activity, as evidenced by augmented production of reactive oxygen intermediates. While mouse studies such as this underscored the protective effects of estrogen against MAC infection in mice, it is important to recognize that the increased disease severity of NTM infections in male mice does not match the epidemiology of NTM lung disease in humans where women are disproportionately affected. This discrepancy is likely due to the fact that these mouse models do not account for underlying lung disease, typically bronchiectasis not in the context of cystic fibrosis (non-CF bronchiectasis), which occurs with greater severity in women and is an important risk factor for NTM lung disease (Morrissey and Harper 2004; Vidaillac et al. 2018).

4.2 Infection with Mycobacterium tuberculosis Complex

The common theme of these studies was their focus on NTM infection. It was, however, unclear whether the findings would be reproducible in animals infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, specifically by aerosol challenge, which more closely replicate natural infection. Work published by Bini et al. in 2014 (Bini et al. 2014) showed for the first time that BALB/c male mice infected by intra-tracheal instillation of the *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv strain were more susceptible to disease than females, as evidenced by higher mortality and mycobacterial burden in the lungs of male mice. Consistent with previous reports on NTM, the increased susceptibility of male mice was prevented by castration indicating again a detrimental role for testosterone upon exposure with pathogenic mycobacteria. Substantially higher mRNA expression of inflammatory markers such as TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-12, iNOS, and IL-17 were found in females and castrated male mice when compared to non-castrated male animals. Granulomas found in females appeared to be larger than in males, reinforcing the hypothesis that sex differences in immune responses to M. tuberculosis mediate disease outcomes in experimental animal models of TB. Recently, a group led by Sneider et al. addressed this hypothesis using the C57BL/6 mouse strain previously known to be more resistant to mycobacterial disease compared to BALB/c mice (Brown and Glynn 1987). Their findings confirmed previously described findings of accelerated disease progression in males infected by aerosolized M. tuberculosis H37Rv, including increased morbidity and mortality compared to females (Dibbern, Eggers, and Schneider 2017). They also found higher numbers of CFUs and reduced numbers of lymphocytic aggregates in the lungs of males versus females. In contrast to the Bini's study in BALB/c mice, there was an increased expression of iNOS in the lungs along with sustained increase of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- γ , IL-6, and IL-1 β) and chemokines (RANTES, Eotaxin, MCP-1, etc.) in infected C57BL/ 6 males relative to the opposite sex. Notably, heightened cytokine levels correlated with the higher lung CFU counts and more aggressive lung pathology observed in males. The differential outcome was independent of *M. tuberculosis* strain since the same phenotype was found with infection by a more pathogenic strain, namely the Beijing lineage strain HN878 (Hertz et al. 2020). Mechanistically, the authors proposed in a subsequent publication that impairment in B cell follicle formation in the lungs occurs with accelerated disease progression in males. Indeed, they also found a reduced expression of cytokines of the Th17 axis (i.e., IL-23, IL17A, and IL-1 β) after infection with HN878 in males, as well as a decrease in the expression of chemokines (CXCL13, CCL19) known to be involved in lymphocytic trafficking to infected lungs.

These findings, together, strongly suggest differential disease outcomes between males and females following experimental murine infection with mycobacteria (Table 2). They also support a predominant role for biological factors in mediating sex differences in TB, as animal studies are not impacted by the effects of nonbiological factors that are inherent to human studies. However, many unanswered questions still need to be addressed. For example, none of the studies have fully characterized the immune cells that mediate this sex-specific phenotype, nor have they established immune correlates for relative resistance to disease in females. Since both innate and adaptive immune responses are responsible for successful control of *M. tuberculosis* infection, the cell-type-specific immune responses that govern sex differences during TB need to be determined. Moreover, most studies were conducted in animal models of chronic mycobacterial infection, and we need to determine if similar phenotypes occur in experimental models of acute infection. Similarly, the capacity for production of antimicrobial peptides in infected animals by sex has not been investigated. Lastly, the impact of other potential biological factors such as genetic factors, as many immunologically important genes reside on the X chromosome, has not yet been fully worked out, indicating that more studies are indeed needed to better understand why male animals are more susceptible to TB infection than females.

5 Potential Mechanisms Mediating Sex Differences in Tuberculosis Pathogenesis

Based on current literature, two main biological factors appear to mediate sex differences in TB pathogenesis. The first one is sex hormones, and the second one is genetic factors (Gupta et al. 2022). Thus, we will be discussing them in this section and present additional putative factors that could be contributing to the male bias in TB.

5.1 Sex Hormones

Hormones are organic compounds, primarily secreted by endocrine glands, which function to regulate physiological and metabolic activities of cells and tissues (Starka and Duskova 2020). They can be classified in two major categories based on their chemical structure, namely the steroid hormones and the non-steroid hormones. Steroid hormones are all synthesized from cholesterol and are lipid-soluble which facilitates their transport outside cells via the plasma membrane to the blood circulation (Holst et al. 2004). There are three types of steroid hormones, specifically gluco-corticoids, mineralocorticoids, and sex hormones (Holst et al. 2004). This section will discuss effects of latter one on TB pathogenesis.

Sex hormones are produced by the testis, ovaries, adrenal glands, or by conversion of sex steroids in specific tissues (Hiller-Sturmhofel and Bartke 1998; Holst et al. 2004). Their effects on target cells are mediated through genomic regulation upon binding to their nuclear receptors in the cytoplasm followed by nuclear translocation or via non-genomic mechanisms by binding to their cognate membrane-associated receptors and triggering downstream signaling cascades (Hiller-Sturmhofel and Bartke 1998; Holst et al. 2004). Sex hormones include androgens, estrogens, and progestogens. Androgens are generally considered to be male hormones because of their effects in promoting masculinization, while estrogens and progestogens are typically considered to be female hormones because estrogens promote feminizing effects, while progestogens are mainly involved in pregnancy (Hiller-Sturmhofel and Bartke 1998). It should be noted that they are all found in both sexes, yet at different quantities. The most predominant forms of these hormones in humans are testosterone, estradiol (E2), and progesterone. Below, we will discuss how these hormones could contribute to immunity in general, then specifically to sex differences in TB pathogenesis.

The effects of sex hormones on immunity have been extensively reviewed (Cervantes et al. 2022; Wilkinson et al. 2022; Klein and Flanagan 2016), but here we will summarize the main effects which are relevant to anti-mycobacterial immune responses. In humans, reports have shown that the sex hormones, including androgens (e.g., testosterone and dihydrotestosterone), estrogen (17β-estradiol), and progesterone, are able to modulate the recruitment and function of various immune cell types, as these cells express cognate receptors for the sex hormones (Klein and Flanagan 2016; Fish 2008). This is thought to be achieved by discrete, overlapping, and sometimes opposing effects of the hormones on immune cells. The general consensus is that testosterone and progesterone have immunosuppressive activities, while the effect of estrogen is more complex and likely dose-dependent. Although this may be an oversimplistic way for describing effects of these hormones on immunity, it can help our basic understanding of the role of sex hormones in the pathogenesis of TB and provide the foundation for future mechanistic studies. For example, low levels of estradiol promote Th1 responses, while high levels of 17β-estradiol favor Th2 immunity (Straub 2007). In humans, estrogen has been shown to induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and IL-12 (all key

effector cytokines for Th1-induced immunity) while blocking secretion of IL-10 (a potent anti-inflammatory cytokine) (Fox, Bond, and Parslow 1991; Straub 2007). The ability of estrogen to skew immune responses is thought to be largely due to its capacity to regulate the transcriptional activity of cytokine genes. In fact, IFN- γ and its associated transcription factor T-bet have estrogen response elements in their promoter (Fox, Bond, and Parslow 1991; Karpuzoglu et al. 2007). In contrast, testosterone has been shown to have the opposite effect on these cytokines (Janele et al. 2006; Lotter et al. 2013; Pinzan et al. 2010). Specifically, testosterone diminished production of IFN- γ , TNF- α , and reactive oxygen species by macrophages (D'Agostino et al. 1999; Janele et al. 2006; Lotter et al. 2013). For example, men with androgen deficiencies, which are manifested by low levels of circulating testosterone, have higher levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines when compared to men with normal androgen levels (Bobjer et al. 2013; Musabak et al. 2003). In addition to Th1 cells, activation of macrophages enabling their mycobactericidal ability, which is pivotal for TB containment, is increased by estradiol (Calippe et al. 2008), while testosterone suppresses macrophage activation via downregulation of pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) such as Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Fish 2008).

With regard to TB, one of the earliest pieces of evidence supporting the contribution sex hormones in TB pathogenesis in humans was reported by Hamilton and colleagues in 1969 (Hamilton and Mestler 1969). In this study, the authors revealed that eunuchs (i.e., castrated men with very low testosterone levels) were less likely to die of TB (8.1%) compared to males with no castration (20.6%) (Hamilton and Mestler 1969), suggesting a detrimental role for testosterone during TB. This data has been replicated in mice by independent groups as discussed earlier (Dibbern et al. 2017). In addition, the global TB report has consistently shown that the male bias in TB burden (incidence and prevalence) does not start until puberty. For instance, the sex ratio of the number of TB cases in boys compared to girls who are less than 15 years was 1.09 in 2019 (WHO 2020a). This ratio increased to 1.72 after puberty, which is clearly a major sex-specific change in disease risk that correlates with the surge of testosterone levels in males during puberty.

To date, direct mechanistic effects of the sex hormones on immunity against TB in humans have not been defined. Nevertheless, a growing body of knowledge exists in experimental models of TB as reviewed above and on the impact of sex hormones on the inflammatory cytokine responses known to be associated with TB disease. In 2007, Rey and colleagues studied the relationship between endocrine responses, including pituitary, adrenal, gonadal, and thyroid hormones, and inflammatory cytokines responses in HIV negative males presenting with different degrees of pulmonary TB who were naïve to treatment (Rey et al. 2007). They found that testosterone and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) levels were significantly reduced, while IFN- γ , IL-10, and IL-6 were all increased in these men with active TB. In contrast, estradiol, cortisol, prolactin, and thyroid hormone were modestly increased in the same male patients (Rey et al. 2007). Additionally, when PBMCs from these males were stimulated with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MTB) antigens, supernatants were collected from these cells inhibited the production of DHEA by the adrenal cell line NCI-H295-R in vitro suggesting that soluble mediators from immune

cells of TB-infected males play a role reducing androgen secretion by adrenal cells (Rev et al. 2007). A similar reduction of testosterone level in male TB patients and a reduced level of pro-inflammatory cytokine levels was later confirmed by Bini and al. (2015). In that study, the authors also demonstrated a reduction of testosterone levels following treatment of Levdig cells with TNF- α , TGF- β , and IFN- γ in vitro, suggesting that gonadal and rogen release may be inhibited by inflammatory cytokines in males with TB (Bini et al. 2015). Dysregulation of hormonal responses during TB was also detected in post-menopausal women (defined as not having menstruation for the past 12 months) with TB in Turkey (Erbay et al. 2016). Specifically, estrogen levels were found to be significantly higher in post-menopausal women with TB compared to those with no TB. In contrast, in a cohort of 100 pre-menopausal women (mean age ~ 36 years) with PTB from Egypt and 50 healthy controls, sex hormones, including progesterone and estradiol were significantly reduced in PTB cases when compared to the healthy controls (Magdy et al. 2019). The opposite was observed with follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) and luteinizing hormone (LH). Remarkably, there was a positive correlation between bacterial load and sex hormones levels; women with the highest smear grade of 3 + had the lowest progesterone and estradiol levels, but had higher FSH and LH concentrations (Magdy et al. 2019). Thus, active TB in pre-menopausal females is associated with reduced estrogen levels, but this effect seems to be reversed (higher estrogen levels) in post-menopausal women. This observed reduction in estradiol and progesterone also suggests that PTB may have a negative impact on reproductive function in females. In keeping with this, a different report from Egypt revealed that 67.2% of males with PTB had erectile dysfunction (Magdy et al. 2019). As mentioned earlier, mean testosterone levels are significantly decreased in males with PTB, a factor which may explain the observation of erectile dysfunction in males with active TB. It is important to note that these hormonal profile alterations during PTB appear to be reversible as testosterone, estradiol, DHEA, and cortisol levels were found to return to normal levels with treatment (Tsegaye et al. 2022).

In addition to the interplay between endocrine and cytokine responses, other important host defense mechanisms appear to be modulated by the sex hormones. For example, DHEA, a precursor of testosterone and estradiol, was shown to promote autophagy in MTB-infected macrophages, hence reducing intracellular bacterial burden (Bongiovanni et al. 2015). In contrast, DHEA had no observable effects on cytokine production nor on the anti-inflammatory effect induced by cortisol treatment of MTB-infected macrophages in the same cells (Bongiovanni et al. 2015). Based on this study, DHEA-induced autophagy appears to be a host-beneficial hormonal mechanism that may contribute to control MTB growth. In contrast to the findings on DHEA, Gan et al. reported that estradiol treatment of MTB growth in infected by MTB inhibited autophagy and reduced the levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS), and this was accompanied by a reduction of MTB growth in infected cells (Gan et al. 2022). Thus, whether induction or inhibition of autophagy by sex hormones contributes to sex differential effects in TB in vivo remains to be clarified. Nevertheless, the role of sex hormones on host responses to MTB is not limited to

autophagy alone; for example, DHEA has been also shown to promote the production of antimicrobial peptides such as cathelicidin and human β -defensin (HBD)-2 and HBD-3, and the elevated levels of these antimicrobial peptides correlated with a decrease of intracellular bacterial burden in both macrophages and epithelial cells (Marin-Luevano et al. 2021).

Along the same line, the impact of sex hormones on immune responses to BCG immunization against TB has also been investigated. Neonatal BCG vaccination has been shown to protect infants from childhood respiratory tract infections and to reduce overall childhood mortality in a sex-dependent manner with girls showing greater benefit than boys (Biering-Sorensen et al. 2018; Roth et al. 2005; Stensballe et al. 2005). This ability of BCG to prevent heterologous infections has been termed "trained immunity" and can be modeled in vitro by exposing monocytes to BCG (or other infectious agents or antigens), allowing the cells to rest, and then stimulating with a heterologous infectious agent or antigens followed by measurement of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Trained immunity, as such, represents a type of innate immunological memory primarily in myeloid cells (Netea et al. 2011). In 2018, a research group from the Netherlands has studied the impact of sex hormones on BCG-induced trained immunity ex vivo (de Bree et al. 2018). Co-treatment of monocytes derived from males with BCG and dihydrotestosterone (DHT) led to significant reductions of TNF- α and IL-6 production (de Bree et al. 2018). Meanwhile, addition of estradiol and BCG to monocytes collected from females inhibited production of only TNF-α but not IL-6. In contrast, neither DHT nor estradiol altered BCG-induced training of monocytes from both sexes 6 days prior to a second stimulation with LPS. The authors concluded that sex hormones do not play a significant role in the known sex-based differences observed after immunization with BCG (de Bree et al. 2018). In a second study, the same group evaluated 303 healthy, BCG vaccinated subjects at the time of BCG vaccination and 90 days later (Koeken et al. 2020). They showed while monocytes from BCG vaccines had enhanced cytokine responses in vitro to BCG restimulation, there was on overall reduction of serum inflammatory markers 90 days after vaccination compared with 14 days post-vaccination. The reduction in systemic inflammation was significantly greater in men who received BCG than in women (Koeken et al. 2020). Thus, BCG appears to have a heterologous protective effect against non-specific infections in childhood that is stronger in females than males, but also an anti-inflammatory effect which is stronger in males.

In summary, much remains to be learned about the effects of sex hormones on the male bias associated with TB. Our basic understanding of the role of sex hormones in the pathogenesis of TB is derived primarily from animal studies. Future studies using well-defined clinical cohorts of both sexes covering the spectrum of TB diseases (i.e., latent, active, and extrapulmonary TB) are warranted to unravel this phenomenon.

5.2 Genetic Factors

Twin studies, family-linkage evaluations, and candidate-gene studies have all suggested that genetic factors contribute to susceptibility to TB (Abel et al. 2014). In a seminal study, Kallmann et al. reported that the proportion of twin siblings of index cases developing active disease was 66.7% in monozygotic (identical) twins versus 23% in dizygotic twins (Kallmann and Reisner 1943). The finding that monozygotic twins were at higher risk for TB than dizygotic twins strongly suggested that having a different assortment of parental genes was protective for the dizygotic twins and strongly suggested a genetic component to TB susceptibility. Likewise, the diameter TST responsiveness, which is the amount of variability in skin induration following intradermal injection of tuberculin, was found to correlate to a higher degree in monozygotic twins than in dizygotic in a study from The Gambia, West Africa (Jepson et al. 2001). In addition to human studies, murine models have also demonstrated that host genetic background mediates disease outcome (O'Garra et al. 2013), notably certain mice strains have been shown to be relatively resistant to MTB disease, while others are highly susceptible. This led to the identification of the Bcg locus on chromosome 1 that was later found to harbor a polymorphic gene Nramp1 which has been shown to promote resistance to intracellular pathogens, including mycobacteria (Vidal et al. 1995). Additional murine genes that have alleles which appear to confer susceptibility to TB include HLA class II, VDR, MAL/TIRAP, DC-SIGN, MCP-1, and TLR8 (Neyrolles and Quintana-Murci 2009). Human studies have implicated some of these genes in partial susceptibility to TB, and this supports a model of human TB susceptibility being dependent on the cumulative effects of many genetic variants.

The introduction of unbiased genomic strategies such as genome-wide association (GWAS) has expanded the list of genetic polymorphisms associated with TB. The goal of this strategy is to systematically detect genomic loci with substantial positive associations on having active TB. Genetic variants have been identified in diverse ethnicities including African, Europeans, and Asian. However, GWAS data in TB have been challenging to replicate in different settings, perhaps because of the low frequency of the variants detected in certain populations combined with need to have a large sample size to reach genome-wide significance. In addition to these limitations, whether the variants detected by GWAS contribute to sex-specific differences in TB incidence has not been rigorously investigated. The only GWAS study that found a variant on the q arm of the X chromosome (Xq) in Africa was not replicated in other studies (Bellamy et al. 2000). Also, GWAS studies in TB are usually not stratified by sex, and most of them have focused on autosomal chromosome analysis only thereby excluding the X and Y chromosomes from consideration. To our knowledge, the only study that has addressed this oversight using a clinical cohort from South Africa did not find any signification associations in any of the 22 autosomal chromosomes or in the X chromosome based on sex-stratified or combined analysis (Schurz et al. 2018). This lack of finding human polymorphisms on the X chromosome that correlate with TB suggests, but does not prove, that the sex chromosomes play a minimal role in

contributing to the male bias for active TB. Nevertheless, there is additional evidence from other approaches that the sex chromosomes do influence TB susceptibility, and these will be described below.

Sex determination in mammals is governed by the two sex chromosomes: X and Y. The X chromosome is present in both sexes and encodes approximately 1100 annotated genes, whereas the Y chromosome is present only in males and contains only around 100 genes (Libert et al. 2010). The fact that males have only one X chromosome leads to an evolutionary disadvantage when recessive mutations occur in genes located on the X chromosome. For this reason, most of the X-linked primary immunodeficiency diseases (PID) do not affect females or cause less severe disease manifestations. The Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial diseases (MSMD) gene set represents a collection of known primary human immunodeficiencies that predispose to mycobacterial diseases (Bustamante et al. 2014). Typically, children with mutations in MSMD genes present with opportunistic infections by BCG or to non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM), and the known MSMD genes currently comprise a group of genetic mutations in genes (Bustamante et al. 2014). Among these genes, seven are autosomal genes (IFNGR1, IFNGR2, IL12B, IL12RB1, STAT1, IRF8, and ISG15) and two are X-linked, namely NEMO (NF-kB essential modulator) and CYBB (cytochrome b-245 beta chain) and hence responsible for X-linked recessive MSMD (Bustamante et al. 2014; Schurz et al. 2019).

The NEMO (NF-kappa-B essential modulator) protein comprises a regulatory subunit of the inhibitor of NF- κ B (I κ B) kinase (IKK) (Bustamante et al. 2014; Schurz et al. 2019). Null mutations in the NEMO gene abolish NEMO-dependent NF-κB activation causing in *utero* lethality in males (Libert et al. 2010; Smahi et al. 2000). Conversely, polymorphic mutations in the NEMO gene are associated with impairment of NF-kB signaling, specifically in CD40- and c-Rel/NF-kB-mediated production of IL-12 by myeloid cells, leading to a rare congenital disease in male patients characterized by abnormal development of hair, teeth, and nails and an increase in susceptibility to a wide range of pathogens, including NTM (Filipe-Santos et al. 2006; Libert et al. 2010). Meanwhile, the CYBB protein, commonly known as GP91-PHOX, NADPH oxidase, or NOX2, is an essential component of the microbicidal phagocytes oxidase system (Libert et al. 2010; Smahi et al. 2000). CYBB deficiency impairs superoxide production in phagocytic cells leading to an inability to kill pathogens present in phagocytic vacuoles. This genetic defect is responsible for a PID named X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (X-CGD) (Libert et al. 2010). X-CGD patients are affected by recurrent and severe bacterial and fungal diseases, mostly due to Staphylococcus and Aspergillus but also upon exposure to BCG (Bustamante et al. 2007). A recent genetic analysis of 636 Chinese TB patients compared with 608 healthy control subjects identified the rs5917471 T allele as being protective against active TB with a stronger association for males compared to females (Liu et al. 2015). Thus, in addition to the strong X-linked male TB predisposition to mycobacterial diseases for loss-of-function mutations in NEMO and CYBB, it also appears non-loss-of-function mutations at least in the CYBB gene that may contribute to the male sex bias for TB.

Another layer of genetic difference between males and females in terms of Xlinked genes is the fact that one X is inactivated in females. This mechanism is known as X chromosome inactivation (XCI) and results in random silencing of one maternal X chromosome (Schurz et al. 2019). XCI therefore comprises an important mechanism to maintain equal gene expression dosage of X-linked genes in males and females. XCI is thought to be maintained by epigenetic mechanisms during cellular division to ensure a balanced gene expression of X-linked genes. However, some genes can escape inactivation or silencing, and it has been estimated that 15% of X-linked genes escape inactivation (Fish 2008). Genes that are more likely to escape silencing are located at the distal end of the X chromosome (Xp) and are enriched with markers that are associated with active gene expression (i.e., open chromatin marks). Escape from XCI has, indeed, been shown to play a protective role for females in certain cancers often by enabling expression of a second tumor suppressor gene (Fish 2008). In light of this, there is speculation that escape from XCI in X-encoded immune response genes in females could translate to protection of females against infections such as TB. Example of immune genes that were found to escape silencing is tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP1), dual specificity phosphatase 21 (DUSP21), GATA-binding protein 1 (GATA1), NF-κB activating protein (NKAP), and IL-1R-associated kinase (IRAK1) (Libert et al. 2010).

While the question of escape from XCI as a mechanism to explain the male sex bias in TB remains an open question, there have been several circumstantial clues suggesting that escape from XCI may play a role. It has been noted that many X chromosome-encoded immune genes are in the distal regions of the Xp arm where they are predicted to have a higher chance of escaping XCI (Schurz et al. 2019). Examples of such distally encoded genes include CYBB, Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7, and TLR8. TLR8 is of considerable interest in terms of genetic predisposition to TB because of reports that polymorphisms in TLR8 are associated with differential susceptibility to TB between males and females (Schurz et al. 2019). Four singlenucleotides polymorphisms (SNPs) have been described in TLR8, namely rs3764879, rs3788935, rs3761624, and rs3764880 (Davila et al. 2008; Schurz et al. 2019). These SNPs were associated with increased TB risk in males, but not in females in Indonesia and Russia (Davila et al. 2008). In a subsequent study from South Africa, however, Salie et al. found that rs3761624 increased the risk of TB in South African females only, while rs3764879 and rs3764880 were associated with TB susceptibility in both sexes yet with differential effects (Salie et al. 2015). Inconsistencies between those studies may be due to the influence of ethnicity and/or differences in the virulence of MTB strains in the two regions.

In addition to X-linked protein coding genes, the X chromosome also encodes an estimated 112 micro-RNAs (miRNA) compared to just two on the Y chromosome (Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014). Specifically, miRNA are small non-coding RNAs usually consisting of 18–24 nucleotides which are involved in regulation of gene expression at the post-transcriptional level (Sinigaglia et al. 2020). They perform their regulatory activity by binding to the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of their target messenger RNA leading to its degradation or to inhibition of protein synthesis. Many miRNAs have immunoregulatory activities and govern gene expression in most if not all immune cells. miRNAs are thought to regulate immune function by four mechanisms: (i) inhibition of innate immunity, (ii) suppression of inflammatory responses, (iii) inhibition of phagosome maturation and autophagy, and (iv) inhibition of apoptosis (Sinigaglia et al. 2020). Examples of X-linked microRNA are miRNA-223, miRNA-448, miRNA-18b, miRNA-106a, miRNA-503, miRNA-424, and miRNA-105-2 (Schurz et al. 2019). Like the X-linked protein coding genes, miRNAs can theoretically escape XCI which may also lead to consequences on target gene expression. Dysregulation of miRNA expression has been associated with many infections including TB as well as certain non-infectious diseases. For example, miR-146a, miR-21, miR-132, and miR-155 are known to suppress TLR-mediated inflammatory responses in myeloid cells which could promote Mycobacterium tuberculosis (MTB) survival (Kim et al. 2017). Conversely, downregulation of let-7f, miR-20b-5p, and miR-142-3p was associated with suppression of inflammation during TB (Sinigaglia et al. 2020). Additionally, mice lacking the X-linked miRNA-223 fail to control MTB infection due to a massive recruitment of neutrophil and excessive inflammation in the lung which suggests miR-223 has a protective effect during TB by regulating chemotaxis and inflammatory responses (Dorhoi et al. 2013).

In addition to the roles of miRNA in TB pathogenesis, a growing body of evidence suggests their potential usefulness as biomarkers for TB diagnosis or to distinguish active TB disease from LTBI. Several approaches including microarrays, RNA-Seq, and RT-PCR on serum, plasma, PBMCs, specific cell subsets, or exosome vesicles have been used to exploit miRNA expression for diagnostic purposes. For instance, miR-29a-3p and a group of six exosomal micro-RNAs (miR-20a, miR-20b, miR-26a, miR-106a, miR-191, and miR-486) were found to be significantly overexpressed in active TB patients relative to healthy controls (Ndzi et al. 2019; Hu et al. 2019). Two of these miRNAs (miR-29a and miR-26a) are also known to target the IFN γ -dependent immune axis, hence their relevance in TB pathogenesis (Sinigaglia et al. 2020). Similarly, Latorre and al. have found that expression of three miRNA (miR-150, miR-21, and miR-29c) is dysregulated in active TB cases when compared to LTBI and healthy subjects (Latorre et al. 2015). Likewise, upregulation of miR-29a-3p was successfully used to discriminate active TB versus LTBI in Cameroon, Central Africa (Ndzi et al. 2019).

In summary, the role of genetic factors in sex-specific susceptibility to TB has been underexplored. Current data on the role of X-linked genes and miRNA and their silencing in TB pathogenesis are promising but lack clear mechanistic insights. New studies are needed to address this oversight.

5.3 Putative Biological Factors

Besides hormonal and genetic factors and their underlying effects on immunity, additional intrinsic biological differences between males and females do exist in terms of lung anatomy and respiratory function and metabolism which also require consideration. These biological factors, that are known to be influenced by sex at a physiological level, have not been rigorously investigated in the context of TB. Inherent sex differences in the lung anatomy and physiology between males and females are known to exist from infancy to adulthood and have been reviewed by Townsend et al. (Townsend et al. 2012). For example, females are known to have a smaller lung dimensions and central airway diameters than males, and this is thought to have a beneficial effect on lung function in terms of respiratory mechanics and airflow (Dominelli et al. 2018; Townsend et al. 2012). However, to date little research exists on sex-specific alterations in lung function in individuals affected with PTB before and after TB treatment by combining standard measures of pulmonary function such as spirometry, 6-min walk test, chest X-ray, and/or high-resolution CT. Such an approach could certainly help tease out the impact of biological differences between the sexes during TB stemming from intrinsic difference in lung anatomy between the sexes.

Regarding metabolism, the impact of metabolic pathways in regulating immune responses to TB is a growing field of research, but the potential influence of biological sex in these processes has not been well-studied. Nevertheless, reports have revealed substantial metabolic changes in host cells after mycobacterial infection, as reviewed by Park et al. (2021). For example, macrophages were shown to exhibit an increased in glucose consumption and lactate production in the presence of oxygen early after being infected with MTB suggesting an interplay between metabolic pathways and immune responses to MTB (Cumming et al. 2020). In a clinical cohort from South Africa, Weiner et al. reported a decrease in metabolites such as histidine, cysteine, glutamine tryptophan, citrulline, and creatine in the serum of active TB patients, while levels of kynurenine, phenylalanine, and pyroglutamine were increased (Weiner et al. 2012). The same research group was also able to identify a TB-specific metabolic profile which the authors suggest may be useful for predicting the onset of clinical disease for up to a year prior diagnosis (Weiner et al. 2018). Indeed, metabolic alterations during TB have been noted across several species including humans, mice, and zebrafish suggesting their usefulness as biomarkers of TB disease progression (Ding et al. 2020). Similarly, TB-associated metabolic changes were not also substantially impacted by infecting MTB strains as revealed by Tientcheu et al. in a study conducted in The Gambia. Specifically, infection with MTB and MAF was both associated with similar metabolic changes including a rise in the levels of histidine, ornithine, tryptophan, and leucine (Tientcheu et al. 2015). Conversely, MTB itself can also change its metabolic state to a persister state in which the bacilli are refractory to antibiotic killing (Ehrt et al. 2018). Whether sex hormones such as testosterone and estradiol are sensed by the bacteria leading to effects on MTB-specific metabolic changes such as entry into the persister state remains unknown.

6 Gender-Based Factors

According to WHO, gender refers to characteristics that are defined by society to distinguish men from women, as well as the relationship between these two groups of individuals (WHO 2019). Those characteristics include cultural norms, behaviors, and roles in the society that are typically associated with being a man or a woman. Thus, the contribution of gender in disease risks or outcomes is challenging to measure as it appears to be both context- and time-dependent. This is further complicated by the fact that gender can intersect with sex, which refers to biological differences between males and females in terms of genetics (sex chromosomes), sex hormones, and anatomy (reproductive organs) (Klein and Flanagan 2016). In this section, we will attempt to summarize our view regarding the potential role of gender in TB burden, by discussing existing theories and relevant studies conducted on this topic.

6.1 Access to Health Care and Health-Seeking Behaviors

Male bias in TB is traditionally thought to be primarily driven by gendered factors which are non-biological factors. We are just beginning to understand the potential effects of biological factors in sex differences during TB. A recurring argument to explain the excess of cases in males is the possibility of under-reporting or underdiagnosis of TB in women due to difference in healthcare access or health-seeking behaviors between men and women (Thorson 2015). We think this argument is weak since sex bias in TB burden does exist in high-income countries, where universal health care is fully in place and women are keenly aware about their rights and benefits when it comes to health care. Conversely, certain clinical presentations of TB which occur outside the lung's parenchyma (i.e., extrapulmonary TB) were found to be more prevalent in women compared to men as discussed earlier (Katsnelson 2017; Padberg et al. 2015). If differences in health-seeking behaviors or access to health care were responsible of sex bias in TB notification rates, one would also expect to see male bias in most forms of EPTB, which is clearly not the case. As mentioned earlier, in a meta-analysis of surveys of 28 countries spanning from 1993 to 2016, Horton and colleagues have revealed that adult men leaving in LIMCs are less likely to be timely diagnosed than the opposite sex (Horton et al. 2016), which suggest that women are not disadvantaged in seeking or getting access to TB clinics in those settings. A recent study conducted in West Africa has also ruled out the impact of sex on TB diagnosis delay since low education level, social factors, and lack of consideration of TB as potential etiology by healthcare practitioners rather than patient's sex were independently associated with TB diagnosis delay (Soumare et al. 2022). Thus, differential access to health or difference in health-seeking behaviors might not explain the global male bias in TB burden and treatment outcomes.

6.2 Smoking, Professional Exposure, and Overcrowding

However, the impact of other non-biological factors such as smoking, alcohol abuse, high-risk profession, and overcrowding may be more nuanced, hence requiring indepth investigation for full understanding. Globally, men are more likely to smoke and abuse alcohol and illicit substances than women (GBD 2018, 2021). In 2019, tobacco was the leading risk factor of men deaths around the world (GBD 2021). Along those lines, an ecological study has shown that 30% of the differences between males and females in terms of TB risk can be attributed to smoking (Watkins and Plant 2006). However, sex differences in TB outcomes persisted when the impact of smoking on TB outcomes was controlled in clinical cohort studies by performing multivariate regression analysis (Feng et al. 2012; Chidambaram et al. 2021). Still, TB disease severity in the lungs was more pronounced in males with no history of smoking relative to females (Chu et al. 2019). Additionally, human studies were recapitulated in laboratory animals infected with MTB, which are not exposed to tobacco smoke or environmental factors (Hertz and Schneider 2019; Gupta et al. 2022). Another argument is that men tend to enroll in high-risk professions (such as mining) and frequent crowded spaces with poor air ventilation (such as bars and prisons) that might increase the likelihood of acquiring TB or other respiratory infections relative to women. This hypothesis is further supported by studies conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic, revealing that men are less likely to wear masks and adhere to preventing measures such as social distancing to minimize transmission (Galasso et al. 2020; Looi 2022). Yet, we also know that nearly 20% of TB exposure occurs in the household, independently of professional exposure and casual community contacts (Martinez et al. 2017). For these reasons, gendered factors (i.e., smoking, high-risk profession, overcrowding, social behaviors) alone might not adequately explain the global male bias observed in TB. However, we hypothesize that they could be interacting with biological factors to promote sex-based differences in TB pathogenesis and treatment outcomes. For example, a higher treatment dropout rate in men compared to women has been reported in independent studies (Weiss et al. 2006; Dabitao et al. 2022), suggesting that men are less compliant than women during treatment of PTB.

Nevertheless, we do acknowledge that TB has serious negative consequences in women's lives and well-being because of the stigma, societal issues (discrimination), psychological distress associated with having active TB disease in many LMICs (UNOPS 2020). A study conducted in India has shown that 25% of women diagnosed with TB feel rejected and discriminated by people in their community (Srivastava et al. 2018). Likewise, 10% of the marriages end up in divorce after diagnosis (Srivastava et al. 2018). Worse, TB has serious adverse maternal and perinatal outcomes during pregnancy. A meta-analysis has demonstrated a 4.2-fold increase in odds of perinatal deaths in pregnant women who have PTB (Sobhy et al. 2017). Thus, it is logical to continue to assess the impact of gender in all aspects of TB care, particularly on treatment compliance, pregnancy as well as socio-economic impacts of active TB disease. In summary, we are just beginning to appreciate that separating the effects of gender from biological factors is complex in the context of TB. Succeeding this quest might require setting up well-designed experimental animal studies, which are presumably not impacted by human-specific characteristics/behaviors (addiction, professional exposure, environmental factors, health-seeking behaviors, etc.). Nonetheless, animal works will be the most useful if complemented by solid evidence derived from humans using samples from robust longitudinal clinical cohorts representing the spectrum of TB (i.e., latent TB infection, active pulmonary TB, and extrapulmonary) in both sexes.

7 Conclusion and Future Directions

A growing body of literature is revealing the contribution of biological sex in TB pathogenesis and treatment outcomes. Animal and human studies suggest that biological factors such as sex hormones and human genetics are modulating immune responses, yielding sex-specific differences in disease outcomes. Non-biological factors, which are influenced by gender, are also likely involved but to a lesser extent than biological factors. The relationship with sex and risk of PTB is evident across regions of the world, as males are substantially more at risk for developing PTB than females and have poor treatment outcomes. However, the impact on sex on the risk of acquiring LTBI and progressing to EPTB is not yet clear, hence requiring conducting large-scale cross-sites human studies. Indeed, we do not have an answer to several important research questions that are prerequisites to elucidate this phenomenon as outlined below:

- Can sex alone mediate differentially susceptibility to LTBI, independently of non-biological factors?
- Why are females more affected by certain clinical manifestations of extrapulmonary TB than men?
- What cell-type-specific immune response to MTB infection mediates differential susceptibility between the sexes?
- Which pathways are triggered or inhibited by sex hormones to mediate sex-specific PTB outcomes?
- What is the contribution of X-linked immune genes and micro-RNAs in the pathogenesis of TB?
- Why is immunization with BCG more protective in girls than boys?
- What is the impact of age and comorbidities such as HIV and diabetes on sex differences in TB?
- What is the intersection between sex and gender that drives poor treatment outcomes in men?
- What gender-based factors promote non-compliance to TB treatment in men?

• Do mycobacterial-specific factors (differences in virulence genes, resistance to drugs, persistence) contribute to sex differences in TB outcomes?

Those questions are of course not exhaustive but could provide mechanistic insights for the better understanding of the impact of sex on TB acquisition, progression to disease, response to treatment, and immunization. In the long term, this emerging theme of research could facilitate rational design of sex-specific therapeutics, identification of novel biomarkers to monitor treatment success or failure, but also increased treatment compliance rates to end the global TB epidemics.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

TB	Tuberculosis
AFB	Acid-Fast Bacilli
MTBC	Mycobacterium tuberculosis Complex
MTB	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
MAF	Mycobacterium africanum
LTBI	Latent tuberculosis infection
EPTB	Extrapulmonary Tuberculosis
PTB	Active pulmonary TB disease
LMICs	Low- and middle-income countries
COVID-19	2019 Coronavirus Disease
INH	Isoniazid
RIF	Rifampicin
PZA	Pyrazinamide
EMB	Ethambutol
BCG	Bacillus Calmette Guerin
HCW	Healthcare Workers
QTF	Quantiferon TB Gold In-Tube assay
TST	Tuberculin Skin Test
TBESC	Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies Consortium
NAT-2	N-acetyltransferase-2
WHO	World Health Organization
СТ	Computed tomography
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
NTM	Non-tuberculous mycobacteria
MAC	Mycobacterium avium Complex
E2	Estradiol
CFUs	Colony Forming Units
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone
FSH	Follicle stimulation hormone
LH	Luteinizing Hormone
HBD-2	Human β-defensin-2
HBD-3	Human β-defensin-3
PID	Primary immunodeficiency diseases
MSMD	Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial diseases

NEMO	NF-kB essential modulator
CYBB	Cytochrome b-245 beta chain
TLR	Toll-like receptor
miRNA	Micro-RNAs

Acknowledgements The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of NIH grants K43 TW011426, D43 TW010350, and R01 AI167750.

References

- Abel L, El-Baghdadi J, Bousfiha AA, Casanova JL, Schurr E (2014) Human genetics of tuberculosis: a long and winding road. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 369:20130428
- Asghar RJ, Pratt RH, Kammerer JS, Navin TR (2008) Tuberculosis in South Asians living in the United States, 1993–2004. Arch Intern Med 168:936–942
- Balasubramanian R, Garg R, Santha T, Gopi PG, Subramani R, Chandrasekaran V, Thomas A, Rajeswari R, Anandakrishnan S, Perumal M, Niruparani C, Sudha G, Jaggarajamma K, Frieden TR, Narayanan PR (2004) Gender disparities in tuberculosis: report from a rural DOTS programme in south India. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 8:323–332
- Barry C, Waring J, Stapledon R, Konstantinos A, The Communicable Diseases Network Australia National Tuberculosis Advisory Committee (2012) Tuberculosis notifications in Australia, 2008 and 2009. Commun Dis Intell Q Rep 36:82–94
- Bashour H, Mamaree F (2003) Gender differences and tuberculosis in the Syrian Arab Republic: patients' attitudes, compliance and outcomes. East Mediterr Health J 9:757–768
- Baya B, Diarra B, Diabate S, Kone B, Goita D, Sarro YDS, Cohen K, Holl JL, Achenbach CJ, Tolofoudie M, Togo ACG, Sanogo M, Kone A, Kodio O, Dabitao D, Coulibaly N, Siddiqui S, Diop S, Bishai W, Dao S, Doumbia S, Murphy RL, Diallo S, Maiga M (2020) Association of Mycobacterium africanum Infection with slower disease progression compared with mycobacterium tuberculosis in Malian patients with tuberculosis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 102:36–41
- Begum V, de Colombani P, Das Gupta S, Salim AH, Hussain H, Pietroni M, Rahman S, Pahan D, Borgdorff MW (2001) Tuberculosis and patient gender in Bangladesh: sex differences in diagnosis and treatment outcome. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 5:604–610
- Bellamy R, Beyers N, McAdam KP, Ruwende C, Gie R, Samaai P, Bester D, Meyer M, Corrah T, Collin M, Camidge DR, Wilkinson D, Hoal-Van Helden E, Whittle HC, Amos W, van Helden P, Hill AV (2000) Genetic susceptibility to tuberculosis in Africans: a genome-wide scan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97:8005–8009
- Belo MT, Luiz RR, Hanson C, Selig L, Teixeira EG, Chalfoun T, Trajman A (2010) 'Tuberculosis and gender in a priority city in the state of Rio de Janeiro. Brazil', J Bras Pneumol 36:621–625
- Ben Jmaa M, Ben Ayed H, Koubaa M, Hammami F, Damak J, Ben Jemaa M (2020) Is there gender inequality in the epidemiological profile of tuberculosis? Tunis Med 98:232–240
- Biering-Sorensen S, Jensen KJ, Monterio I, Ravn H, Aaby P, Benn CS (2018) Rapid protective effects of early BCG on neonatal mortality among low birth weight boys: observations from randomized trials. J Infect Dis 217:759–766
- Bini EI, D'Attilio L, Marquina-Castillo B, Mata-Espinosa D, Diaz A, Marquez-Velasco R, Ramos-Espinosa O, Gamboa-Dominguez A, Bay ML, Hernandez-Pando R, Bottasso O (2015) The implication of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the impaired production of gonadal androgens by patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (edinb) 95:701–706
- Bini EI, Mata Espinosa D, Marquina Castillo B, Barrios Payan J, Colucci D, Cruz AF, Zatarain ZL, Alfonseca E, Pardo MR, Bottasso O, Hernandez Pando R (2014) The influence of sex

steroid hormones in the immunopathology of experimental pulmonary tuberculosis. PLoS ONE 9:e93831

- Bobjer J, Katrinaki M, Tsatsanis C, Lundberg Giwercman Y, Giwercman A (2013) Negative association between testosterone concentration and inflammatory markers in young men: a nested cross-sectional study. PLoS ONE 8:e61466
- Bongiovanni B, Mata-Espinosa D, D'Attilio L, Leon-Contreras JC, Marquez-Velasco R, Bottasso O, Hernandez-Pando R, Bay ML (2015) Effect of cortisol and/or DHEA on THP1-derived macrophages infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (edinb) 95:562–569
- Borgdorff MW, Nagelkerke NJ, Dye C, Nunn P (2000) Gender and tuberculosis: a comparison of prevalence surveys with notification data to explore sex differences in case detection. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 4:123–132
- Brown IN, Glynn AA (1987) The Ity/Lsh/Bcg gene significantly affects mouse resistance to Mycobacterium lepraemurium. Immunology 62:587–591
- Bustamante J, Boisson-Dupuis S, Abel L, Casanova JL (2014) Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial disease: genetic, immunological, and clinical features of inborn errors of IFN-gamma immunity. Semin Immunol 26:454–470
- Bustamante J, Picard C, Fieschi C, Filipe-Santos O, Feinberg J, Perronne C, Chapgier A, de Beaucoudrey L, Vogt G, Sanlaville D, Lemainque A, Emile JF, Abel L, Casanova JL (2007) A novel X-linked recessive form of Mendelian susceptibility to mycobaterial disease. J Med Genet 44:e65
- Calippe B, Douin-Echinard V, Laffargue M, Laurell H, Rana-Poussine V, Pipy B, Guery JC, Bayard F, Arnal JF, Gourdy P (2008) Chronic estradiol administration in vivo promotes the proinflammatory response of macrophages to TLR4 activation: involvement of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathway. J Immunol 180:7980–7988
- CDC (2007) Reported Tuberculosis in the United States, 2006. In: Atlanta, GA, US Department of Health and Human Services, CDC
- CDC (2020) Treatment Regimens for Latent TB Infection
- Cervantes O, Cruz Talavera I, Every E, Coler B, Li M, Li A, Li H, Adams Waldorf K (2022) Role of hormones in the pregnancy and sex-specific outcomes to infections with respiratory viruses. Immunol Rev 308:123–148
- Chen C, Zhu T, Wang Z, Peng H, Kong W, Zhou Y, Shao Y, Zhu L, Lu W (2015) High latent TB infection rate and associated risk factors in the eastern china of low TB incidence. PLoS ONE 10:e0141511
- Chidambaram V, Tun NL, Majella MG, Ruelas Castillo J, Ayeh SK, Kumar A, Neupane P, Sivakumar RK, Win EP, Abbey EJ, Wang S, Zimmerman A, Blanck J, Gupte A, Wang JY, Karakousis PC (2021) Male sex is associated with worse microbiological and clinical outcomes following tuberculosis treatment: a retrospective cohort study, a systematic review of the literature, and meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis 73:1580–1588
- Chu Y, Soodeen-Lalloo AK, Huang J, Yang G, Chen F, Yin H, Sha W, Huang X, Shi J, Feng Y (2019) Sex Disparity in severity of lung lesions in newly identified tuberculosis is age-associated. Front Med (lausanne) 6:163
- Clayton JA, Collins FS (2014) Policy: NIH to balance sex in cell and animal studies. Nature 509:282–283
- Comstock GW, Livesay VT, Woolpert SF (1974) The prognosis of a positive tuberculin reaction in childhood and adolescence. Am J Epidemiol 99:131–138
- Cumming BM, Reddy VP, Steyn AJC (2020) The analysis of mycobacterium tuberculosis-induced bioenergetic changes in infected macrophages using an extracellular flux analyzer. Methods Mol Biol 2184:161–184
- Curtis J, Turk JL (1984) Resistance to subcutaneous infection with Mycobacterium lepraemurium is controlled by more than one gene. Infect Immun 43:925–930
- D'Agostino P, Milano S, Barbera C, Di Bella G, La Rosa M, Ferlazzo V, Farruggio R, Miceli DM, Miele M, Castagnetta L, Cillari E (1999) Sex hormones modulate inflammatory mediators produced by macrophages. Ann N Y Acad Sci 876:426–429

- Dabitao D, Somboro A, Sanogo I, Diarra B, Achenbach CJ, Holl JL, Baya B, Sanogo M, Wague M, Coulibaly N, Kone M, Drame HB, Tolofoudie M, Kone B, Diarra A, Coulibaly MD, Saliba-Shaw K, Toloba Y, Diakite M, Doumbia S, Klein SL, Bishai WR, Diallo S, Murphy RL (2022) Sex differences in active pulmonary tuberculosis outcomes in Mali, West Africa. Am J Trop Med Hyg 107(2):433–440
- Dale K, Tay E, Trauer JM, Trevan P, Denholm J (2017) Gender differences in tuberculosis diagnosis, treatment and outcomes in Victoria, Australia, 2002–2015. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 21:1264–1271
- Davila S, Hibberd ML, Hari Dass R, Wong HE, Sahiratmadja E, Bonnard C, Alisjahbana B, Szeszko JS, Balabanova Y, Drobniewski F, van Crevel R, van de Vosse E, Nejentsev S, Ottenhoff TH, Seielstad M (2008) Genetic association and expression studies indicate a role of toll-like receptor 8 in pulmonary tuberculosis. PLoS Genet 4:e1000218
- de Bree LCJ, Janssen R, Aaby P, van Crevel R, Joosten LAB, Benn CS, Netea MG (2018) The impact of sex hormones on BCG-induced trained immunity. J Leukoc Biol 104:573–578
- Dibbern J, Eggers L, Schneider BE (2017) Sex differences in the C57BL/6 model of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Sci Rep 7:10957
- Ding Y, Raterink RJ, Marin-Juez R, Veneman WJ, Egbers K, van den Eeden S, Haks MC, Joosten SA, Ottenhoff THM, Harms AC, Alia A, Hankemeier T, Spaink HP (2020) Tuberculosis causes highly conserved metabolic changes in human patients, mycobacteria-infected mice and zebrafish larvae. Sci Rep 10:11635
- Magdy DM, Azouza AM, El Zohne RA (2019) Alteration of female sex hormones and menstrual pattern among women infected with pulmonary tuberculosis. The Egyptian Journal of Chest Diseases and Tuberculosis (edinb) 68:146–149
- Dominelli PB, Ripoll JG, Cross TJ, Baker SE, Wiggins CC, Welch BT, Joyner MJ (2018) Sex differences in large conducting airway anatomy. J Appl Physiol 1985(125):960–965
- Dorhoi A, Iannaccone M, Farinacci M, Fae KC, Schreiber J, Moura-Alves P, Nouailles G, Mollenkopf HJ, Oberbeck-Muller D, Jorg S, Heinemann E, Hahnke K, Lowe D, Del Nonno F, Goletti D, Capparelli R, Kaufmann SH (2013) MicroRNA-223 controls susceptibility to tuberculosis by regulating lung neutrophil recruitment. J Clin Invest 123:4836–4848
- Ehrt S, Schnappinger D, Rhee KY (2018) Metabolic principles of persistence and pathogenicity in Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Nat Rev Microbiol 16:496–507
- Erbay G, Senol G, Anar C, Meral AR, Tuzel O (2016) Relationship between Tuberculosis and Female Hormone Levels in Post-Menopausal Women. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health 47:78–83
- Fader T, Parks J, Khan NU, Manning R, Stokes S, Nasir NA (2010) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis in Kabul, Afghanistan: a hospital-based retrospective review. Int J Infect Dis 14:e102–e110
- Farhat M, Greenaway C, Pai M, Menzies D (2006) False-positive tuberculin skin tests: what is the absolute effect of BCG and non-tuberculous mycobacteria? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 10:1192–1204
- Feng JY, Huang SF, Ting WY, Chen YC, Lin YY, Huang RM, Lin CH, Hwang JJ, Lee JJ, Yu MC, Yu KW, Lee YC, Su WJ (2012) Gender differences in treatment outcomes of tuberculosis patients in Taiwan: a prospective observational study. Clin Microbiol Infect 18:E331–E337
- Filipe-Santos O, Bustamante J, Haverkamp MH, Vinolo E, Ku CL, Puel A, Frucht DM, Christel K, von Bernuth H, Jouanguy E, Feinberg J, Durandy A, Senechal B, Chapgier A, Vogt G, de Beaucoudrey L, Fieschi C, Picard C, Garfa M, Chemli J, Bejaoui M, Tsolia MN, Kutukculer N, Plebani A, Notarangelo L, Bodemer C, Geissmann F, Israel A, Veron M, Knackstedt M, Barbouche R, Abel L, Magdorf K, Gendrel D, Agou F, Holland SM, Casanova JL (2006) X-linked susceptibility to mycobacteria is caused by mutations in NEMO impairing CD40-dependent IL-12 production. J Exp Med 203:1745–1759
- Fish EN (2008) The X-files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 8:737–744
- Fiske CT, Griffin MR, Erin H, Warkentin J, Lisa K, Arbogast PG, Sterling TR (2010) Black race, sex, and extrapulmonary tuberculosis risk: an observational study. BMC Infect Dis 10:16
- Fox GJ, Orlova M, Schurr E (2016) Tuberculosis in Newborns: The Lessons of the "Lubeck Disaster" (1929–1933). PLoS Pathog 12:e1005271

- Fox HS, Bond BL, Parslow TG (1991) Estrogen regulates the IFN-gamma promoter. J Immunol 146:4362–4367
- Galasso V, Pons V, Profeta P, Becher M, Brouard S, Foucault M (2020) Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 117:27285–27291
- Gan Y, Hu Q, Li A, Gu L, Guo S (2022) Estradiol inhibits autophagy of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected 16HBE cells and controls the proliferation of intracellular Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Mol Med Rep 25
- Gao L, Li X, Liu J, Wang X, Lu W, Bai L, Xin H, Zhang H, Li H, Zhang Z, Ma Y, Li M, Feng B, Du J, Sui H, Zhao R, Su H, Pan S, Guan L, Shen F, He J, Yang S, Si H, Cheng X, Xu Z, Tan Y, Chen T, Xu W, Peng H, Wang Z, Zhu T, Chen X, Zhou X, Guan X, Jin Q, Latenttb-Nstm study team. (2017) Incidence of active tuberculosis in individuals with latent tuberculosis infection in rural China: follow-up results of a population-based, multicentre, prospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis 17:1053–1061
- GBD (2018) The global burden of disease attributable to alcohol and drug use in 195 countries and territories, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of disease study 2016. Lancet Psychiatry 5:987–1012
- Gao L, Li X, Liu J, Wang X, Lu W, Bai L, Xin H, Zhang H, Li H, Zhang Z, Ma Y, Li M, Feng B, Du J, Sui H, Zhao R, Su H, Pan S, Guan L, Shen F, He J, Yang S, Si H, Cheng X, Xu Z, Tan Y, Chen T, Xu W, Peng H, Wang Z, Zhu T, Chen X, Zhou X, Guan X, Jin Q, Latenttb-Nstm study team. (2021) Spatial, temporal, and demographic patterns in prevalence of smoking tobacco use and attributable disease burden in 204 countries and territories, 1990–2019: a systematic analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Lancet 397:2337–2360
- Gupta M, Srikrishna G, Klein SL, Bishai WR (2022) Genetic and hormonal mechanisms underlying sex-specific immune responses in tuberculosis. Trends Immunol 43:640–656
- Hamid Salim MA, Declercq E, Van Deun A, Saki KA (2004) Gender differences in tuberculosis: a prevalence survey done in Bangladesh. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 8:952–957
- Hamilton JB, Mestler GE (1969) Mortality and survival: comparison of eunuchs with intact men and women in a mentally retarded population. J Gerontol 24:395–411
- Hanifa Y, Grant AD, Lewis J, Corbett EL, Fielding K, Churchyard G (2009) Prevalence of latent tuberculosis infection among gold miners in South Africa. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 13:39–46
- Hayashi S, Chandramohan D (2018) Risk of active tuberculosis among people with diabetes mellitus: systematic review and meta-analysis. Trop Med Int Health 23:1058–1070
- Hayward SE, Rustage K, Nellums LB, van der Werf MJ, Noori T, Boccia D, Friedland JS, Hargreaves S (2021) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis among migrants in Europe, 1995–2017. Clin Microbiol Infect 27:1347 e1-47 e7
- He G, Li Y, Zhao F, Wang L, Cheng S, Guo H, Klena JD, Fan H, Gao F, Gao F, Han G, Ren L, Song Y, Xiong Y, Geng M, Hou Y, He G, Li J, Guo S, Yang J, Yan D, Wang Y, Gao H, An J, Duan X, Wu C, Duan F, Hu D, Lu K, Zhao Y, Rao CY, Wang Y (2015) The prevalence and incidence of latent tuberculosis infection and its associated factors among village doctors in China. PLoS ONE 10:e0124097
- Hershkovitz I, Donoghue HD, Minnikin DE, Besra GS, Lee OY, Gernaey AM, Galili E, Eshed V, Greenblatt CL, Lemma E, Bar-Gal GK, Spigelman M (2008) Detection and molecular characterization of 9000-year-old Mycobacterium tuberculosis from a Neolithic settlement in the Eastern Mediterranean. PLoS ONE 3:e3426
- Hertz D, Dibbern J, Eggers L, von Borstel L, Schneider BE (2020) Increased male susceptibility to Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection is associated with smaller B cell follicles in the lungs. Sci Rep 10:5142
- Hertz D, Schneider B (2019) Sex differences in tuberculosis. Semin Immunopathol 41:225-237
- Hiller-Sturmhofel S, Bartke A (1998) The endocrine system: an overview. Alcohol Health Res World 22:153–164
- Hirsch-Moverman Y, Shrestha-Kuwahara R, Bethel J, Blumberg HM, Venkatappa TK, Horsburgh CR, Colson PW, Consortium Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies (2015) Latent tuberculous
infection in the United States and Canada: who completes treatment and why? Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 19:31–38

- Holst JP, Soldin OP, Guo T, Soldin SJ (2004) Steroid hormones: relevance and measurement in the clinical laboratory. Clin Lab Med 24:105–118
- Hoogendoorn JC, Ranoto L, Muditambi N, Railton J, Maswanganyi M, Struthers HE, McIntyre JA, Peters RPH (2017) Reduction in extrapulmonary tuberculosis in context of antiretroviral therapy scale-up in rural South Africa. Epidemiol Infect 145:2500–2509
- Horton KC, MacPherson P, Houben RM, White RG, Corbett EL (2016) Sex differences in tuberculosis burden and notifications in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS Med 13:e1002119
- Houben RM, Dodd PJ (2016) The global burden of latent tuberculosis infection: a re-estimation using mathematical modelling. PLoS Med 13:e1002152
- Hu X, Liao S, Bai H, Wu L, Wang M, Wu Q, Zhou J, Jiao L, Chen X, Zhou Y, Lu X, Ying B, Zhang Z, Li W (2019) Integrating exosomal microRNAs and electronic health data improved tuberculosis diagnosis. EBioMedicine 40:564–573
- Imtiaz S, Shield KD, Roerecke M, Samokhvalov AV, Lonnroth K, Rehm J (2017) Alcohol consumption as a risk factor for tuberculosis: meta-analyses and burden of disease. Eur Respir J 50
- Janele D, Lang T, Capellino S, Cutolo M, Da Silva JA, Straub RH (2006) Effects of testosterone, 17beta-estradiol, and downstream estrogens on cytokine secretion from human leukocytes in the presence and absence of cortisol. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1069:168–182
- Jepson A, Fowler A, Banya W, Singh M, Bennett S, Whittle H, Hill AV (2001) Genetic regulation of acquired immune responses to antigens of Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a study of twins in West Africa. Infect Immun 69:3989–3994
- Jimenez-Corona ME, Garcia-Garcia L, DeRiemer K, Ferreyra-Reyes L, Bobadilla-del-Valle M, Cano-Arellano B, Canizales-Quintero S, Martinez-Gamboa A, Small PM, Sifuentes-Osornio J, Ponce-de-Leon A (2006) Gender differentials of pulmonary tuberculosis transmission and reactivation in an endemic area. Thorax 61:348–353
- Joshi R, Reingold AL, Menzies D, Pai M (2006) Tuberculosis among health-care workers in lowand middle-income countries: a systematic review. PLoS Med 3:e494
- Kallmann FJ, Reisner D (1943) Twin studies on the significance of genetic factors in tuberculosis. Am Rev Tuberc 47:549–574
- Kamel MI, Rashed S, Foda N, Mohie A, Loutfy M (2003) Gender differences in health care utilization and outcome of respiratory tuberculosis in Alexandria. East Mediterr Health J 9:741–756
- Karim F, Ahmed F, Begum I, Johansson E, Diwan VK (2008) Female-male differences at various clinical steps of tuberculosis management in rural Bangladesh. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 12:1336– 1339
- Karpuzoglu E, Phillips RA, Gogal RM Jr, Ansar Ahmed S (2007) IFN-gamma-inducing transcription factor, T-bet is upregulated by estrogen in murine splenocytes: role of IL-27 but not IL-12. Mol Immunol 44:1808–1814
- Katsnelson A (2017) Beyond the breath: Exploring sex differences in tuberculosis outside the lungs. Nat Med 23:398–401
- Kim JK, Kim TS, Basu J, Jo EK (2017) MicroRNA in innate immunity and autophagy during mycobacterial infection. Cell Microbiol 19
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16:626-638
- Koeken VA, de Bree LCJ, Mourits VP, Moorlag SJ, Walk J, Cirovic B, Arts RJ, Jaeger M, Dijkstra H, Lemmers H, Joosten LA, Benn CS, van Crevel R, Netea MG (2020) BCG vaccination in humans inhibits systemic inflammation in a sex-dependent manner. J Clin Invest 130:5591–5602
- Kulchavenya E, Naber KG, Truls Erik Bjerklund Johansen (2019) Epidemiology of extrapulmonary tuberculosis. In: Sener, A., Erdem, H (eds) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Springer, Cham. https:/ /doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04744-3_1

- Latorre I, Leidinger P, Backes C, Dominguez J, de Souza-Galvao ML, Maldonado J, Prat C, Ruiz-Manzano J, Sanchez F, Casas I, Keller A, von Briesen H, Knobel H, Meese E, Meyerhans A (2015) A novel whole-blood miRNA signature for a rapid diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis. Eur Respir J 45:1173–1176
- Lee JY (2015) Diagnosis and treatment of extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Tuberc Respir Dis (seoul) 78:47–55
- Libert C, Dejager L, Pinheiro I (2010) The X chromosome in immune functions: when a chromosome makes the difference. Nat Rev Immunol 10:594–604
- Lin CY, Chen TC, Lu PL, Lai CC, Yang YH, Lin WR, Huang PM, Chen YH (2013) Effects of gender and age on development of concurrent extrapulmonary tuberculosis in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis: a population based study. PLoS ONE 8:e63936
- Liu Q, Wang J, Sandford AJ, Wu J, Wang Y, Wu S, Ji G, Chen G, Feng Y, Tao C, He JQ (2015) Association of CYBB polymorphisms with tuberculosis susceptibility in the Chinese Han population. Infect Genet Evol 33:169–175
- Lonnroth K, Castro KG, Chakaya JM, Chauhan LS, Floyd K, Glaziou P, Raviglione MC (2010) Tuberculosis control and elimination 2010–50: cure, care, and social development. Lancet 375:1814–1829
- Looi KH (2022) Explicating gender disparity in wearing face masks during the COVID-19 pandemic. BMC Public Health 22:2273
- Lotter H, Helk E, Bernin H, Jacobs T, Prehn C, Adamski J, Gonzalez-Roldan N, Holst O, Tannich E (2013) Testosterone increases susceptibility to amebic liver abscess in mice and mediates inhibition of IFNgamma secretion in natural killer T cells. PLoS ONE 8:e55694
- Mack U, Migliori GB, Sester M, Rieder HL, Ehlers S, Goletti D, Bossink A, Magdorf K, Holscher C, Kampmann B, Arend SM, Detjen A, Bothamley G, Zellweger JP, Milburn H, Diel R, Ravn P, Cobelens F, Cardona PJ, Kan B, Solovic I, Duarte R, Cirillo DM, Lange C, Tbnet (2009) LTBI: latent tuberculosis infection or lasting immune responses to M. tuberculosis? A TBNET consensus statement. Eur Respir J. 33:956–973
- Margolis B, Al-Darraji HA, Wickersham JA, Kamarulzaman A, Altice FL (2013) Prevalence of tuberculosis symptoms and latent tuberculous infection among prisoners in northeastern Malaysia. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 17:1538–1544
- Marin-Luevano SP, Rodriguez-Carlos A, Jacobo-Delgado Y, Valdez-Miramontes C, Enciso-Moreno JA, Rivas-Santiago B (2021) Steroid hormone modulates the production of cathelicidin and human beta-defensins in lung epithelial cells and macrophages promoting Mycobacterium tuberculosis killing. Tuberculosis (edinb) 128:102080
- Martinez L, Shen Y, Mupere E, Kizza A, Hill PC, Whalen CC (2017) Transmission of mycobacterium tuberculosis in households and the community: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 185:1327–1339
- Mehraj J, Khan ZY, Saeed DK, Shakoor S, Hasan R (2016) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis among females in South Asia-gap analysis. Int J Mycobacteriol 5:392–399
- Mened N, Métahri M, Snouber A (2019) Profil épidémiologique des tuberculoses extra-pulmonaires pris en charge au niveau de la localité de Sidi Chahmi (EPSP ES-Sénia). Rev Mal Respir 36:A167–A168
- Morrissey BM, Harper RW (2004) Bronchiectasis: sex and gender considerations. Clin Chest Med 25:361–372
- Musabak U, Bolu E, Ozata M, Oktenli C, Sengul A, Inal A, Yesilova Z, Kilciler G, Ozdemir IC, Kocar IH (2003) Gonadotropin treatment restores in vitro interleukin-1beta and tumour necrosis factor-alpha production by stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with idiopathic hypogonadotropic hypogonadism. Clin Exp Immunol 132:265–270
- Musellim B, Erturan S, Sonmez Duman E, Ongen G (2005) Comparison of extra-pulmonary and pulmonary tuberculosis cases: factors influencing the site of reactivation. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 9:1220–1223
- Nahid P, Dorman SE, Alipanah N, Barry PM, Brozek JL, Cattamanchi A, Chaisson LH, Chaisson RE, Daley CL, Grzemska M, Higashi JM, Ho CS, Hopewell PC, Keshavjee SA, Lienhardt C,

Menzies R, Merrifield C, Narita M, O'Brien R, Peloquin CA, Raftery A, Saukkonen J, Schaaf HS, Sotgiu G, Starke JR, Migliori GB, Vernon A (2016) Official American thoracic society/ centers for disease control and prevention/infectious diseases society of america clinical practice guidelines: treatment of drug-susceptible tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis 63:e147–e195

- Ncayiyana JR, Bassett J, West N, Westreich D, Musenge E, Emch M, Pettifor A, Hanrahan CF, Schwartz SR, Sanne I, van Rie A (2016) Prevalence of latent tuberculosis infection and predictive factors in an urban informal settlement in Johannesburg, South Africa: a cross-sectional study. BMC Infect Dis 16:661
- Ndzi EN, Nkenfou CN, Mekue LM, Zentilin L, Tamgue O, Pefura EWY, Kuiate JR, Giacca M, Ndjolo A (2019) MicroRNA hsa-miR-29a-3p is a plasma biomarker for the differential diagnosis and monitoring of tuberculosis. Tuberculosis (edinb) 114:69–76
- Netea MG, Quintin J, van der Meer JW (2011) Trained immunity: a memory for innate host defense. Cell Host Microbe 9:355–361
- Neyrolles O, Quintana-Murci L (2009) Sexual inequality in tuberculosis. PLoS Med 6:e1000199
- Nhamoyebonde S, Leslie A (2014) Biological differences between the sexes and susceptibility to tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S100–S106
- O'Garra A, Redford PS, McNab FW, Bloom CI, Wilkinson RJ, Berry MP (2013) The immune response in tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 31:475–527
- Ohno M, Yamaguchi I, Yamamoto I, Fukuda T, Yokota S, Maekura R, Ito M, Yamamoto Y, Ogura T, Maeda K, Komuta K, Igarashi T, Azuma J (2000) Slow N-acetyltransferase 2 genotype affects the incidence of isoniazid and rifampicin-induced hepatotoxicity. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 4:256–261
- Oki NO, Motsinger-Reif AA, Antas PR, Levy S, Holland SM, Sterling TR (2011) Novel human genetic variants associated with extrapulmonary tuberculosis: a pilot genome wide association study. BMC Res Notes 4:28
- Olea-Popelka F, Muwonge A, Perera A, Dean AS, Mumford E, Erlacher-Vindel E, Forcella S, Silk BJ, Ditiu L, El Idrissi A, Raviglione M, Cosivi O, LoBue P, Fujiwara PI (2017) Zoonotic tuberculosis in human beings caused by Mycobacterium bovis-a call for action. Lancet Infect Dis 17:e21–e25
- Oshi SN, Alobu I, Ukwaja KN, Oshi DC (2015) Investigating gender disparities in the profile and treatment outcomes of tuberculosis in Ebonyi state Nigeria. Epidemiol Infect 143:932–942
- Padberg I, Batzing-Feigenbaum J, Sagebiel D (2015) Association of extra-pulmonary tuberculosis with age, sex and season differs depending on the affected organ. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 19:723– 728
- Pang Y, An J, Shu W, Huo F, Chu N, Gao M, Qin S, Huang H, Chen X, Xu S (2019) Epidemiology of extrapulmonary tuberculosis among inpatients, China, 2008–2017. Emerg Infect Dis 25:457– 464
- Park JH, Shim D, Kim KES, Lee W, Shin SJ (2021) Understanding metabolic regulation between host and pathogens: new opportunities for the development of improved therapeutic strategies against mycobacterium tuberculosis infection. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 11:635335
- Parkin DP, Vandenplas S, Botha FJ, Vandenplas ML, Seifart HI, van Helden PD, van der Walt BJ, Donald PR, van Jaarsveld PP (1997) Trimodality of isoniazid elimination: phenotype and genotype in patients with tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 155:1717–1722
- Pettit AC, Bethel J, Hirsch-Moverman Y, Colson PW, Sterling TR, Consortium Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies (2013) Female sex and discontinuation of isoniazid due to adverse effects during the treatment of latent tuberculosis. J Infect 67:424–432
- Pinzan CF, Ruas LP, Casabona-Fortunato AS, Carvalho FC, Roque-Barreira MC (2010) Immunological basis for the gender differences in murine Paracoccidioides brasiliensis infection. PLoS ONE 5:e10757
- Ramos JM, Comeche B, Tesfamariam A, Reyes F, Tiziano G, Balcha S, Edada T, Biru D, Perez-Butragueno M, Gorgolas M (2020) Sex differences and HIV status of tuberculosis in adults at a rural hospital in southern Ethiopia: an 18-year retrospective cross-sectional study. Afr Health Sci 20:605–614

- Reichler MR, Khan A, Yuan Y, Chen B, McAuley J, Mangura B, Sterling TR, Team Tuberculosis Epidemiologic Studies Consortium Task Order (2020) Duration of exposure among close contacts of patients with infectious tuberculosis and risk of latent tuberculosis infection. Clin Infect Dis 71:1627–1634
- Rey AD, Mahuad CV, Bozza VV, Bogue C, Farroni MA, Bay ML, Bottasso OA, Besedovsky HO (2007) Endocrine and cytokine responses in humans with pulmonary tuberculosis. Brain Behav Immun 21:171–179
- Roth A, Gustafson P, Nhaga A, Djana Q, Poulsen A, Garly ML, Jensen H, Sodemann M, Rodriques A, Aaby P (2005) BCG vaccination scar associated with better childhood survival in Guinea-Bissau. Int J Epidemiol 34:540–547
- Ryu YJ (2015) Diagnosis of pulmonary tuberculosis: recent advances and diagnostic algorithms. Tuberc Respir Dis (seoul) 78:64–71
- Sabri A, Quistrebert J, Naji Amrani H, Abid A, Zegmout A, Abderrhamani Ghorfi I, Souhi H, Boucaid A, Benali A, Abilkassem R, Kmari M, Hassani A, Lahcen B, Siah S, Schurr E, Boisson-Dupuis S, Casanova JL, Lahlou A, Laatiris A, Louzi L, Ouarssani A, Bourazza A, Aouragh A, Mustapha B, Messaoudi N, Agader A, Cobat A, Abel L, El Baghdadi J (2019) Prevalence and risk factors for latent tuberculosis infection among healthcare workers in Morocco. PLoS ONE 14:e0221081
- Salie M, Daya M, Lucas LA, Warren RM, van der Spuy GD, van Helden PD, Hoal EG, Moller M (2015) Association of toll-like receptors with susceptibility to tuberculosis suggests sex-specific effects of TLR8 polymorphisms. Infect Genet Evol 34:221–229
- Sandgren A, Hollo V, van der Werf MJ (2013) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis in the European Union and European economic area, 2002–2011. Euro Surveill 18
- Schurz H, Kinnear CJ, Gignoux C, Wojcik G, van Helden PD, Tromp G, Henn B, Hoal EG, Moller M (2018) A sex-stratified genome-wide association study of tuberculosis using a multi-ethnic genotyping array. Front Genet 9:678
- Schurz H, Salie M, Tromp G, Hoal EG, Kinnear CJ, Moller M (2019) The X chromosome and sex-specific effects in infectious disease susceptibility. Hum Genomics 13:2
- Silva ML, Ca B, Osorio NS, Rodrigues PNS, Maceiras AR, Saraiva M (2022) Tuberculosis caused by Mycobacterium africanum: Knowns and unknowns. PLoS Pathog 18:e1010490
- Sinigaglia, A., E. Peta, S. Riccetti, S. Venkateswaran, R. Manganelli, and L. Barzon. 2020. 'Tuberculosis-Associated MicroRNAs: From Pathogenesis to Disease Biomarkers', *Cells*, 9.
- Sizulu, van der Walt Martie, Moyo (2018) The first national TB prevalence survey: South Africa 2018. In
- Smahi A, Courtois G, Vabres P, Yamaoka S, Heuertz S, Munnich A, Israel A, Heiss NS, Klauck SM, Kioschis P, Wiemann S, Poustka A, Esposito T, Bardaro T, Gianfrancesco F, Ciccodicola A, D'Urso M, Woffendin H, Jakins T, Donnai D, Stewart H, Kenwrick SJ, Aradhya S, Yamagata T, Levy M, Lewis RA, Nelson DL (2000) Genomic rearrangement in NEMO impairs NF-kappaB activation and is a cause of incontinentia pigmenti. The International Incontinentia Pigmenti (IP) CONSORTIUM. Nature 405:466–472
- Sobhy S, Babiker Z, Zamora J, Khan KS, Kunst H (2017) Maternal and perinatal mortality and morbidity associated with tuberculosis during pregnancy and the postpartum period: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BJOG 124:727–733
- Soumare D, Baya B, Ouattara K, Kanoute T, Sy CM, Karembe S, Guindo I, Coulibaly L, Kamian Y, Dakouo AP, Sidibe F, Kone S, Kone D, Yossi O, Berthe G, Toloba Y (2022) Identifying risk factors for pulmonary tuberculosis diagnosis delays in Mali a West-African Endemic Country. J Tuberc Res 10:45–59
- Sreeramareddy CT, Panduru KV, Verma SC, Joshi HS, Bates MN (2008) Comparison of pulmonary and extrapulmonary tuberculosis in Nepal- a hospital-based retrospective study. BMC Infect Dis 8:8
- Srivastava K, Kant S, Narain S, Bajpai J (2018) Tuberculosis in women: a reflection of gender inequity. Eur Respir J 52:531
- Starka L, Duskova M (2020) What is a hormone? Physiol Res 69:S183-S185

- Stensballe LG, Nante E, Jensen IP, Kofoed PE, Poulsen A, Jensen H, Newport M, Marchant A, Aaby P (2005) Acute lower respiratory tract infections and respiratory syncytial virus in infants in Guinea-Bissau: a beneficial effect of BCG vaccination for girls community based case-control study. Vaccine 23:1251–1257
- Straub RH (2007) The complex role of estrogens in inflammation. Endocr Rev 28:521-574
- Tan W, Soodeen-Lalloo AK, Chu Y, Xu W, Chen F, Zhang J, Sha W, Huang J, Yang G, Qin L, Wang J, Huang X, Shi J, Feng Y (2018) Sex influences the association between haemostasis and the extent of lung lesions in tuberculosis. Biol Sex Differ 9:44
- te Beek LA, van der Werf MJ, Richter C, Borgdorff MW (2006) Extrapulmonary tuberculosis by nationality, The Netherlands, 1993–2001. Emerg Infect Dis 12:1375–1382
- Teklu T, Legesse M, Medhin G, Zewude A, Chanyalew M, Zewdie M, Wondale B, Haile-Mariam M, Pieper R, Ameni G (2018) Latent tuberculosis infection and associated risk indicators in pastoral communities in southern Ethiopia: a community based cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 18:266
- Thorson A (2015) Gender issues in tuberculosis. In: Klein S, Roberts GW (ed), Sex and gender differences in infection and treatments for infectious diseases. Springer International Publishing
- Tientcheu LD, Maertzdorf J, Weiner J, Adetifa IM, Mollenkopf HJ, Sutherland JS, Donkor S, Kampmann B, Kaufmann SH, Dockrell HM, Ota MO (2015) Differential transcriptomic and metabolic profiles of M. africanum- and M. tuberculosis-infected patients after, but not before, drug treatment. Genes Immun 16:347–355
- Ting WY, Huang SF, Lee MC, Lin YY, Lee YC, Feng JY, Su WJ (2014) Gender disparities in latent tuberculosis infection in high-risk individuals: a cross-sectional study. PLoS ONE 9:e110104
- Townsend EA, Miller VM, Prakash YS (2012) Sex differences and sex steroids in lung health and disease. Endocr Rev 33:1–47
- Tsegaye Y, Admassu W, Edao A, Kinde S, Gentu M, Negash M, Wondmagegn T, Gize A, Zewdie M, Bobosha K, Wassie L (2022) Alteration of endocrine hormones and antibody responses in different spectrum of tuberculosis disease. Front Immunol 13:849321
- Tsuyuguchi K, Suzuki K, Matsumoto H, Tanaka E, Amitani R, Kuze F (2001) Effect of oestrogen on Mycobacterium avium complex pulmonary infection in mice. Clin Exp Immunol 123:428–434 UNAIDS (2021) Global HIV Report 2021
- UNOPS, STOP TB Parterships and (2020) Gender and TB
- Vidaillac C, Yong VFL, Jaggi TK, Soh MM, Chotirmall SH (2018) Gender differences in bronchiectasis: a real issue? Breathe (sheff) 14:108–121
- Vidal S, Gros P, Skamene E (1995) Natural resistance to infection with intracellular parasites: molecular genetics identifies Nramp1 as the Bcg/Ity/Lsh locus. J Leukoc Biol 58:382–390
- Wada PY, Costa AG, Araujo-Pereira M, Barreto-Duarte B, Souza AB, Rocha MS, Figueiredo MC, Turner MM, Rolla VC, Kritski AL, Cordeiro-Santos M, Andrade BB, Sterling TR, Rebeiro PF, Consortium Regional Prospective Observational Research in Tuberculosis Brazil (2022) Possible sex difference in latent tuberculosis infection risk among close tuberculosis contacts. Int J Infect Dis 122:685–692
- Watkins RE, Plant AJ (2006) Does smoking explain sex differences in the global tuberculosis epidemic? Epidemiol Infect 134:333–9
- Weiner J, Maertzdorf J, Sutherland JS, Duffy FJ, Thompson E, Suliman S, McEwen G, Thiel B, Parida SK, Zyla J, Hanekom WA, Mohney RP, Boom WH, Mayanja-Kizza H, Howe R, Dockrell HM, Ottenhoff THM, Scriba TJ, Zak DE, Walzl G, Kaufmann SHE, Consortium GC (2018) Metabolite changes in blood predict the onset of tuberculosis. Nat Commun 9:5208
- Weiner J 3rd, Parida SK, Maertzdorf J, Black GF, Repsilber D, Telaar A, Mohney RP, Arndt-Sullivan C, Ganoza CA, Fae KC, Walzl G, Kaufmann SH (2012) Biomarkers of inflammation, immunosuppression and stress with active disease are revealed by metabolomic profiling of tuberculosis patients. PLoS ONE 7:e40221
- Weiss MG, Auer C, Somma D, Abouihia A, Kemp J et al (2006) Gender and tuberculosis: cross-site analysis and implications of a multi-country study in Bangladesh, India, Malawi, and Colombia/ cross-site analysis

- WHO (2013) Definitions and reporting framework for tuberculosis-2013 revision
- WHO (2015) End of TB strategy
- WHO (2019) Gender and Health. https://www.who.int/health-topics/gender#tab=tab_1
- WHO (2020a) Global Tuberculosis Report 2019
- WHO (2020b) The top 10 causes of death. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death
- WHO (2022) Global Tuberculosis Report 2021
- Wilkinson NM, Chen HC, Lechner MG, Su MA (2022) Sex differences in immunity. Annu Rev Immunol 40:75–94
- Yamamoto Y, Saito H, Setogawa T, Tomioka H (1991) Sex differences in host resistance to Mycobacterium marinum infection in mice. Infect Immun 59:4089–4096
- Yamamoto Y, Tomioka H, Sato K, Saito H, Yamada Y, Setogawa T (1990) Sex differences in the susceptibility of mice to infection induced by Mycobacterium intracellulare. Am Rev Respir Dis 142:430–433
- Yang Z, Kong Y, Wilson F, Foxman B, Fowler AH, Marrs CF, Cave MD, Bates JH (2004) Identification of risk factors for extrapulmonary tuberculosis. Clin Infect Dis 38:199–205

Sex-Linked Differences in Malaria Risk Across the Lifespan



Jessica Briggs, Margaret Murray, Jason Nideffer, and Prasanna Jagannathan

Abstract Despite the high burden of malaria worldwide, there is surprisingly scarce research on sex-based differences in malaria outside of pregnancy. A more thorough understanding of sexual dimorphism in malaria, and what underlies these sex-based differences, could elucidate the underlying mechanisms driving malaria pathogenesis and has the potential to inform malaria control efforts, including new vaccines. This review summarizes our current understanding of sex-based differences in the epidemiology of malaria across the lifespan, potential sex- or genderbased mechanisms driving these differences, and the knowledge gaps that need to be addressed.

1 Introduction

Malaria remains a major global health problem with nearly 609,000 deaths and 241 million cases annually estimated in 2021 (World Health Organization 2022). Malaria is caused by parasites of the genus *Plasmodium*, which are transmitted to people through the bites of *Plasmodium*-infected mosquitoes. The life cycle of malaria parasites involves several stages involving both the mosquito vector and human host (Fig. 1). Most malarial morbidity and mortality is due to *Plasmodium falciparum*, although other species, including *Plasmodium vivax*, account for significant morbidity worldwide. The development of an effective and widely available malaria vaccine, and novel therapeutics that reduce disease severity, represent critical steps

J. Nideffer · P. Jagannathan (⊠) Department of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, California, United States e-mail: prasj@stanford.edu

J. Nideffer e-mail: nideffer@stanford.edu

185

J. Briggs · M. Murray

Department of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, California, United States e-mail: Jessica.Briggs@ucsf.edu

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_7



Fig. 1 Malaria parasite life cycle. Numbers and text in teal indicate where gender-based behavioral differences may impact observed sex-specific differences in malaria epidemiology or pathogenesis; numbers and text in dark red indicate where biological sex may impact observed sex-specific differences in malaria epidemiology or pathogenesis

toward the control of malaria. However, a major challenge is the knowledge gap about mechanisms underlying protective immunity and pathogenesis in humans.

In malaria endemic settings, individuals are often repeatedly exposed to the bites of *Plasmodium*-infected mosquitoes, with many individuals infected hundreds of times per year. In these settings, the burden of disease falls mainly on young African children, with 77% of deaths reported in African children less than 5 years of age (World Health Organization 2022). With increasing age and following repeated malaria episodes, individuals gain protection against severe disease, followed eventually by protection against symptomatic illness. This age- and exposure-dependent naturally acquired immunity consists of two distinct components: "anti-parasite" immunity, or partial control of blood-stage parasite densities, and "anti-disease" immunity, or the ability to tolerate higher parasite densities without fever (Rodriguez-Barraquer et al. 2018). However, the precise determinants driving these distinct components of naturally acquired antimalarial immunity remain poorly understood.

Despite the high burden of malaria worldwide, there is surprisingly scarce research on sex-based differences in malaria outside of pregnancy. Sex-based differences in the distribution and outcome of various infectious diseases are widely acknowledged. For example, there is a clear male bias in tuberculosis burden and mortality, and amebic liver abscess due to *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Leishmania* infection are both more common in post-pubertal males (Bernin and Lotter 2014; Nhamoyebonde and Leslie 2014). These sex-based differences in infectious diseases are not always clear-cut; for example, after HIV infection, women maintain lower viral loads on average compared to men, but progress more quickly to AIDS at the same viral load (Addo and Altfeld 2014). One of the earliest studies to show that there may be sexspecific differences in malaria prevalence and immunologic response was the Garki project in Nigeria, which demonstrated higher malaria prevalence in post-pubertal males and higher antibody titers in females (Molineaux et al. 1980). Unfortunately, many studies that followed did not report data disaggregated by sex, and for years research into sex-based differences in malaria was focused primarily on the increased susceptibility of pregnant women to infection and severe disease. A more thorough understanding of sexual dimorphism in malaria, and what underlies these sex-based differences, could elucidate the underlying mechanisms driving malaria pathogenesis and has to the potential to inform malaria control efforts, including new vaccines. This is particularly important as we enter the era of vaccines for malaria prevention with the 2021 WHO recommendation for the use of the RTS,S/AS01 vaccine in moderate and high *P. falciparum* burden regions (World Malaria Report 2021).

Sex is defined here by biology, in terms of differential chromosomes, reproductive organs, and sex steroids, while gender is defined by cultural perceptions and behavioral norms superimposed by society. Biological sex can affect immune responses, resulting in differential susceptibility to pathogens, ability to control or clear infections, and capacity to gain protective immunity (Klein and Flanagan 2016). Gender may influence an individual's exposure to specific pathogens and their likelihood to seek medical care, which could affect the course of infection. Therefore, sex-related biological differences may modulate a person's ability to become infected with malaria parasites, mitigate symptoms, and/or clear infection, while behavioral differences between genders may influence both exposure to malaria-carrying mosquitoes and the likelihood of being diagnosed with clinical malaria.

It is likely that both sex- and gender-dependent differences contribute to the observed differences in the prevalence and incidence of malaria in males versus females. This review will provide a summary of the available data on sex-based differences in malaria epidemiology and pathogenesis. Specifically, this review will address the following questions: (1) Is there an observed difference in the prevalence and/or incidence of malaria between males versus females among different age groups? (2) How might different behaviors related to gender influence the risk of exposure to malaria parasites? (3) What biological factors related to sex might impact the risk of infection, the severity of the disease once infected, and/or rates of parasite clearance?

2 Epidemiology of Sex-Specific Differences in Malaria Infection, Disease, and Vaccination

Sex differences in malaria in children

Several studies have explored whether malaria prevalence, incidence, or severity differs in children, who suffer the highest morbidity and mortality from malaria (Tables 1 and 2). The hallmark Garki project was a longitudinal study conducted in the lowlands of northern rural Nigeria from 1969 to 1976; this study documented malaria prevalence due to different *Plasmodium* species through repeated cross-sectional

surveys of certain villages and grouped the results of these surveys together to analyze the data by sex (Molineaux et al. 1980). In this high-transmission setting, there was no apparent sex difference in *P. falciparum* or *Plasmodium malariae* prevalence in children prior to 5 years of age (Molineaux et al. 1980). A cross-sectional survey in Brazil from 1989 to 1991, a hypoendemic area where *P. vivax* predominates over *P. falciparum*, showed a higher prevalence in males in age group 0-10 but did not further stratify to children less than 5 (Camargo et al. 1996). However, a study in India by Pathak et al. in a similarly low-transmission setting utilized household-tohousehold active surveillance to test those with symptoms and found no difference in parasite prevalence between males and females < 10 years of age (Pathak et al. 2012). In Madagascar, a nationwide cross-sectional survey across a range of transmission intensities found higher parasite prevalence in females at age 0-1 year and higher prevalence in males from 2 years and older (Kesteman et al. 2014). A study in Ghana showed higher prevalence in females aged 6-7 years than in males (Landgraf et al. 1994). Overall, there is insufficient evidence to claim significant sex-based differences in malaria prevalence in young children.

In the same study by Pathak et al. above, records from public and private medical centers for the years 2002-2007 of cases of slide-confirmed malaria showed no sex-based differences in the incidence of *P. vivax* malaria in children < 15 and no differences in the incidence of *P. falciparum* malaria in children < 10 (Table 2) (Pathak et al. 2012). This is consistent with data from Thailand that showed no sex-based difference in malaria cases under the age of 5 (Luxemburger et al. 1997). Two studies in Sudan with different methodologies, one based on case report data and one from data generated during a longitudinal study with a village health team, reported a higher incidence in males < 5 years old compared to females (Creasey et al. 2004; Abdalla et al. 2007). In Uganda, a health facility-based study found a higher incidence in females < 15 years compared to males, and a study in Sri Lanka found higher incidence in females compared to males at ages < 6 years (Mendis et al. 1990). An observational prospective fever cohort study conducted in Jinja, Uganda, that enrolled febrile children aged 2 months to 5 years admitted to the hospital examined whether sex was a determinant of disease severity or diagnosis in their cohort (McDonald et al. 2022). There was no evidence of differences by sex in disease severity scores generally or in the frequency of diagnosis of malaria. As with prevalence, there is insufficient evidence for sex-specific differences in the incidence of malaria in children.

Sex differences in malaria risk in adolescence and adulthood

Although sex-specific differences in malaria prevalence have not been uniformly described in younger children, several studies have reported a male bias in malaria prevalence in older children and adults (Table 1). The Garki Project found that after 5 years of age, males have higher malaria prevalence than females; for *P. falciparum*, the differences were most significant in age groups 9–18 years and 19–28 years (Molineaux et al. 1980). In the cross-sectional survey in Brazil from 1989 to 1991 referenced above, malaria prevalence was higher in males in all age groups (0-10, 11-16, 16-40, and > 40 years) (Camargo 1996). Similarly, the national cross-sectional

Table 1 Studies th	at investigated sex	k-based differences in mala	ria prevalence	Daenite	Conformations footone
Anne	year	INTERIOR	intensity and Plasmodium spp.	Vesuits	
Briggs et al. (2020)	Uganda, 2017–2018	Active surveillance for asymptomatic infection by quantitative PCR (qPCR) in a cohort study	Previously hyperendemic but with recently lower malaria transmission after vector control <i>P</i> falciparum	Higher overall prevalence in males, with relative differences most pronounced in those 15 years and older. No sex-based difference in parasite density by qPCR (adjusted for age)	No evidence of behavioral trends that would result in more infections in males; older females most likely to travel in this cohort. Possible that males were differentially exposed in the recent past, which could affect immunity
Carmargo et al. (1996)	Brazil, 1989–1991	SPR by cross-sectional survey	Hypoendemic P. vivax > P. falciparum	Age groups (0–10, 11–16, 16–40, and > 40): Higher prevalence in males in all age groups	11% of females and 40% of males worked outdoors; more adult males worked outside the town limits
Golassa et al. (2015)	Ethiopia, 2012	SPR by cross-sectional survey	Hypoendemic <i>P. falciparum > P. vivax</i>	Higher prevalence in males compared to females; no age stratification	Attributed to occupational differences between males and females
					(continued)

Table 1 (continued	1)				
Study	Country and year	Method	Transmission intensity and Plasmodium spp.	Results	Confounding factors
Houngbedji et al. (2015)	Cote d'Ivoire, 2011–2012	National, cross-sectional school-based survey; prevalence assessed by microscopy or RDT. Geometric mean parasite density (GMPD) calculated from microscopy	Hyperendemic P. falciparum	Higher prevalence in males compared to females; no age stratification. No sex-based differences in GMPD	None noted
Kesteman et al. (2014)	Madagascar, 2012–2013	National cross-sectional survey; prevalence by RDT	Several transmission zones (Hyperendemic, seasonal, hypoendemic) <i>P. falciparum</i>	Prevalence was higher in males in all age categories except in children under 2 years	Posited that lower serum iron in females may be protective, or there may be gender-based differences in behavior
Landgraf et al. (1994)	Ghana, 1994	SPR by cross-sectional survey; GMPD calculated from microscopy	Holoendemic P. falciparum	Ages 6–7: Higher prevalence in females Ages 8–17: Higher prevalence in males. GMPD lower in females compared to males	No difference in social, religious, cultural, or clothing factors that could contribute to these sex differences. No mosquito bed nets used in the area. No difference between sexes in chloroquine in urine
					(continued)

J. Briggs et al.

	Confounding factors	None noted	None noted	Males could be more likely to spend more time outdoors; however, their data showed no changes in age and sex distribution patterns of parasite positivity by active surveillance due to the wet season, when there is less movement out of the home. Post-pubertal females may be more likely to be anemic due to nutritional deficiencies. Changes in male behavior like increasing tobacco and alcohol consumption could contribute to increased attractiveness to mosquitoes
	Results	Age > 5 years: Higher prevalence in males. Statistically significant differences in age group 9–18	Higher prevalence of malaria in males across all spp.; no age stratification. Higher mean parasitemia in females compared to males (not statistically significant)	No difference in SPR by sex when stratified by age in the active surveillance dataset (very low SPRs)
	Transmission intensity and <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	Hyperendemic P. falciparum > P. malariae	Hyperendemic P. falciparum > P. vivax	Hypoendemic P. vivax > P. falciparum
()	Method	Longitudinal cohort study that analyzed prevalence by SPR with repeated cross-sectional surveys	Cross-sectional survey of samples collected at a health facility; prevalence by SPR, and parasitemia per uL blood by microscopy	Active surveillance household-to-household in those reporting fevers or other symptoms; prevalence by SPR
	Country and year	Nigeria, 1969–1976	Ethiopia, 2006	India, 2000–2009
Table 1 (continued	Study	Molineaux et al. (1980)	Mulu et al. (2013)	Pathak et al. (2012)

(continued)

Table 1 (continued)	(1				
Study	Country and year	Method	Transmission intensity and <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	Results	Confounding factors
Tiedje et al. (2017)	Ghana, 2012–2013	Prevalence by SPR and PCR from serial cross-sectional surveys	Hyperendemic P. falciparum	Microscopic and submicroscopic prevalence higher overall in males; statistically significant in those ages 20+	None noted

Study	Country and year	Method	Transmission intensity and <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	Results	Confounding factors
Abdalla et al. (2007)	Sudan, 2002	Analyzed local studies and reports for reported cases and adjusted for under-reporting and positive predictive value of microscopy. Age–sex ratios were used to disaggregate the overall incidence in each region and the incidence in each age–sex group was pooled to estimate the age–sex specific incidence in all Sudan	Hypoendemic, mesoendemic, and hyperendemic areas <i>Plasmodium</i> spp. not specified	Males had higher incidence of malaria in all age groups	None stated
Briggs et al. (2020)	Uganda, 2017–2018	Passive surveillance for symptomatic infection confirmed with microscopy in a cohort clinic	Previously hyperendemic but with recently lower malaria transmission after vector control <i>P. falciparum</i>	No difference in incidence by sex both unadjusted and adjusted by age	None stated
Creasey (2004)	Sudan, 1990–2000	Percent age group diagnosed with CIM as observed in a longitudinal study run by a village health team	Hypoendemic <i>P. falciparum</i> > <i>P. vivax</i>	Averaged over 10 years, males had higher incidence than females in all age groups (<1 years, 1–5 years, 6–10 years, and 11–15 years)	None stated

 Table 2
 Studies that investigated sex-based differences in malaria cases or incidence

(continued)

Study	Country and year	Method	Transmission intensity and <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	Results	Confounding factors
Luxemburger, et al. (1997)	Thailand, 1997	Hospital admissions data	Hypoendemic P. falciparum > P. vivax	Higher number of malaria cases in males in children > 5 and adults; no sex differences in incidence of severe malaria after adjusting by age	More women in the camp
Mendis et al. (1990)	Sri Lanka, 1986–1988	Incidence of malaria cases confirmed by microscopy using passive case detection	Endemic <i>P.</i> <i>vivax</i> , "unstable" transmission with epidemics of <i>P. falciparum</i> During the period of this study, <i>P.</i> <i>falciparum</i> > <i>P.</i> <i>vivax</i>	Higher overall malaria incidence in females than males at ages < 6. Similar incidence rates for ages 6–15 and in those 51+. Higher incidence in males at ages 16–25 and 26–50	Occupational movement may contribute to working age males having a higher incidence of disease
Okiring et al. (2022)	Uganda, 2020–2021	Incidence of confirmed malaria (by RDT or microscopy) at 12 health facilities	Hyperendemic P. falciparum	Higher incidence in females, with larger differences in those 15–30 years and > 39 compared to those under 15 years	Females were more likely to present for care for non-malarial illnesses compared to males. Among those tested for malaria, post-adolescent males had a higher probability of testing positive than females

 Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

Study	Country and year	Method	Transmission intensity and <i>Plasmodium</i> spp.	Results	Confounding factors
Olson et al. (2010)	Brazil, 2006	Slide-confirmed malaria cases reported through both passive and active surveillance	Hypoendemic P. vivax > P. falciparum	No sex-based differences found; no age stratification	4% more males in the region
Pathak et al. (2012)	India, 2002–2007	Slide-confirmed malaria cases from public and private medical centers	Hypoendemic <i>P. vivax > P.</i> <i>falciparum</i>	No sex-specific difference at ages < 15. Higher incidence among males ages 15+ for <i>P. vivax</i> and <i>P. falciparum</i>	Males were more likely to seek care at the health facilities. Additional possible factors listed in Table 1
Sumner et al. (2021)	Kenya, 2017–2019	Active surveillance by quantitative PCR (qPCR) for asymptomatic infection followed by passive surveillance for symptomatic infection confirmed with RDT and qPCR	Hyperendemic P. falciparum	Elevated risk of symptomatic malaria in those with asymptomatic infection in the last month. This association was modified by sex, with males having a lower risk of symptomatic malaria following asymptomatic infection	None stated

Table 2 (continued)

survey in Madagascar found higher prevalence in males in all adolescent and adult age categories (Kesteman et al. 2014). Though Landgraf et al. found female bias in malaria prevalence in Ghana between ages 6 and 7, prevalence was higher in males ages 8–17 (Landgraf et al. 1994). They also noted a sex-based difference in geometric mean parasite densities; males had a higher GMPD than females, but only between 8 and 16 years of age. The Garki project also noted higher parasite densities in males after 5 years of age (Molineaux et al. 1980). Finally, several studies that do not stratify by age and sex also show an overall male bias in malaria prevalence. In Ghana, the presence of parasites was assessed by microscopy and quantitative PCR

in serial cross-sectional surveys; both microscopic and submicroscopic *P. falciparum* parasite prevalence was higher in males in both surveys (Tiedje et al. 2017). A national cross-sectional school-based survey in Cote d'Ivoire also showed a higher overall prevalence in males (Houngbedji et al. 2015). In addition, two studies in Ethiopia in regions of different transmission intensity both found a male bias in the prevalence of malaria (Golassa et al. 2015; Mulu et al. 2013).

Though there is a preponderance of evidence that there is a sex bias in malaria prevalence in adolescence and adulthood, the data regarding a sex-based difference in malaria case counts or incidence is more mixed (Table 2). In Sudan, two different studies, one based on reported cases across the country and one based on a longitudinal cohort in a hypoendemic area, reported that males had a higher incidence of malaria in older children and adults (Creasey et al. 2004; Abdalla et al. 2007). Similarly, Pathak et al. found a higher incidence of both P. vivax and P. falciparum malaria among males ages 15 years and older in India (Pathak et al. 2012), and Luxemburger et al. found a higher number of malaria cases in males in children > 5and adults in Thailand (Luxemburger et al. 1997). In Sri Lanka, a study from 1986 to 1988 in an area with endemic P. vivax and epidemics of P. falciparum reported higher incidence of slide-confirmed malaria in males at ages 16-25 and ages 26-50 compared to females, but no differences for those ages 6–15 and in those 51 years and older (Mendis et al. 1990). However, Olson et al. found no sex-based differences in the incidence of slide-confirmed malaria cases in a hypoendemic region of Brazil (with no age stratification performed) (Olson et al. 2010). In Uganda, a study based on diagnostic-confirmed P. falciparum malaria incidence showed a higher incidence in females compared to males, with larger differences in those 15-30 years and > 39 years compared to those < 15 years (Okiring et al. 2022). While Pathak et al. in India noted that males were more likely to present for care at health facilities (Pathak et al. 2012), in Uganda females were more likely to present for care. In addition, the study in Uganda noted that among those tested for malaria, post-adolescent males had a higher probability of testing positive than females (Okiring et al. 2022).

Because prevalence of infection is a function of both the number of new infections occurring and the duration of those infections, it is possible that sex-based differences in the duration of infection (or clearance of infection) could explain the male bias in malaria prevalence, even if exposure to new infections is the same. In a cohort study in eastern Uganda where transmission was recently low after multiple rounds of indoor residual spraying of insecticides, it was noted that there was no sex-specific difference in the incidence of malaria overall or in gender-based risk factors for malaria; however, males had a higher prevalence of P. falciparum by microscopy (2.9% prevalence in males compared to 1.4% prevalence in females across all age categories) (Briggs et al. 2020). To test the hypothesis that sex-based differences in host-parasite interactions could explain the difference in prevalence, researchers intensively followed P. falciparum infections in this cohort and estimated both force of infection (FOI) and rate of clearance using amplicon deep-sequencing of AMA-1. They found no evidence of differences in FOI by sex, but did find that females cleared asymptomatic infections at nearly twice the rate as males in multivariate models adjusted for age, timing of infection onset, and parasite density. This provided

evidence that biological sex-based differences may be an important factor in the host response to the malaria parasite.

Another study, conducted in a high-transmission region of Kenya, evaluated the likelihood of symptomatic malaria following an asymptomatic P. falciparum infection. Compared to being uninfected, asymptomatic infections were associated with an increased one-month likelihood of symptomatic malaria, and this association was modified by sex, with females at higher risk for symptomaticity than males (Sumner et al. 2021). At first glance, the observations from these two studies seem to conflict. However, in the Uganda cohort, the incidence of symptomatic malaria for participants over 10 years of age was over twice as high in females compared to males, although malaria was uncommon and the difference between females and males was not statistically significant (Briggs et al. 2020). Therefore, one hypothesis that synthesizes the results from the two studies is that males are less able to control parasite densities or clear infections, leading to higher parasite prevalence among males, and females are less able to tolerate parasites without fever, leading to a higher probability of symptoms once infected. In addition, these two cohort studies were performed in areas with different transmission intensities, which could also have an effect on the natural history of infections. Reconciling the sex-based findings from these studies will require additional investigation and highlights the need to include sex as an effect modifier in descriptive malaria epidemiology studies, in those exploring the impacts of interventions relevant to prevention and control, and studies evaluating pathophysiologic differences in host immune responses.

The unique role of pregnancy and sex-specific differences in infants following in utero malaria exposure

Although individuals acquire protection against malarial morbidity with increasing age and following repeated *Plasmodium* infections, the risk of *P. falciparum* morbidity increases during pregnancy (Rogerson et al. 2018; Desai et al. 2007). The increased susceptibility of pregnant women to malaria is due, at least in part, to a unique physiologic niche provided by the human placenta. During pregnancy, *P. falciparum* expression of variant surface antigens allows the parasite to bind to chondroitin sulfate A (CSA) on the placental syncytiotrophoblast, leading to placental sequestration of parasites, or placental malaria. These infected red blood cells then stimulate maternal mononuclear cells to express chemokines that enable recruitment of maternal histiocytes, leading to substantial inflammation and intervillositis. This can result in a number of adverse events for the mother, including but not limited to anemia and hypertension. Placental malaria has also been associated with adverse outcomes for the infant including: (1) miscarriage, still birth, and intrauterine growth retardation and (2) low birthweight and fetal anemia (Rogerson et al. 2018; Harrington et al. 2019).

Malaria prevalence is highest in the first and second trimesters of pregnancy and is more common in women who are pregnant for their first time (primigravidae) versus women who have had multiple pregnancies (multigravidae). The reason for this gravidity dependent protection is thought to be due in part to the acquisition of antibodies that block adhesion of infected red blood cells to CSA and other adhesion molecules in the placenta (Rogerson et al. 2007). Similar to non-pregnant women, P. falciparum infection prevalence in pregnancy is affected by season, geographic location, and receipt of malaria prevention including insecticide-treated bed nets and intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy (IPTp) with sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine. IPTp-SP remains one of the main tools recommended by the World Health Organization for reducing malaria-associated adverse birth outcomes (WHO Guidelines for malaria). However, the effectiveness of SP as an antimalarial is threatened by wide-spread antifolate resistance of *P. falciparum* in East and Central Africa (Flegg et al. 2022). In studies investigating alternative drugs for IPTp, dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine (DP) has shown promising results. Compared to IPTp-SP, IPTp-DP was associated with a lower risk of clinical malaria, parasitemia during pregnancy, and placental malaria at delivery (Kakuru et al. 2016; Mlugu et al. 2021; Kajubi et al. 2019). However, in the majority of these studies, IPTp-DP was not associated with improved birth outcomes compared to IPTp-SP, with some suggestion that SP might confer some benefits in pregnancy independent of its antimalarial properties (Roh et al. 2020; Waltmann et al. 2022). Trials testing novel IPTp regimens for malaria, combining agents with both malarial and non-malarial mechanisms of action, are ongoing.

An additional concern of placental malaria is the effect that this exposure may have on the development of the infant's immune system (Harrington et al. 2019; Jagannathan 2018). Several observational studies have reported associations between PM and the risk of malaria, non-malarial febrile illnesses, and malaria in infancy, possibly due to immune tolerance induced by in utero exposure to malaria antigens (Hesran et al. 1997; Schwarz et al. 2008; Malhotra et al. 2009; Jagannathan et al. 2018). It has been unclear whether infant sex may modify these associations.

It has been observed that male infants may experience more negative outcomes as a result of exposure to adverse events in utero as compared to female infants (Hernández-Julián et al. 2014; Kent et al. 2012). In a recent study, male infants born to mothers with a history of severe placental malaria had a higher incidence of malaria in infancy (adjusted incidence rate ratio (aIRR) 2.17, 95% CI 1.45-3.25, p = 0.002); no significant difference was observed among female infants (aIRR 0.74, 95% CI 0.46–1.20, p = 0.22) (Kakuru et al. 2020a). Similarly, male infants born to mothers with severe placental malaria had a higher incidence of complicated malaria and prevalence of parasitemia in infancy in comparison with those born to mothers without placental malaria, with no significant differences with these outcomes observed in female infants (Kakuru et al. 2020a). In another study, effective prevention of malaria in pregnancy with IPTp-DP was associated with a lower risk of malaria in infants compared to IPTp-SP; however, this effect was significantly modified by infant sex (p-value for interaction 0.02) (Kakuru et al. 2020b). Male infants born to mothers given IPTp-DP had a significantly lower incidence of malaria compared with male infants born to mothers given IPT-SP, (IRR 0.75, 95% CI 0.58–0.98, p = 0.03). There was no significant association between IPTp-DP and a female infant's risk of malaria (IRR 0.99, 95% CI 0.79–1.24, p = 0.93) (Kakuru et al. 2020b). Together, these data suggest that there are sex-specific consequences of in utero exposure to malaria parasites in pregnancy.

Regarding mechanisms mediating these sex-specific differences, one study evaluated maternal fetal transfer of antimalarial antibodies and found no significant differences between the sexes (Clifton 2010). Other possibilities for these differences may be due to sex-specific differences in glucocorticoid receptor expression, fetal-placental responsivity to cortisol, or neonatal and infant immune responses, including responses to toll-like receptor ligands and induction of regulatory T-cell populations (Fish 2008; Prahl et al. 2017; Fischinger et al. 2019).

Sex differences in response to RTS, S/AS01 malaria vaccine

Sex-based differences in vaccination-induced immunity have been described for both inactivated and live vaccines (Klein and Flanagan 2016; von Seidlein 2019). Antibody responses to vaccination are typically higher in females compared to males; females also report higher rates of local and systemic adverse reactions. Therefore, it is important to consider sex-based differences in response to the malaria vaccines under development. RTS,S/A01 is the only licensed antimalarial vaccine as of publication and was recently recommended by the WHO for prevention of malaria in moderate and high *P. falciparum* burden regions. The vaccine antigen is made from the carboxyterminal end of the circumsporozoite (CSP) protein of P. falciparum strain NF54 and the hepatitis B virus surface protein (RTS,S Clinical Trials Partnership 2015). The multicenter phase 3 trial of three doses of RTS, S/AS01 at months 0, 1, and 2 and a booster dose at month 20 in children (age 5-17 months) showed a vaccine efficacy of 36.3% (95% CI 31.8-40.5) for clinical malaria and of 32.2% (13.7-46.9) for severe malaria with a median follow up of 48 months (https://fctc.who.int/public ations/i/item/who-position-paper-on-malaria-vaccines). Analysis of vaccine efficacy by sex showed that it was slightly higher among boys than girls 5-17 months of age in the 3-dose group (37% versus 32%) and in the 4-dose group as well (43% versus 35%) (White et al. 2015). In a subsequent analysis of the phase 3 trial data, anti-circumsporozoite antibodies were shown to be a surrogate of protection against clinical malaria, but no sex-based difference was seen in titer levels after vaccination (Klein et al. 2016).

In an unplanned post-hoc analysis of the phase 3 RTS,S/A01 trial data, an imbalance in mortality among girls was noted, with approximately twofold higher deaths among girls who received RTS,S/A01 than those who received comparator vaccines (p = 0.001) (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/ mvip/full-evidence-report-on-the-rtss-as01-malaria-vaccine-for-sage-mpag-%28s ept2021%29.pdf). In contrast, the ratio of deaths among boys was slightly lower in the RTS,S/AS01 arm versus the control arm. The authors of this study pointed out that rather than dispense with these findings as "due to chance" or due to the low female mortality in the control arm, this finding should be further investigated, as other non-live vaccines have greater detrimental effects for girls compared to (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/mvip/full-evi boys dence-report-on-the-rtss-as01-malaria-vaccine-for-sage-mpag-%28sept2021%29. pdf). During the Malaria Vaccine Pilot Evaluation (MVPE), in which the RTS,S/ AS01 vaccine was rolled out in Ghana, Kenya, and Malawi to determine vaccine efficacy in real-world settings, WHO recommended the pilot of the 4-dose schedule should include sufficiently large populations of children 5–17 months of age to address safety concerns. In April 2021, after 24 months of data had been collected, the results showed no evidence of an excess of gender-specific mortality comparing age-eligible children living in implementation areas with those in the comparison areas (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-source/immunization/mvip/full-evi dence-report-on-the-rtss-as01-malaria-vaccine-for-sage-mpag-%28sept2021%29. pdf).

Unfortunately, the full evidence report on the RTS,S/AS01 MVPE program does not report vaccine efficacy by sex (https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/default-sou rce/immunization/mvip/full-evidence-report-on-the-rtss-as01-malaria-vaccine-for-sage-mpag-%28sept2021%29.pdf). There is a newer vaccine in development named R21, which is also CSP-based but uses a different adjuvant (Matrix M). R21 has shown higher efficacy in the field in phase 2 and 3 studies compared to RTS,S/A01, but none of the published data on this vaccine have been disaggregated by sex (Datoo et al. 2022; Baume and Marin 2007).

3 Gender-Based Differences in Malaria Exposure and Care-Seeking May Partially Explain Observed Sex-Specific Differences in Malaria Epidemiology

Given that there is a known increased risk of malaria infection in pregnancy, the studies showing a male bias in malaria prevalence even in age groups with women of childbearing age is an unexpected finding. Behavioral gender-based differences have been posited to explain the male bias in malaria prevalence seen in many studies, since males may spend more time outdoors and therefore have increased exposure to the malaria vector Anopheles (Camargo 1996; Pathak et al. 2012; Kesteman et al. 2014, Mendis et al. 1990; Golassa et al. 2015). For example, in Brazil, Carmargo et al. noted that 40% of males worked outdoors compared to 11% of females, and more adult males worked outside the town limits (Camargo 1996). However, most studies that posited this as an explanation did not assess gender-based differences in behavior. Another way behavior may modify risk of infection is if there are any gender-based differences in perceived risk of infection leading to differential use of protective measures, such as sleeping under a long lasting insecticide-treated net (LLIN), as is recommended in endemic countries. One study discussed that females may be more likely to sleep under bed nets, which would reduce their likelihood of being bitten by mosquitos (Lefèvre et al. 2010).

There may also be gender-based behavioral differences that increase attractiveness to the vector because mosquitoes travel by olfactory cues and pheromones to locate their targets. Males are more likely to consume alcohol in sub-Saharan Africa (Kalichman et al. 2007; Frei et al. 2017), and a study in which male participants imbibed a home-brewed beer made from sorghum demonstrated that the odor emitted by a beer drinker increases their attractiveness to mosquitoes (Kalichman et al. 2007). Males working outside may also increase their susceptibility to malaria due to increased sweating. It has been repeatedly shown that microbial growth enhances the attractiveness of human sweat to the *Anopheles* vector, and one study showed that mosquitoes had no preference for male versus female sterile sweat but preference for male sweat over female once it was incubated with common axilla bacteria (Braks et al. 2000; Smallegange et al. 2011). Additionally, males tend to sweat more while exercising (Lindsay et al. 2000). In females, it is well-established that pregnant females are twice as attractive to a mosquito as a non-pregnant females (Ansell et al. 2002; Himeidan et al. 2004; Tanner and Vlassoff 1998). Therefore, genderbased differential attractiveness to mosquitoes could contribute to being bitten more frequently by malaria-infected mosquitoes.

Furthermore, behavioral patterns related to gender may increase or decrease a person's likelihood of seeking care if they have malaria-like symptoms (Tolhurst et al. 2008), which can bias observational studies looking for true differences in reported malaria cases or malaria incidence. For example, adult males might be less likely to seek medical treatment if they live in a culture where male strength is highly valued, or if they are the primary breadwinner and do not have time off work to seek care. Gender inequalities and power dynamics in domestic partnerships might also result in delayed ability to seek care for women. Mothers' independent access to resources has been identified as an important factor influencing treatment seeking for children, as well as access to male-controlled resources (vom Steeg and Klein 2016). On the other hand, women are often in caretaker roles, which means they may be more likely to attend health facilities to seek care for sick children and therefore have more opportunities to seek care for themselves. This was the case in a recent study in Uganda in which malaria incidence was higher in females in all age groups at 12 public health facilities across Uganda (Okiring et al. 2022). Females were more likely to present for care for non-malarial illnesses compared to males, and in a cross-sectional survey of the communities surrounding the health centers, the risk of reporting a fever in the past 2 weeks and seeking care at the local health facility was higher in females compared to males in those 15–39 years of age and over 39 years.

Nevertheless, gender-specific behavioral and sociocultural differences may not fully explain the sex-specific differences in the incidence of malaria. During the Garki project, no villagers slept under LLINs, and there was still an observable sex-specific difference in malaria infection as assessed by cross-sectional survey (Molineaux et al. 1980). In addition, some studies have shown no differences in the utilization of LLINs in men versus women (Briggs et al. 2020). As pointed out by Pathak et al., if increased time in the outdoors was responsible for increased vector exposure, one would expect the age and sex distribution patterns of parasite positivity to be different for the wet season versus the dry season, and their study found no evidence of this (Pathak et al. 2012).

4 Detailed Investigations into Sex-Based Differences in Malaria Pathogenesis

While gender may explain differences in malaria prevalence or incidence via differences in exposure to infected mosquitos and/or care-seeking behavior, there is substantial signal that biological differences between the sexes factor into the host response to the malaria parasite. Sex-specific differences have long been observed in the pathogenesis of infectious diseases, and, in particular, the host immune response to infection (Klein and Flanagan 2016). In general, females are thought to mount more vigorous innate and adaptive immune responses, both humoral and cell-mediated, clearing infectious disease faster than their male counterparts. Immune cell activation, cytokine production, circulating T lymphocytes, and response to polyclonal stimulation are all higher in females compared with males (Klein and Flanagan 2016). There are many possible reasons for these differences, including sex-specific differences in immune cell gene expression, incomplete X chromosome inactivation, and Y chromosome-encoded immunoregulatory function (Klein and Flanagan 2016; Chan et al. 2022). Furthermore, sex hormones including estrogens, progesterone, and testosterone also have direct effects on immune cell function, and variation in concentrations of these hormones over the lifespan of individuals would predict significant interaction between age, sex, and infection outcomes.

Sex-specific differences in the host immune response to Plasmodium might modify the risk of infection, the response to infection, and/or parasite clearance. Relatively, few studies have been conducted evaluating sex-based differences in the human immune response to *Plasmodium* infection. The Garki project, a cohort study which observed that females had lower prevalence of *Plasmodium* infection than females, also evaluated *Plasmodium*-specific antibodies in a seroprevalence survey. Females, on average, had higher levels of anti-P. falciparum antibodies (IHA and IgM) (Molineaux et al. 1980). The finding of higher malaria-specific antibodies has also been observed in more recent studies, including a study of children in Eastern Uganda (Apio et al. 2020), a study in school children living in Northern Uganda (Kc et al. 2022), and a meta-analysis of adolescents and adults > 11 years of age enrolled in clinical trials of whole sporozoite vaccine (Sanaria PfSPZ) (Kurtis et al. 2001). In the latter study, there were no sex-specific differences in malaria-specific antibody responses observed among children < 11 years of age (Kurtis et al. 2001), consistent with the epidemiologic data presented earlier. However, despite elevated antibody levels seen in post-pubertal females, this study did not observe that this translated to protection from infection (Kurtis et al. 2001). Whether malaria-specific antibodies accelerate clearance remains uncertain.

Regarding sex hormones, a study in Kenya investigated dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS, a pubertal steroid) levels and resistance to *P. falciparum* malaria among 248 males ages 12 to 35 years old males. When stratified by age group (12–14, 15–20, and 21–35), higher DHEAS levels were significantly correlated with lower mean parasitemia and a greater resistance to malaria in both of the older age groups (Leenstra et al. 2003). Another study observed a correlation between higher DHEAS

levels and decreased parasite density among 12–18 year-old school females in a hyperendemic region of western Kenya (Cernetich et al. 2006). Increasing DHEAS levels also correlated with an increase in mean hemoglobin levels (Cernetich et al. 2006).

In animal models, sex-specific differences have long been observed among C57BL6 mice upon infection with the murine malaria strain, Plasmodium Chaubaudi (Wunderlich et al. 1991; Benten et al. 1997; Krücken et al. 2005). In these studies, despite having comparable infection duration and parasite levels during infection, wild-type male mice were significantly more likely to die following P. Chaubaudi infection than wild-type females. Males also exhibited slower recovery and had lower immune responses that were sex-hormone responsive than female mice. In one study, gonadally intact females had higher expression of several cytokines and chemokines following P. Chaubaudi infection, including IFNy and interleukin-10, as well as higher levels of anti-P. Chaubaudi IgG antibodies, than males (Wunderlich et al. 1991). This study also utilized immunodeficient knock-out models to assess the roles of various immune compartments in mediating these sex-specific differences. While adaptive immune responses and IFNy were critically important for parasite clearance and recovery from infection, sexual dimorphisms persisted even in the absence of T or B cells, suggesting an important role for the innate immune response in mediating sex-specific differences in disease outcomes (Wunderlich et al. 1991).

Murine models have also tested the role of sex hormones in malaria pathogenesis. Administration of pharmacologic doses of testosterone suppressed expression of immune-related genes in the livers of female *P. Chaubaudi*-infected mice, and also reduced antibody production (Klein et al. 2008). Gonadectomy of females reversed the sexual dimorphic response to *Plasmodium* infection, suggesting that estradiol may also play an important role in these sex-specific differences (Wunderlich et al. 1991). Indeed, in a follow-up study, administration of estrogen in female C57BL6 mice mitigated weight loss, RBC loss, and hypothermia compared with female mice administered placebo and was associated with higher IFN₃ and interleukin-10 during peak parasitemia as well as higher anti-*P. Chaubaudi* IgG antibodies (vom Stegg et al. 2019). Together, these data suggest that sexually dimorphic differences in hormone production and host immune responses may drive differences in malaria pathogenesis in mice.

Murine models have also tested whether there are sex-specific differences in response to *Plasmodium* vaccination. In one study, adult and juvenile male and female mice were vaccinated with irradiated transgenic *Plasmodium bergheri* sporozoites and then challenged with *P. berheri* 45 days post-vaccination (vom stegg et al. 2019). Adult females were more protected from infection than males, which was associated with higher anti-circumsporozoite (CSP) antibody titers and avidity, as well as some differences in CD8+ T cell populations. However, no sex differences in either these adaptive immune responses or in protection from infection were observed in mice vaccinated prior to puberty. Because this finding suggested a role for steroid hormones, the authors depleted the mice of their respective sex steroids. Depletion

of testosterone in males resulted in greater protection from infection, while depletion of estrogens in female mice did not alter protection. However, although differences in anti-CSP antibody titers were also observed in human trials of irradiated SPZ vaccination, these differences were not associated with heightened protection against infection (Kurtis et al. 2001). Therefore, although murine models recapitulate some of the sex-specific observations seen in humans, such as differences in antibody responses following infection or vaccination, more research is needed to more fully understand mechanisms underlying sexually dimorphic responses following *Plasmodium* infection and vaccination in humans.

5 Summary and Conclusion

Overall, there do appear to be sex-based differences in the prevalence of malaria infection, although this differs across the lifespan. While there appears to be no sexbased difference in malaria prevalence in young children, the preponderance of the existing literature shows that post-pubertal males have a higher prevalence of malaria infection compared to similarly aged females. Data on differences in the clinical incidence of malaria is more mixed, which may be due to a true lack of sex-based differences, differences in how incidence or clinical cases are defined across studies, or differences in care-seeking that may differ across cultures and countries. Recent studies have suggested that post-pubertal females may have a superior ability to clear parasites from the bloodstream (anti-parasite immunity) but may also have a higher risk of becoming symptomatic once infected (anti-disease immunity). It is also clear that pregnancy represents a unique time of vulnerability for adult females, during which the mother is at higher risk for malaria morbidity and mortality compared to non-pregnant females of the same age. Furthermore, in utero malaria exposure may result in sex-specific differences in infant malaria risk, although more definitive data on this is needed.

Both gender and sex may contribute to the observed difference in malaria prevalence in males compared to females. It is possible that behavioral differences related to gender, such as increased time working outdoors or less uptake of household-level malaria control interventions such as bed nets, may increase the risk of malaria exposure in males. While these gender-based differences are often hypothesized, data to support these conjectures is scarce. Sex-specific biological differences likely also contribute to the higher prevalence of malaria infection in males, although mechanisms for this remain unclear. Potential mechanisms discussed in this review that could influence these differences include (but are not limited to): (1) sex-specific differences in host immune responses, including both innate and adaptive immune responses; (2) sex-specific hormonal differences including DHEAS, progesterone, estrogen, and testosterone, (3) heterogeneity of expression of genes on the Xchromosome, and (4) sex-specific differences in glucocorticoid receptor expression. It is still unclear which of the proposed mechanisms above (alone or in combination) is responsible for the sex-specific differences in malaria prevalence seen in humans, though the strongest evidence to date is for sex-specific differences in host immune responses to infection.

Future directions to explore sex-based difference in malaria infection might include longitudinal cohort studies to study how sex hormones (e.g., estrogen/ testosterone within males/females) and antimalarial immune responses (e.g., innate immune recognition, malaria-specific T and B cell responses and antibody responses) are associated with malarial outcomes, including risk of infection, risk of symptomatic disease, severity of symptoms, and ability to control and clear infection. In addition, mechanistic studies are needed to determine how in utero exposure and malarial vaccines may differentially impact males versus females. Though there is currently little evidence in humans to suggest that there are sex-based differences in vaccine efficacy in regard to the leading malaria vaccine candidates, as RTS,S/AS01 and other vaccines are rolled out it will be important to disaggregate vaccine efficacy and other outcomes by sex. Furthermore, as new candidates emerge, sex-based differences should be carefully assessed for and, if discovered, may be useful in deepening our understanding of malaria pathogenesis. In sum, a more thorough understanding of sex-specific differences in malaria pathogenesis may provide opportunities for novel treatment and vaccination strategies, and this should be an active area of future research.

References

- Abdalla SI, Malik EM, Ali KM (2007) The burden of malaria in Sudan: incidence, mortality and disability—adjusted life—years. Malaria J 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-6-97
- Addo MM, Altfeld M (2014) Sex-based differences in HIV type 1 pathogenesis. J Infect Dis 209:S86–S92
- Ansell J, Hamilton KA, Pinder M, Walraven GEL, Lindsay S. W (2002) Short-range attractiveness of pregnant women to Anopheles gambiae mosquitoes. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 96:113–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0035-9203(02)90271-3
- Apio OB et al (2020) Differences in anti malarial antibody concentrations and specificities between male and female Ugandan children. Arch Immunol 2. https://doi.org/10.36959/885/367
- Baume CA, Marin MC (2007) Intra-household mosquito net use in Ethiopia, Ghana, Mali, Nigeria, Senegal, and Zambia: are nets being used? Who in the household uses them? Am J Trop Med Hyg 77:963–971
- Benten WP, Ulrich P, Kühn-Velten WN, Vohr HW, Wunderlich F (1997) Testosterone-induced susceptibility to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria: persistence after withdrawal of testosterone. J Endocrinol 153:275–281
- Bernin H, Lotter H (2014) Sex bias in the outcome of human tropical infectious diseases: influence of steroid hormones. J Infect Dis 209:S107–S113
- Braks MAH, Scholte EJ, Takken W, Dekker T (2000) Microbial growth enhances the attractiveness of human sweat for the malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae* sensu stricto (Diptera: Culicidae). Chemoecology 10:129–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/pl00001814
- Briggs J et al (2020) Sex-based differences in clearance of chronic infection. Elife 9
- Camargo LMA et al (1996) Hypoendemic malaria in Rondonia (Brazil, Western Amazon Region): seasonal variation and risk groups in an urban locality. Am J Trop Med Hyg 55:32–38. https:// doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1996.55.32

- Cernetich A et al (2006) Involvement of gonadal steroids and gamma interferon in sex differences in response to blood-stage malaria infection. Infect Immun 74:3190–3203
- Chan J-A et al (2022) Age-dependent changes in circulating Tfh cells influence development of functional malaria antibodies in children. Nat Commun 13:4159
- Clifton VL (2010) Review: sex and the human placenta: mediating differential strategies of fetal growth and survival. Placenta 31(Suppl):S33–S39
- Creasey A et al (2004) Eleven years of malaria surveillance in a Sudanese village highlights unexpected variation in individual disease susceptibility and outbreak severity. Parasitology 129:263–271. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0031182004005724
- Datoo MS et al (2021) Efficacy of a low-dose candidate malaria vaccine, R21 in adjuvant Matrix-M, with seasonal administration to children in Burkina Faso: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 397:1809–1818
- Datoo MS et al (2022) Efficacy and immunogenicity of R21/Matrix-M vaccine against clinical malaria after 2 years' follow-up in children in Burkina Faso: a phase 1/2b randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis 22:1728–1736
- Desai M et al (2007) Epidemiology and burden of malaria in pregnancy. Lancet Infect Dis 7:93-104
- Fischinger S, Boudreau CM, Butler AL, Streeck H, Alter G (2019) Sex differences in vaccineinduced humoral immunity. Semin Immunopathol 41:239
- Fish EN (2008) The X-files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 8:737–744
- Flegg JA et al (2022) Spatiotemporal spread of Plasmodium falciparum mutations for resistance to sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine across Africa, 1990–2020. PLoS Comput Biol 18:e1010317
- Frei J, Kröber T, Troccaz M, Starkenmann C, Guerin PM (2017) Behavioral response of the malaria mosquito, Anopheles gambiae, to human sweat inoculated with axilla bacteria and to volatiles composing human axillary odor. Chem Senses 42:121–131
- Golassa L et al (2015) Microscopic and molecular evidence of the presence of asymptomatic *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Plasmodium vivax* infections in an area with low, seasonal and unstable malaria transmission in Ethiopia. BMC Infect Dis 15:310
- Harrington WE, Kakuru A, Jagannathan P (2019) Malaria in pregnancy shapes the development of foetal and infant immunity. Parasite Immunol 41:e12573
- Hernández-Julián R, Mansour H, Peters C (2014) The effects of intrauterine malnutrition on birth and fertility outcomes: evidence from the 1974 Bangladesh famine. Demography 51:1775–1796
- Himeidan YE, Elbashir MI, Adam I (2004) Attractiveness of pregnant women to the malaria vector, Anopheles arabiensis, in Sudan. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 98:631–633. https://doi.org/10.1179/ 000349804225021307
- Houngbedji CA et al (2015) Disparities of *Plasmodium falciparum* infection, malaria-related morbidity and access to malaria prevention and treatment among school-aged children: a national cross-sectional survey in Côte d'Ivoire. Malar J 14:7
- Jagannathan P (2018) How does malaria in pregnancy impact malaria risk in infants? BMC Med 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1210-8
- Jagannathan P et al (2018) Dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for intermittent preventive treatment of malaria during pregnancy and risk of malaria in early childhood: a randomized controlled trial. PLoS Med 15:e1002606
- Kajubi R et al (2019) Monthly sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine versus dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy: a double-blind, randomised, controlled, superiority trial. Lancet 393:1428–1439
- Kakuru A et al (2016) Dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine for the prevention of malaria in pregnancy. N Engl J Med 374:928–939
- Kakuru A et al (2020a) Infant sex modifies associations between placental malaria and risk of malaria in infancy. Malar J 19:449
- Kakuru A et al (2020b) Impact of intermittent preventive treatment of malaria in pregnancy with dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine versus sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine on the incidence of malaria in infancy: a randomized controlled trial. BMC Med 18:207

- Kalichman SC, Simbayi LC, Kaufman M, Cain D, Jooste S (2007) Alcohol use and sexual risks for HIV/AIDS in sub-Saharan Africa: systematic review of empirical findings. Prev Sci 8:141–151
- Kc N et al (2022) Increased levels of anti-PfCSP antibodies in post-pubertal females versus males immunized with PfSPZ Vaccine does not translate into increased protective efficacy. Front Immunol 13:1006716
- Kent AL, Wright IMR, Abdel-Latif ME, New South Wales and Australian Capital Territory Neonatal Intensive Care Units Audit Group (2012) Mortality and adverse neurologic outcomes are greater in preterm male infants. Pediatrics 129:124–131
- Kesteman T et al (2014) Nationwide evaluation of malaria infections, morbidity, mortality, and coverage of malaria control interventions in Madagascar. Malar J 13:465
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16:626-638
- Klein PW, Easterbrook JD, Lalime EN, Klein SL (2008) Estrogen and progesterone affect responses to malaria infection in female C57BL/6 mice. Gend Med 5:423–433
- Klein SL, Shann F, Moss WJ, Benn CS, Aaby P (2016) RTS, S malaria vaccine and increased mortality in girls. Mbio 7:e00514-e516
- Krücken J et al (2005) Testosterone suppresses protective responses of the liver to blood-stage malaria. Infect Immun 73:436–443
- Kurtis JD, Mtalib R, Onyango FK, Duffy PE (2001) Human resistance to *Plasmodium falci-parum* increases during puberty and is predicted by dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels. Infect Immun 69:123–128
- Landgraf B, Kollaritsch H, Wiedermann G, Wernsdorfer WH (1994) Parasite density of *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria in Ghanaian schoolchildren: evidence for influence of sex hormones? Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 88:73–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/0035-9203(94)90505-3
- Le Hesran JY et al (1997) Maternal placental infection with *Plasmodium falciparum* and malaria morbidity during the first 2 years of life. Am J Epidemiol 146:826–831
- Leenstra T et al (2003) Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels associated with decreased malaria parasite density and increased hemoglobin concentration in pubertal girls from western Kenya. J Infect Dis 188:297–304
- Lefèvre T et al (2010) Beer consumption increases human attractiveness to malaria mosquitoes. PLoS ONE 5:e9546
- Lindsay S et al (2000) Effect of pregnancy on exposure to malaria mosquitoes. Lancet 355:1972
- Luxemburger C et al (1997) The epidemiology of severe malaria in an area of low transmission in Thailand. Trans Roy Soc Trop Med Hyg 91:256–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0035-920 3(97)90066-3
- Malaria Vaccines: WHO Position Paper—January 2016. https://fctc.who.int/publications/i/item/ who-position-paper-on-malaria-vaccines
- Malhotra I et al (2009) Can prenatal malaria exposure produce an immune tolerant phenotype? A prospective birth cohort study in Kenya. PLoS Med 6:e1000116
- McDonald CR et al (2022) Sex as a determinant of disease severity and clinical outcome in febrile children under five presenting to a regional referral hospital in Uganda. PLoS ONE 17:e0276234
- Mendis C et al (1990) Characteristics of malaria transmission in Kataragama, Sri Lanka: a focus for immuno-epidemiological studies. Am J Trop Med Hyg 42:298–308
- Mlugu EM, Minzi O, Kamuhabwa AAR, Aklillu E (2021) Effectiveness of intermittent preventive treatment with dihydroartemisinin-piperaqunine against malaria in pregnancy in Tanzania: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Pharmacol Ther 110:1478–1489
- Molineaux L, Gramiccia G, Organization WH, Others (1980) The Garki project: research on the epidemiology and control of malaria in the Sudan savanna of West Africa
- Mulu A et al (2013) Epidemiological and clinical correlates of malaria-helminth co-infections in Southern Ethiopia. Malar J 12:227
- Nhamoyebonde S, Leslie A (2014) Biological differences between the sexes and susceptibility to tuberculosis. J Infect Dis 209:S100–S106
- Okiring J et al (2022) Gender difference in the incidence of malaria diagnosed at public health facilities in Uganda. Malar J 21:22

- Olson SH, Gangnon R, Silveira GA, Patz JA (2010) Deforestation and malaria in Mâncio Lima County, Brazil. Emerg Infect Dis 16:1108–1115
- Pathak S et al (2012) Age-dependent sex bias in clinical malarial disease in hypoendemic regions. PLoS ONE 7:e35592
- Prahl M et al (2017) Sex disparity in cord blood FoxP3+ CD4 T regulatory cells in infants exposed to malaria in Utero. Open Forum Infect Dis 4:ofx022
- Rodriguez-Barraquer I et al (2018) Quantification of anti-parasite and anti-disease immunity to malaria as a function of age and exposure. Elife 7
- Rogerson SJ, Hviid L, Duffy PE, Leke RFG, Taylor DW (2007) Malaria in pregnancy: pathogenesis and immunity. Lancet Infect Dis 7:105–117
- Rogerson SJ et al (2018) Burden, pathology, and costs of malaria in pregnancy: new developments for an old problem. Lancet Infect Dis 18:e107–e118
- Roh ME et al (2020) Overall, anti-malarial, and non-malarial effect of intermittent preventive treatment during pregnancy with sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine on birthweight: a mediation analysis. Lancet Glob Health 8:e942–e953
- RTS,S Clinical Trials Partnership (2015) Efficacy and safety of RTS,S/AS01 malaria vaccine with or without a booster dose in infants and children in Africa: final results of a phase 3, individually randomised, controlled trial. Lancet 386:31
- Schwarz NG et al (2008) Placental malaria increases malaria risk in the first 30 months of life. Clin Infect Dis 47:1017–1025
- Smallegange RC, Verhulst NO, Takken W (2011) Sweaty skin: an invitation to bite? Trends Parasitol 27:143–148
- Steeg LGV, vom Steeg LG, Klein SL (2016) SeXX matters in infectious disease pathogenesis. PLOS Pathogens 12:e1005374. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1005374
- Sumner KM et al (2021) Impact of asymptomatic *Plasmodium falciparum* infection on the risk of subsequent symptomatic malaria in a longitudinal cohort in Kenya. eLife 10. https://doi.org/10. 7554/elife.68812
- Tanner M, Vlassoff C (1998) Treatment-seeking behaviour for malaria: a typology based on endemicity and gender. Soc Sci Med 46:523–532
- Tiedje KE et al (2017) Seasonal variation in the epidemiology of asymptomatic infections across two catchment areas in bongo district, Ghana. Am J Trop Med Hyg 97:199–212
- Tolhurst R, Amekudzi YP, Nyonator FK, Bertel Squire S, Theobald S (2008) 'He will ask why the child gets sick so often': the gendered dynamics of intra-household bargaining over healthcare for children with fever in the Volta Region of Ghana. Soc Sci Med 66:1106–1117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2007.11.032
- vom Steeg LG et al (2019) Irradiated sporozoite vaccination induces sex-specific immune responses and protection against malaria in mice. Vaccine 37:4468–4476
- von Seidlein L (2019) The advanced development pathway of the RTS, S/AS01 vaccine. Methods Mol Biol 2013:177–187
- Waltmann A et al (2022) The positive effect of malaria IPTp-SP on birthweight is mediated by gestational weight gain but modifiable by maternal carriage of enteric pathogens. EBioMedicine 77:103871
- White MT et al (2015) Immunogenicity of the RTS, S/AS01 malaria vaccine and implications for duration of vaccine efficacy: secondary analysis of data from a phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis 15:1450
- World Health Organization (2022) World malaria report 2022
- WHO Guidelines for malaria. (World Health Organization)
- World malaria report 2021. https://www.who.int/teams/global-malaria-programme/reports/worldmalaria-report-2021
- Wunderlich F et al (1991) Testosterone and other gonadal factor(s) restrict the efficacy of genes controlling resistance to *Plasmodium chabaudi* malaria. Parasite Immunol 13:357–367. https:/ /doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3024.1991.tb00289.x

Sex Difference in Amebiasis



Marco Er-Lukowiak, Charlotte Hansen, and Hanna Lotter

Abstract Infection with the protozoan parasite *Entamoeba histolytica* is much more likely to cause severe, focal liver damage in males than females, although the infection rate is the same in both sexes. The differences in disease susceptibility may be due to modulation of key mechanisms of the innate immune response by sex hormones. Complement-mediated mechanisms and estrogen-dependent activated natural killer T cells lead to early elimination of the parasite in females, whereas a pathological immune axis is triggered in males. Testosterone, which is generally thought to have more immunosuppressive properties on cells of the immune response, leads to overwhelming activation of monocytes and host-dependent destruction of liver tissue in males resulting in worse outcomes.

1 General Introduction

Prevalence and morbidity of parasitic infections are often greater in men than in women, although exceptions certainly occur (Klein 2004; Bernin and Lotter 2014). Sex differences in the incidence of parasitic disease depend not only on biological sex, but often on sociocultural and behavioral factors that may influence exposure. However, even once relevant studies are adjusted for these factors, there are still hormonal and chromosomal sex-related factors that influence the immune system and thus have an impact on the outcome of infections.

Amebiasis is a prototypical example for a parasitic disease that occurs with a clear sex bias toward males. This human parasitosis is widespread in tropical and

M. Er-Lukowiak e-mail: marco.er-Iokowiak@bnitm.de

C. Hansen e-mail: charlotte.hansen@bnitm.de

209

M. Er-Lukowiak · C. Hansen · H. Lotter (🖂)

Department Interface – RG Molecular Infection Immunology, Bernhard Nocht Institute for Tropical Medicine, Hamburg, Germany e-mail: Iotter@bnitm.de

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_8

subtropical areas and affects approximately 50 million people (Zulfiqar et al. 2022), resulting in 55,000 deaths annually (Shirley et al. 2018). Although several Entamoeba species like *Entamoeba* (*E.*) *dispar* or *E. moshkovskii* are able to infect humans, only *Entamoeba* (*E.*) *histolytica* is able to induce severe clinical symptoms of disease.

Infections with this protozoan parasite occur through ingestion of cysts via contaminated food or drinking water. In the intestine, trophozoites emerge from these cysts and colonize the colon system, where they can persist for several months or even years without causing signs of disease. In about 10% of cases, the parasite invades the mucosa, thereby causing severe symptoms of invasive amebiasis, like dysentery or hemorrhagic colitis. If the parasite penetrates the mucosal wall, it can spread to different organs, like the liver, the lung or the brain, via the bloodstream. In the liver in particular, massive destruction of the liver tissue, known as an amebic liver abscess, is observed. While amebic dysentery affects both men and women, more than 80% of amebic liver abscesses occur in adult men, while the disease is rare in children and women (Blessmann and Tannich 2002). In an epidemiological study from Vietnam, it was shown that the risk of developing an amebic liver abscess increases significantly after puberty in boys. The peak incidence was found in adult men around 40 years of age, with a male-to-female ratio of 7:1 (Blessmann and Tannich 2002). Thereafter, the incidence decreases steadily with age, suggesting a causal relationship with the male sex hormones testosterone and dihydrotestosterone circulating in the serum (Travison et al. 2017). In women, the incidence remains stable but increases slightly with age. Interestingly, the sex difference exists despite higher parasite prevalence in the intestines of women (Blessmann et al. 2003). The sex-specific occurrence of amebic liver abscesses is observed not only in a wide variety of areas around the world (Acuna-Soto et al. 2000), but also in travelers visiting endemic areas (Cordel et al. 2013).

2 Interactions of *E. histolytica* and Host Innate Immunity

To date, the transition between asymptomatic colonization of the intestine and invasion through the intestinal wall by the parasite is not fully understood. The parasite possesses a broad spectrum of effector molecules that form the prerequisite for its pathogenicity, and many of these factors exert an influence on the innate immune system. Since there are considerable general sex-specific differences in the activation of immune cells (Klein 2012; Markle and Fish 2014), the initial contact with the parasite can be decisive for the further course of the disease. Early studies have shown that when the parasite encounters intestinal epithelial cells, the surface galactose/N-actelygalactosamine (GalNAc)-inhibitable lectin initiates a cascade of events (Begum et al. 2020), starting with the production of proinflammatory cytokines and the recruitment of innate immune cells, i.e., neutrophils and macrophages, that are able to amplify and extend the initial immune response by secreting reactive oxygen species, nitric oxide, and further chemokines (Guerrant et al. 1981; Denis 1989a,

211

b). Moreover, binding of GalNAc lectin exerts a direct enhancing effect on NF-KB-dependent mRNA expression of Toll-like receptors (TLR2 and TLR4) by host macrophages (Kammanadiminti et al. 2004). Regardless of whether these findings were collected in vitro or in vivo, there are many avenues through which sex-specific influences could mitigate or support infection at very early stages. However, at the time these studies were conducted, the sex of the host cells engaging with the parasite was not taken into account. As known so far, 17B-estradiol increases the numbers and antimicrobial activity of neutrophils, represented by higher degranulation and release of elastase (Markle and Fish 2014; Klein and Flanagan 2016), and the production of protective interferon gamma (IFNy by natural killer T (NKT) and natural killer (NK) cells (Gourdy 2005; Manukyan et al. 2020), which might contribute to female resistance at the initial site of infection. Another component of the innate immune response, the complement system, is also of high relevance for parasite survival within the host during its spread via the host's blood stream. E. histolytica is highly sensitive for complement-mediated lysis, which has been shown to be mediated by putative serine/threonine kinase (Walderich et al. 1997; Urban et al. 1996). Interestingly, serum samples from female individuals were significantly more effective in lysing *E. histolytica* trophozoites than those from male individuals. Reduction in complement activity induced by heat-inactivation of the serum or addition of EDTA inhibited the killing and abolished this sex difference (Snow et al. 2008). However, further studies to identify the relevant complement component are needed, and similar studies using other microbial agents have not yet been performed.

3 Direct Effect of Hormones on E. Histolytica

There are several examples showing that sex hormones directly affect parasite growth and reproduction and, conversely, parasites themselves are able to affect host sex hormone levels, either by production or consumption of sex hormones (Klein 2004). In the majority of reports, the female sex hormone estradiol exhibits a more positive effect on parasites in vitro, as it increases the growth and reproductive capacity of the tapeworms Taenia crassiceps and Taenia taeniaformis (Escobedo et al. 2004) and also directly enhances the numbers of gametocytes from *Plasmodium falicparum* (Lingnau et al. 1993). The male sex hormones testosterone or dihydrotestosterone, on the other hand, seem to have a more negative effect on parasites. In case of the tape worms, in vitro treatment with testosterone affected DNA integrity, presumably by inducing apoptotic effects (Escobedo et al. 2004). In its sulfated and unsulfated form, the precursor of male sex steroids dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) is the most abundant hormone circulating in the blood (Kamin and Kertes 2017) that exerts antiparasitic effects that exert antiparasitic effects on a variety of parasites. Treatment with DHEA or its analogs inhibits the gametocyte formation of P. falciparum (Freilich et al. 2000), the viability and fertility of Schistosoma ssp. and has been shown to exhibit toxoplasmicidal activity in vitro (Morales-Montor et al. 2001; Remoue 2002; Muniz-Hernandez et al. 2021). Interestingly, DHEA has also been shown to impede adherence, proliferation and motility of *E. histolytica* in vitro and causes lysis of trophozoites in a dose-dependent manner. As determined through patterns of DNA fragmentation and TUNEL assays, trophozoite lysis was presumably mediated by necrotic rather than apoptotic processes (Carrero et al. 2006). In contrast, treatment with 17β -estradiol, progesterone, or testosterone had only minor effects on *E. histolytica* trophozoites (Carrero et al. 2006).

The capacity of parasites to modulate host sex hormone levels might also stem from the expression of androgen and estrogen receptors, as has been shown for *Taenia solium* and other helminths (Escobedo et al. 2004; Aguilar-Diaz et al. 2018; Wu and Loverde 2011), or the production of sex hormones by helminth parasites, as known for *Taenia ssp.* (Romano et al. 2003). To date, neither sex hormone receptors or analogs, nor production of sex hormones have been found in human protozoan parasites.

In summary, parasite viability appears to depend on sex hormones. Parasites are able to modulate host sex hormone levels and thus influence the effect of sex hormones on cells of the immune system and thus the success of their survival in the host.

4 Sex Differences in Human Immunity During Amebiasis

4.1 Innate Immunity in Human Amebiasis

Early studies in the past century have shown that virulent E. histolytica trophozoites are able to ingest and kill neutrophilic granulocytes in vitro in a contactdependent manner (Guerrant et al. 1981). However, previous activation of neutrophils or macrophages with IFNy, tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF), amebic extracts, or the Gal/GalNAc lectin give these cells the ability to kill amebic trophozoites, presumably mediated by nitric oxide (NO) (Salata and Ravdin 1985; Salata et al. 1987; Denis and Chadee 1989a, b; Seguin et al. 1997; Ghadirian and Salimi 1993). However, sex-specific influences on these cells were never addressed at the time. We recently studied differences in the activation of blood monocytes isolated from men and women (Sellau et al. 2020). Three major monocyte subpopulations have been described for humans: classical CD14+CD16-, intermediate CD14+CD16+, and non-classical CD14-CD16+monocyte subpopulations (Geissmann et al. 2003; Auffray et al. 2009; Ziegler-Heitbrock et al. 2010). Although there were no differences in the percentage of these populations in the periphery, classical monocytes from men exhibited a higher expression of the C-C- chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) on the surface. This was interesting because we had previously shown that out of a large group of serum chemokines, only the ligand for this receptor, CCL2, was more highly expressed in men infected with E. histolytica trophozoites in the intestine than in women (Bernin and Lotter 2014). Isolation of classical monocytes from men and women and subsequent stimulation with amebic antigens revealed that CCL2 and,

in particular, CXCL1, a second chemokine involved in the recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to a site of infection, were more highly expressed by monocytes from men than from women. Furthermore, it has been shown that CXCL1 production is further increased in the presence of the highly potent androgen dihydrotestosterone (Sellau et al. 2020). Monocytes and macrophages are a major source of tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF α) (Trinchieri 1991). Upon LPS or amebic antigen stimulation, CD14+CD16- monocytes from men produced slightly higher amounts of TNFα than those from women. Initial in vitro experiments on isolated CD14+CD16- monocytes did not reveal a substantial influence of dihydrotestosterone on TNFa production by monocytes. However, in LPS-stimulated PBMCs from men who underwent testosterone treatment during sex reassignment, testosterone treatment increased the production of TNFa, but also of CCL2 and CXCL1 (Sellau et al. 2020). TNFa seems to be of particular importance for immunopathological mechanisms in invasive amebiasis. For example, in an epidemiological study, TNFa was shown to modulate the outcome of amebic colitis in children. A concentration-dependent increase in 1000 pg/mL TNFα levels correlated with an 18% increased likelihood of developing E. histolytica diarrhea (Peterson 2010).

In addition to excessive recruitment and TNF α -dependent activation of monocytes and neutrophils and their release of nitric oxide (NO) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) to combat the invading parasite, host tissue may also be inadvertently damaged (Moonah 2013). Accordingly, blocking TNF α in two mouse models of amebic colitis and hepatic amebiasis, respectively, reduced inflammation and damage to the intestine and liver (Zhang et al. 2003; Helk et al. 2013). Overall, male sex hormones have an impact on recruitment and activation of innate immune cells, particularly monocytes and macrophages, and thus may potentially contribute to immune-mediated tissue damage in amebiasis.

Natural killer T cells (NKT cells) bridge the innate with the adaptive immune response and are able to mount fast and considerable production of Th1 and Th2 cytokines, thus playing an important regulatory role in a variety of infectious diseases (Godfrey and Kronenberg 2004; Tupin et al. 2007). They express an invariant T cell receptor (TCR), consisting of the V α 24-J α 18/V β 11 chains in humans and V α 14-J α 18/V β 8.2 chains in mice, that recognizes lipid antigens in a CD1d-dependent manner with alpha-Galactosyl Ceramide (aGalCer) being the most potent stimulant (Sullivan and Kronenberg 2005). Based on their expression of CD4 and CD8, NKT cells can be divided into three subpopulations: CD4+, CD8+, and CD4-CD8- (double negative; DN) (Godfrey 2010). Several studies have described higher amounts of circulating NKT cells in women compared to men (Singh et al. 2022; Kee et al. 2012; Bernin et al. 2016). Furthermore, stimulation of iNKT cells with α GalCer induced higher production of intracellular IFNy, IL-4, IL-17, and TNFα by CD4+ and DN+NKT cells from women compared to men (Bernin et al. 2016). Interestingly, E. histolytica trophozoites possess a molecule in their membrane that has been shown to trigger CD1d-dependent production of cytokines in human and murine iNKT cells, the E. histolytica lipopeptide phosphoglycan (EhLPPG) (Lotter et al. 2009). Compared to a GalCer, EhLPPG induces weaker cytokine production with no sex differences in terms of $IFN\gamma$ or IL-4, but a strong tendency toward a higher production of IL-17A in NKT cells from women compared to men (Bernin et al. 2016). Whether this contributes to the sex differences during ALA in human remains to be explored in further epidemiological investigations. However, at least in mice, it has been demonstrated that NKT cells are responsive to female sex hormones, in that estradiol treatment increases IFN γ production upon α GalCer stimulation (Gourdy et al. 2005).

5 Adaptive Immune Responses to Infections with *E. histolytica*

5.1 Humoral Immunity

Severe invasive courses of amebiasis, as well as asymptomatic colonization of the intestine, robustly lead to the induction of a humoral immune response in the host. This includes serum and secretory IgA, IgM, and the four IgG subclasses IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4 (Haque et al. 2001; Moonah et al. 2013; Bernin and Lotter 2014; Kaur et al. 2004).

Secretory IgA is one of the most effective immunoglobulin classes elicited against the intestinal form of amebiasis. Protection from amebic infections was found to be associated with mucosal IgA directed against Gal/GalNAc lectin, with adherence mediating the pathogenicity factor of *E. histolytica* in a cohort of preschool children in Bangladesh (Haque et al. 2001), as well as in patients who had recovered from hepatic amebiasis. Here, high levels of anti-lectin IgA were associated with reduced susceptibility toward subsequent amebic infections in the intestine; however, in all of these studies, the samples were not stratified by sex-specific criteria (Ravdin et al. 2003; Haque et al. 2006; Abd-Alla et al. 2006).

In contrast, no correlation with protection was found with serum IgG titers against the lectin (Haque et al. 2001). In adult ALA patients or asymptomatic carriers, serum anti-amebic IgA was detected only at low titers with no differences between men and women (Bernin and Lotter 2014). However, so far, no association between IgG subclasses and protection has been reported (Moonah et al. 2013). On the contrary, IgG against the Gal/GalNAc lectin favored re-infection in children, and previous episodes of ALA in adults in Vietnam led to 2.7-fold re-infection rates compared to the control group (Blessmann et al. 2003). Analysis of the humoral immune response within this collective revealed that ALA infection induced higher IgG titers in ALA patients compared to asymptomatic controls. Stratified by sex, the IgG and IgG subclass titers were significantly higher in males compared to females between these groups, including serum IgA. Interestingly, in asymptomatically infected carriers, total IgG and IgG1 antibodies were significantly higher in women compared to men (Bernin and Lotter 2014). Because ALA occurred at a male-to-female ratio of 7:1 in this study population from an amebiasis-endemic area in Vietnam (Blessmann and Tannich 2002), it could be hypothesized that the spread of *E. histolytica* was reduced
in females who already possessed higher antibody titers. Since *E. histolytica* infection induces long-lasting anti-amebic antibody titers, it is unclear whether the high titers in asymptomatically infected women are a remnant of controlled pre-infections, or due to continuous challenges to the immune response through subclinical mucosal lesions. Considering the strong complement sensitivity of amebic trophozoites, the high IgG1 levels, as the strongest complement activator among the IgG subclasses, could further explain the previously mentioned higher capacity of female serum to induce complement-mediated lysis of trophozoites (Snow et al. 2008). This, among other mechanisms, may provide another explanation for the resistance toward ALA in women.

5.2 T Cell-Mediated Immunity

In contrast to antibody-dependent immune responses, studies examining CD4 and CD8 T cell-dependent immune responses in invasive amebiasis are very limited and none of these previous studies considered sex-specific differences.

Studies from the 1990s showed that patients with amebic liver abscesses have lower T4-to-T8 ratios compared to age and sex-matched controls. This was thought to be due to a decrease in T4 helper cells and an increase in T8 suppressor cells. In addition, in vitro the proliferative response of the patients' T lymphocytes to the plant mitogen concanavalin A (Con A) was decreased, suggesting immunosuppressive mechanisms in the T cell response during active hepatic amebiasis. Following therapy for amebic hepatic abscess, at least four weeks were necessary for the development of an optimal T cell proliferative response (Salata et al. 1986). An increase in CD8+ cells and a decrease in CD4+ cells in hepatic amebiasis, either in the peripheral blood of patients (Taher uz et al. 1993) or in immunohistochemical studies of human liver sections (Ventura-Juarez et al. 1997) has also been observed in other studies. In non-diseased, but anti-amebic antibody-positive individuals, a high proliferation rate and IL-2 production were observed in T lymphocytes after stimulation with the Gal/ GalNAc lectin (Schain et al. 1992). Besides IL-2, cell-mediated IFNy appears to be effective against amebiasis, not least through its ability to induce amebicidal activity in neutrophils and macrophages. In a prospective study, high IFN γ -production by pediatric peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PMBCs) following stimulation with soluble ameba extract positively correlated with a significantly lower incidence of future amebic diarrhea episodes in children (Haque 2007). Protection against intracecal E. histolytica infection by passive transfer of IFNy and other proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-17-producing T cells, to naive animals later confirmed these findings (Guo et al. 2009; Guo et al. 2011).

6 Host Genetic Influences on Susceptibility to Invasive Amebiasis

Mounting evidence suggests that host genetic factors influence the frequency and severity of *E. histolytica* diarrhea episodes. The HLA class II allele DQB1*0601 and the haplotype DQB1*0601/DRB1*1501 are associated with drastically decreased rates of *E. histolytica* infection (Duggal et al. 2004). More recently, a 12-year study of the Mirpur cohort has shown that a single amino acid replacement (Q223R) in the extracellular domain of the leptin receptor encoded by a SNP is associated with a nearly fourfold increase in susceptibility to infection by *E. histolytica* as well as an overall decrease in time to infection. The effects of the mutation were confirmed only in a population of adult male ALA patients, where homozygosity for the allele encoding arginine at position 223 was associated with twofold increased susceptibility to extraintestinal disease. These observations highlight the importance of leptin signaling and point to a specific mutation that increases susceptibility to *E. histolytica*, decreases time to infection, and increases the likelihood of developing extraintestinal amebiasis, but unfortunately these studies were performed only conducted on male, not female patients (Duggal et al. 2011).

7 Sex Differences in Mouse Models for Amebic Colitis

Innate immunity plays a major role in the control of intestinal and hepatic amebiasis. Most of the findings in this area come from murine models for the disease. Detailed studies on sex-dependent influences arise mostly from the model for hepatic amebiasis. However, there are studies showing that the outbreak rate of amebic colitis appears to be higher in men than in women (Acuna-Soto et al. 2000). In their work, two groups put forward a mouse model for amebic colitis in which they transfer the trophozoite form of E. histolytica into the caecum of anesthetized mice (Hamano et al. 2008) (Houpt et al. 2002). Interestingly, this form of amebic colitis induction can only be performed in a limited number of mouse models, as the commonly used mouse strains C57BL/6 and BALB/c appear to have a natural resistance to intestinal infection with E. histolytica. The CBA and/or C3H mouse line shows the most promising results in terms of infection rate, therefore, when implementing the amebic colitis model in the laboratory, one should focus on working with these mice (Ghosh et al. 1994) (Ghosh 2000). The group of Hamano et al. (2008) investigated this resistance phenomenon and created an F1 hybrid mouse consisting of B6 and CBA DNA. These hybrid mice show similar resistance to amebic infections in the gut as the B6 mouse. They even went one step further and backcrossed the F1 mouse with the B6 parent to create the N2 mouse (25% CBA; 75% B6). Strikingly, a sex difference in infection rate was observed in these N2 mice, with male offspring being significantly more likely to develop amebic colitis (42%) than female N2 offspring (15%). In addition, the group linked the resistance to some mutations and SNPs on

chromosomes 1, 2, 4, 7, and 17 that affect the development of infections, parasite load, and inflammation. (Hamano et al. 2008). When establishing this kind of a mouse model, a reliable scoring method and a series of assays to determine the severity of colitis in the infected mice are needed. A relatively good method is immunohisto-chemistry of paraffin-embedded caecum fractions, which can be used to detect the amount of trophozoites and infiltrating immune cells. Another appropriate method is the detection of *E. histolytica* antigen in mouse feces using a specific ELISA test method. One can also assess mucosal thickness and colon length to distinguish between infected mice tend to produce more IL-4, IL-13 and IFNy, and significantly higher levels of IgA antibodies can also be detected in blood serum (Houpt et al. 2002). All in all, there are very few studies and groups work with this mouse model for amebic colitis and sex-specific aspects have not been considered.

8 Sex Differences in the Murine Model for Hepatic Amebiasis

Hepatic amebiasis leading to the development of amebic liver abscess is one of the most common symptoms of invasive amebiasis following infection with E. histolytica (Gathiram and Jackson 1987). Since humans are the only relevant host for E. histolytica, the development of a suitable immune-competent animal model has been challenging. However, multiple passages through the livers of mice rendered a human isolate strain, HM1: IMSS (Davis et al. 2007), capable of inducing ALA lesions in C57BL/6 mice (Lotter et al. 2006). Most interestingly, this model reflected the same sex differences observed in humans, with larger abscesses and longer times needed for parasite clearance in male mice compared to female mice. However, in contrast to the human disease, mice were able to control abscess development within the first three weeks after infection (Lotter et al. 2006). Upon histological examination, many similarities between humans and rodents in the composition of abscess lesions were found, specifically regarding immune cell infiltrates and central areas of necrosis (Ventura-Juarez et al. 2003). Hormone exchange studies revealed that gonadectomy and testosterone supplementation increased the size of liver abscesses in female mice, while gonadectomy and estradiol treatment of male mice rendered these mice more resistant to ALA development (Lotter et al. 2006; Carrero et al. 2006). IFNy, as mentioned above, plays a crucial role in the immune control of amebic liver abscess. Hence, abscess size is increased in SCID mice with targeted disruption of the IFNy receptor or upon antibody-mediated immune depletion of IFN γ , as is the susceptibility to ALA in female mice (Seydel et al. 2000; Lotter et al. 2006). Furthermore, the female resistance toward ALA development is mirrored by increased production of IFN γ in spleen cells of female mice compared to those of male mice, while larger quantities of non-protective IL-4 are produced in spleen cells

of male mice (Lotter et al. 2006). As noted above, NKT cells are highly abundant in the liver and are an important source of early IFN γ (Godfrey et al. 2004; Tupin et al. 2007). *Eh*LPPG induces IFN γ in NKT cells from the liver in a sex-dependent manner (Lotter et al. 2013). It has been shown that NKT cells from female mice, isolated from the liver during amebic infection, produce more IFN γ following stimulation with *Eh*LPPG or the stimulant α GalCer compared to NKT cells from male mice. Moreover, it could be demonstrated that this IFN γ production was reduced in female mice demonstrated higher IFN γ production compared to non-gonadectomized mice (Lotter et al. 2013; Gourdy et al. 2005).

Using this C57BL/6 model for amebiasis, it was possible to characterize the composition of infiltrating innate immune cells in the early phase of abscess development and their contribution to liver damage (Helk et al. 2013). Antibody-mediated depletion of neutrophils or monocytes resulted in moderate to considerable reduction of abscess sizes, respectively. The use of C-C chemokine receptor 2 (CCR2) knockout mice, in which egress and recruitment of monocytes, is hampered (Shi et al. 2011) as well as adoptive transfer experiments revealed that inflammatory, CCR2+Ly6C^{hi} monocytes substantially contribute to ALA development (Helk et al. 2013).

Furthermore, clodronate-dependent depletion of liver-resident Kupffer cells as well as antibody-dependent depletion of TNFa further confirmed that immunopathological mechanisms underly ALA development in mice (Helk et al. 2013). On the other hand, regenerative and anti-inflammatory Ly6C^{lo} monocytes were found to promote tissue regeneration after ALA induction through expression of the cytokine IL-13 and induction of arginase 1 (Noll 2016). In addition to greater abscess formation in males, significantly higher levels of TNFa, CCL2, and CXCL1, another chemokine involved in the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes, were detected in the sera of male mice compared to female mice during the course of infection. One major source for these cytokines was found to be Ly6Chi monocytes, and unsurprisingly, a higher percentage of these cytokine-producing monocytes was found in the livers of male mice compared to female mice following amebic infection. Most interestingly, following testosterone substitution in gonadectomized male mice, not only did the amount of Ly6Chi monocytes increase substantially compared to placebotreated, gonadectomized male mice, but also the percentage of TNFa, CCL2, and CXCL1-producing Ly6C^{hi} monocytes (Sellau et al. 2020).

In addition, activation of the pathological IL-23/IL-17 immune axis prior to recruitment of monocytes via the chemokine CCL2 could be identified as a factor in the early infection phase (Noll et al. 2016; Gaffen et al. 2014). A lack of IL-23 or IL-17 significantly reduced ALA formation in male mice. IL-17 influences the migration of neutrophils and monocytes into inflammatory tissue by inducing CCL2 expression (Shahrara et al. 2009). TH₁₇ cells have been identified as a major source of IL-17, and a sex bias has been found in terms of the size of this cell population (Groneberg et al. 2022). As counterparts of TH₁₇ cells, T_{reg} cells contribute to an anti-inflammatory milieu and are present in greater numbers in female mice. During the polarization of a naïve T cell into a TH₁₇ or T_{reg} cell, the cytokine IL-6 acts as the main modulator determining the outcome of the polarization. However,

the expression of IL-6 is influenced by the amount of available oxygen, which is present in lower quantities under pathophysiological conditions (such as ALA) and therefore leads to hypoxia in the tissue. Under such conditions, monocytes express more IL-6 (Matsui et al. 1999), which in turn leads to an increase in the TH_{17} population. Hypoxia is associated with overexpression of the protein hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1 α). HIF-1 α can directly activate the TH₁₇-specific transcription factor retinoid-related orphan receptor- $\gamma\tau$ (ROR $\gamma\tau$), converting naive T cells into the TH₁₇ phenotype (Dang et al. 2011; Shi and Pamer 2011). The impact of HIF-1 α on the effects of ALA in mice, particularly in males, is significant enough that deletion of this protein even completely abrogates sex-specific abscess formation (Groneberg et al. 2022). An overview of all the mechanisms and pathways described above that lead to the sex differences in ALA formation is shown in Fig. 1. Translating certain findings to humans, increased CXCL1 levels can be observed in stimulated peripheral blood lymphocytes from men undergoing sex reassignment treatment through administration of testosterone as well as in isolated classical CD14+ monocytes (Sellau et al. 2020). Overall, the ALA mouse model has provided relevant insights into immune mechanisms underlying abscess formation, the composition of the immune cells involved and cytokine expression. Future studies could translate further findings from this animal model to human ALA patients or monocyte-mediated diseases and potentially give rise to new, personalized treatment strategies.



Fig. 1 Sex differences in immune mechanisms underlying E. histolytica-induced liver damage

Intrahepatic infection with *E. histolytica* trophozoites triggers the pathological IL-23/IL-17 immune axis, leading to production of CCL2 and recruitment of TNF α - and CXCL1-producing inflammatory monocytes. The enhanced recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils in males is modulated by androgens and leads to the sex difference in abscess development, while estrogen-dependent IFN γ production by NKT cells contributes to higher resistance in females.

References

- Abd-Alla MD, Jackson TF, Rogers T, Reddy S, Ravdin JI (2006) Mucosal immunity to asymptomatic Entamoeba histolytica and Entamoeba dispar infection is associated with a peak intestinal anti-lectin immunoglobulin A antibody response. Infect Immun 74:3897–3903
- Acuna-Soto R, Maguire JH, Wirth DF (2000) Gender distribution in asymptomatic and invasive amebiasis. Am J Gastroenterol 95:1277–1283
- Aguilar-Diaz H, Nava-Castro KE, Escobedo G, Dominguez-Ramirez L, Garcia-Varela M, Del Rio-Araiza VH, Palacios-Arreola MI, Morales-Montor J (2018) A novel progesterone receptor membrane component (PGRMC) in the human and swine parasite *Taenia solium*: implications to the host-parasite relationship. Parasit Vectors 11:161
- Auffray C, Sieweke MH, Geissmann F (2009) Blood monocytes: development, heterogeneity, and relationship with dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol 27:669–692
- Begum S, Moreau F, Leon Coria A, Chadee K (2020) *Entamoeba histolytica* stimulates the alarmin molecule HMGB1 from macrophages to amplify innate host defenses. Mucosal Immunol 13:344–356
- Bernin H, Lotter H (2014) Sex bias in the outcome of human tropical infectious diseases: influence of steroid hormones. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S107-113
- Bernin H, Fehling H, Marggraff C, Tannich E, Lotter H (2016) The cytokine profile of human NKT cells and PBMCs is dependent on donor sex and stimulus. Med Microbiol Immunol 205:321–332
- Blessmann J, Tannich E (2002) Treatment of asymptomatic intestinal *Entamoeba histolytica* infection. N Engl J Med 347:1384
- Blessmann J, Ali IK, Nu PA, Dinh BT, Viet TQ, Van AL, Clark CG, Tannich E (2003) Longitudinal study of intestinal *Entamoeba histolytica* infections in asymptomatic adult carriers. J Clin Microbiol 41:4745–4750
- Carrero JC, Cervantes C, Moreno-Mendoza N, Saavedra E, Morales-Montor J, Laclette JP (2006) Dehydroepiandrosterone decreases while cortisol increases in vitro growth and viability of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Microbes Infect 8:323–331
- Cordel H, Prendki V, Madec Y, Houze S, Paris L, Bouree P, Caumes E, Matheron S, Bouchaud O, Group ALaS (2013) Imported amoebic liver abscess in France. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7:e2333
- Dang EV, Barbi J, Yang HY, Jinasena D, Yu H, Zheng Y, Bordman Z, Fu J, Kim Y, Yen HR, Luo W, Zeller K, Shimoda L, Topalian SL, Semenza GL, Dang CV, Pardoll DM, Pan F (2011) Control of T(H)17/T(reg) balance by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Cell 146:772–784
- Davis PH, Schulze J, Stanley SL Jr (2007) Transcriptomic comparison of two *Entamoeba histolytica* strains with defined virulence phenotypes identifies new virulence factor candidates and key differences in the expression patterns of cysteine proteases, lectin light chains, and calmodulin. Mol Biochem Parasitol 151:118–128
- Denis M, Chadee K (1989a) Cytokine activation of murine macrophages for in vitro killing of Entamoeba histolytica trophozoites. Infect Immun 57:1750–1756
- Denis M, Chadee K (1989b) Murine T-cell clones against *Entamoeba histolytica*: in vivo and in vitro characterization. Immunology 66:76–82

- Duggal P, Haque R, Roy S, Mondal D, Sack RB, Farr BM, Beaty TH, Petri WA Jr (2004) Influence of human leukocyte antigen class II alleles on susceptibility to Entamoeba histolytica infection in Bangladeshi children. J Infect Dis 189:520-526
- Duggal P, Guo X, Haque R, Peterson KM, Ricklefs S, Mondal D, Alam F, Noor Z, Verkerke HP, Marie C, Leduc CA, Chua SC Jr, Myers MG Jr, Leibel RL, Houpt E, Gilchrist CA, Sher A, Porcella SF, Petri WA Jr (2011) A mutation in the leptin receptor is associated with Entamoeba histolytica infection in children. J Clin Invest 121:1191-1198
- Escobedo G, Larralde C, Chavarria A, Cerbon MA, Morales-Montor J (2004) Molecular mechanisms involved in the differential effects of sex steroids on the reproduction and infectivity of Taenia crassiceps. J Parasitol 90:1235-1244
- Freilich D, Ferris S, Wallace M, Leach L, Kallen A, Frincke J, Ahlem C, Hacker M, Nelson D, Hebert J (2000) 16alpha-bromoepiandrosterone, a dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) analogue, inhibits Plasmodium falciparum and Plasmodium berghei growth. Am J Trop Med Hyg 63:280-283
- Gaffen SL, Jain R, Garg AV, Cua DJ (2014) The IL-23-IL-17 immune axis: from mechanisms to therapeutic testing. Nat Rev Immunol 14:585-600
- Gathiram V, Jackson TF (1987) A longitudinal study of asymptomatic carriers of pathogenic zymodemes of Entamoeba histolytica. S Afr Med J 72:669-672
- Geissmann F, Jung S, Littman DR (2003) Blood monocytes consist of two principal subsets with distinct migratory properties. Immunity 19:71-82
- Ghadirian E, Salimi A (1993) In vitro effect of recombinant interferon gamma in combination with LPS on amoebicidal activity of murine Kupffer cells. Immunobiology 188:203-219
- Ghosh S, Cowen S, Hannan WJ, Ferguson A (1994) Low bone mineral density in Crohn's disease, but not in ulcerative colitis, at diagnosis. Gastroenterology 107:1031-1039
- Ghosh S, Shand A, Ferguson A (2000) Ulcerative colitis. BMJ 320:1119-1123
- Godfrey DI, Kronenberg M (2004) Going both ways: immune regulation via CD1d-dependent NKT cells. J Clin Invest 114:1379-1388
- Godfrey DI, Macdonald HR, Kronenberg M, Smyth MJ, Van Kaer L (2004) NKT cells: what's in a name? Nat Rev Immunol 4:231-237
- Godfrey DI, Stankovic S, Baxter AG (2010) Raising the NKT cell family. Nat Immunol 11:197-206
- Gourdy P, Araujo LM, Zhu R, Garmy-Susini B, Diem S, Laurell H, Leite-De-Moraes M, Dy M, Arnal JF, Bayard F, Herbelin A (2005) Relevance of sexual dimorphism to regulatory T cells: estradiol promotes IFN-gamma production by invariant natural killer T cells. Blood 105:2415-2420
- Groneberg M, Hoenow S, Marggraff C, Fehling H, Metwally NG, Hansen C, Bruchhaus I, Tiegs G, Sellau J, Lotter H (2022) HIF-1alpha modulates sex-specific Th17/Treg responses during hepatic amoebiasis. J Hepatol 76:160-173
- Guerrant RL, Brush J, Ravdin JI, Sullivan JA, Mandell GL (1981) Interaction between Entamoeba histolytica and human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. J Infect Dis 143:83-93
- Guo S, Cobb D, Smeltz RB (2009) T-bet inhibits the in vivo differentiation of parasite-specific CD4+ Th17 cells in a T cell-intrinsic manner. J Immunol 182:6179-6186
- Guo X, Roberts MR, Becker SM, Podd B, Zhang Y, Chua SC Jr, Myers MG Jr, Duggal P, Houpt ER, Petri WA Jr (2011) Leptin signaling in intestinal epithelium mediates resistance to enteric infection by Entamoeba histolytica. Mucosal Immunol 4:294-303
- Hamano S, Becker S, Asgharpour A, Ocasio YP, Stroup SE, Mcduffie M, Houpt E (2008) Gender and genetic control of resistance to intestinal amebiasis in inbred mice. Genes Immun 9:452-461 Haque R (2007) Human intestinal parasites. J Health Popul Nutr 25:387-391
- Haque R, Ali IM, Sack RB, Farr BM, Ramakrishnan G, Petri WA Jr (2001) Amebiasis and mucosal IgA antibody against the Entamoeba histolytica adherence lectin in Bangladeshi children. J Infect Dis 183:1787–1793
- Haque R, Mondal D, Duggal P, Kabir M, Roy S, Farr BM, Sack RB, Petri WA Jr (2006) Entamoeba histolytica infection in children and protection from subsequent amebiasis. Infect Immun 74:904-909

- Helk E, Bernin H, Ernst T, Ittrich H, Jacobs T, Heeren J, Tacke F, Tannich E, Lotter H (2013) TNFalpha-mediated liver destruction by Kupffer cells and Ly6Chi monocytes during *Entamoeba histolytica* infection. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003096
- Houpt ER, Glembocki DJ, Obrig TG, Moskaluk CA, Lockhart LA, Wright RL, Seaner RM, Keepers TR, Wilkins TD, Petri WA Jr (2002) The mouse model of amebic colitis reveals mouse strain susceptibility to infection and exacerbation of disease by CD4+ T cells. J Immunol 169:4496– 4503
- Kamin HS, Kertes DA (2017) Cortisol and DHEA in development and psychopathology. Horm Behav 89:69–85
- Kammanadiminti SJ, Mann BJ, Dutil L, Chadee K (2004) Regulation of Toll-like receptor-2 expression by the Gal-lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica*. FASEB J 18:155–157
- Kaur U, Sharma AK, Sharma M, Vohra H (2004) Distribution of *Entamoeba histolytica* Gal/GalNAc lectin-specific antibody response in an endemic area. Scand J Immunol 60:524–528
- Kee SJ, Park YW, Cho YN, Jin HM, Kim MJ, Lee SJ, Kim TJ, Lee SS, Kwon YS, Jang HC, Kim N, Shin MG, Shin JH, Suh SP, Ryang DW (2012) Age- and gender-related differences in circulating natural killer T cells and their subset levels in healthy Korean adults. Hum Immunol 73:1011–1016
- Klein SL (2004) Hormonal and immunological mechanisms mediating sex differences in parasite infection. Parasite Immunol 26:247–264
- Klein SL (2012) Sex influences immune responses to viruses, and efficacy of prophylaxis and treatments for viral diseases. BioEssays 34:1050–1059
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16:626-638
- Lingnau A, Margos G, Maier WA, Seitz HM (1993) The effects of hormones on the gametocytogenesis of *Plasmodium falciparum* in vitro. Appl Parasitol 34:153–160
- Lotter H, Jacobs T, Gaworski I, Tannich E (2006) Sexual dimorphism in the control of amebic liver abscess in a mouse model of disease. Infect Immun 74:118–124
- Lotter H, Gonzalez-Roldan N, Lindner B, Winau F, Isibasi A, Moreno-Lafont M, Ulmer AJ, Holst O, Tannich E, Jacobs T (2009) Natural killer T cells activated by a lipopeptidophosphoglycan from *Entamoeba histolytica* are critically important to control amebic liver abscess. PLoS Pathog 5:e1000434
- Lotter H, Helk E, Bernin H, Jacobs T, Prehn C, Adamski J, Gonzalez-Roldan N, Holst O, Tannich E (2013) Testosterone increases susceptibility to amebic liver abscess in mice and mediates inhibition of IFN gamma secretion in natural killer T cells. PLoS ONE 8:e55694
- Manukyan G, Martirosyan A, Slavik L, Ulehlova J, Dihel M, Papajik T, Kriegova E (2020) 17beta-Estradiol Promotes proinflammatory and procoagulatory phenotype of innate immune cells in the presence of antiphospholipid antibodies. Biomedicines 8
- Markle JG, Fish EN (2014) SeXX matters in immunity. Trends Immunol 35:97-104
- Matsui H, Ihara Y, Fujio Y, Kunisada K, Akira S, Kishimoto T, Yamauchi-Takihara K (1999) Induction of interleukin (IL)-6 by hypoxia is mediated by nuclear factor (NF)-kappa B and NF-IL6 in cardiac myocytes. Cardiovasc Res 42:104–112
- Moonah SN, Jiang NM, Petri WA Jr (2013) Host immune response to intestinal amebiasis. PLoS Pathog 9:e1003489
- Morales-Montor J, Mohamed F, Ghaleb AM, Baig S, Hallal-Calleros C, Damian RT (2001) In vitro effects of hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (HPA) hormones on *Schistosoma mansoni*. J Parasitol 87:1132–1139
- Muniz-Hernandez S, Luna-Nophal A, Leon CTG, Dominguez-Ramirez L, Patron-Soberano OA, Nava-Castro KE, Ostoa-Saloma P, Morales-Montor J (2021) Dehydroepiandrosterone effect on toxoplasma gondii: molecular mechanisms associated to parasite death. Microorganisms 9
- Noll J, Helk E, Fehling H, Bernin H, Marggraff C, Jacobs T, Huber S, Pelczar P, Ernst T, Ittrich H, Otto B, Mittrucker HW, Holscher C, Tacke F, Bruchhaus I, Tannich E, Lotter H (2016) IL-23 prevents IL-13-dependent tissue repair associated with Ly6C(lo) monocytes in *Entamoeba histolytica*-induced liver damage. J Hepatol 64:1147–1157

- Peterson KM, Shu J, Duggal P, Haque R, Mondal D, Petri WA Jr (2010) Association between TNF-alpha and *Entamoeba histolytica* diarrhea. Am J Trop Med Hyg 82:620–625
- Ravdin JI, Abd-Alla MD, Welles SL, Reddy S, Jackson TF (2003) Intestinal antilectin immunoglobulin A antibody response and immunity to *Entamoeba dispar* infection following cure of amebic liver abscess. Infect Immun 71:6899–6905
- Remoue F, Mani JC, Pugniere M, Schacht AM, Capron A, Riveau G (2002) Functional specific binding of testosterone to *Schistosoma haematobium* 28-kilodalton glutathione S-transferase. Infect Immun 70:601–605
- Romano MC, Valdez RA, Cartas AL, Gomez Y, Larralde C (2003) Steroid hormone production by parasites: the case of *Taenia crassiceps* and *Taenia solium* cysticerci. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 85:221–225
- Salata RA, Ravdin JI (1985) N-Acetyl-D-galactosamine-inhibitable adherence lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica*. II. Mitogenic activity for human lymphocytes. J Infect Dis 151:816–822
- Salata RA, Martinez-Palomo A, Murray HW, Conales L, Trevino N, Segovia E, Murphy CF, Ravdin JI (1986) Patients treated for amebic liver abscess develop cell-mediated immune responses effective in vitro against *Entamoeba histolytica*. J Immunol 136:2633–2639
- Salata RA, Cox JG, Ravdin JI (1987) The interaction of human T-lymphocytes and Entamoeba histolytica: killing of virulent amoebae by lectin-dependent lymphocytes. Parasite Immunol 9:249–261
- Schain DC, Salata RA, Ravdin JI (1992) Human T-lymphocyte proliferation, lymphokine production, and amebicidal activity elicited by the galactose-inhibitable adherence protein of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Infect Immun 60:2143–2146
- Seguin R, Mann BJ, Keller K, Chadee K (1997) The tumor necrosis factor alpha-stimulating region of galactose-inhibitable lectin of *Entamoeba histolytica* activates gamma interferon-primed macrophages for amebicidal activity mediated by nitric oxide. Infect Immun 65:2522–2527
- Sellau J, Groneberg M, Fehling H, Thye T, Hoenow S, Marggraff C, Weskamm M, Hansen C, Stanelle-Bertram S, Kuehl S, Noll J, Wolf V, Metwally NG, Hagen SH, Dorn C, Wernecke J, Ittrich H, Tannich E, Jacobs T, Bruchhaus I, Altfeld M, Lotter H (2020) Androgens predispose males to monocyte-mediated immunopathology by inducing the expression of leukocyte recruitment factor CXCL1. Nat Commun 11:3459
- Seydel KB, Smith SJ, Stanley SL Jr (2000) Innate immunity to amebic liver abscess is dependent on gamma interferon and nitric oxide in a murine model of disease. Infect Immun 68:400–402
- Shahrara S, Pickens SR, Dorfleutner A, Pope RM (2009) IL-17 induces monocyte migration in rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol 182:3884–3891
- Shi C, Pamer EG (2011) Monocyte recruitment during infection and inflammation. Nat Rev Immunol 11:762–774
- Shi LZ, Wang R, Huang G, Vogel P, Neale G, Green DR, Chi H (2011) HIF1alpha-dependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Treg cells. J Exp Med 208:1367–1376
- Shirley DT, Farr L, Watanabe K, Moonah S (2018) A review of the global burden, new diagnostics, and current therapeutics for amebiasis. Open Forum Infect Dis 5:ofy161
- Singh P, Szaraz-Szeles M, Mezei Z, Barath S, Hevessy Z (2022) Gender-dependent frequency of unconventional T cells in a healthy adult Caucasian population: a combinational study of invariant NKT cells, gammadelta T cells, and mucosa-associated invariant T cells. J Leukoc Biol
- Snow M, Chen M, Guo J, Atkinson J, Stanley SL Jr (2008) Differences in complement-mediated killing of *Entamoeba histolytica* between men and women–an explanation for the increased susceptibility of men to invasive amebiasis? Am J Trop Med Hyg 78:922–923
- Sullivan BA, Kronenberg M (2005) Activation or anergy: NKT cells are stunned by alphagalactosylceramide. J Clin Invest 115:2328–2329
- Taher Uz Z, Habibullah CM, Saleem Y (1993) Decreased adenosine deaminase activity in peripheral lymphocytes of patients suffering from amebic liver abscess. Arch Med Res 24:203–204

- Travison TG, Vesper HW, Orwoll E, Wu F, Kaufman JM, Wang Y, Lapauw B, Fiers T, Matsumoto AM, Bhasin S (2017) Harmonized reference ranges for circulating testosterone levels in men of four cohort studies in the United States and Europe. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 102:1161–1173
- Trinchieri G (1991) Regulation of tumor necrosis factor production by monocyte-macrophages and lymphocytes. Immunol Res 10:89–103
- Tupin E, Kinjo Y, Kronenberg M (2007) The unique role of natural killer T cells in the response to microorganisms. Nat Rev Microbiol 5:405–417
- Urban B, Blasig C, Forster B, Hamelmann C, Horstmann RD (1996) Putative serine/threonine protein kinase expressed in complement-resistant forms of *Entamoeba histolytica*. Mol Biochem Parasitol 80:171–178
- Ventura-Juarez J, Campos-Rodriguez R, Rodriguez-Martinez HA, Rodriguez-Reyes A, Martinez-Palomo A, Tsutsumi V (1997) Human amebic liver abscess: expression of intercellular adhesion molecules 1 and 2 and of von Willebrand factor in endothelial cells. Parasitol Res 83:510–514
- Ventura-Juarez J, Jarillo-Luna RA, Fuentes-Aguilar E, Pineda-Vazquez A, Munoz-Fernandez L, Madrid-Reyes JI, Campos-Rodriguez R (2003) Human amoebic hepatic abscess: in situ interactions between trophozoites, macrophages, neutrophils and T cells. Parasite Immunol 25:503–511
- Walderich B, Weber A, Knobloch J (1997) Sensitivity of *Entamoeba histolytica* and *Entamoeba dispar* patient isolates to human complement. Parasite Immunol 19:265–271
- Wu W, Loverde PT (2011) Nuclear hormone receptors in parasitic helminths. Mol Cell Endocrinol 334:56–66
- Zhang Z, Mahajan S, Zhang X, Stanley SL Jr (2003) Tumor necrosis factor alpha is a key mediator of gut inflammation seen in amebic colitis in human intestine in the SCID mouse-human intestinal xenograft model of disease. Infect Immun 71:5355–5359
- Ziegler-Heitbrock L, Ancuta P, Crowe S, Dalod M, Grau V, Hart DN, Leenen PJ, Liu YJ, Macpherson G, Randolph GJ, Scherberich J, Schmitz J, Shortman K, Sozzani S, Strobl H, Zembala M, Austyn JM, Lutz MB (2010) Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. Blood 116:e74-80
- Zulfigar H, Mathew G, Horrall S (2022) In: StatPearls

Sex-Differential and Non-specific Effects of Vaccines Over the Life Course



Laura A. St. Clair, Sabal Chaulagain, Sabra L. Klein, Christine Stabell Benn, and Katie L. Flanagan

Abstract Biological sex and age have profound effects on immune responses throughout the lifespan and impact vaccine acceptance, responses, and outcomes. Mounting evidence from epidemiological, clinical, and animal model studies show that males and females respond differentially to vaccination throughout the lifespan. Within age groups, females tend to produce greater vaccine-induced immune responses than males, with sex differences apparent across all age groups, but are most pronounced among reproductive aged individuals. Females report more adverse effects following vaccination than males. Females, especially among children under 5 years of age, also experience more non-specific effects of vaccination. Despite these known sex- and age-specific differences in vaccine-induced immune responses and outcomes, sex and age are often ignored in vaccine research. Herein, we review the known sex differences in the immunogenicity, effectiveness, reactogenicity, and

L. A. St. Clair · S. Chaulagain · S. L. Klein

S. Chaulagain e-mail: schaula1@jhmi.edu

S. L. Klein e-mail: sklein2@jhu.edu

C. S. Benn Institute of Clinical Research and Danish Institute for Advanced Study, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark e-mail: cbenn@health.sdu.dk

K. L. Flanagan (⊠) Tasmanian Vaccine Trial Centre, Clifford Craig Foundation, Launceston General Hospital, Launceston, TAS, Australia e-mail: katie.flanagan@ths.tas.gov.au

The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023, corrected publication 2023

S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_9

225

The original version of this chapter was revised. The incorrect citation with the author's name Clair, LAS has now been corrected as St. Clair, LA. The correction to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_11

W. Harry Feinstone Department of Molecular Microbiology and Immunology, The Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: lstclai3@jhmi.edu

non-specific effects of vaccination over the lifespan. Ways in which these data can be leveraged to improve vaccine research are described.

1 Introduction

Biological sex (i.e., differences between males and females based on sex chromosome complement, reproductive tissues, and sex steroid concentrations) and age contribute significantly to differences in vaccine acceptance, induced immune responses, and clinical outcomes (Klein et al. 2010). Although females are often less likely to accept vaccines (Pulcini et al. 2013), they tend to develop greater antibody and cellmediated immune responses following vaccination than males (Klein et al. 2010; Umlauf et al. 2012; Zhang et al. 2008) (Fig. 1). After vaccination against influenza, yellow fever, rubella, measles, mumps, hepatitis A and B, herpes simplex 2, rabies, smallpox, dengue viruses, and SARS-CoV-2, protective antibody responses can be as much as twice as high in adult females as compared with males (Klein et al. 2010; Nam et al. 2022). Females are also more likely to develop severe adverse reactions, including local and systemic pain, inflammation, fever, and allergic reactions (Furman et al. 2014; Klein et al. 2010; Poland et al. 2009). It has often been assumed that greater adverse events among females reflects a gender difference (i.e., sociocultural construct that defines behavioral, occupational, and even decision-making strategies) rather than a biological difference, as data on adverse events are often obtained through passive reporting, and females may be more likely to report adverse events than males (Klein and Morgan 2020, Morgan and Klein 2019). Data for COVID-19 mRNA vaccination illustrate that females are more likely to report nonserious adverse events and experience more local reactions (e.g., rash at injection site) and anaphylaxis than males (Blumenthal et al. 2021; Shimabukuro et al. 2021). In response to COVID-19 adenovirus-vectored vaccines, females < 50 years of age are more likely to experience thrombosis and thrombocytopenia (Lai et al. 2021; Li et al. 2022) and males < 50 years of age are more likely to develop myocarditis (Pepe et al. 2021). Many of these more serious adverse events cannot merely be attributed to reporting biases and likely reflect biological differences between the sexes. Furthermore, studies from low-income settings with high infectious disease pressure have revealed that routine childhood vaccines may affect all-cause mortality in such settings, to a degree that is not explained by the vaccine-specific effects, i.e., vaccines also have so-called non-specific effects ("off-target" or "heterologous" effects). Intriguingly, these effects differ greatly between boys and girls, both beneficial and harmful non-specific effects being strongest for girls. These differences are indicative of biological differences in vaccine response already in childhood.

The biology of males and females is not static throughout the life course, but instead reflects the changes that occur in genetic and epigenetic factors, hormones, and environmental interactions over the lifespan (Bronikowski et al. 2022, Fischer et al. 2018, He et al. 2021, Klein and Flanagan 2016); however, minimal consideration is given to how these sex-specific shifts in biology over the life course contribute to



Fig. 1 Vaccine-induced immunity, sex steroids, and immunological responses change over the lifespan. **a** Immunization tables recommend that certain vaccines are given during particular ages, with greater antibody responses observed in males (green) or females (purple) at different life stages. Concentrations of circulating sex steroids (**b**) and sex differences in cell-mediated immune responses (**c**) also change over the life course, reflecting two possible biological mechanisms that impact sex differences in vaccine-induced immunity

vaccine-induced immunity (Fig. 1). The goal of this review is to highlight the breadth of sex differences in vaccine-induced immunogenicity, reactogenicity, and protection against vaccine-preventable diseases as well as non-specific effects on other diseases and all-cause mortality over the life course and provide recommendations to improve pre-clinical and clinical vaccine trials. We propose that all future vaccine studies should evaluate the impact of sex and age on immunological responses and vaccination outcomes.

2 Effects of Biological Sex on Vaccine Responses Over the Life Course

2.1 Birth to 5 Years of Age

As the immune system is not fully developed in neonates, they are particularly vulnerable to microbial infections. Infants have an anti-inflammatory skewed immune response that is characterized by high levels of circulating IL-10, adenosine, and regulatory T cells (Tregs); suboptimal immunological memory; reduced reactivity of innate immune cells; and a Th2-biased adaptive immune response (Burl et al. 2011, Kollmann et al. 2012, Levy et al. 2006, Ndure et al. 2014, Noho-Konteh et al. 2016, Papaioannou et al. 2019, Tsafaras et al. 2020, Zazara and Arck 2019).

Neonates and infants are the target recipients of many vaccines (Fig. 1a). Starting in 1974, the World Health Organization initiated the Expanded Program on Immunization (EPI), through which they have developed standardized vaccination schedules recommended for neonates, infants, and children (World Health Organization 2021).

Antibody responses to many childhood vaccines are greater in females with some exceptions (Flanagan et al. 2015). Females who are vaccinated with the hepatitis B vaccine (HBV) or the combined measles, mumps, rubella vaccine (MMR) by one year of age, but not after, showed greater and longer lasting antibody responses compared to males (Flanagan et al. 2015; Kontio et al. 2016; Trevisan et al. 2020). No sex differences are observed in antibody response to HBV and MMR when children were vaccinated at 5 months or at 18 months of age, respectively (Kontio et al. 2016; Trevisan et al. 2020). Greater antibody responses to diphtheria, pertussis, hepatitis A, HBV, pneumococcus, rabies, human papilloma virus (HPV), and rubella vaccines as well as to the candidate malaria vaccine RTS,S/ASO2 are observed in females compared to males (Boef et al. 2018, Flanagan et al. 2015, Noho-Konteh et al. 2016). In a meta-analysis of individual data from vaccine trials, antibody responses to Haemophilus influenzae type b (Hib) and tetanus toxoid vaccines were found to be comparable among younger aged males and females under 3 years of age (Voysey et al. 2016). Individual studies, however, reveal that females following infant vaccination have moderately higher IgG levels against Hib and tetanus compared to males, while no sex differences are observed in antibody responses to diphtheria and pertussis vaccines (Boef et al. 2018). In a meta-analysis of the published clinical trial data on the quadrivalent HPV vaccine (qHPVV), antibody titers are greater in children (<16 years of age) than in adults, and qHPVV is more immunogenic in females across all age groups than in males (Aldakak et al. 2021). Further, stronger sex differences are observed in vaccine responses against low-risk HPV strains (6 and 11) compared to high-risk strains (16 and 18) (Aldakak et al. 2021).

Compared to humoral responses, data regarding the effect of biological sex on cellmediated responses to childhood vaccination lag further behind and show no clear trend in sex-specific responses. Studies have reported a male bias in cell-mediated immune responses as evidenced by larger bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) scars and tuberculin skin test reactivity in infants under one year age (Burl et al. 2010; Diness et al. 2007) and greater rubella-specific lymphoproliferation (Mitchell 1999) in males aged 15 years old as compared to females. Females have greater herpes simplex 2 virus (HSV-2)-specific CD4+ T cell responses following HSV-2 vaccination (Zhang et al. 2008). Studies of tuberculosis and measles, however, report no sex differences in either *M. tuberculosis*-specific Th1 or Th2 responses (Sartono et al. 2010) or in measles-specific in vitro cytokine responses (Noho-Konteh et al. 2016).

Limited data are available on adverse events following childhood vaccination (Weber et al. 2014). BCG-associated vaccine adverse events such as osteitis/ osteomyelitis and suppurative lymphadenitis are rare, but higher in males compared to females and in individuals vaccinated at age < 6 months compared to children vaccinated at a later age in Japan (Okuno et al. 2022). In general, MMR vaccines cause more adverse events, such as fever, parotitis, meningitis in infant females (Khalil et al. 2003), but more males are affected with MMR-associated thrombocytopenic purpura among children < 5 years old (France et al. 2008). The available data suggest that the sex and age of children can affect the adverse events following childhood vaccination.

Although sex differences in antibody responses following childhood vaccination are reported, it is unclear whether these differences have any clinical relevance as differences in antibody titer may not matter once protective levels are achieved. While many studies of vaccine efficacy in children include equal numbers of both sexes, very few studies stratify their data according to sex. In Guinea-Bissau, measurements of hospitalization rates due to measles showed that measles vaccination was more efficacious in female children below 4 years old compared to males following infant vaccination (Martins et al. 2014). There are contradictory reports on sex differences in the efficacy of the HBV vaccine. In one study, male sex was found to be associated with non-responsiveness to HBV (Zuckerman 2006), while a retrospective follow-up study of Gambian adults vaccinated against HBV during infancy showed no evidence of sex differences in vaccine efficacy (Peto et al. 2014). Another study found that only infant females produced anti-HBV antibody responses above the threshold for protection, predicting that females were likely to be better protected than males (Bocsan et al. 2005). A study in Spain suggested that BCG vaccination efficacy is greater in infant males than females (Altet et al. 1992); there were, however, no sex differences in protective efficacy against TB during a 15-year follow-up study in India (Narayanan 2006). These results highlight a need for sex-disaggregated

clinical data on vaccine responses, efficacy, and non-specific effects in children as it may inform both sex-specific timing and sequencing for childhood vaccines and the use of sex-specific doses.

There are limited data available regarding the immunogenicity, reactogenicity, and effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines in children and infants. Moreover, no studies have presented sex-disaggregated data, so it is unclear whether sex differences in response to COVID-19 vaccination exist in these age groups (Frenck et al. 2021; Sacco et al. 2022). One complication arising from childhood infection with SARS-CoV-2 that is specific to children is that they are at risk of developing multi-systemic inflammatory syndrome (MIS-C), with males having a higher risk than females for MIS-C. Two studies that evaluated the risk of multi-systemic inflammatory syndrome (MIS-C) in hospitalized children report that vaccination with either mRNA-1273 or BNT162b2 is associated with > 90% effectiveness against developing MIS-C (Levy et al. 2022; Zambrano et al. 2022); however, these studies did not disaggregate their data based on sex, so it is unclear if vaccination equally protects male and female children against MIS-C. It is evident that adult females mount greater antibody responses and report more adverse events to the SARS-CoV-2 vaccines than males; whether COVID-19 vaccine-induced immunity and reactogenicity also differs between the sexes at different childhood ages, must be considered.

2.2 Puberty and Adulthood

In contrast to the limited number of sex-stratified studies of vaccination in children, sex differences in vaccine responses after puberty and adulthood are well documented (Fig. 1a). Following vaccination against influenza virus, measles, mumps, rubella, hepatitis A and B, yellow fever virus, dengue viruses, herpes simplex 2, rabies, and COVID-19, greater antibody responses in females compared to males have been reported (Cook 2008; Klein et al. 2016; Nam et al. 2022). In the context of influenza vaccines, females (18-49 years of age) who received either a full or half dose of the trivalent-inactivated vaccine (TIV) had higher neutralizing antibody and hemmaglutination inhibition (HAI) antibody titers against H1N1, H3N2, and influenza B antigens than males (Engler et al. 2008; Furman et al. 2014). In fact, females who received the full dose are observed to have HAI titers that are twice as high as males, while the antibody titers produced by females who received the half-dose vaccine are equivalent to males who received the full-dose vaccine (Engler et al. 2008). This suggests that the effective vaccine dose for influenza is lower in females compared to males and that sex-specific vaccine dosing regimens warrant additional evaluation. In The Netherlands, a large retrospective cohort study found that in healthy adult workers (16-70 years of age) who received the standard three-dose vaccination regimen of HBV, females had higher rates of seroconversion post-vaccination, while males had a greater prevalence of non-response to HBV (Vermeiren et al. 2013). Similar studies in Serbia, Pakistan, and Brazil all found that rates of non-response to HBV were greater among males compared to females (Motta-Castro et al. 2009;

Rosic et al. 2008; Zeeshan et al. 2007). In a study of healthy volunteers vaccinated against yellow fever virus, adult females had greater transcriptional activity of toll-like receptor signaling-associated genes than males (Klein et al. 2010). In response to infection, it is well documented that adult females tend to produce more robust antibody responses than adult males (Ursin et al. 2021). Taken together, vaccination may elicit stronger innate and adaptive immune responses in females compared to males.

While most vaccination studies highlight a predominance of female-biased greater vaccine-induced immunity, there are documented instances in which either a malebias is reported or where conflicting data exist. In a US meta-analysis of smallpox vaccination, males have approximately 27% greater antibody titers after smallpox vaccination than females (Troy et al. 2015), while another study reported that males had greater vaccinia-specific cytokine responses following vaccination compared to females (Haralambieva et al. 2013). In Thailand, vaccination against Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) with the mouse brain-derived inactivated JEV vaccine (MBDV) was introduced as part of the National Immunization Program beginning 1990 (Sudjaritruk et al. 2022). In an age-stratified seroepidemiological study, despite vaccination, JEV seroprotection, as measured by neutralizing antibody responses, only persists in $\sim 50\%$ of the population (Sudjaritruk et al. 2022). Moreover, in adults (21-67 years of age), males have greater neutralizing antibody responses than females (Sudjaritruk et al. 2022). Adolescent males (10-20 years of age) and older males (>51 years of age) have greater neutralizing antibody responses as compared to younger adult males (21-50 years of age) reflecting a pattern of high antibody responses following vaccination, waning immunity, and boosted responses in older adults from JEV exposure (Sudjaritruk et al. 2022). Interestingly, following implementation of JEV vaccines in Thailand, the age distribution of JEV cases shifted from children to adults, likely due to the lower levels of seroprotection among young adults (Sudjaritruk et al. 2022). In a cohort of 748 adolescents (11-19 years of age) who received two doses of the MMR-II vaccine, greater neutralizing antibody titers were observed in females compared with males (Riggenbach et al. 2022). In contrast, isolated peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) cultures from male participants that were stimulated ex vivo with mumps virus secreted greater levels of inflammatory cytokines (e.g., MIP-1 α , MIP-1 β , TNF α , IL-6, INF- γ , and IL-1 β) than PBMCs isolated from female participants (Riggenbach et al. 2022). These results not only suggest that humoral and cell-mediated immunity may be regulated by different processes, but also suggest that they are regulated in a sex-dependent manner (Riggenbach et al. 2022).

From the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic it was clear that, on a global scale, males were more likely to experience severe disease, require ICU admission, require invasive ventilation, and were 30% more likely to die due to COVID-19 than females, all effects that were exacerbated with increasing age (Jacobsen et al. 2021, The Sex and Gender COVID-19 Project 2022). This resulted in two major shifts in the approach to studying sex differences in response to COVID-19 vaccines. The first is that each of the major manufacturers of COVID-19 vaccines (i.e., Moderna—mRNA-1273, Pfizer-BioNTech—BNT162b2, Johnson & Johnson—Ad26.COV2.S,

and AstraZeneca—ChAdOx1) ensured that their clinical trials included an equal number of male and female participants (Jensen et al. 2022). BNT162b2, mRNA-1273, and Ad26.COV2.S vaccine trials included sex-disaggregated efficacy data showing no statistical differences between males and females (Jensen et al. 2022). Sex- and age-disaggregated data, however, are only reported for the BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273 vaccines (Baden et al. 2021; Polack et al. 2020). The second shift came from within the research community as an unprecedented number of peer-reviewed studies evaluated sex- and age-specific efficacy, safety, and durability of SARS-CoV-2-specific immunity post-vaccination and boosting as new SARS-CoV-2 variants emerged. Noteworthy, adverse event data were not reported by sex.

Overall, adult females have been shown to have greater COVID-19 vaccineinduced antibody titers and durability of immunity against both mRNA and adenovirus-vectored vaccine platform; mRNA vaccines and heterologous vaccine schedules elicit greater antibody responses in both males and females than adenovirus-vectored platforms (Collatuzzo et al. 2022; Hvidt et al. 2022; Nam et al. 2022; Steensels et al. 2021). Furthermore, adult individuals who receive the mRNA-1273 vaccine compared to BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine consistently have greater antibody responses both post-initial vaccine dose and post-boosting, likely attributable to the greater mRNA dose in the former vaccine (Collatuzzo et al. 2022; Hvidt et al. 2022; Lo Sasso et al. 2021; Nam et al. 2022; Steensels et al. 2021).

Reports of sex-specific adverse events in adults following COVID-19 vaccination have been varied. In general, greater reactogenicity (i.e., local reactions and systemic pain, fever, headache, and fatigue) following both the first and second doses of the BNT162b2, mRNA-1273, and ChAdOx1 vaccines is reported for adult females compared to adult males (Hoffmann et al. 2021, Ogawa et al. 2022). In one study, younger adults (median age of 33 years) reported greater adverse events than middle-aged adults (median age of 43 years) (Wi et al. 2021). While serious adverse reactions are rare following COVID-19 vaccination, some studies have shown that 70% of serious adverse reactions are reported in females and that females are at greater risk for development of anaphylaxis (Blumenthal et al. 2021; Shimabukuro et al. 2021; Somiya et al. 2021) and vaccine-inducted thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) (Greinacher et al. 2021; Lai et al. 2021). The observation of VITT is primarily associated with the adenovirus-vectored vaccines ChAdOx1 and Ad26-COV2.S (Greinacher et al. 2021; Li et al. 2022). Despite a predominance of adverse events reported in females, adolescent and young adult males (12-39 years of age) are at 10 times greater risk for developing myocarditis and pericarditis following vaccination with COVID-19 mRNA vaccines (Bozkurt et al. 2021; Klein et al. 2021; Pepe et al. 2021). Given the extent and range of sex-specific immunogenicity and reactogenicity of each COVID-19 vaccine platform, each platform must be carefully evaluated for sex- and age-associated efficacy and safety.

In addition to COVID-19 vaccination, adverse events are generally more common in adult females than males for several vaccines, including influenza, hepatitis B, and yellow fever vaccines (Klein et al. 2015). Females requiring yellow fever, diphtheria, tetanus toxoids, oral polio, and oral typhoid vaccines prior to traveling report more adverse events than males (Philipps et al. 1996). While generally considered safe, the prevalence of death due to viscerotropic disease following yellow fever vaccination is higher in young adult females (19–34 years of age) than males (Seligman 2011). However, analysis of reporting data in the US from 2000 to 2006 found that males reported more serious adverse events following yellow fever vaccination (Lindsey et al. 2008).

While vaccine-induced antibody production is often utilized as a correlate of protection (Klein et al. 2010), it is important to note that vaccine-induced immune responses and vaccine efficacy are not the same. One example of this difference is evident from two double-blind phase 3 randomized efficacy trials of the herpes simplex type 2 (HSV-2) glycoprotein-D-adjuvant subunit vaccine with adult participants (>18 years of age) from four countries (Stanberry et al. 2002). In this study, researchers reported no sex differences in humoral and cell-mediated immune responses following vaccination, but initially found that the vaccine was not efficacious against HSV infection when the data were not stratified by sex and prior exposure to HSV (Stanberry et al. 2002). However, further analysis determined that the vaccine was effective at preventing HSV infection in ~ 70% of females that were seronegative for both HSV-1 and HSV-2, but was not effective at preventing infection in seronegative males (Stanberry et al. 2002). In combined analysis of four influenza virus challenge studies, individuals were assessed for pre-existing antibody titers to influenza prior to viral challenge; while females had overall higher pre- and post-challenge HAI and neutralizing antibody titers compared to males, males had consistently higher neuraminidase inhibition (NAI) titers than females both pre- and post-challenge (Giurgea et al. 2022). Importantly, females were more likely to develop symptoms than males post-challenge (Giurgea et al. 2022). Thus, these studies highlight that while immunogenicity may be either higher in one sex or equivalent between sexes, efficacy can also vary which adds an additional layer of complexity to these issues.

The use of animal models can provide insights into sex differences in vaccine efficacy. Adult females of diverse species tend to have greater antibody responses than males (Klein et al. 2016). In adult non-human primates, following vaccination against simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), females show increased local IgA antibody titers, numbers of memory B cells, and numbers of plasma cells as compared to males (Mohanram et al. 2016; Tuero et al. 2015). SIV-vaccinated females also have elevated levels of virus-specific IgG1, IgG2, and IgG3 antibodies as compared to males, with anti-SIV IgG3 antibody levels correlating with antibody-mediated cytotoxicity and phagocytic activity, suggesting that the quality of the antibody response is greater in females than males (Mohanram et al. 2016). Studies in mice further illustrate that following vaccination or challenge, females develop greater systemic and mucosal antibody responses than males (Dhakal et al. 2021; Lorenzo et al. 2011). When immunized with an H1N1 or H3N2 influenza virus, adult female mice mount greater neutralizing and total antibody responses than males (Lorenzo et al. 2011). Following vaccination, female mice are better protected against lethal challenge with a novel influenza strain than males (Lorenzo et al. 2011, Ursin et al. 2022).

2.3 Aged Individuals

Overall, antibody responses tend to be lower in aged adults (>65 years of age) than younger adults (18-64 years of age) (Hag et al. 2014; Poland et al. 2014; Shapiro et al. 2022a, b). The occurrence and magnitude of sex differences in vaccine responses in aged individuals, however, differ greatly by vaccine antigen. Aged females (65-74 years of age) have greater antibody responses following vaccination with the seasonal and pandemic 2009 H1N1 (pH1N1) influenza vaccines than males (Booy et al. 2011; Furman et al. 2014; Khurana et al. 2012; Loeb et al. 2020; Talaat et al. 2010) and are reported to have seroconversion and seropositivity rates 2-3 times higher than age-matched males (Kao et al. 2010; Moehling et al. 2020). While aged females had greater antibody responses to the pH1N1 vaccine, males generated antibodies with greater avidity (Khurana et al. 2012). Among aged as well as adult females, greater seroconversion of neutralizing antibody responses to the pH1N1 vaccine is associated with greater circulating concentrations of estradiol (Potluri et al. 2019). In a longitudinal study of adults over 75 years of age who were vaccinated with a high-dose influenza vaccine in at least four out of six influenza seasons, prevaccination HAI titers against H3N2 and influenza B (but not H1N1) decreased with age in males and remained constant in females (Shapiro et al. 2021a, b). This decline in the durability of humoral immune responses in males may explain why males are more susceptible to influenza B infection and hospitalization (Wang et al. 2015; Wong et al. 2019) and highlights a need to consider sex-specific vaccine strategies in older adult populations (Klein and Pekosz 2014).

In contrast to influenza vaccination, aged males produce greater antibody responses to pneumococcal vaccines than females (Brandão et al. 2004; Cook et al. 2007; Goldblatt et al. 2009). In older adults (50–80 years of age) who received the two-dose seven-valent pneumococcal vaccine, aged males not only had higher serotype-specific IgG antibodies following each dose than females, but also had a greater increase in their antibody response following receipt of the second dose than females (Goldblatt et al. 2009). In long-term care residents who received the 23-valent pneumococcal vaccine, IgG antibody responses against all four of the pneumococcal serotypes analyzed were greater in aged males than females (Brandão et al. 2004). Greater male responses to Td/Tdap vaccines (tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis) in aged individuals has also been reported (Bayas et al. 2001; Hainz et al. 2005; Marlovits et al. 2000).

Whether there are sex differences in aged individuals in response to COVID-19 vaccines is not clear as there are several conflicting reports. In a study that compared immune responses of long-term care residents (median age of 88 years) in Ontario, Canada, who received two doses of either the BNT162b2 or mRNA-1273 vaccine, females had greater anti-spike IgG, anti-spike RBD IgG, and neutralizing antibodies titers following the initial vaccine dose than males, but this sex difference was not apparent following the second dose (Abe et al. 2021). Notably, individuals who received the mRNA-1273 had greater neutralizing antibody titers (2.95-fold) to the

vaccine strain and broader neutralization capacity against other SARS-COV-2 variants than those who received the BNT162b2 (Abe et al. 2021). One key difference between the mRNA-1273 and BNT162b2 vaccines is that the mRNA-1273 contains a higher dose of mRNA (i.e., 100 μ g) than the BNT162b2 vaccine (i.e., 30 μ g) (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2022). Similar to influenza vaccination, high-dose COVID-19 vaccines may be more effective for people over 65 years of age. In a study comparing SARS-CoV-2 naïve healthcare workers (HCWs, median age of 48 years) and SARS-CoV-2 naïve long-term care residents (median age of 76 years) in Ohio, long-term care residents had lower post-vaccination titers following receipt of the second dose of BNT162b2 compared to HCWs (Canaday et al. 2021). No sex differences were noted following receipt of the initial vaccine doses, but a strong negative correlation between age and antibody titers was observed (Canaday et al. 2021). In aged individuals who received both doses of the BNT162b2 and also had prior SARS-CoV-2 infections, post-vaccination antibody levels were greater in females than males (Canaday et al. 2021). This study also found that older individuals who were assessed as being frail produced 75% lower antibody responses than healthy, aged adults (Canaday et al. 2021). In contrast, in a study examining vaccine responses following three dose of either mRNA-1273 or BNT162b2 in older adults (75–98 years of age) compared to younger healthcare workers (18–74 years of age) in the Baltimore area, it was reported that aged females produce greater anti-spike IgG, anti-spike RBD IgG and neutralizing antibody titers than aged males following receipt of the initial vaccine series (Shapiro et al. 2022a, b). When results were evaluated to determine the sex-specific effects of age on humoral responses, age-associated reductions in humoral immune responses are greater in males than females following receipt of the first two vaccine doses (Shapiro et al. 2022a, b). Receipt of the third

Among aged individuals, females aged 65 and older are more likely to report systemic adverse reactions (i.e., fever, headache, myalgia, redness, swelling, and injection site pain) in response to the pneumococcal vaccines, the herpes zoster vaccine, influenza vaccines, Td/Tdap, and COVID-19 vaccines (Fink et al. 2015, Hoffmann et al. 2021, Klein et al. 2021). It is unclear whether these differences in adverse reactions reflect a sex difference in reactogenicity or a gender bias in reporting. Interestingly, reporting of serious adverse reactions following COVID-19 vaccination is higher in younger adults than older, and serious adverse reactions are more common in adult females than males (Xiong et al. 2021). However, while fewer serious adverse reactions are reported in aged individuals, men have more serious adverse reactions (including permanent disability and death) than females for individuals 65 years of age and older (Xiong et al. 2021).

booster dose eliminated these sex differences (Shapiro et al. 2022a, b).

There are a limited number of studies evaluating vaccine efficacy in the elderly that include sex-disaggregated data. In a study of older community-dwelling adults in Taiwan who received the seasonal influenza vaccine, an association between higher HAI titers and lower rates of hospitalization and reduced risk of mortality was found in females (Wang et al. 2002). Influenza vaccine effectiveness, determined by all-cause mortality, is also reportedly higher in aged females than males in Spain (Vila-Córcoles et al. 2007), England (Fleming et al. 1995), and the USA (Nichol et al. 2007).

Similarly, several retrospective analyses have shown that among older adults who received herpes zoster or pneumococcal vaccines, aged females are better protected against disease and mortality than males (Hillebrand et al. 2015). In Germany, hospitalization rates for herpes zoster infection were found to be higher in older vaccinated males than females (Hillebrand et al. 2015). A study evaluating the cause of death registered on the US death certificates discovered that there was a significant decline in pneumonia-associated mortality among aged females compared to males following the introduction of the 23-valent pneumococcal vaccine in 1983 (Soneji et al. 2011). Similarly, older females were reported to be better protected against hospitalization due to community-acquired *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection in the USA and Europe (Wiemken et al. 2014). While the amount of sex-disaggregated data on vaccine efficacy are certainly limited, these studies seem to suggest that vaccine efficacy is generally higher among aged females than males.

3 Sex Differences in Non-specific Effects of Vaccines

3.1 Epidemiological Studies

The sexes differ in the non-specific effects (NSEs) (also called off-target or heterologous effects) following vaccination. NSEs of vaccines are best defined as effects on morbidity and mortality (either increase or decrease) that are unrelated to prevention of the disease targeted by that vaccine (Aaby et al. 2014). Many studies have demonstrated sex-differential NSEs of vaccines, and in keeping with the trends showing greater antibody responses and adverse events in females following vaccination, females are generally more susceptible to NSEs (Aaby et al. 2020, Aaby et al. 2014, Benn et al. 2020, Flanagan et al. 2017, Flanagan et al. 2013).

The first evidence of NSEs of vaccines was discovered in randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of the high-titer measles vaccine (HTMV) that occurred in the late 1980s (Aaby et al. 2003). This vaccine was administered to infants (4–6 months of age) in measles endemic areas to determine whether the HTMV vaccine was as effective in younger infants as the standard dose MV that was given to infants > 9 months old (Aaby et al. 2003). While initial reports showed that the HTMV vaccine-induced antibody responses that were as effective as the standard dose given after 9 months of age, additional studies found a two-fold increase in the mortality among female recipients of HTMV compared to male recipients (Aaby et al. 2003; Knudsen et al. 1996). This was the first evidence that a vaccine could be protective against its targeted pathogen while have non-specific deleterious effects on susceptibility to other pathogens in a sex-differential manner (Aaby et al. 2003).

Subsequent studies evaluating other childhood vaccines have shown that many vaccines have sex-differential NSEs. Overall, the current evidence suggests that live vaccines are associated with beneficial NSEs with improved morbidity and mortality, while non-live vaccines are associated with deleterious NSEs (Aaby et al. 2014,

Flanagan et al. 2017, Flanagan et al. 2013). Both the beneficial and the deleterious NSEs are generally most pronounced in females. The live BCG vaccine is one of the best characterized vaccines in relation to NSEs. A number of observational studies and RCTs have shown that neonatal BCG vaccination is associated with reduced overall infant mortality as compared to infants who did not receive the vaccine (Flanagan et al. 2013; Shann 2010). Several recent RCTs in Guinea-Bissau of BCG vaccination of low-birth weight neonates, a group normally excluded from BCG vaccination, found BCG associated with a 38% (CI = 17-54%) decrease in mortality in the first four weeks of life (Biering-Sørensen et al. 2017). It was determined that BCG vaccination protected these neonates from respiratory infections and sepsis which are the most common causes of neonatal mortality among low-birth weight children in low-income countries (Aaby et al. 2011). A recent Ugandan RCT showed that neonatal BCG vaccination reduced physician-diagnosed non-tuberculous infectious disease incidence by 29% (95% CI = 5-47%) in the first 6 weeks of life as compared to BCG naïve infants (Prentice et al. 2021). Interestingly, the studies in Guinea-Bissau and another study in The Gambia found that the decrease in mortality following BCG vaccination was greater in females compared to males (Aaby et al. 2011; Garly et al. 2003). The male mortality reduction followed a different time-course to the female reduction, being in the first week of life for males but weeks 2–4 for females at which time the effect had waned for males (Biering-Sørensen et al. 2018). However, a systematic review by the Strategic Advisory Group of Experts (SAGE) on vaccination at the WHO indicated that the BCG effects were not convincingly sex-differential (Higgins et al. 2016). A fascinating observation is that maternal BCG status, as evidenced by the presence of a maternal BCG scar, provides sex-differential vertical protection to the newborn with improved male survival, particularly against sepsis (Schaltz-Buchholzer et al. 2022).

Live standard dose measles vaccine has consistently been associated with stronger reductions in all-cause mortality in females than in males. The systematic WHO/ SAGE review analyzed two RCTs and ten observational studies and concluded that measles vaccine was associated with a 54% (95% CI 22–94%) more beneficial effect on all-cause mortality in females than in males (Higgins et al. 2016). Another live vaccine, smallpox vaccine, has also been associated with stronger NSEs in females than in males. The presence of a smallpox vaccination scar is linked with protective NSEs with improved long-term survival in Danish (Rieckmann et al. 2017) and West African adults (Jensen et al. 2006). The latter study showed a greater survival benefit to females, and another smallpox scar study also showed that smallpox vaccination was associated with protection against HIV-1 infection in women but not in men (Rieckmann et al. 2019).

The live oral polio vaccine (OPV) is the only live vaccine which seems to have more beneficial NSEs in males. It has been linked with sex-differential NSEs with lower mortality in boys receiving OPV plus pentavalent vaccine as compared to unvaccinated infants (Pfeiffer et al. 2017). The same more beneficial effect of OPV in males vs. females has been seen in studies of OPV campaigns (Andersen et al. 2021, 2018). In an RCT of BCG + OPV vs. BCG-alone at birth, following children until the time of OPV campaigns, receiving OPV-BCG vs. BCG-alone was associated with 32% (95% CI 0–55%) reduction in all-cause mortality, the beneficial effect being separately significant for males (45% 95% CI 5–68%) (Lund et al. 2015). In a Russian RCT of 1,115 adult volunteers, OPV protected against laboratory confirmed COVID-19 as compared to the placebo group (Yagovkina et al. 2022). The data were not analyzed by sex. In a Guinean RCT of 3,726 individuals aged 50 years and older, OPV was associated with a 29% (95% CI = 2–49%) reduction in the risk of mortality, admissions, and consultation for infections in males during the COVID-19 pandemic, whereas it had no effect in females (Fisker et al. 2022). Thus, while the live BCG, MV, and smallpox vaccines seem to be associated with more beneficial NSEs in females than in males, OPV seems to be associated with more beneficial NSEs in males.

Several inactivated vaccines including diphtheria-tetanus-whole cell pertussis (DTwP), HBV, and inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) have been associated with harmful non-specific effects (Aaby et al. 2012, 2007, 2016; Garly et al. 2004). Observational studies have shown an increase in mortality in children who received the DTwP vaccine, especially in females compared to males (Aaby et al. 2012; Shann 2010), although a more recent study found no such effect, possibly due to the confounding effects of lower mortality rates, high BCG coverage, and OPV campaigns (Sørensen et al. 2022).

The RTS,S malaria vaccine, which is based on hepatitis B surface antigen plus the malarial circumsporozoite protein in ASO1 liposome-based adjuvant, was found in phase III clinical trials to be associated with higher all-cause mortality in girls (mortality ratio 1.91, 95% CI 1.30–2.79, p = 0.0006), but no such effect was observed in boys (mortality ratio 0.84, 95% CI 0.61—1.17, p = 0.33) in two age groups (6– 12 weeks and 5–17 months). This highly significant sex-differential effect (p = 0.001) suggests that the vaccine has deleterious NSE in female recipients in keeping with other non-live vaccines and warrants further investigation given its relatively poor efficacy of 18–36% against clinical malaria (Klein et al. 2016).

The deleterious effects of DTP and other non-live vaccines in females are seen as long as the vaccine is the most recent vaccine. Upon scrutiny, it was discovered that the HTMV vaccine itself was not deleterious to females, but that the combination of receiving HTMV and then subsequent vaccination with either the DTwP vaccine, IPV, or the DTwP-IPV vaccine is what led to the increased risk of mortality (Aaby et al. 2003). The findings that the NSEs are sex-differential and strongest as long as a given vaccine is the most recent vaccine open the possibility that males and females may benefit from different routine vaccination schedules. A schedule that ensures that females in particular have a live vaccines for most of their childhood would likely be associated with lower all-cause mortality alongside specific protection against the vaccine-targeted diseases (Shann 2021).

3.2 Immunological Mechanisms for Sex-Differential NSE of Vaccines

The biological and immunological mechanisms that underpin sex differences in NSEs of vaccines have been unclear (Flanagan et al. 2017; Flanagan et al. 2013), but mechanistic explanations are starting to emerge in the literature (de Bree et al. 2018a, b). Biologically, it makes sense that NSEs of vaccines would be sex-differential given the myriad of X-linked immune response genes and microRNAs (Fish 2008); the opposing effects of male and female sex hormones on the immune system (Klein and Flanagan 2016); and the finding that even the microbiome is sex-differential (Vemuri et al. 2019).

Several studies have shown that BCG vaccination causes epigenetic and metabolic reprogramming leading to enhanced innate immunity, a process called trained immunity (Bekkering et al. 2021; Netea et al. 2020). Epigenetic effects of BCG vaccination in humans were initially demonstrated in adults (Kleinnijenhuis et al. 2012) but have also been confirmed in neonates. An Australian study showed epigenetic remodeling of circulating monocytes persisting to greater than 1 year post-BCG vaccination (Bannister et al. 2022), and a Ugandan neonatal study found significantly lower histone trimethylation at the TNF promoter in BCG-vaccinated infants compared to a BCG naïve group (Prentice et al. 2021). An immunological study of low-birth weight infants immunized with BCG in Guinea-Bissau found that the protective NSEs of BCG were associated with enhanced innate immune responses at 4 weeks of age, with better enhancement in infant females compared to males (Jensen et al. 2015), at the age when females were observed to benefit most from BCG (Biering-Sørensen et al. 2018). A study of Australian newborns found that BCG + HBV vaccination at birth led to decreased IFN- γ in males 7 days after vaccination as compared to unvaccinated infants and increased IFN-y production in female neonates (Nissen et al. 2018; Pittet et al. 2022). A study of the impact of the sex hormones estrogen and dihydrotestosterone on the training of monocytes by BCG suggests that they are unlikely to play a role in innate immune training, and thus, other mechanisms for sex-differential NSE of BCG should be sought (de Bree et al. 2018a, b).

A Gambian infant study found that measles vaccination increased proinflammatory innate immune responses in male infants, whereas DTwP vaccination suppressed T cell and innate immune responses in infant females but not males (Noho-Konteh et al. 2016). In a study in Guinea-Bissau, infant females vaccinated against measles were found to have increased plasma concentrations of IL-1ra, CXCL8, and CCL2 compared to males (Jensen et al. 2014). Whether DTwP and measles vaccines cause epigenetic changes has not been explored but clearly warrants investigation. In a small study, oral polio revaccination was associated with changes in gut and upper respiratory microbiomes of infants (Medeiros et al. 2022). The study was too small to assess sex differences, but the findings may help to explain why the OPVinduced immune response seems to play a role against pathogenic gut bacteria by reducing etiology-specific bacterial diarrhea in male infants (Upfill-Brown et al. 2017). Taken together, these results highlight the fact that vaccines can lead to sexdifferential innate and adaptive immunological changes which can account for the observed NSE. These warrant further urgent investigation to understand the biological interactions that govern sex-specific NSEs. Harnessing the mechanisms whereby vaccines augment heterologous immunity could be used to improve vaccine design and vaccine campaign strategies leading to better protective immunological responses in both adults and children. Indeed, BCG and OPV were both studied in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic for their potential to provide non-specific protection against the disease prior to the advent of effective COVID-19 vaccines (Aaby et al. 2022, O'Neill et al. 2020). BCG failed to protect healthcare workers against COVID-19 in a trial conducted in South Africa (Upton et al. 2022), but may have reduced all-cause mortality among participants across trials (Aaby et al. 2022). None of these studies reported by sex, but there is every reason to believe that the effects would be sex-differential and many of the BCG studies investigating their protective effect against SARS-CoV-2 are yet to report their findings The beneficial effects of live vaccines therefore have the potential to be harnessed for future pandemic infections before specific vaccines can be developed. Importantly, understanding why some vaccines induce deleterious NSEs is critical for finding ways to overcome or circumvent these undesirable effects.

4 Concluding Remarks

It is evident that over the life course, males and females experience differences in the immunogenicity, reactogenicity, protection, and NSEs following vaccination. While the overall trend is that young adult females produce greater antibody responses, have higher correlates of protective immunity, and report more adverse events following vaccination compared to males, older adults, and children, this is not true in all instances. In fact, collapsing these observations of sex differences in response to vaccination over the life course in this way is almost as problematic as the lack of sex-disaggregated data that examines immune responses to vaccination over the lifespan. In the data that we have summarized, it is clear that nuance exists based on the type and dose of vaccine and antigen, the age of the vaccinee, prior exposure to either infection or repeated (seasonal) vaccination, and perhaps other host factors that include, but are not limited to, circulating sex steroid concentrations, genetics, and comorbidities. Differences between males and females in circulating sex steroid hormones (Fig. 1b) as well as immune responses (Fig. 1c) are dynamic and the nature of these sex differences changes both between and within the sexes throughout the lifespan. There is a greater need for research (including pre-clinical and clinical trials) that evaluates vaccine responses and vaccine efficacy as well as non-specific effects of vaccines to include sex and age as biological variables instead of controlling for them (Shapiro et al. 2021a, b). While the mechanisms mediating sex differences in immunological responses are still unknown, vaccine design and vaccine strategies

should be sex- and age-specific in order to both improve immunogenicity, mitigate adverse events, promote beneficial NSEs, and limit detrimental ones.

Disclosure Statement The authors have nothing to disclose.

References

- Aaby P, Jensen H, Samb B, Cisse B, Sodemann M, Jakobsen M, Poulsen A, Rodrigues A, Lisse IM, Simondon F, Whittle H (2003) Differences in female-male mortality after high-titre measles vaccine and association with subsequent vaccination with diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis and inactivated poliovirus: reanalysis of West African studies. Lancet 361(9376):2183–2188
- Aaby P, Garly ML, Nielsen J, Ravn H, Martins C, Bale C, Rodrigues A, Benn CS, Lisse IM (2007) Increased female-male mortality ratio associated with inactivated polio and diphtheria-tetanuspertussis vaccines: observations from vaccination trials in Guinea-Bissau. Pediatr Infect Dis J 26(3):247–252
- Aaby P, Roth A, Ravn H, Napirna BM, Rodrigues A, Lisse IM, Stensballe L, Diness BR, Lausch KR, Lund N, Biering-Sørensen S, Whittle H, Benn CS (2011) Randomized trial of BCG vaccination at birth to low-birth-weight children: beneficial nonspecific effects in the neonatal period? J Infect Dis 204(2):245–252
- Aaby P, Kollmann TR, Benn CS (2014) Nonspecific effects of neonatal and infant vaccination: public-health, immunological and conceptual challenges. Nat Immunol 15(10):895–899
- Aaby P, Ravn H, Fisker AB, Rodrigues A, Benn CS (2016) Is diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis (DTP) associated with increased female mortality? A meta-analysis testing the hypotheses of sexdifferential non-specific effects of DTP vaccine. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 110(10):570–581
- Aaby P, Benn CS, Flanagan KL, Klein SL, Kollmann TR, Lynn DJ, Shann F (2020) The non-specific and sex-differential effects of vaccines. Nat Rev Immunol 20(8):464–470
- Aaby P, Benn CS, Neilsen J, Lisse IM, Rodrigues A, Ravn H (2012) Testing the hypothesis that diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine has negative non-specific and sex-differential effects on child survival in high-mortality countries. BMJ Open 2
- Aaby P, Netea MG, Benn CS (2022) Beneficial non-specific effects of live vaccines against COVID-19 and other unrelated infections. Lancet Infect Dis
- Abe KT, Hu Q, Mozafarihashjin M, Samson R, Manguiat K, Robinson A, Rathod B, Hardy WR, Wang JH, Iskilova M, Pasculescu A, Fazel-Zarandi M, Li A, Paterson A, Chao G, Green K, Gilbert L, Barati S, Haq N, Takaoka A, Takaoka JG, De Launay KQ, Fahim C, Sheikh-Mohamed S, Arita Y, Durocher Y, Marcusson EG, Gommerman JL, Ostrowski M, Colwill K, Straus SE, Wood H, McGeer AJ, Gingras A-C (2021) Neutralizing antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 variants in vaccinated Ontario long-term care home residents and workers. medRxiv:2021.2008.2006.21261721
- Aldakak L, Huber VM, Rühli F, Bender N (2021) Sex difference in the immunogenicity of the quadrivalent human Papilloma virus vaccine: systematic review and meta-analysis. Vaccine 39(12):1680–1686
- Altet MN, Alcaide J, Canela J, Serra L, Salleras L (1992) Retrospective evaluation of the effectiveness of the BCG vaccine campaign in newborns of Barcelona. Med Clin (barc) 99(16):612–616
- Andersen A, Fisker AB, Rodrigues A, Martins C, Ravn H, Lund N, Biering-Sørensen S, Benn CS, Aaby P (2018) National immunization campaigns with oral polio vaccine reduce all-cause mortality: a natural experiment within seven randomized trials. Front Public Health 6:13

- Andersen A, Fisker AB, Nielsen S, Rodrigues A, Benn CS, Aaby P (2021) National immunization campaigns with oral polio vaccine may reduce all-cause mortality: an analysis of 13 years of demographic surveillance data from an urban African area. Clin Infect Dis 72(10):e596–e603
- Baden LR, El Sahly HM, Essink B, Kotloff K, Frey S, Novak R, Diemert D, Spector SA, Rouphael N, Creech CB, McGettigan J, Khetan S, Segall N, Solis J, Brosz A, Fierro C, Schwartz H, Neuzil K, Corey L, Gilbert P, Janes H, Follmann D, Marovich M, Mascola J, Polakowski L, Ledgerwood J, Graham BS, Bennett H, Pajon R, Knightly C, Leav B, Deng W, Zhou H, Han S, Ivarsson M, Miller J, Zaks T (2021) Efficacy and Safety of the mRNA-1273 SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. N Engl J Med 384(5):403–416
- Bannister S, Kim B, Domínguez-Andrés J, Kilic G, Ansell BRE, Neeland MR, Moorlag S, Matzaraki V, Vlahos A, Shepherd R, Germano S, Bahlo M, Messina NL, Saffery R, Netea MG, Curtis N, Novakovic B (2022) Neonatal BCG vaccination is associated with a long-term DNA methylation signature in circulating monocytes. Sci Adv 8(31):eabn4002
- Bayas J, Vilella A, Bertran M, Vidal J, Batalla J, Asenjo M, Salleras L (2001) Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of the adult tetanus–diphtheria vaccine. How many doses are necessary? Epidemiol Infect 127(03):451–460
- Bekkering S, Domínguez-Andrés J, Joosten LAB, Riksen NP, Netea MG (2021) Trained immunity: reprogramming innate immunity in health and disease. Annu Rev Immunol 39:667–693
- Benn CS, Fisker AB, Rieckmann A, Sørup S, Aaby P (2020) Vaccinology: time to change the paradigm? Lancet Infect Dis 20(10):e274–e283
- Biering-Sørensen S, Aaby P, Lund N, Monteiro I, Jensen KJ, Eriksen HB, Schaltz-Buchholzer F, Jørgensen ASP, Rodrigues A, Fisker AB, Benn CS (2017) Early BCG-Denmark and neonatal mortality among infants weighing <2500 g: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Infect Dis 65(7):1183–1190
- Biering-Sørensen S, Jensen KJ, Monterio I, Ravn H, Aaby P, Benn CS (2018) Rapid protective effects of early BCG on neonatal mortality among low birth weight boys: observations from randomized trials. J Infect Dis 217(5):759–766
- Blumenthal KG, Robinson LB, Camargo CA Jr, Shenoy ES, Banerji A, Landman AB, Wickner P (2021) Acute allergic reactions to mRNA COVID-19 vaccines. JAMA 325(15):1562–1565
- Bocsan IS, Gocan G, Ursu L, Brumboiu MI, Sosa I, Simionca L, Sava A, Olaru O, Pastina I (2005) How protective is the immunization against viral hepatitis B prospectively? Seroprevalence study on viral hepatitis B infection. Rev Med Chir Soc Med Nat Iasi 109(1):124–130
- Boef AG, van der Klis FR, Berbers GA, Buisman A-M, Sanders EA, Kemmeren JM, van der Ende A, de Melker HE, Rots NY, Knol MJ (2018) Differences by sex in IgG levels following infant and childhood vaccinations: an individual participant data meta-analysis of vaccination studies. Vaccine 36(3):400–407
- Booy R, Khandaker G, Heron LG, Yin J, Doyle B, Tudo KK, Hueston L, Gilbert GL, Raina MacIntyre C, Dwyer DE (2011) Cross-reacting antibodies against the pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza virus in older Australians. Med J Aust 194(1):19
- Bozkurt B, Kamat I, Hotez PJ (2021) Myocarditis with COVID-19 mRNA vaccines. Circulation 144(6):471-484
- Brandão AP, De Oliveira TC, de Cunto Brandileone MC, Gonçalves JE, Yara TI, Simonsen V (2004) Persistence of antibody response to pneumococcal capsular polysaccharides in vaccinated long term-care residents in Brazil. Vaccine 23(6):762–768
- Bronikowski AM, Meisel RP, Biga PR, Walters JR, Mank JE, Larschan E, Wilkinson GS, Valenzuela N, Conard AM, de Magalhães JP, Duan JE, Elias AE, Gamble T, Graze RM, Gribble KE, Kreiling JA, Riddle NC (2022) Sex-specific aging in animals: perspective and future directions. Aging Cell 21(2):e13542
- Burl S, Adetifa UJ, Cox M, Touray E, Whittle H, McShane H, Rowland-Jones SL, Flanagan KL (2010) The tuberculin skin test (TST) is affected by recent BCG vaccination but not by exposure to non-tuberculosis mycobacteria (NTM) during early life. PLoS ONE 5(8):e12287

- Burl S, Townend J, Njie-Jobe J, Cox M, Adetifa UJ, Touray E, Philbin VJ, Mancuso C, Kampmann B, Whittle H, Jaye A, Flanagan KL, Levy O (2011) Age-dependent maturation of Toll-like receptor-mediated cytokine responses in Gambian infants. PLoS ONE 6(4):e18185
- Canaday DH, Carias L, Oyebanji OA, Keresztesy D, Wilk D, Payne M, Aung H, St Denis K, Lam EC, Rowley CF, Berry SD, Cameron CM, Cameron MJ, Wilson B, Balazs AB, Gravenstein S, King CL (2021) Reduced BNT162b2 messenger RNA vaccine response in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2)-Naive nursing home residents. Clin Infect Dis 73(11):2112–2115
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022) Overview of COVID-19 vaccines. Retrieved 11 November 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/vaccines/different-vac cines/overview-COVID-19-vaccines.html
- Collatuzzo G, Visci G, Violante FS, Porru S, Spiteri G, Monaco MGL, Larese Fillon F, Negro C, Janke C, Castelletti N, De Palma G, Sansone E, Mates D, Teodorescu S, Fabiánová E, Bérešová J, Vimercati L, Tafuri S, Abedini M, Ditano G, Asafo SS, Boffetta P (2022) Determinants of anti-S immune response at 6 months after COVID-19 vaccination in a multicentric European cohort of healthcare workers - ORCHESTRA project. Front Immunol 13:986085
- Cook IF (2008) Sexual dimorphism of humoral immunity with human vaccines. Vaccine 26(29–30):3551–3555
- Cook IF, Pond D, Hartel G (2007) Comparative reactogenicity and immunogenicity of 23 valent pneumococcal vaccine administered by intramuscular or subcutaneous injection in elderly adults. Vaccine 25(25):4767–4774
- de Bree LCJ, Janssen R, Aaby P, van Crevel R, Joosten LAB, Benn CS, Netea MG (2018a) The impact of sex hormones on BCG-induced trained immunity. J Leukoc Biol 104(3):573–578
- de Bree LCJ, Koeken V, Joosten LAB, Aaby P, Benn CS, van Crevel R, Netea MG (2018b) Nonspecific effects of vaccines: current evidence and potential implications. Semin Immunol 39:35– 43
- Dhakal S, Ruiz-Bedoya CA, Zhou R, Creisher PS, Villano JS, Littlefield K, Ruelas Castillo J, Marinho P, Jedlicka AE, Ordonez AA, Bahr M, Majewska N, Betenbaugh MJ, Flavahan K, Mueller ARL, Looney MM, Quijada D, Mota F, Beck SE, Brockhurst J, Braxton AM, Castell N, Stover M, D'Alessio FR, Metcalf Pate KA, P. Karakousis C, Mankowski JL, Pekosz A, Jain SK, Klein SL, Johns Hopkins C-HSG (2021) Sex differences in lung imaging and SARS-CoV-2 antibody responses in a COVID-19 Golden Syrian Hamster model. mBio 12(4):e0097421.
- Diness BR, Fisker AB, Roth A, Yazdanbakhsh M, Sartono E, Whittle H, Nante JE, Lisse IM, Ravn H, Rodrigues A, Aaby P, Benn CS (2007) Effect of high-dose vitamin A supplementation on the immune response to Bacille Calmette-Guerin vaccine. Am J Clin Nutr 86(4):1152–1159
- Engler RJ, Nelson MR, Klote MM, VanRaden MJ, Huang CY, Cox NJ, Klimov A, Keitel WA, Nichol KL, Carr WW, Treanor JJ (2008) Half- vs full-dose trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine (2004–2005): age, dose, and sex effects on immune responses. Arch Intern Med 168(22):2405–2414
- Fink AL, Klein SL (2015) Sex and gender impact immune responses to vaccines among the elderly. Physiology (bethesda) 30(6):408–416
- Fischer KE, Riddle NC (2018) Sex differences in aging: genomic instability. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 73(2):166–174
- Fish EN (2008) The X-files in immunity: sex-based differences predispose immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 8(9):737–744
- Fisker AB, Martins JSD, Nanque LM, Jensen AM, Ca EJC, Nielsen S, Martins CL, Rodrigues A (2022) Oral polio vaccine to mitigate the risk of illness and mortality during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: a cluster-randomized trial in Guinea-Bissau. Open Forum Infect Dis 9(9):ofac470
- Flanagan KL, Plebanski M (2017) Sex-differential heterologous (non-specific) effects of vaccines: an emerging public health issue that needs to be understood and exploited. Expert Rev Vaccines 16(1):5–13

- Flanagan KL, van Crevel R, Curtis N, Shann F, Levy O, Optimmunize N (2013) Heterologous ("nonspecific") and sex-differential effects of vaccines: epidemiology, clinical trials, and emerging immunologic mechanisms. Clin Infect Dis 57(2):283–289
- Flanagan KL, Jensen KJ (2015) Sex differences in outcomes of infections and vaccinations in under five-year-old children. In: Klein SL, Roberts CW (eds) Sex and gender differences in infection and treatments for infectious diseases. Springer, Switzerland, pp 273–312
- Fleming D, Watson J, Nicholas S, Smith G, Swan A (1995) Study of the effectiveness of influenza vaccination in the elderly in the epidemic of 1989–90 using a general practice database. Epidemiol Infect 115(03):581–589
- France EK, Glanz J, Xu S, Hambidge S, Yamasaki K, Black SB, Marcy M, Mullooly JP, Jackson LA, Nordin J, Belongia EA, Hohman K, Chen RT, Davis R (2008) Risk of immune thrombocytopenic purpura after measles-mumps-rubella immunization in children. Pediatrics 121(3):e687-692
- Frenck RW Jr, Klein NP, Kitchin N, Gurtman A, Absalon J, Lockhart S, Perez JL, Walter EB, Senders S, Bailey R (2021) Safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of the BNT162b2 Covid-19 vaccine in adolescents. N Engl J Med 385(3):239–250
- Furman D, Hejblum BP, Simon N, Jojic V, Dekker CL, Thiebaut R, Tibshirani RJ, Davis MM (2014) Systems analysis of sex differences reveals an immunosuppressive role for testosterone in the response to influenza vaccination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111(2):869–874
- Garly ML, Martins CL, Balé C, Baldé MA, Hedegaard KL, Gustafson P, Lisse IM, Whittle HC, Aaby P (2003) BCG scar and positive tuberculin reaction associated with reduced child mortality in West Africa. a non-specific beneficial effect of BCG? Vaccine 21(21–22):2782–2790
- Garly ML, Jensen H, Martins CL, Bale C, Balde MA, Lisse IM, Aaby P (2004) Hepatitis B vaccination associated with higher female than male mortality in Guinea-Bissau: an observational study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 23(12):1086–1092
- Giurgea LT, Cervantes-Medina A, Walters KA, Scherler K, Han A, Czajkowski LM, Baus HA, Hunsberger S, Klein SL, Kash JC, Taubenberger JK, Memoli MJ (2022) Sex differences in influenza: the challenge study experience. J Infect Dis 225(4):715–722
- Goldblatt D, Southern J, Andrews N, Ashton L, Burbidge P, Woodgate S, Pebody R, Miller E (2009) The immunogenicity of 7-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine versus 23-valent polysaccharide vaccine in adults aged 50–80 years. Clin Infect Dis 49(9):1318–1325
- Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S (2021) Thrombotic thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 vaccination. N Engl J Med 384(22):2092–2101
- Hainz U, Jenewein B, Asch E, Pfeiffer K-P, Berger P, Grubeck-Loebenstein B (2005) Insufficient protection for healthy elderly adults by tetanus and TBE vaccines. Vaccine 23(25):3232–3235
- Haq K, McElhaney JE (2014) Immunosenescence: Influenza vaccination and the elderly. Curr Opin Immunol 29:38–42
- Haralambieva IH, Ovsyannikova IG, Kennedy RB, Larrabee BR, Shane Pankratz V, Poland GA (2013) Race and sex-based differences in cytokine immune responses to smallpox vaccine in healthy individuals. Hum Immunol 74(10):1263–1266
- He S, Li H, Yu Z, Zhang F, Liang S, Liu H, Chen H, Lü M (2021) The gut microbiome and sex hormone-related diseases. Front Microbiol 12:711137
- Higgins JP, Soares-Weiser K, Lopez-Lopez JA, Kakourou A, Chaplin K, Christensen H, Martin NK, Sterne JA, Reingold AL (2016) Association of BCG, DTP, and measles containing vaccines with childhood mortality: systematic review. BMJ 355:i5170
- Hillebrand K, Bricout H, Schulze-Rath R, Schink T, Garbe E (2015) Incidence of herpes zoster and its complications in Germany, 2005–2009. J Infect 70(2):178–186
- Hoffmann MA, Wieler HJ, Enders P, Buchholz HG, Plachter B (2021) Age- and sex-graded data evaluation of vaccination reactions after initial injection of the BNT162b2 mRNA vaccine in a local vaccination center in Germany. Vaccines (Basel) 9(8)
- Hvidt AK, Baerends EAM, Søgaard OS, Stærke NB, Raben D, Reekie J, Nielsen H, Johansen IS, Wiese L, Benfield TL, Iversen KK, Mustafa AB, Juhl MR, Petersen KT, Ostrowski SR, Lindvig SO, Rasmussen LD, Schleimann MH, Andersen SD, Juhl AK, Dietz LL, Andreasen SR, Lundgren J, Østergaard L, Tolstrup M (2022) Comparison of vaccine-induced antibody

neutralization against SARS-CoV-2 variants of concern following primary and booster doses of COVID-19 vaccines. Front Med (lausanne) 9:994160

- Jacobsen H, Klein SL (2021) Sex differences in immunity to viral infections. Front Immunol 12:720952
- Jensen ML, Dave S, Schim van der Loeff M, da Costa C, Vincent T, Leligdowicz A, Benn CS, Roth A, Ravn H, Lisse IM, Whittle H, Aaby P (2006) Vaccinia scars associated with improved survival among adults in rural Guinea-Bissau. PLoS ONE 1(1):e101
- Jensen KJ, Sondergaard M, Andersen A, Sartono E, Martins C, Garly ML, Eugen-Olsen J, Ullum H, Yazdanbakhsh M, Aaby P, Benn CS, Erikstrup C (2014) A randomized trial of an early measles vaccine at 4(1/2) months of age in Guinea-Bissau: sex-differential immunological effects. PLoS ONE 9(5):e97536
- Jensen KJ, Larsen N, Biering-Sorensen S, Andersen A, Eriksen HB, Monteiro I, Hougaard D, Aaby P, Netea MG, Flanagan KL, Benn CS (2015) Heterologous immunological effects of early BCG vaccination in low-birth-weight infants in Guinea-Bissau: a randomized-controlled trial. J Infect Dis 211(6):956–967
- Jensen A, Stromme M, Moyassari S, Chadha AS, Tartaglia MC, Szoeke C, Ferretti MT (2022) COVID-19 vaccines: considering sex differences in efficacy and safety. Contemp Clin Trials 115:106700
- Kao TM, Hsieh SM, Kung HC, Lee YC, Huang KC, Huang LM, Chang FY, Wang NC, Liu YC, Lee WS, Liu HE, Chen CI, Chen CH (2010) Immune response of single dose vaccination against 2009 pandemic influenza A (H1N1) in the Taiwanese elderly. Vaccine 28(38):6159–6163
- Khalil MK, Al-Mazrou YY, Al-Ghamdi YS, Tumsah S, Al-Jeffri M, Meshkhas A (2003) Effect of gender on reporting of MMR adverse events in Saudi Arabia. East Mediterr Health J 9(1– 2):152–158
- Khurana S, Verma N, Talaat KR, Karron RA, Golding H (2012) Immune response following H1N1pdm09 vaccination: differences in antibody repertoire and avidity in young adults and elderly populations stratified by age and gender. J Infect Dis 205(4):610–620
- Klein SL, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex differences in immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol 16(10):626–638
- Klein SL, Morgan R (2020) The impact of sex and gender on immunotherapy outcomes. Biol Sex Differ 11(1):24
- Klein SL, Pekosz A (2014) Sex-based biology and the rational design of influenza vaccination strategies. J Infect Dis 209(Suppl 3):S114-119
- Klein SL, Jedlicka A, Pekosz A (2010) The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. Lancet Infect Dis 10(5):338–349
- Klein SL, Marriott I, Fish EN (2015) Sex-based differences in immune function and responses to vaccination. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 109(1):9–15
- Klein SL, Shann F, Moss WJ, Benn CS, Aaby P (2016) RTS, S Malaria vaccine and increased mortality in girls. Mbio 7(2):e00514-00516
- Klein NP, Lewis N, Goddard K, Fireman B, Zerbo O, Hanson KE, Donahue JG, Kharbanda EO, Naleway A, Nelson JC, Xu S, Yih WK, Glanz JM, Williams JTB, Hambidge SJ, Lewin BJ, Shimabukuro TT, DeStefano F, Weintraub ES (2021) Surveillance for adverse events after COVID-19 mRNA vaccination. JAMA 326(14):1390–1399
- Kleinnijenhuis J, Quintin J, Preijers F, Joosten LA, Ifrim DC, Saeed S, Jacobs C, van Loenhout J, de Jong D, Stunnenberg HG, Xavier RJ, van der Meer JW, van Crevel R, Netea MG (2012) Bacille Calmette-Guerin induces NOD2-dependent nonspecific protection from reinfection via epigenetic reprogramming of monocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(43):17537–17542
- Knudsen KM, Aaby P, Whittle H, Rowe M, Samb B, Simondon F, Sterne J, Fine P (1996) Child mortality following standard, medium or high titre measles immunization in West Africa. Int J Epidemiol 25(3):665–673
- Kollmann TR, Levy O, Montgomery RR, Goriely S (2012) Innate immune function by Toll-like receptors: distinct responses in newborns and the elderly. Immunity 37(5):771–783

- Kontio M, Palmu AA, Syrjänen RK, Lahdenkari M, Ruokokoski E, Davidkin I, Vaarala O, Melin M (2016) Similar antibody levels in 3-year-old children vaccinated against measles, mumps, and rubella at the age of 12 months or 18 months. J Infect Dis 213(12):2005–2013
- Lai CC, Ko WC, Chen CJ, Chen PY, Huang YC, Lee PI, Hsueh PR (2021) COVID-19 vaccines and thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome. Expert Rev Vaccines 20(8):1027–1035
- Levy O, Coughlin M, Cronstein BN, Roy RM, Desai A, Wessels MR (2006) The adenosine system selectively inhibits TLR-mediated TNF-alpha production in the human newborn. J Immunol 177(3):1956–1966
- Levy M, Recher M, Hubert H, Javouhey E, Fléchelles O, Leteurtre S, Angoulvant F (2022) Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children by COVID-19 vaccination status of adolescents in France. JAMA 327(3):281–283
- Li X, Burn E, Duarte-Salles T, Yin C, Reich C, Delmestri A, Verhamme K, Rijnbeek P, Suchard MA, Li K, Mosseveld M, John LH, Mayer MA, Ramirez-Anguita JM, Cohet C, Strauss V, Prieto-Alhambra D (2022) Comparative risk of thrombosis with thrombocytopenia syndrome or thromboembolic events associated with different covid-19 vaccines: international network cohort study from five European countries and the US. BMJ 379:e071594
- Lindsey NP, Schroeder BA, Miller ER, Braun MM, Hinckley AF, Marano N, Slade BA, Barnett ED, Brunette GW, Horan K, Staples JE, Kozarsky PE, Hayes EB (2008) Adverse event reports following Yellow fever vaccination. Vaccine 26(48):6077–6082
- Lo Sasso B, Giglio RV, Vidali M, Scazzone C, Bivona G, Gambino CM, Ciaccio AM, Agnello L, Ciaccio M (2021) Evaluation of anti-SARS-Cov-2 S-RBD IgG antibodies after COVID-19 mRNA BNT162b2 vaccine. Diagnostics 11(7):1135
- Loeb N, Andrew MK, Loeb M, Kuchel GA, Haynes L, McElhaney JE, Verschoor CP (2020) Frailty is associated with increased hemagglutination-inhibition titers in a 4-year randomized trial comparing standard- and high-dose influenza vaccination. Open Forum Infect Dis **7**(5):ofaa148
- Lorenzo ME, Hodgson A, Robinson DP, Kaplan JB, Pekosz A, Klein SL (2011) Antibody responses and cross protection against lethal influenza A viruses differ between the sexes in C57BL/6 mice. Vaccine 29(49):9246–9255
- Lund N, Andersen A, Hansen AS, Jepsen FS, Barbosa A, Biering-Sørensen S, Rodrigues A, Ravn H, Aaby P, Benn CS (2015) The effect of oral polio vaccine at birth on infant mortality: a randomized trial. Clin Infect Dis 61(10):1504–1511
- Marlovits S, Stocker R, Efstratiou A, Broughton K, Kaider A, Vecsei V, Kollaritsch H (2000) Effect on diphtheria immunity of combined tetanus and diphtheria booster vaccination in adults. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 19(7):506–513
- Martins CL, Benn CS, Andersen A, Balé C, Schaltz-Buchholzer F, Do VA, Rodrigues A, Aaby P, Ravn H, Whittle H, Garly ML (2014) A randomized trial of a standard dose of Edmonston-Zagreb measles vaccine given at 4.5 months of age: effect on total hospital admissions. J Infect Dis 209(11):1731–1738
- Medeiros MM, Ingham AC, Nanque LM, Correia C, Stegger M, Andersen PS, Fisker AB, Benn CS, Lanaspa M, Silveira H, Abrantes P (2022) Oral polio revaccination is associated with changes in gut and upper respiratory microbiomes of infants. Front Microbiol 13:1016220
- Mitchell LA (1999) Sex differences in antibody- and cell-mediated immune response to rubella re-immunisation. J Med Microbiol 48(12):1075–1080
- Moehling KK, Zhai B, Schwarzmann WE, Chandran UR, Ortiz M, Nowalk MP, Nace D, Lin CJ, Susick M, Levine MZ, Alcorn JF, Zimmerman RK (2020) The impact of physical frailty on the response to inactivated influenza vaccine in older adults. Aging (albany NY) 12(24):24633– 24650
- Mohanram V, Demberg T, Musich T, Tuero I, Vargas-Inchaustegui DA, Miller-Novak L, Venzon D, Robert-Guroff M (2016) B Cell responses associated with vaccine-induced delayed SIVmac251 acquisition in female rhesus macaques. J Immunol 197(6):2316–2324
- Morgan R, Klein SL (2019) The intersection of sex and gender in the treatment of influenza. Curr Opin Virol 35:35–41

- Motta-Castro AR, Gomes SA, Yoshida CF, Miguel JC, Teles SA, Martins RM (2009) Compliance with and response to hepatitis B vaccination in remaining Quilombo communities in Central Brazil. Cad Saude Publica 25(4):738–742
- Nam M, Yun SG, Kim SW, Kim CG, Cha JH, Lee C, Kang S, Park SG, Kim SB, Lee KB, Chung YS, Nam MH, Lee CK, Cho Y (2022) Humoral and Cellular immune responses to vector, Mix-and-Match, or mRNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 and the relationship between the two immune responses. Microbiol Spectr 10(4):e0249521
- Narayanan PR (2006) Influence of sex, age & nontuberculous infection at intake on the efficacy of BCG: re-analysis of 15-year data from a double-blind randomized control trial in South India. Indian J Med Res 123(2):119–124
- Ndure J, Flanagan KL (2014) Targeting regulatory T cells to improve vaccine immunogenicity in early life. Front Microbiol 5:477
- Netea MG, Domínguez-Andrés J, Barreiro LB, Chavakis T, Divangahi M, Fuchs E, Joosten LAB, van der Meer JWM, Mhlanga MM, Mulder WJM, Riksen NP, Schlitzer A, Schultze JL, Stabell Benn C, Sun JC, Xavier RJ, Latz E (2020) Defining trained immunity and its role in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 20(6):375–388
- Nichol KL, Nordin JD, Nelson DB, Mullooly JP, Hak E (2007) Effectiveness of influenza vaccine in the community-dwelling elderly. N Engl J Med 357(14):1373–1381
- Nissen TN, Birk NM, Blok BA, Arts RJW, Andersen A, Kjærgaard J, Thøstesen LM, Hoffmann T, Jeppesen DL, Nielsen SD, Kofoed PE, Stensballe LG, Aaby P, Ruhwald M, Netea MG, Benn CS, Pryds O (2018) Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination at birth and in vitro cytokine responses to non-specific stimulation. a randomized clinical trial. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 37(1):29–41
- Noho-Konteh F, Adetifa JU, Cox M, Hossin S, Reynolds J, Le MT, Sanyang LC, Drammeh A, Plebanski M, Forster T, Dickinson P, Ghazal P, Whittle H, Rowland-Jones SL, Sutherland JS, Flanagan KL (2016) Sex-differential non-vaccine-specific immunological effects of Diphtheria-Tetanus-Pertussis and Measles vaccination. Clin Infect Dis 63(9):1213–1226
- Ogawa T, Yamada T, Matsumoto Y, Minami K, Kawanishi F, Nakano T, Ukimura A (2022) Adverse events after administration of the first and second doses of messenger RNA-based COVID-19 vaccines in Japanese subjects aged 12–18 years. J Int Med Res 50(10):3000605221127518
- Okuno H, Satoh H, Morino S, Arai S, Ochiai M, Fujita K, Naito S, Kato A, Ishii K, Oishi K (2022).Characteristics and incidence of vaccine adverse events after Bacille Calmette–Guérin vaccination: a national surveillance study in Japan from 2013 to 2017. Vaccine
- O'Neill LAJ, Netea MG (2020) BCG-induced trained immunity: can it offer protection against COVID-19? Nat Rev Immunol 20(6):335–337
- Papaioannou NE, Pasztoi M, Schraml BU (2019) Understanding the functional properties of neonatal dendritic cells: a doorway to enhance vaccine effectiveness? Front Immunol 9:3123
- Pepe S, Gregory AT, Denniss AR (2021) Myocarditis, Pericarditis and Cardiomyopathy after COVID-19 vaccination. Heart Lung Circ 30(10):1425–1429
- Peto TJ, Mendy ME, Lowe Y, Webb EL, Whittle HC, Hall AJ (2014) Efficacy and effectiveness of infant vaccination against chronic hepatitis B in the Gambia hepatitis intervention study (1986–90) and in the nationwide immunisation program. BMC Infect Dis 14:7
- Pfeiffer G, Fisker AB, Nebié E, Hengelbrock J, Sié A, Becher H, Müller O (2017) Non-specific effects of childhood vaccinations—a case control study nested into a health and demographic surveillance system in rural Burkina Faso. Vaccine 35(51):7114–7120
- Philipps J, Schonfeld C, Schleehauf DM, Beuerle W, Bienzle U, Kremsner PG (1996) Side effects of travel vaccinations. Data collection via telephone survey in Berlin. Wien Klin Wochenschr 108(19):615–620
- Pittet LF, Cox L, Freyne B, Germano S, Bonnici R, Gardiner K, Donath S, Collins CL, Casalaz D, Robins-Browne R, Flanagan KL, Messina NL, Curtis N (2022) Hepatitis B vaccine co-administration influences the heterologous effects of neonatal BCG vaccination in a sex-differential manner. Vaccine 40(9):1334–1341

- Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Perez JL, Pérez Marc G, Moreira ED, Zerbini C, Bailey R, Swanson KA, Roychoudhury S, Koury K, Li P, Kalina WV, Cooper D, Frenck RW, Hammitt LL, Türeci Ö, Nell H, Schaefer A, Ünal S, Tresnan DB, Mather S, Dormitzer PR, Şahin U, Jansen KU, Gruber WC (2020) Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med 383(27):2603–2615
- Poland GA, Ovsyannikova IG, Jacobson RM (2009) Adversomics: the emerging field of vaccine adverse event immunogenetics. Pediatr Infect Dis J 28(5):431–432
- Poland GA, Ovsyannikova IG, Kennedy RB, Lambert ND, Kirkland JL (2014) A systems biology approach to the effect of aging, immunosenescence and vaccine response. Curr Opin Immunol 29:62–68
- Potluri T, Fink AL, Sylvia KE, Dhakal S, Vermillion MS, Vom Steeg L, Deshpande S, Narasimhan H, Klein SL (2019) Age-associated changes in the impact of sex steroids on influenza vaccine responses in males and females. NPJ Vaccines 4:29
- Prentice S, Nassanga B, Webb EL, Akello F, Kiwudhu F, Akurut H, Elliott AM, Arts RJW, Netea MG, Dockrell HM, Cose S (2021) BCG-induced non-specific effects on heterologous infectious disease in Ugandan neonates: an investigator-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis 21(7):993–1003
- Pulcini C, Massin S, Launay O, Verger P (2013) Factors associated with vaccination for hepatitis B, pertussis, seasonal and pandemic influenza among French general practitioners: a 2010 survey. Vaccine 31(37):3943–3949
- Rieckmann A, Villumsen M, Sørup S, Haugaard LK, Ravn H, Roth A, Baker JL, Benn CS, Aaby P (2017) Vaccinations against smallpox and tuberculosis are associated with better long-term survival: a Danish case-cohort study 1971–2010. Int J Epidemiol 46(2):695–705
- Rieckmann A, Villumsen M, Hønge BL, Sørup S, Rodrigues A, da Silva ZJ, Whittle H, Benn C, Aaby P (2019) Phase-out of smallpox vaccination and the female/male HIV-1 prevalence ratio: an ecological study from Guinea-Bissau. BMJ Open 9(10):e031415
- Riggenbach MM, Haralambieva IH, Ovsyannikova IG, Schaid DJ, Poland GA, Kennedy RB (2022) Mumps virus-specific immune response outcomes and sex-based differences in a cohort of healthy adolescents. Clin Immunol 234:108912
- Rosic I, Malicevic S, Medic S (2008) The significance of age and sex for the absence of immune response to hepatitis B vaccination. Srp Arh Celok Lek 136(1–2):33–37
- Sacco C, Del Manso M, Mateo-Urdiales A, Rota MC, Petrone D, Riccardo F, Bella A, Siddu A, Battilomo S, Proietti V (2022) Effectiveness of BNT162b2 vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 infection and severe COVID-19 in children aged 5–11 years in Italy: a retrospective analysis of January–April, 2022. The Lancet 400(10346):97–103
- Sartono E, Lisse IM, Terveer EM, van de Sande PJ, Whittle H, Fisker AB, Roth A, Aaby P, Yazdanbakhsh M, Benn CS (2010) Oral polio vaccine influences the immune response to BCG vaccination. a natural experiment. PLoS ONE 5(5):e10328
- Schaltz-Buchholzer F, Bjerregård Øland C, Berendsen M, Bjerregaard-Andersen M, Stjernholm EB, Golding CN, Monteiro I, Aaby P, Benn CS (2022) Maternal BCG primes for enhanced health benefits in the newborn. J Infect 84(3):321–328
- Seligman SJ (2011) Yellow fever virus vaccine-associated deaths in young women. Emerg Infect Dis 17(10):1891–1893
- Shann F (2010) The non-specific effects of vaccines. Arch Dis Child 95(9):662-667
- Shann F (2021) A live-vaccine-last schedule: saving an extra million lives a year? Clin Infect Dis 72(8):1437–1439
- Shapiro JR, Li H, Morgan R, Chen Y, Kuo H, Ning X, Shea P, Wu C, Merport K, Saldanha R, Liu S, Abrams E, Chen Y, Kelly DC, Sheridan-Malone E, Wang L, Zeger SL, Klein SL, Leng SX (2021b) Sex-specific effects of aging on humoral immune responses to repeated influenza vaccination in older adults. NPJ Vaccines 6(1):147
- Shapiro JR, Morgan R, Leng SX, Klein SL (2022a) Roadmap for sex-responsive influenza and COVID-19 vaccine research in older adults. Front Aging 3:836642

- Shapiro JR, Klein SL, Morgan R (2021a) Stop 'controlling' for sex and gender in global health research. BMJ Glob Health 6(4)
- Shapiro JR, Sitaras I, Park HS, Aytenfisu TY, Caputo C, Li M, Lee J, Johnston TS, Li H, Wouters C, Hauk P, Jacobsen H, Li Y, Abrams E, Yoon S, Kocot AJ, Yang T, Huang Y, Cramer SM, Betenbaugh MJ, Debes AK, Morgan R, Milstone AM, Karaba AH, Pekosz A, Leng SX, Klein SL (2022b) Association of frailty, age, and biological sex with SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine-induced immunity in older adults. Clin Infect Dis.
- Shimabukuro TT, Cole M, Su JR (2021) Reports of anaphylaxis after receipt of mRNA COVID-19 vaccines in the US-December 14, 2020-January 18, 2021. JAMA 325(11):1101–1102
- Somiya M, Mine S, Yasukawa K, Ikeda S (2021) Sex differences in the incidence of anaphylaxis to LNP-mRNA COVID-19 vaccines. Vaccine 39(25):3313–3314
- Soneji S, Metlay J (2011) Mortality reductions for older adults differ by race/ethnicity and gender since the introduction of adult and pediatric pneumococcal vaccines. Public Health Rep 126(2):259
- Sørensen MK, Schaltz-Buchholzer F, Jensen AM, Nielsen S, Monteiro I, Aaby P, Benn CS (2022) Retesting the hypothesis that early Diphtheria-Tetanus-Pertussis vaccination increases female mortality: An observational study within a randomised trial. Vaccine 40(11):1606–1616
- Stanberry LR, Spruance SL, Cunningham AL, Bernstein DI, Mindel A, Sacks S, Tyring S, Aoki FY, Slaoui M, Denis M, Vandepapeliere P, Dubin G (2002) Glycoprotein-D-adjuvant vaccine to prevent genital herpes. N Engl J Med 347(21):1652–1661
- Steensels D, Pierlet N, Penders J, Mesotten D, Heylen L (2021) Comparison of SARS-CoV-2 antibody response following vaccination with BNT162b2 and mRNA-1273. JAMA 326(15):1533–1535
- Sudjaritruk T, Kaewpoowat Q, Prasarakee C, Sarachai S, Taurel AF, Sricharoen N, Assawawongprom P, Saheng J, Harris R, Nealon J, Yoksan S (2022) Seroepidemiological study of Japanese encephalitis virus in Chiang Mai: immunity and susceptibility 28 years after introduction of a vaccination programme. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 16(8):e0010674
- Talaat KR, Greenberg ME, Lai MH, Hartel GF, Wichems CH, Rockman S, Jeanfreau RJ, Ghosh MR, Kabongo ML, Gittleson C (2010) A single dose of unadjuvanted novel 2009 H1N1 vaccine is immunogenic and well tolerated in young and elderly adults. J Infect Dis 202(9):1327–1337
- The Sex and Gender COVID-19 Project. (2022) The COVID-19 sex-disaggreggated data tracker
- Trevisan A, Giuliani A, Scapellato ML, Anticoli S, Carsetti R, Zaffina S, Brugaletta R, Vonesch N, Tomao P, Ruggieri A (2020) Sex disparity in response to hepatitis B vaccine related to the age of vaccination. Int J Environ Res Public Health 17(1):327
- Troy JD, Hill HR, Ewell MG, Frey SE (2015) Sex difference in immune response to vaccination: a participant-level meta-analysis of randomized trials of IMVAMUNE smallpox vaccine. Vaccine 33(41):5425–5431
- Tsafaras GP, Ntontsi P, Xanthou G (2020) Advantages and limitations of the neonatal immune system. Front Pediatr 8:5
- Tuero I, Mohanram V, Musich T, Miller L, Vargas-Inchaustegui DA, Demberg T, Venzon D, Kalisz I, Kalyanaraman VS, Pal R, Ferrari MG, LaBranche C, Montefiori DC, Rao M, Vaccari M, Franchini G, Barnett SW, Robert-Guroff M (2015) Mucosal B cells are associated with delayed SIV acquisition in vaccinated female but not male rhesus macaques following SIVmac251 rectal challenge. PLoS Pathog 11(8):e1005101
- Umlauf BJ, Haralambieva IH, Ovsyannikova IG, Kennedy RB, Pankratz VS, Jacobson RM, Poland GA (2012) Associations between demographic variables and multiple measles-specific innate and cell-mediated immune responses after measles vaccination. Viral Immunol 25(1):29–36
- Upfill-Brown A, Taniuchi M, Platts-Mills JA, Kirkpatrick B, Burgess SL, Oberste MS, Weldon W, Houpt E, Haque R, Zaman K, Petri WA Jr (2017) Nonspecific effects of oral polio vaccine on diarrheal burden and etiology among Bangladeshi infants. Clin Infect Dis 65(3):414–419
- Upton CM, van Wijk RC, Mockeliunas L, Simonsson USH, McHarry K, van den Hoogen G, Muller C, von Delft A, van der Westhuizen HM, van Crevel R, Walzl G, Baptista PM, Peter J, Diacon AH (2022) Safety and efficacy of BCG re-vaccination in relation to COVID-19 morbidity in

healthcare workers: a double-blind, randomised, controlled, phase 3 trial. EClinicalMedicine 48:101414

- Ursin RL, Klein SL (2021) Sex differences in respiratory viral pathogenesis and treatments. Annu Rev Virol
- Ursin RL, Dhakal S, Liu H, Jayaraman S, Park HS, Powell HR, Sherer ML, Littlefield KE, Fink AL, Ma Z, Mueller AL, Chen AP, Seddu K, Woldetsadik YA, Gearhart PJ, Larman HB, Maul RW, Pekosz A, Klein SL (2022) Greater breadth of vaccine-induced immunity in females than males is mediated by increased antibody diversity in Germinal center B cells. mBio 13(4):e0183922
- Vemuri R, Sylvia KE, Klein SL, Forster SC, Plebanski M, Eri R, Flanagan KL (2019) The microgenderome revealed: sex differences in bidirectional interactions between the microbiota, hormones, immunity and disease susceptibility. Semin Immunopathol 41(2):265–275
- Vermeiren AP, Hoebe CJ, Dukers-Muijrers NH (2013) High non-responsiveness of males and the elderly to standard hepatitis B vaccination among a large cohort of healthy employees. J Clin Virol 58(1):262–264
- Vila-Córcoles A, Rodriguez T, de Diego C, Ochoa O, Valdivieso A, Salsench E, Ansa X, Badía W, Saún N, E. S. Group (2007) Effect of influenza vaccine status on winter mortality in Spanish community-dwelling elderly people during 2002–2005 influenza periods. Vaccine 25(37):6699– 6707
- Voysey M, Barker CI, Snape MD, Kelly DF, Trück J, Pollard AJ (2016) Sex-dependent immune responses to infant vaccination: an individual participant data meta-analysis of antibody and memory B cells. Vaccine 34(14):1657–1664
- Wang CS, Wang ST, Chou P (2002) Efficacy and cost-effectiveness of influenza vaccination of the elderly in a densely populated and unvaccinated community. Vaccine 20(19–20):2494–2499
- Wang XL, Yang L, Chan KH, Chan KP, Cao PH, Lau EH, Peiris JS, Wong CM (2015) Age and sex differences in rates of influenza-associated hospitalizations in Hong Kong. Am J Epidemiol 182(4):335–344
- Weber SK, Schlagenhauf P (2014) Childhood vaccination associated adverse events by sex: a literature review. Travel Med Infect Dis 12(5):459–480
- Wi YM, Kim SH, Peck KR (2021) Early adverse events between mRNA and adenovirus-vectored COVID-19 vaccines in healthcare workers. Vaccines (Basel) 9(8)
- Wiemken TL, Carrico RM, Klein SL, Jonsson CB, Peyrani P, Kelley RR, Aliberti S, Blasi F, Fernandez-Gonzalez R, Lopardo G (2014) The effectiveness of the polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine for the prevention of hospitalizations due to Streptococcus pneumoniae community-acquired pneumonia in the elderly differs between the sexes: results from the Community-Acquired Pneumonia Organization (CAPO) international cohort study. Vaccine 32(19):2198–2203
- Wong KC, Luscombe GM, Hawke C (2019) Influenza infections in Australia 2009–2015: is there a combined effect of age and sex on susceptibility to virus subtypes? BMC Infect Dis 19(1):42
- World Health Organization (2021) WHO recommendations for routine immunization—summary tables, 2022, from https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/policies/ who-recommendations-for-routine-immunization---summary-tables
- Xiong X, Yuan J, Li M, Jiang B, Lu ZK (2021) Age and gender disparities in adverse events following COVID-19 vaccination: real-world evidence based on big data for risk management. Front Med (lausanne) 8:700014
- Yagovkina NV, Zheleznov LM, Subbotina KA, Tsaan AA, Kozlovskaya LI, Gordeychuk IV, Korduban AK, Ivin YY, Kovpak AA, Piniaeva AN, Shishova AA, Shustova EY, Khapchaev YK, Karganova GG, Siniugina AA, Pomaskina TV, Erovichenkov AA, Chumakov K, Ishmukhametov AA (2022) Vaccination with oral polio vaccine reduces COVID-19 incidence. Front Immunol 13:907341
- Zambrano LD, Newhams MM, Olson SM, Halasa NB, Price AM, Boom JA, Sahni LC, Kamidani S, Tarquinio KM, Maddux AB (2022) Effectiveness of BNT162b2 (Pfizer-BioNTech) mRNA vaccination against multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children among persons aged 12–18 years—United States, July–December 2021. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 71(2):52
- Zazara DE, Arck PC (2019) Developmental origin and sex-specific risk for infections and immune diseases later in life. Seminars in immunopathology, Springer
- Zeeshan M, Jabeen K, Ali AN, Ali AW, Farooqui SZ, Mehraj V, Zafar A (2007) Evaluation of immune response to Hepatitis B vaccine in health care workers at a tertiary care hospital in Pakistan: an observational prospective study. BMC Infect Dis 7:120
- Zhang X, Castelli FA, Zhu X, Wu M, Maillere B, BenMohamed L (2008) Gender-dependent HLA-DR-restricted epitopes identified from herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoprotein D. Clin Vaccine Immunol 15(9):1436–1449
- Zuckerman JN (2006) Protective efficacy, immunotherapeutic potential, and safety of hepatitis B vaccines. J Med Virol 78(2):169–177

Immunology of Pregnancy and Systemic Consequences



Fiona M. Menzies

Abstract Pregnancy is an immunological paradox, with renowned Nobel Prize winning transplantation biologist Sir Peter Brian Medawar being the first to introduce this concept back in 1953. This concept considers how the maternal immune system can tolerate the developing fetus, which is 50% antigenically foreign to the uterus. There have been significant advances in our understanding of the immune system in regulating fertility, pregnancy and in complications of these, and what was once considered a paradox can be seen as a highly evolved system. Indeed, the complexity of the maternal–fetal interface along with our ever-advancing knowledge of immune cells and mediators means that we have a better understanding of these interactions, with gaps still present. This chapter will summarise the key aspects of the role of the immune system at each stage of pregnancy and highlight the recent advances in our knowledge.

1 Introduction

The female reproductive tract is abundant with immune cells and mediators, and there are many factors which can modulate their production, recruitment and mechanism of action. In the absence of pregnancy, the immune system serves to protect the female reproductive tract from infection. In every region of the female reproductive tract and at every stage of the uterine cycle (Monin et al. 2020), as well as in response to coitus, through pregnancy, to post-partum uterine involution, components of the immune system are present and function to provide an environment suitable for the establishment of a successful pregnancy and ensure the return of the uterus to a pre-pregnancy state.

Recently, the concept of the pregnant uterus as a sterile environment has also been challenged. For decades, it has been assumed that the developing fetus does not have a natural microbiome and the presence of microorganisms within the uterus

253

F. M. Menzies (🖂)

School of Health and Life Sciences, University of the West of Scotland, Lanarkshire, UK e-mail: Fiona.Menzies@uws.ac.uk

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_10

before birth is associated with disease and creation of a potential threat to the success of pregnancy. In recent times, this has been questioned with the investigation of the presence of some microorganisms within the amniotic fluid, meconium and placenta. Table 1 summarises some of the key studies in this area, highlighting the sample types studied and major organism types identified. Indeed, this is an interesting and developing area of reproductive research, with consideration now being given to the possibility that the microbiome of the uterus can influence fertility, conception and pregnancy success (Bardos et al. 2019; Chen et al. 2017; Moreno et al. 2016). This, however, remains a controversial and ongoing area of study with debate around true detection of species versus contamination of samples (Blaser et al. 2021; Fricke and Ravel 2021; Bushman 2019; Perez-Munoz et al. 2017).

It is therefore widely acknowledged that the female reproductive tract is a unique mucosal environment, but we must also consider the fluctuation in immune function which arises in response to cyclical changes in hormonal levels. In Chap. 2, we learned about the influence of sex hormones in driving differential responses in immunity between females and males. For the first 8 weeks of pregnancy, progesterone, which is often described as the pregnancy hormone, is produced by corpus luteum of the ovary. After this time, progesterone production is taken over by the placenta and its concentration continues to rise dramatically in maternal serum until birth. Estrogens

Sample type	Bacterial species	References
Amniotic fluid	Proteobacteria	Collado et al. (2016)
	Propionibacterium	Collado et al. (2016), Stinson et al. (2019)
	Streptococcus (low abundance)	Collado et al. (2016)
	Lactobacillus	Collado et al. (2016)
	None detected	Lim et al. (2018)
Meconium	Lactobacillus	Collado et al. (2016)
	Proteobacteria	Collado et al. (2016)
	Propionibacterium	Collado et al. (2016)
	Streptococcus (low abundance)	Collado et al. (2016)
	Pelomonas puraquae	Stinson et al. (2019)
Placenta	Firmicutes, Tenericutes, Proteobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Fusobacteria	Aagaard et al. (2014)
	Lactobacillus crispatus	Prince et al. (2016)
	Lactobacillus	Collado et al. (2016)
	Proteobacteria	Collado et al. (2016)
	Propionibacterium	Collado et al. (2016)
	Streptococcus (low abundance)	(Collado et al. 2016
	None detected	Lauder et al. (2016), Leiby et al. (2018), Theis et al. (2019), de Goffau et al. (2019)

Table 1 Studies examining detection of microorganisms within the pregnant uterus

are produced primarily by developing follicles and the corpus luteum. Estradiol is the main estrogen in women of fertile age, estriol is produced by the placenta during pregnancy and estrone is produced in women of menopausal age (Kuijper et al. 2013). Levels of estrogens in maternal serum and secreted in urine increase dramatically during pregnancy, but fall after delivery of the fetus (Kuijper et al. 2013). In this chapter, we will also consider how these powerful systemic increases in estrogens and progesterone, required to sustain pregnancy, can act as a mechanism to modulate the maternal immune system (Oertelt-Prigione 2012; Pennell et al. 2012; Robinson and Klein 2012; Menzies and Henriquez 2009; Druckmann and Druckmann 2005). While these hormonal changes occur to support pregnancy, they can have consequences for the pathogenesis of infections or autoimmune diseases.

2 The Impact of Seminal Fluid on the Uterine Environment

The delivery of spermatozoa to the female reproductive tract is aided by the seminal plasma in which they are found. Seminal plasma is much more than a transport medium, and it makes up 95–98% of semen contents (Rodriguez-Martinez et al. 2011), providing nourishment and protection for sperm, and containing a multitude of peptides and proteins that influence sperm function and prepare the uterine epithelia for pregnancy (Schienken and Robertson 2020; Rodriguez-Martinez et al. 2011) through inducing changes in gene expression and cellular composition (Robertson 2005). Seminal plasma contains an array of biologically and immunologically active compounds including hormones, such as estrogen and progesterone as well as prostaglandin E2 and an array of cytokines (Hampl et al. 2013; Robertson 2005; Maegawa et al. 2002), including interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), tumour necrosis factoralpha (TNF α), interleukins (IL)-1 β , -6, -8, -10, -12 and TGF- β (Bromfield 2014). Most notably, the cytokine TGF- β , which is abundant within seminal plasma of both mice (Tremellen et al. 1998) and humans (Loras et al. 1999), is present in all three isoforms (TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, TGF- β 3) and can induce proinflammatory cytokine production by cervical cells (Sharkey et al. 2012a). Interestingly, studies have shown that levels of TGF-B in human seminal plasma fluctuate, with sexual abstinence impacting on content of TGF- β 1 and TGF- β 2 and TGF- β 1 correlating inversely with age (Sharkey et al. 2016). These findings, along with the suggestion that other semen contents may also demonstrate patterns of fluctuation, have potential implications for semen analysis and understanding the content and quality of semen for assisted conception practices.

The presence of immunomodulatory molecules within seminal plasma is required for the success of pregnancy, whether it is via natural conception or assisted reproduction. Indeed, the importance of the inflammatory response to mating is demonstrated by studies showing that In Vitro Fertilisation (IVF) is more successful in women who are exposed to semen at the time of embryo transfer (Tremellen et al. 2000). Identifying the role of individual components of seminal plasma, and their role in immunomodulation of the uterus for pregnancy, is an area of fertility research which has gained considerable ground in recent years. For example, recently, it has been shown in an in vitro study, that expression of CD25 and IL-10 by female T cells is modulated by exposure to seminal plasma, with differences observed between seminal plasma donated from males who experience recurrent pregnancy losses and their control counterparts (du Fosse et al. 2022).

In humans, deposition of semen results in the influx of macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), and T cells into the epithelial and stromal compartments of the ectocervix, accompanied by an increase in gene expression for the cytokines granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF), IL-1 α , IL-6 and the chemokine CXCL8 (Sharkey et al. 2012b). Macrophages and DCs remain within the stromal region of the cervix, while increases in T cells are found in both the epithelium and stroma, with a greater proportion of these being CD8+ than CD4+ (Sharkey et al. 2012b).

This immunomodulation of the uterine epithelium prepares the site for implantation, but also serves to prime the uterus and create a hospitable environment for the introduction of paternal antigens. After mating, there is a substantial increase in the cellularity of the uterine draining (para-aortic) lymph nodes (dLNs) in mice (Johansson et al. 2004), the main site of cross-presentation of paternal antigen (Moldenhauer et al. 2009). Recent studies have shown that in mice, the DC populations within the uterus and dLNs change significantly in the period between mating and implantation (Yasuda et al. 2020). Interestingly, these studies suggest that most of the DCs found within the uterus migrate to the site just prior to implantation. As summarised in Fig. 1, seminal plasma drives the activation and expansion of specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, with maternal Antigen-Presenting Cells (APCs) crosspresenting paternal antigens to CD8+ T cells in a TAP-dependent manner (Moldenhauer et al. 2009). Another T cell population considered to be important for the establishment of tolerance is T regulatory cells (Tregs) (Aluvihare et al. 2004). Studies in mice show that as the female approaches the estrus phase of the cycle, Tregs accumulate in the uterine horn, and this is accompanied by expression of T cell-specific chemokines CCL3, CCL4, CCL22 and CX3CL1 (Kallikourdis and Betz 2007). More specifically, studies have shown that CCL19 is likely to be a key recruiter of Tregs to the uterus (Guerin et al. 2011), and this is driven by seminal fluid (Shima et al. 2015; Kahn and Baltimore 2010; Robertson et al. 2009a) and priming by tolerogenic APCs in the uterus (Shima et al. 2020). While Treg populations increase both systemically and locally during pregnancy in humans, paternal-antigen-specific T cells have not yet been identified (Tsuda et al. 2019). The importance of Treg cells in maintaining an environment suitable for pregnancy, as it progresses, will be discussed in later sections.



Fig. 1 Female response to seminal plasma. The uterine epithelium responds to immunomodulatory molecules (e.g. TGF- β , CXCL8, IFN- γ , Prostaglandin-E) within seminal plasma by producing T regulatory-attracting chemokines. Dendritic cells cross present paternal antigens to CD8+ T cells within the para-aortic lymph nodes, which drain the uterus, and are known to increase in cellularity post-mating. These mechanisms serve to prepare the maternal immune system for the development of a semiallogeneic fetus (du Fosse et al. 2022; Guerin et al. 2011; Robertson et al. 2009a, b; Kallikourdis and Betz 2007; Aluvihare et al. 2004)

3 Maternal Rejection of Semen

The importance of the immunomodulation induced by seminal plasma within the female uterus is highlighted by consideration of the consequences of the rejection of semen. Immune infertility is estimated to impact 20% of couples of reproductive age (Brazdova et al. 2016) with many potential underlying causes, affecting both male and female reproductive systems. One such cause impacting fertility is the production of anti-sperm antibodies (ASAs) which can cause infertility (Brazdova et al. 2016). Indeed, fertile women (and men) are also thought to produce ASAs as a normal physiological process; however, this does not necessarily lead to infertility (Vickram et al. 2019). In some women, for unknown reasons, there can be a failure of tolerance to the complex antigenic milieu of the sperm, leading to pathological production of ASAs and therefore fertility issues. Pathological ASA production by women impacts on several aspects of sperm function. Incubation of ASA from infertile women with normal sperm for 1 h in vitro leads to a reduction in sperm motility, viability and membrane integrity (Pujianto et al. 2018). The negative impact of ASA on pregnancy is sufficient that recent studies are now considering the potential of ASAs to create vaccines that can be utilised as a form of contraception (Vickram et al. 2019; Baldeon-Vaca et al. 2021).

4 Mechanisms Involved in Preventing Fetal Rejection

4.1 What Is the Implantation Window?

In humans, implantation occurs approximately 8–10 days post-ovulation (Wilcox et al. 1998), with the chance of conception approximately 30% per cycle (Zinaman et al. 1996). With such a low chance of success, it is unsurprising that around 75% of early losses are attributed to implantation failure (Wilcox et al. 1998). Indeed, it can be considered that early pregnancy loss (before 10 weeks' gestation) is the default consequence of fertilisation (Annual Capri Workshop 2020). As advances in reproductive technology have developed, so too has our understanding of the underlying molecular, biochemical and immunological mechanisms associated with successful pregnancy outcomes and our appreciation that uterine and embryological and factors equally contribute to success.

The uterine endometrium goes through a remodelling process of decidualization to become receptive to the blastocyst, creating a period of 48 h within the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle known as the "implantation window". What is interesting to note is that decidualization occurs irrespective of the presence of a blastocyst. During decidualization, endometrial fibroblast-like stromal cells change to become larger, more rounded decidual stromal cells (DSCs) (Dunn et al. 2003), which can be characterised by their secretion of prolactin (Telgmann and Gellersen 1998; Wu et al. 1995; Daly et al. 1983), insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (Matsumoto et al. 2008) and tissue factor (Lockwood et al. 1993) as well as expression of transcription factors such as Fox01 (Adiguzel and Celik-Ozenci 2021). The timing of the expression of these molecules is also crucial, as exemplified by studies showing that premature expression of prolactin is associated with repeated implantation failure (Berkhout et al. 2020). Adequate decidualization is a critical point for the fate of the pregnancy. Either decidualization continues in preparation for blastocyst implantation, or it breaks down to begin menstruation. Creation of the environment in preparation for the implantation window is dependent on a number of morphological, biochemical and hormonal changes (Aghajanova et al. 2008; Ng et al. 2020), but is also influenced by the immune environment (Murata et al. 2021).

4.2 Implantation as an Immunological Event

Implantation requires inflammation as a normal adaptation, involving various immune cells and mediators to support the preparation of the endometrial lining for receiving the blastocyst (Sehring et al. 2022). Contrary to this, excessive or aberrant inflammation can lead to implantation failure or miscarriage (Pantos et al. 2022). To understand the role of inflammation during implantation, it is first necessary to consider the presence of immune cells in the non-pregnant uterus.

4.3 Macrophages During Implantation

Macrophages are mononuclear phagocytic cells which are key players of the innate immune system. Macrophages constitute approximately 20% of the total number of decidual leukocytes at the maternal–fetal interface (Zhang et al. 2017; Ning et al. 2016), playing a number of key roles at implantation. In addition, these cells are highly responsive to the female sex hormones, adapting their role and distribution accordingly even in the non-pregnant state (De and Wood 1990; Ning et al. 2016). Both progesterone and estrogen module the inflammatory activities of macrophages (Jones et al. 2008; Menzies et al. 2011; Liu and Wang 2013).

At implantation, macrophage numbers increase within the decidua to aid in the clearance of cellular debris (Abrahams et al. 2004) and degradation of artefacts present after mating (De et al. 1991). Murine studies utilising a macrophage depletion model have confirmed the necessity for these cells at implantation through disruption of progesterone production by the corpus luteum (Care et al. 2013). Subsequent studies have shown that during the implantation period, macrophages of the M2 subtype are present in the stromal region and in close proximity to the lumen and glands (Ono et al. 2020).

Beyond implantation, macrophages are also found within the placenta as two distinct populations: decidual macrophages and Hofbauer cells (Mezouar et al. 2021) with the ability to isolate and study these independent cell types only recently becoming a possibility (Lasch et al. 2022). Classification of placental macrophages as M1 or M2 is proving somewhat more difficult for researchers to ascertain; however, studies suggest that first and early second trimester macrophages resemble M1-types macrophages (Zhang et al. 2017) and late second and third trimester macrophages resemble the M2-type (Gustafsson et al. 2008). CD14+ macrophages within the term placenta are of both maternal (30%) and fetal (70%) origin (Mezouar et al. 2019) and exhibit characteristics of M1 macrophages (Mezouar et al. 2021; Gustafsson et al. 2008).

4.4 Tregs as Master Regulators Within the Pregnant Uterus

Tregs have been the subject of much study and review in both humans and mice over the past 15 or so years and are considered to be pregnancy-protective (Muralidhara et al. 2022; Tsuda et al. 2021, 2019; Krop et al. 2020; Shigeta et al. 2020; Zhang and Sun 2020; Jorgensen et al. 2019; La Rocca et al. 2014; Teles et al. 2013; Leber et al. 2010; Zenclussen et al. 2010; Guerin et al. 2009; Aluvihare et al. 2004). As mentioned earlier, Tregs accumulate within the endometrium during the pre-implantation period (Kallikourdis and Betz 2007) and offer a protective role at the implantation site. Murine studies of allogeneic and syngeneic matings demonstrate Tregs which become activated against self-antigens early after embryo implantation to create a tolerant environment (Chen et al. 2013). Fetal-antigen-specific Treg cells

are not present at embryo implantation; however, their number increases as pregnancy progresses (Rowe et al. 2012). Decidual Tregs increase with advancing gestation (Somerset et al. 2004), and there is preferential recruitment of fetus-specific Treg cells from the maternal blood to the decidua (Tilburgs et al. 2008). Interestingly, decidual Treg cell numbers are reduced in pregnant women with pre-eclampsia compared to levels found in normal pregnant women (Quinn et al. 2011). This suggests a key role for Treg cells in regulation of the maternal–fetal interface and is now a developing area of research (Robertson et al. 2019).

This leads to the question as to how Tregs cells regulate the immune response during pregnancy? Treg cells modulate the activities of T cells. Culturing T cells in the presence of medium conditioned by placental trophoblasts demonstrated a skewing towards the production of Th2-associated transcription factors and cytokines and inhibition of those associated with Th1 and Th17 cells (Liu et al. 2011). Traditionally, pregnancy was considered a Th2-associated phenomenon, with the placenta and uterine environment skewed towards an abundance of Th2-type cytokines (Lin et al. 1993; Wegmann et al. 1993); however, this well-accepted paradigm has now been amended to include Th17 and Tregs (Saito et al. 2010). Indeed, the balance between Th17 cells and Treg cells is critical for the outcome of pregnancy in humans. During healthy pregnancy, the ratio of circulating Treg cells to Th17 cells is increased significantly compared to non-pregnant controls; however, in pre-eclamptic women, this skewing away from Th17 cells is not observed (Santner-Nanan et al. 2009).

4.5 The Specialities of Uterine Natural Killer (NK) Cells

Natural Killer (NK) cells are a type of innate lymphoid cell (ILC) crucial in the early innate defences against various pathogens, viruses in particular. In humans, two main populations of blood, or peripheral, NK cells can be defined based on expression of the surface molecule CD56. About 90% of peripheral NK cells express relatively low levels of CD56 and are defined as CD56^{dim}, and these cells are characterised by a high level of spontaneous lytic activity (Dosiou and Giudice 2005). Contrary to this, CD56^{bright} NK cells, so called as they express relatively high levels of CD56, have little lytic activity. A third type of NK cells can be identified, unique to the uterus. The phenotype and regulation of uterine NK (uNK) cells within the pregnant uterine environment are crucial for pregnancy success (Faas and de Vos 2017; Giuliani et al. 2014; Manaster and Mandelboim 2010; Vacca et al. 2013, 2011). This is demonstrated by the link between recurrent pregnancy loss and dysregulation between uNK cells and peripheral NK cells (Mahajan et al. 2022; Giuliani et al. 2014; Tang et al. 2011).

uNK cells differ from both of the peripheral NK phenotypes, $CD56^{dim}$ and $CD56^{bright}$, but have more in common with this latter phenotype, including weak lytic activity and lack of expression of FC γ RIII (CD16) (Manaster and Mandelboim 2010). Binding of IgG to CD16 results in activation of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC) by NK cells (Bryceson et al. 2006), and so the absence of CD16 on uNK cells demonstrates another tolerogenic feature of these

cells. Endometrial uNK cells are fairly inactive in the non-pregnant uterus (Manaster et al. 2008). uNK cells constitute 50–70% of immune cells within first trimester decidua near to the blastocyte implantation site (Manaster and Mandelboim 2010; Bulmer et al. 2010; Mahajan et al. 2022). These decidual uNK cells still express many activating NK receptors, but rather than inducing cytotoxicity and potentially a reaction towards the fetally derived cells, these uNK cells act to support trophoblast invasion and angiogenesis (Hanna et al. 2006) as well as regulation of Th17 cell function at the fetal–maternal interface (Fu et al. 2013).

4.6 Cytokines and Chemokines in the Pregnant Uterus

So far, we have considered some of the key immune cells which are involved in the tolerance of fetally derived cells during pregnancy. The trafficking of cells and their actions are influenced by key chemokines and cytokines which may be produced by these cells or act on these cells. With regard to the uterus during pregnancy, there are a few cytokines, namely LIF and IL-15, which stand out as having key roles in modulating the immune environment.

The non-pregnant human endometrium of non-pregnant humans expresses several chemokine receptors (e.g. CXCR1, CXCR2, CCR5, CXCR4, CCR2, CCR3, CXCR3 and CX3CR1) and produces a number of chemokines during the implantation window (e.g. CCL2, CCL4, CCL5, CCL7, CCL11, CCL14, CCL16, CCL21, CCL22, CXCL8, CX3CL1), all of which have been extensively reviewed within the literature (Ramhorst et al. 2016; Du et al. 2014; Park and Yang 2011; Red-Horse et al. 2004, 2001). Many of these chemokines are involved in the trafficking of immune cells, including macrophages, Tregs and uNK cells to the decidua. It has been suggested that chemokines and their receptors may also play other significant roles during the establishment of pregnancy, with receptors found on cells of the blastocyst and extravillous trophoblasts (Dominguez et al. 2003a, b; Dimitriadis et al. 2005; Hannan and Salamonsen 2008, 2007; Hannan et al. 2006). As will be discussed later, chemokines and their receptors have also been extensively studied for their roles in driving inflammation at the other end of the gestational period—at the point of labour.

One of the most characterised factors involved in implantation is Leukemia Inhibitory Factor (LIF), and its role during pregnancy has been extensively reviewed in the literature (Pantos et al. 2022; Li et al. 2020; Winship et al. 2015; Moberg et al. 2015). LIF is a highly glycosylated 40–50 kDa glycoprotein that functions as a pleiotropic anti-inflammatory cytokine, part of the IL-6 family. Studies using LIF-deficient mice have shown it that is essential for successful implantation (Stewart et al. 1992) through binding the LIF-receptor (LIFR) and inducing STAT3 activation (Suman et al. 2013; Poehlmann et al. 2005) as well as inducing both autocrine and paracrine signalling pathways in the endometrium to facilitate implantation (Cullinan et al. 1996; Dominguez et al. 2002). LIF is expressed during the mid-late phase of the menstrual cycle and early stages of pregnancy, in both the glandular and luminal

epitheliums (Pantos et al. 2022; Markert et al. 2011). The importance of LIF in this scenario is demonstrated by studies showing that women diagnosed with recurrent implantation failure have significantly less LIF in their endometrial glandular epithelium than normal pregnant women (Mariee et al. 2012). By contrast, it was found that women with recurrent implantation failure have higher levels of the cytokine IL-15 in the stroma (Mariee et al. 2012) and in the placenta (Toth et al. 2010) than in control women with normal pregnancies. IL-15 is a 14-15 kDa cytokine that is a member of the IL-2 family of cytokines. IL-15 has the ability to influence both innate and adaptive arms of the immune response, by stimulating NK cells, T cells and NKT cells. IL-15 transcripts are strongly expressed during the secretory, or luteal, phase of the cycle in humans a time in which a large number of NK cells are present within the uterus (Gordon 2021; Chegini et al. 2003; Kitaya et al. 2000). IL-15 is important for the differentiation of uNK cells within the endometrium during regular regeneration activities and during pregnancy (Strunz et al. 2021), but the placenta has low expression of IL-15 in the early development stages, but this gradually increases throughout pregnancy, with a peak in levels at the point of labour (Gordon 2021). Furthermore, placental explant studies have shown that IL-15 production is significantly lower in pre-eclamptic placenta samples than healthy term placentas (Agarwal et al. 2001).

5 Altered Human Leukocyte Antigen Expression by Trophoblasts

The placenta is an organ unique to pregnancy and crucial for its success. The process of placentation begins when the blastocyst implants into the decidua, with extravillous trophoblasts (EVT) making their way into the uterine wall. A number of pregnancy complications, such as placenta accrete, as serious condition when the placenta grows too far into the uterine wall, and recurrent spontaneous abortions, have clear links with dysregulation of trophoblast invasion (Illsley et al. 2020; Moser et al. 2018). Given the invasive nature of this process, tight regulation is required in order to prevent attack of the trophoblasts by maternal leukocytes.

What mechanisms are in place to prevent attack of these fetally derived, invasive cells? Interestingly, EVT cells have a unique expression of Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA). EVTs do not express the polymorphic MHC class I molecules HLA-A and HLA-B or the class II HLA-D molecules, but do display the class I molecules HLA-C, HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G (Apps et al. 2009; Hackmon et al. 2017). Expression patterns are summarised in Table 2.

HLA-C, HLA-E and HLA-F expression by EVTs provides a mechanism of protection for the fetus through modulation of activities of maternal NK cells (Papuchova et al. 2019). HLA-C can bind the NK cell inhibitory receptor KIR, thereby acting to "switch off" these cytotoxic cells which may react against fetally derived antigens (Sharkey et al. 2008). HLA-C is thought to play a key role in early implantation through controlling the depth of invasion of trophoblasts (Hackmon et al. 2017). In

Molecule	Expression pattern	References
HLA-C	Surface EVT expression	Papuchova et al. (2019), Hackmon et al. (2017), Tilburgs et al. (2017), Apps et al. (2008, 2009), King et al. (2000b)
HLA-E	EVT expression, ligand for CD94/NKG2 NK cell receptor Strong first trimester expression	Hackmon et al. (2017), Cai et al. (2014), Apps et al. (2009), Ishitani et al. (2003), King et al. (2000a)
	Co-expressed with HLA-G on placental cells Human umbilical cord lining epithelial cells	
HLA-F	Surface EVT expression Highly expressed in cytotrophoblast and syncytiotrophoblast layers in first trimester	Hackmon et al. (2017), Shobu et al. (2006), Ishitani et al. (2003)
	EVT expression, mainly in cytoplasm during first trimester and then surface during second and third trimesters	
HLA-G	Surface EVT expression, strong levels across gestation	Hackmon et al. (2017), Cai et al. (2014), Apps et al. (2009), Ishitani et al. (2003), King et al. (2000b), Blaschitz et al. (1997), Hammer et al. (1997), Yang et al. (1996)
	Membrane bound HLA-G expressed on EVT, and sHLA-G on all placental trophoblasts	
	Placental Hofbauer cells	
	Endothelial cells of chorionic villi	
	Amniotic cells Human umbilical cord lining epithelial cells	

Table 2 HLA-C, -E, -F, -G expression patterns

EVT—extravillous trophoblasts; HLA—Human Leukocyte Antigen; NK—Natural Killer; sHLA—soluble Human Leukocyte Antigen

addition, maternal T cells may specifically recognise fetal HLA-C on trophoblast cells, and that this activation promotes Treg differentiation (Tilburgs et al. 2009). The surface expression of HLA-C is known to be regulated at a transcriptional and post-transcriptional level (Papuchova et al. 2019).

HLA-E is expressed by EVTs and this has been shown to be very much restricted to first trimester (Hackmon et al. 2017). This molecule regularly forms complexes with HLA-G, and together, these mediate the inhibitory actions of uNK cells (King et al. 2000a). HLA-G is the most studied of the placenta-associated HLA molecules, with seven isoforms identified: HLA-G1, HLA-G2, HLA-G3, HLA-G4 being membrane bound and HLA-G5, HLA-G6, HLA-G7 being soluble (Hviid 2006; Hunt and Langat 2009). The trophoblast-bound molecules have roles in binding inhibitory NK cell

receptors to limit their action and also to control the degree of trophoblast invasion into the uterine wall. The soluble forms have been associated with modulation of T cell function through impairment of expression chemokine receptors (Morandi et al. 2010). The function of HLA-F has only been more recently explored, and it has been found that it is found on the cell surface of actively migrating EVTs and this supports their specific role in early EVT invasion and interactions with uNK cells (Hackmon et al. 2017).

6 Immunomodulation by Placental Exosomes

Exosomes are defined as membrane-bound extracellular vesicles (EVs) with a size of ~ 40–160 nm in diameter, originating from the endosome of a cell (Kalluri and LeBleu 2020). Interest in the immunomodulatory functions of exosomes has grown significantly in recent years, and studies into the impact of exosomes derived from the placenta have also created much interest. In fact, the identification of placental EVs was reported as far back as 1998 (Knight et al. 1998). Exosomes derived from the placenta have been associated with crucial immunomodulatory functions for the successful maintenance of pregnancy (Bai et al. 2021; Nair and Salomon 2018; Tong et al. 2018).

Throughout pregnancy, the placenta continually sheds EVs into the maternal bloodstream, with the syncytiotrophoblast layer being the main source of these (Salomon et al. 2017; Tannetta et al. 2017; Dragovic et al. 2015). Placental EVs contribute to the modulation of the maternal immune environment for the protection of the fetus, by altering the actions of immune cells. For example, activation of the potentially cytotoxic NK cells through the NKG2D activating receptor is reduced by the binding to NKG2D ligands on placental EVs (Hedlund et al. 2009). More recently, it has been shown that placental EVs can secrete HLA-E, promoting the secretion of IFN- γ and VEGF by decidual NK cells (Jiang et al. 2021) at implantation. Indeed, placental EVs increase significantly through the first trimester (Sarker et al. 2014; Kshirsagar et al. 2012). In addition, placental EVs can modulate the differentiation, activation and subtype polarisation of decidual macrophages to favour pregnancy (Aldo et al. 2014). One way in which this can occur is through driving the induction of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 β from macrophages (Atay et al. 2011). Studies have shown that placental EVs lead to downmodulation of T cell activity, and thereby protection of pregnancy, through inhibiting T cell proliferation and cytotoxicity, driving Treg differentiation and T cell apoptosis (Stenqvist et al. 2013).

7 The Role of the Maternal Immune System During Parturition and Post-partum Involution

The initiation of labour, or parturition, in humans is complex, and the underlying mechanisms are not yet fully understood; however, many pathways have been considered such as the activation of the hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis, prostaglandin production, an increase in the responsiveness to oxytocin and the functional withdrawal of progesterone (Smith 2007).

In addition to these physiological mechanisms, the infiltration of inflammatory cells and their mediators is now considered key in driving normal labour at term. Indeed, the impact of inflammation within the uterus on labour initiation has been eluded to for some time, with infection being responsible for 30-50% of cases of preterm birth (Goldenberg and Thompson 2003; Goldenberg et al. 2000; Romero et al. 2006). Normal labour is associated with an influx of inflammatory cells into the uterus, driven by an increase in chemokine and proinflammatory cytokine production at this site. Labour is associated with inflammation and this is characterised by an influx of macrophages, neutrophils and T cells to the myometrium and cervix (Osman et al. 2003; Thomson et al. 1999) along with an increase in the production of proinflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β , TNF- α and IL-6 (Osman et al. 2003; Young et al. 2002) and chemokines such as CXCL8 (IL-8), CCL2, CCL3 and CCL5 (El-Azzamy et al. 2017; Gomez-Lopez et al. 2010). Indeed, the utilisation of chemokine inhibitors to halt preterm birth has recently been investigated (Shynlova et al. 2021; Coleman et al. 2020). Until recently, it was considered that inflammation within the myometrium was a driver of labour induction; however, it is now recognised that it is more likely that inflammation is a consequence of labour induction, designed to prepare the uterus for post-partum remodelling (Singh et al. 2021, 2017).

Post-partum uterine repair and involution are a highly efficient process, required for the success of future pregnancies. Studies into the underlying molecular and immunological mechanisms of human post-partum repair have been slow to make it into the scientific literature, mainly due to the practical and ethical issues involved in collecting appropriate tissue samples. Much of what we do know about post-partum involution has come from other models of tissue repair (Paliulyte et al. 2017) use of mouse and rat models. Repair of the uterus requires extracellular matrix remodelling, proliferation, apoptosis and breakdown of collagen (Salamonsen 2003; Hsu et al. 2014).

8 Consequences of Pregnancy for the Immune System

8.1 Impact of Pregnancy Hormones on the Immune System

The female body significantly changes its hormonal balance for pregnancy maintenance. The sex hormones progesterone and estrogens can have many effects on the cells of the immune system (Wira et al. 2015; Menzies and Henriquez 2009; Robinson and Klein 2012) which can have wider implications. For example, pregnancy affects maternal autoimmune diseases and the outcome of infectious diseases.

The number and activation status of circulating leukocytes changes in the mother during normal pregnancy. There is an increase in the total leukocyte count during pregnancy, with an increase in the number of peripheral monoyctes and granulocytes (Belo et al. 2005; Luppi et al. 2002a, b), but a decrease in the number of lymphocytes (Castilla et al. 1989). In pregnant women, monocytes are activated, producing the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-12 (Luppi et al. 2002a) but by comparison neutrophils appear to have reduced effector functions, with a reduction in chemotaxis and microbial killing ability (Kindzelskii et al. 2004; Crouch et al. 1995; El-Maallem and Fletcher 1980).

While the role of T cell subsets has been studied for some time and discussed earlier within this chapter, data about the impact of pregnancy on B cells are only just emerging in the literature. While B cells constitute 5-15% of circulating lymphocytes, the number of these changes significantly in response to pregnancy. Numbers of B cells generally fall in late pregnancy and the post-partum period (Lima et al. 2016). B cells are now characterised as different subsets, B1 and B2 B cells. B1 cells produce autoantibodies, which are detrimental to pregnancy, whereas B2 cells are responsible for production of asymmetric antibodies (IgG molecules with a modified Fab region), which can be protective for pregnancy (Muzzio et al. 2013; Gutierrez et al. 2005; Zenclussen et al. 2001; Barrientos et al. 2009). We previously discussed the importance of Tregs for the maintenance of pregnancy, but what about B regulatory cells (Bregs)? Much of what we know so far about Bregs has come from studies into autoimmunity, tolerance and cancer (Guzman-Genuino and Diener 2017) and is considered to be mediators of immunosuppression, so this would suggest a key role in pregnancy protection. Bregs are a major source of the immunosuppressive cytokine IL-10, and murine studies have shown that Bregs are required for pregnancy tolerance, with IL-10 being a main mediator of this (Rolle et al. 2013; Jensen et al. 2013).

8.2 Impact of Pregnancy on the Response to Infection

It is well established that generally, women exhibit much more vigorous humoral responses than men, with higher serum levels of IgG and total IgM (Eidinger and Garrett 1972; Giltay et al. 2000). Sex hormones play a critical role in modulating

immune function, and the importance of understanding these influences is highlighted by consideration of the sex bias in the susceptibility to a number of infections. The same can be said for pregnancy, and it is well known that the altered immune environment leads to pregnant women being more susceptible to some infections.

An example of this is the fact that the pregnant women are more susceptible to the impacts of the protozoan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii*. The change in the uterine immune environment described within this chapter, that is the development of a Th2 dominant milieu, favours the transmission and replication of this parasite, which is normally controlled by a Th1-type response (Roberts et al. 1995). Transmission of the parasite leads to congenital toxoplasmosis (Gomez-Chavez et al. 2019; Singh 2016; Hampton 2015; Torgerson and Mastroiacovo 2013), which can have a range of detrimental outcomes for the fetus, dependent on the stage of pregnancy at which transmission occurs.

Due to the immunological modifications which occur systemically during pregnancy, it is therefore unsurprising that pregnant women are generally more susceptible to respiratory infections (Englund and Chu 2018), including COVID-19 (Forestieri et al. 2022) and influenza (Mertz et al. 2019), leading to a higher risk of hospitalisation.

8.3 Autoimmune Disease During Pregnancy

As well as infections, the sex and pregnancy-associated hormones have been shown to have a significant impact on the incidence and progression of autoimmune disease. With global ageing populations and increasing incidence of autoimmune disease, it may be necessary to explore personalised treatment options.

The significant improvement in symptoms experienced by Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) patients during pregnancy allows us to hypothesise that treatment options based on pregnancy-associated immune modifications could be useful. Women are three times more likely to develop RA than men; however, approximately 75% of women with RA experience an improvement in their symptoms as a direct consequence of the systemic effects of pregnancy (Forger and Villiger 2020). This effect is not long-lasting, and within 3 months post-partum, typical RA symptoms return (Adams Waldorf and Nelson 2008). While much remains to be learned about the underlying mechanisms for the disease amelioration, recent studies have eluded to the down-regulation of effector T cells, upregulation of Tregs and alterations to antibodies as potential reasons. More specifically, RA is associated with changes in the glycosylation of the IgG Fc region; however in pregnancy, it has been found that galactosylation of these immunoglobulins is related to the symptom improvement (Bondt et al. 2013, van de Geijn et al. 2009).

Multiple Sclerosis (MS) is characterised by the immune attack of the myelin sheath surrounding nerves. Generally, women are three times more likely to develop MS as men (Disanto and Ramagopalan 2013) with women more likely to carry the associated HLA DRB1 allele (Bove and Chitnis 2014); however, men are more likely

to develop more progressive disease with poorer recovery after attacks. Similar to RA, pregnancy is associated with a reduction in the incidence of relapses, but a return of the condition in the months following delivery (Confavreux et al. 1998). Progesterone, estriol and estradiol may play an important role in the preventing relapses in sufferers of this condition (El-Etr et al. 2005; Kim et al. 1999). More recently, a Danish nationwide cohort study has shown no links between MS and recurrent pregnancy loss (Mikkelsen et al. 2022).

Another autoimmune disease where pregnancy impacts on the disease is systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE); however, unlike with RA and MS, symptoms are not improved with pregnancy, in fact in many cases symptoms worsen. Women with SLE are at a much greater risk of developing pregnancy complications and fetal loss (Moroni and Ponticelli 2016; Foocharoen et al. 2009; Kalok et al. 2019). SLE is defined immunologically by the production of autoantibodies against nuclear antigens (Crispin et al. 2010). More specifically, 45% of SLE patients exhibit autoantibodies to the estrogen receptor, ER- α , which interferes with T cell homeostasis (Colasanti et al. 2012).

9 Conclusion

As we learn more about the human immune system, we have to explore how these immune functions are modulated during pregnancy and in turn how this impacts on the ability to deal with infections and other immune-related diseases. In this chapter, we have explored the key mechanisms involved in protection of the fetus from the maternal immune system and eluded to how this immunomodulation can impact on other aspects of the mother's health, namely, response to infection and autoimmune disease. Much remains to be determined about how we can apply this increased knowledge of the immune adaptations to pregnancy for clinical use, to find more efficient ways of predicting, diagnosing and treating both fertility issues and pregnancy complications.

References

- Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, Versalovic J (2014) The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. Sci Transl Med 6:237ra65
- Abrahams VM, Kim YM, Straszewski SL, Romero R, Mor G (2004) Macrophages and apoptotic cell clearance during pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 51:275–282
- Adams Waldorf KM, Nelson JL (2008) Autoimmune disease during pregnancy and the microchimerism legacy of pregnancy. Immunol Invest 37:631–644
- Adiguzel D, Celik-Ozenci C (2021) FoxO1 is a cell-specific core transcription factor for endometrial remodeling and homeostasis during menstrual cycle and early pregnancy. Hum Reprod Update 27:570–583

- Agarwal R, Loganath A, Roy AC, Wong YC, Ng SC (2001) Expression profiles of interleukin-15 in early and late gestational human placenta and in pre-eclamptic placenta. Mol Hum Reprod 7:97–101
- Aghajanova L, Hamilton AE, Giudice LC (2008) Uterine receptivity to human embryonic implantation: histology, biomarkers, and transcriptomics. Semin Cell Dev Biol 19:204–211
- Aldo PB, Racicot K, Craviero V, Guller S, Romero R, Mor G (2014) Trophoblast induces monocyte differentiation into CD14+/CD16+ macrophages. Am J Reprod Immunol 72:270–284
- Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG (2004) Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. Nat Immunol 5:266–271
- Annual Capri Workshop G (2020) Correction to: early pregnancy loss: the default outcome for fertilized human oocytes. J Assist Reprod Genet 37:1065
- Apps R, Gardner L, Hiby SE, Sharkey AM, Moffett A (2008) Conformation of human leucocyte antigen-C molecules at the surface of human trophoblast cells. Immunology 124:322–328
- Apps R, Murphy SP, Fernando R, Gardner L, Ahad T, Moffett A (2009) Human leucocyte antigen (HLA) expression of primary trophoblast cells and placental cell lines, determined using single antigen beads to characterize allotype specificities of anti-HLA antibodies. Immunology 127:26– 39
- Atay S, Gercel-Taylor C, Taylor DD (2011) Human trophoblast-derived exosomal fibronectin induces pro-inflammatory IL-1beta production by macrophages. Am J Reprod Immunol 66:259–269
- Bai K, Li X, Zhong J, Ng EHY, Yeung WSB, Lee CL, Chiu PCN (2021) Placenta-derived exosomes as a modulator in maternal immune tolerance during pregnancy. Front Immunol 12:671093
- Baldeon-Vaca G, Marathe JG, Politch JA, Mausser E, Pudney J, Doud J, Nador E, Zeitlin L, Pauly M, Moench TR, Brennan M, Whaley KJ, Anderson DJ (2021) Production and characterization of a human antisperm monoclonal antibody against CD52g for topical contraception in women. EBioMedicine 69:103478
- Bardos J, Fiorentino D, Longman RE, Paidas M (2019) Immunological role of the maternal uterine microbiome in pregnancy: pregnancies pathologies and alterated microbiota. Front Immunol 10:2823
- Barrientos G, Fuchs D, Schrocksnadel K, Ruecke M, Garcia MG, Klapp BF, Raghupathy R, Miranda S, Arck PC, Blois SM (2009) Low levels of serum asymmetric antibodies as a marker of threatened pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 79:201–210
- Belo L, Santos-Silva A, Rocha S, Caslake M, Cooney J, Pereira-Leite L, Quintanilha A, Rebelo I (2005) Fluctuations in C-reactive protein concentration and neutrophil activation during normal human pregnancy. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 123:46–51
- Berkhout RP, Lambalk CB, Repping S, Hamer G, Mastenbroek S (2020) Premature expression of the decidualization marker prolactin is associated with repeated implantation failure. Gynecol Endocrinol 36:360–364
- Blaschitz A, Lenfant F, Mallet V, Hartmann M, Bensussan A, Geraghty DE, le Bouteiller P, Dohr G (1997) Endothelial cells in chorionic fetal vessels of first trimester placenta express HLA-G. Eur J Immunol 27:3380–3388
- Blaser MJ, Devkota S, McCoy KD, Relman DA, Yassour M, Young VB (2021) Lessons learned from the prenatal microbiome controversy. Microbiome 9:8
- Bondt A, Selman MH, Deelder AM, Hazes JM, Willemsen SP, Wuhrer M, Dolhain RJ (2013) Association between galactosylation of immunoglobulin G and improvement of rheumatoid arthritis during pregnancy is independent of sialylation. J Proteome Res 12:4522–4531
- Bove R, Chitnis T (2014) The role of gender and sex hormones in determining the onset and outcome of multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 20:520–526
- Brazdova A, Senechal H, Peltre G, Poncet P (2016) Immune aspects of female infertility. Int J Fertil Steril 10:1–10
- Bromfield JJ (2014) Seminal fluid and reproduction: much more than previously thought. J Assist Reprod Genet 31:627–636

- Bryceson YT, March ME, Ljunggren HG, Long EO (2006) Synergy among receptors on resting NK cells for the activation of natural cytotoxicity and cytokine secretion. Blood 107:159–166
- Bulmer JN, Williams PJ, Lash GE (2010) Immune cells in the placental bed. Int J Dev Biol 54:281–294
- Bushman FD (2019) De-discovery of the placenta microbiome. Am J Obstet Gynecol 220:213-214
- Cai YJ, Huang L, Leung TY, Burd A (2014) A study of the immune properties of human umbilical cord lining epithelial cells. Cytotherapy 16:631–639
- Care AS, Diener KR, Jasper MJ, Brown HM, Ingman WV, Robertson SA (2013) Macrophages regulate corpus luteum development during embryo implantation in mice. J Clin Invest 123:3472–3487
- Castilla JA, Rueda R, Vargas ML, Gonzalez-Gomez F, Garcia-Olivares E (1989) Decreased levels of circulating CD4+ T lymphocytes during normal human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 15:103–111
- Chegini N, Roberts M, Ripps B (2003) Differential expression of interleukins (IL)-13 and IL-15 in ectopic and eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis and normal fertile women. Am J Reprod Immunol 49:75–83
- Chen C, Song X, Wei W, Zhong H, Dai J, Lan Z, Li F, Yu X, Feng Q, Wang Z, Xie H, Chen X, Zeng C, Wen B, Zeng L, Du H, Tang H, Xu C, Xia Y, Xia H, Yang H, Wang J, Wang J, Madsen L, Brix S, Kristiansen K, Xu X, Li J, Wu R, Jia H (2017) The microbiota continuum along the female reproductive tract and its relation to uterine-related diseases. Nat Commun 8:875
- Chen T, Darrasse-Jèze G, Bergot AS, Courau T, Churlaud G, Valdivia K, Strominger JL, Ruocco MG, Chaouat G, Klatzmann D (2013) Self-Specific Memory Regulatory T Cells Protect Embryos at Implantation in Mice. J Immunol 191(5):2273–2281
- Colasanti T, Maselli A, Conti F, Sanchez M, Alessandri C, Barbati C, Vacirca D, Tinari A, Chiarotti F, Giovannetti A, Franconi F, Valesini G, Malorni W, Pierdominici M, Ortona E (2012) Autoantibodies to estrogen receptor alpha interfere with T lymphocyte homeostasis and are associated with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 64:778–787
- Coleman M, Orvis A, Wu TY, Dacanay M, Merillat S, Ogle J, Baldessari A, Kretzer NM, Munson J, Boros-Rausch AJ, Shynlova O, Lye S, Rajagopal L, Adams Waldorf KM (2020) A broad spectrum chemokine inhibitor prevents preterm labor but not microbial invasion of the amniotic cavity or neonatal morbidity in a non-human primate model. Front Immunol 11:770
- Collado MC, Rautava S, Aakko J, Isolauri E, Salminen S (2016) Human gut colonisation may be initiated in utero by distinct microbial communities in the placenta and amniotic fluid. Sci Rep 6:23129
- Confavreux C, Hutchinson M, Hours MM, Cortinovis-Tourniaire P, Moreau T (1998) Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in multiple sclerosis group. N Engl J Med 339:285–291
- Crispin JC, Liossis SN, Kis-Toth K, Lieberman LA, Kyttaris VC, Juang YT, Tsokos GC (2010) Pathogenesis of human systemic lupus erythematosus: recent advances. Trends Mol Med 16:47– 57
- Crouch SP, Crocker IP, Fletcher J (1995) The effect of pregnancy on polymorphonuclear leukocyte function. J Immunol 155:5436–5443
- Cullinan EB, Abbondanzo SJ, Anderson PS, Pollard JW, Lessey BA, Stewart CL (1996) Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and LIF receptor expression in human endometrium suggests a potential autocrine/paracrine function in regulating embryo implantation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:3115–3120
- Daly DC, Maslar IA, Riddick DH (1983) Prolactin production during in vitro decidualization of proliferative endometrium. Am J Obstet Gynecol 145:672–678
- De M, Wood GW (1990) Influence of oestrogen and progesterone on macrophage distribution in the mouse uterus. J Endocrinol 126:417–424
- De M, Choudhuri R, Wood GW (1991) Determination of the number and distribution of macrophages, lymphocytes, and granulocytes in the mouse uterus from mating through implantation. J Leukoc Biol 50:252–262

- de Goffau MC, Lager S, Sovio U, Gaccioli F, Cook E, Peacock SJ, Parkhill J, Charnock-Jones DS, Smith GCS (2019) Human placenta has no microbiome but can contain potential pathogens. Nature 572:329–334
- Dimitriadis E, White CA, Jones RL, Salamonsen LA (2005) Cytokines, chemokines and growth factors in endometrium related to implantation. Hum Reprod Update 11:613–630
- Disanto G, Ramagopalan SV (2013) On the sex ratio of multiple sclerosis. Mult Scler 19:3-4
- Dominguez F, Remohi J, Pellicer A, Simon C (2002) Paracrine interactions during human implantation. Rev Endocr Metab Disord 3:97–105
- Dominguez F, Galan A, Martin JJ, Remohi J, Pellicer A, Simon C (2003a) Hormonal and embryonic regulation of chemokine receptors CXCR1, CXCR4, CCR5 and CCR2B in the human endometrium and the human blastocyst. Mol Hum Reprod 9:189–198
- Dominguez F, Pellicer A, Simon C (2003b) The chemokine connection: hormonal and embryonic regulation at the human maternal-embryonic interface—a review. Placenta 24(Suppl B):S48–S55
- Dosiou C, Giudice LC (2005) Natural killer cells in pregnancy and recurrent pregnancy loss: endocrine and immunologic perspectives. Endocr Rev 26:44–62
- Dragovic RA, Collett GP, Hole P, Ferguson DJ, Redman CW, Sargent IL, Tannetta DS (2015) Isolation of syncytiotrophoblast microvesicles and exosomes and their characterisation by multicolour flow cytometry and fluorescence nanoparticle tracking analysis. Methods 87:64–74
- Druckmann R, Druckmann MA (2005) Progesterone and the immunology of pregnancy. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 97:389–396
- Du M-R, Wang S-C, Li D-J (2014) The integrative roles of chemokines at the maternal–fetal interface in early pregnancy. Cell Mol Immunol 11:438–448
- du Fosse NA, Lashley E, Anholts JDH, van Beelen E, le Cessie S, van Lith JMM, Eikmans M, van der Hoorn MLP (2022) Impaired immunomodulatory effects of seminal plasma may play a role in unexplained recurrent pregnancy loss: results of an in vitro study. J Reprod Immunol 151:103500
- Dunn CL, Kelly RW, Critchley HO (2003) Decidualization of the human endometrial stromal cell: an enigmatic transformation. Reprod Biomed Online 7:151–161
- Eidinger D, Garrett TJ (1972) Studies of the regulatory effects of the sex hormones on antibody formation and stem cell differentiation. J Exp Med 136:1098–1116
- El-Azzamy H, Balogh A, Romero R, Xu Y, Lajeunesse C, Plazyo O, Xu Z, Price TG, Dong Z, Tarca AL, Papp Z, Hassan SS, Chaiworapongsa T, Kim CJ, Gomez-Lopez N, Than NG (2017) Characteristic changes in decidual gene expression signature in spontaneous term parturition. J Pathol Transl Med 51:264–283
- El-Etr M, Vukusic S, Gignoux L, Durand-Dubief F, Achiti I, Baulieu EE, Confavreux C (2005) Steroid hormones in multiple sclerosis. J Neurol Sci 233:49–54
- El-Maallem H, Fletcher J (1980) Impaired neutrophil function and myeloperoxidase deficiency in pregnancy. Br J Haematol 44:375–381
- Englund JA, Chu HY (2018) Respiratory virus infection during pregnancy: does it matter? J Infect Dis 218:512–515
- Faas MM, de Vos P (2017) Uterine NK cells and macrophages in pregnancy. Placenta 56:44-52
- Foocharoen C, Nanagara R, Salang L, Suwannaroj S, Mahakkanukrauh A (2009) Pregnancy and disease outcome in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE): a study at Srinagarind Hospital. J Med Assoc Thai 92:167–174
- Forestieri S, Marcialis MA, Migliore L, Panisi C, Fanos V (2022) Relationship between pregnancy and coronavirus: what we know. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 35:1997–2008
- Forger F, Villiger PM (2020) Immunological adaptations in pregnancy that modulate rheumatoid arthritis disease activity. Nat Rev Rheumatol 16:113–122
- Fricke WF, Ravel J (2021) Microbiome or no microbiome: are we looking at the prenatal environment through the right lens? Microbiome 9:9

- Fu B, Li X, Sun R, Tong X, Ling B, Tian Z, Wei H (2013) Natural killer cells promote immune tolerance by regulating inflammatory TH17 cells at the human maternal-fetal interface. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:E231–E240
- Giltay EJ, Fonk JC, von Blomberg BM, Drexhage HA, Schalkwijk C, Gooren LJ (2000) In vivo effects of sex steroids on lymphocyte responsiveness and immunoglobulin levels in humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85:1648–1657
- Giuliani E, Parkin KL, Lessey BA, Young SL, Fazleabas AT (2014) Characterization of uterine NK cells in women with infertility or recurrent pregnancy loss and associated endometriosis. Am J Reprod Immunol 72:262–269
- Goldenberg RL, Thompson C (2003) The infectious origins of stillbirth. Am J Obstet Gynecol 189:861–873
- Goldenberg RL, Hauth JC, Andrews WW (2000) Intrauterine infection and preterm delivery. N Engl J Med 342:1500–1507
- Gomez-Chavez F, Canedo-Solares I, Ortiz-Alegria LB, Flores-Garcia Y, Luna-Pasten H, Figueroa-Damian R, Mora-Gonzalez JC, Correa D (2019) Maternal immune response during pregnancy and vertical transmission in human toxoplasmosis. Front Immunol 10:285
- Gomez-Lopez N, Laresgoiti-Servitje E, Olson DM, Estrada-Gutierrez G, Vadillo-Ortega F (2010) The role of chemokines in term and premature rupture of the fetal membranes: a review. Biol Reprod 82:809–814
- Gordon SM (2021). Interleukin-15 in outcomes of pregnancy. Int J Mol Sci 22
- Guerin LR, Prins JR, Robertson SA (2009) Regulatory T-cells and immune tolerance in pregnancy: a new target for infertility treatment? Hum Reprod Update 15:517–535
- Guerin LR, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Bromfield JJ, Hayball JD, Robertson SA (2011) Seminal fluid regulates accumulation of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the preimplantation mouse uterus through expanding the FOXP3+ cell pool and CCL19-mediated recruitment. Biol Reprod 85:397–408
- Gustafsson C, Mjosberg J, Matussek A, Geffers R, Matthiesen L, Berg G, Sharma S, Buer J, Ernerudh J (2008) Gene expression profiling of human decidual macrophages: evidence for immunosuppressive phenotype. PLoS ONE 3:e2078
- Gutierrez G, Gentile T, Miranda S, Margni RA (2005) Asymmetric antibodies: a protective arm in pregnancy. Chem Immunol Allergy 89:158–168
- Guzman-Genuino RM, Diener KR (2017) Regulatory B cells in pregnancy: lessons from autoimmunity, graft tolerance, and cancer. Front Immunol 8:172
- Hackmon R, Pinnaduwage L, Zhang J, Lye SJ, Geraghty DE, Dunk CE (2017) Definitive class I human leukocyte antigen expression in gestational placentation: HLA-F, HLA-E, HLA-C, and HLA-G in extravillous trophoblast invasion on placentation, pregnancy, and parturition. Am J Reprod Immunol 77
- Hammer A, Hutter H, Blaschitz A, Mahnert W, Hartmann M, Uchanska-Ziegler B, Ziegler A, Dohr G (1997) Amnion epithelial cells, in contrast to trophoblast cells, express all classical HLA class I molecules together with HLA-G. Am J Reprod Immunol 37:161–171
- Hampl R, Kubatova J, Heracek J, Sobotka V, Starka L (2013) Hormones and endocrine disruptors in human seminal plasma. Endocr Regul 47:149–158
- Hampton MM (2015) Congenital toxoplasmosis: a review. Neonatal Netw 34:274-278
- Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, Prus D, Cohen-Daniel L, Arnon TI, Manaster I, Gazit R, Yutkin V, Benharroch D, Porgador A, Keshet E, Yagel S, Mandelboim O (2006) Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetal-maternal interface. Nat Med 12:1065–1074
- Hannan NJ, Salamonsen LA (2007) Role of chemokines in the endometrium and in embryo implantation. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 19:266–272
- Hannan NJ, Salamonsen LA (2008) CX3CL1 and CCL14 regulate extracellular matrix and adhesion molecules in the trophoblast: potential roles in human embryo implantation. Biol Reprod 79:58– 65

- Hannan NJ, Jones RL, White CA, Salamonsen LA (2006) The chemokines, CX3CL1, CCL14, and CCL4, promote human trophoblast migration at the feto-maternal interface. Biol Reprod 74:896–904
- Hedlund M, Stenqvist AC, Nagaeva O, Kjellberg L, Wulff M, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L (2009) Human placenta expresses and secretes NKG2D ligands via exosomes that downmodulate the cognate receptor expression: evidence for immunosuppressive function. J Immunol 183:340–351
- Hsu KF, Pan HA, Hsu YY, Wu CM, Chung WJ, Huang SC (2014) Enhanced myometrial autophagy in postpartum uterine involution. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol 53:293–302
- Hunt JS, Langat DL (2009) HLA-G: a human pregnancy-related immunomodulator. Curr Opin Pharmacol 9:462–469
- Hviid TV (2006) HLA-G in human reproduction: aspects of genetics, function and pregnancy complications. Hum Reprod Update 12:209–232
- Illsley NP, Dasilva-Arnold SC, Zamudio S, Alvarez M, Al-Khan A (2020) Trophoblast invasion: lessons from abnormally invasive placenta (placenta accreta). Placenta 102:61–66
- Ishitani A, Sageshima N, Lee N, Dorofeeva N, Hatake K, Marquardt H, Geraghty DE (2003) Protein expression and peptide binding suggest unique and interacting functional roles for HLA-E, F, and G in maternal-placental immune recognition. J Immunol 171:1376–1384
- Jensen F, Muzzio D, Soldati R, Fest S, Zenclussen AC (2013) Regulatory B10 cells restore pregnancy tolerance in a mouse model. Biol Reprod 89:90
- Jiang L, Fei H, Jin X, Liu X, Yang C, Li C, Chen J, Yang A, Zhu J, Wang H, Fei X, Zhang S (2021) Extracellular vesicle-mediated secretion of HLA-E by trophoblasts maintains pregnancy by regulating the metabolism of decidual NK cells. Int J Biol Sci 17:4377–4395
- Johansson M, Bromfield JJ, Jasper MJ, Robertson SA (2004) Semen activates the female immune response during early pregnancy in mice. Immunology 112:290–300
- Jones LA, Anthony JP, Henriquez FL, Lyons RE, Nickdel MB, Carter KC, Alexander J, Roberts CW (2008) Toll-like receptor-4-mediated macrophage activation is differentially regulated by progesterone via the glucocorticoid and progesterone receptors. Immunology 125:59–69
- Jorgensen N, Persson G, Hviid TVF (2019) The tolerogenic function of regulatory T cells in pregnancy and cancer. Front Immunol 10:911
- Kahn DA, Baltimore D (2010) Pregnancy induces a fetal antigen-specific maternal T regulatory cell response that contributes to tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:9299–9304
- Kallikourdis M, Betz AG (2007) Periodic accumulation of regulatory T cells in the uterus: preparation for the implantation of a semi-allogeneic fetus? PLoS ONE 2:e382
- Kalluri R, Lebleu VS (2020) The biology, function, and biomedical applications of exosomes. Science 367
- Kalok A, Abdul Cader R, Indirayani I, Abdul Karim AK, Shah SA, Mohamed Ismail NA, Omar MH, Shafiee MN (2019) Pregnancy outcomes in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) women. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 40
- Kim S, Liva SM, Dalal MA, Verity MA, Voskuhl RR (1999) Estriol ameliorates autoimmune demyelinating disease: implications for multiple sclerosis. Neurology 52:1230–1238
- Kindzelskii AL, Ueki T, Michibata H, Chaiworapongsa T, Romero R, Petty HR (2004) 6-Phosphogluconate dehydrogenase and glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase form a supramolecular complex in human neutrophils that undergoes retrograde trafficking during pregnancy. J Immunol 172:6373–6381
- King A, Allan DS, Bowen M, Powis SJ, Joseph S, Verma S, Hiby SE, Mcmichael AJ, Loke YW, Braud VM (2000a) HLA-E is expressed on trophoblast and interacts with CD94/NKG2 receptors on decidual NK cells. Eur J Immunol 30:1623–1631
- King A, Burrows TD, Hiby SE, Bowen JM, Joseph S, Verma S, Lim PB, Gardner L, Le Bouteiller P, Ziegler A, Uchanska-Ziegler B, Loke YW (2000b) Surface expression of HLA-C antigen by human extravillous trophoblast. Placenta 21:376–387
- Kitaya K, Yasuda J, Yagi I, Tada Y, Fushiki S, Honjo H (2000) IL-15 expression at human endometrium and decidua. Biol Reprod 63:683–687

- Knight M, Redman CW, Linton EA, Sargent IL (1998) Shedding of syncytiotrophoblast microvilli into the maternal circulation in pre-eclamptic pregnancies. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 105:632–640
- Krop J, Heidt S, Claas FHJ, Eikmans M (2020) Regulatory T cells in pregnancy: it is not all about FoxP3. Front Immunol 11:1182
- Kshirsagar SK, Alam SM, Jasti S, Hodes H, Nauser T, Gilliam M, Billstrand C, Hunt JS, Petroff MG (2012) Immunomodulatory molecules are released from the first trimester and term placenta via exosomes. Placenta 33:982–990
- Kuijper EA, Ket JC, Caanen MR, Lambalk CB (2013) Reproductive hormone concentrations in pregnancy and neonates: a systematic review. Reprod Biomed Online 27:33–63
- La Rocca C, Carbone F, Longobardi S, Matarese G (2014) The immunology of pregnancy: regulatory T cells control maternal immune tolerance toward the fetus. Immunol Lett 162:41–48
- Lasch M, Sudan K, Paul C, Schulz C, Kolben T, Dorp JV, Eren S, Beyer S, Siniscalchi L, Mahner S, Jeschke U, Meister S (2022) Isolation of decidual macrophages and Hofbauer cells from term placenta-comparison of the expression of CD163 and CD80. Int J Mol Sci 23
- Lauder AP, Roche AM, Sherrill-Mix S, Bailey A, Laughlin AL, Bittinger K, Leite R, Elovitz MA, Parry S, Bushman FD (2016) Comparison of placenta samples with contamination controls does not provide evidence for a distinct placenta microbiota. Microbiome 4:29
- Leber A, Teles A, Zenclussen AC (2010) Regulatory T cells and their role in pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 63:445–459
- Leiby JS, McCormick K, Sherrill-Mix S, Clarke EL, Kessler LR, Taylor LJ, Hofstaedter CE, Roche AM, Mattei LM, Bittinger K, Elovitz MA, Leite R, Parry S, Bushman FD (2018) Lack of detection of a human placenta microbiome in samples from preterm and term deliveries. Microbiome 6:196
- Li Z, Li R, Li X, Dai H, Han X, Wang X, Yang A (2020) LIF in embryo culture medium is a predictive marker for clinical pregnancy following IVF-ET of patients with fallopian tube obstruction. J Reprod Immunol 141:103164
- Lim ES, Rodriguez C, Holtz LR (2018) Amniotic fluid from healthy term pregnancies does not harbor a detectable microbial community. Microbiome 6:87
- Lima J, Martins C, Leandro MJ, Nunes G, Sousa MJ, Branco JC, Borrego LM (2016) Characterization of B cells in healthy pregnant women from late pregnancy to post-partum: a prospective observational study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 16:139
- Lin H, Mosmann TR, Guilbert L, Tuntipopipat S, Wegmann TG (1993) Synthesis of T-helper 2-type cytokines at the maternal-fetal interface. J Immunol 151:4562–4573
- Liu L, Wang Z (2013) Estrogen attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced nitric oxide production in macrophages partially via the nongenomic pathway. Cell Immunol 286:53–58
- Liu F, Guo J, Tian T, Wang H, Dong F, Huang H, Dong M (2011) Placental trophoblasts shifted Th1/Th2 balance toward Th2 and inhibited Th17 immunity at fetomaternal interface. APMIS 119:597–604
- Lockwood CJ, Nemerson Y, Guller S, Krikun G, Alvarez M, Hausknecht V, Gurpide E, Schatz F (1993) Progestational regulation of human endometrial stromal cell tissue factor expression during decidualization. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 76:231–236
- Loras B, Vetele F, el Malki A, Rollet J, Soufir JC, Benahmed M (1999) Seminal transforming growth factor-beta in normal and infertile men. Hum Reprod 14:1534–1539
- Luppi P, Haluszczak C, Betters D, Richard CA, Trucco M, Deloia JA (2002a) Monocytes are progressively activated in the circulation of pregnant women. J Leukoc Biol 72:874–884
- Luppi P, Haluszczak C, Trucco M, Deloia JA (2002b) Normal pregnancy is associated with peripheral leukocyte activation. Am J Reprod Immunol 47:72–81
- Maegawa M, Kamada M, Irahara M, Yamamoto S, Yoshikawa S, Kasai Y, Ohmoto Y, Gima H, Thaler CJ, Aono T (2002) A repertoire of cytokines in human seminal plasma. J Reprod Immunol 54:33–42
- Mahajan D, Sharma NR, Kancharla S, Kolli P, Tripathy A, Sharma AK, Singh S, Kumar S, Mohanty AK Jena MK (2022) Role of Natural Killer cells during pregnancy and related complications. Biomolecules 12

- Manaster I, Mandelboim O (2010) The unique properties of uterine NK cells. Am J Reprod Immunol 63:434–444
- Manaster I, Mizrahi S, Goldman-Wohl D, Sela HY, Stern-Ginossar N, Lankry D, Gruda R, Hurwitz A, Bdolah Y, Haimov-Kochman R, Yagel S, Mandelboim O (2008) Endometrial NK cells are special immature cells that await pregnancy. J Immunol 181:1869–1876
- Mariee N, Li TC, Laird SM (2012) Expression of leukaemia inhibitory factor and interleukin 15 in endometrium of women with recurrent implantation failure after IVF; correlation with the number of endometrial natural killer cells. Hum Reprod 27:1946–1954
- Markert UR, Morales-Prieto DM, Fitzgerald JS (2011) Understanding the link between the IL-6 cytokine family and pregnancy: implications for future therapeutics. Expert Rev Clin Immunol 7:603–609
- Matsumoto H, Sakai K, Iwashita M (2008) Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 induces decidualization of human endometrial stromal cells via alpha5beta1 integrin. Mol Hum Reprod 14:485–489
- Menzies FM, Henriquez FL (2009) Immunomodulation by the female sex hormones. Open Infect Dis J 3:61–72
- Menzies FM, Henriquez FL, Alexander J, Roberts CW (2011) Selective inhibition and augmentation of alternative macrophage activation by progesterone. Immunology 134:281–291
- Mertz D, Lo CK, Lytvyn L, Ortiz JR, Loeb M, Flurisk I (2019) Pregnancy as a risk factor for severe influenza infection: an individual participant data meta-analysis. BMC Infect Dis 19:683
- Mezouar S, Ben Amara A, Chartier C, Gorvel L, Mege JL (2019) A fast and reliable method to isolate human placental macrophages. Curr Protoc Immunol 125:e77
- Mezouar S, Katsogiannou M, Ben Amara A, Bretelle F, Mege JL (2021) Placental macrophages: origin, heterogeneity, function and role in pregnancy-associated infections. Placenta 103:94–103
- Mikkelsen AP, Egerup P, Kolte AM, Westergaard D, Nielsen HS, Lidegaard O (2022) Pregnancy loss and risk of multiple sclerosis and autoimmune neurological disorder: a nationwide cohort study. PLoS ONE 17:e0266203
- Moberg C, Bourlev V, Ilyasova N, Olovsson M (2015) Endometrial expression of LIF and its receptor and peritoneal fluid levels of IL-1alpha and IL-6 in women with endometriosis are associated with the probability of pregnancy. Arch Gynecol Obstet 292:429–437
- Moldenhauer LM, Diener KR, Thring DM, Brown MP, Hayball JD, Robertson SA (2009) Crosspresentation of male seminal fluid antigens elicits T cell activation to initiate the female immune response to pregnancy. J Immunol 182:8080–8093
- Monin L, Whettlock EM, Male V (2020) Immune responses in the human female reproductive tract. Immunology 160:106–115
- Morandi F, Ferretti E, Bocca P, Prigione I, Raffaghello L, Pistoia V (2010) A novel mechanism of soluble HLA-G mediated immune modulation: downregulation of T cell chemokine receptor expression and impairment of chemotaxis. PLoS ONE 5:e11763
- Moreno I, Codoner FM, Vilella F, Valbuena D, Martinez-Blanch JF, Jimenez-Almazan J, Alonso R, Alama P, Remohi J, Pellicer A, Ramon D, Simon C (2016) Evidence that the endometrial microbiota has an effect on implantation success or failure. Am J Obstet Gynecol 215:684–703
- Moroni G, Ponticelli C (2016) Pregnancy in women with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Eur J Intern Med 32:7–12
- Moser G, Windsperger K, Pollheimer J, De Sousa Lopes SC, Huppertz B (2018) Human trophoblast invasion: new and unexpected routes and functions. Histochem Cell Biol 150:361–370
- Muralidhara P, Sood V, Vinayak Ashok V, Bansal K (2022) Pregnancy and tumour: the parallels and differences in regulatory T cells. Front Immunol 13:866937
- Murata H, Tanaka S, Okada H (2021) Immune tolerance of the human decidua. J Clin Med 10
- Muzzio D, Zenclussen AC, Jensen F (2013) The role of B cells in pregnancy: the good and the bad. Am J Reprod Immunol 69:408–412
- Nair S, Salomon C (2018) Extracellular vesicles and their immunomodulatory functions in pregnancy. Semin Immunopathol 40:425–437

- Ng SW, Norwitz GA, Pavlicev M, Tilburgs T, Simon C, Norwitz ER (2020) Endometrial decidualization: the primary driver of pregnancy health. Int J Mol Sci 21
- Ning F, Liu H, Lash GE (2016) The role of decidual macrophages during normal and pathological pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 75:298–309
- Oertelt-Prigione S (2012) The influence of sex and gender on the immune response. Autoimmun Rev 11:A479–A485
- Ono Y, Yoshino O, Hiraoka T, Sato E, Fukui Y, Ushijima A, Nawaz A, Hirota Y, Wada S, Tobe K, Nakashima A, Osuga Y, Saito S (2020) CD206+ M2-like macrophages are essential for successful implantation. Front Immunol 11:557184
- Osman I, Young A, Ledingham MA, Thomson AJ, Jordan F, Greer IA, Norman JE (2003) Leukocyte density and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in human fetal membranes, decidua, cervix and myometrium before and during labour at term. Mol Hum Reprod 9:41–45
- Paliulyte V, Drasutiene GS, Ramasauskaite D, Bartkeviciene D, Zakareviciene J, Kurmanavicius J (2017) Physiological uterine involution in primiparous and multiparous women: ultrasound study. Obstet Gynecol Int 2017:6739345
- Pantos K, Grigoriadis S, Maziotis E, Pistola K, Xystra P, Pantou A, Kokkali G, Pappas A, Lambropoulou M, Sfakianoudis K, Simopoulou M (2022) The role of interleukins in recurrent implantation failure: a comprehensive review of the literature. Int J Mol Sci 23
- Papuchova H, Meissner TB, Li Q, Strominger JL, Tilburgs T (2019) The dual role of HLA-C in tolerance and immunity at the maternal-fetal interface. Front Immunol 10:2730
- Park DW, Yang KM (2011) Hormonal regulation of uterine chemokines and immune cells. Clin Exp Reprod Med 38:179–185
- Pennell LM, Galligan CL, Fish EN (2012) Sex affects immunity. J Autoimmun 38:J282–J291
- Perez-Munoz ME, Arrieta MC, Ramer-Tait AE, Walter J (2017) A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. Microbiome 5:48
- Poehlmann TG, Fitzgerald JS, Meissner A, Wengenmayer T, Schleussner E, Friedrich K, Markert UR (2005) Trophoblast invasion: tuning through LIF, signalling via Stat3. Placenta 26(Suppl A):S37–S41
- Prince AL, Ma J, Kannan PS, Alvarez M, Gisslen T, Harris RA, Sweeney EL, Knox CL, Lambers DS, Jobe AH, Chougnet CA, Kallapur SG, Aagaard KM (2016) The placental membrane microbiome is altered among subjects with spontaneous preterm birth with and without chorioamnionitis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 214:627e1–627e16
- Pujianto D, Hajizah H, Mansur I, Amarudin A (2018) Antisperm antibodies disrupt plasma membrane integrity and inhibit tyrosine phosphorylation in human spermatozoa. Med J Indonesia 27:3–11
- Quinn KH, Lacoursiere DY, Cui L, Bui J, Parast MM (2011) The unique pathophysiology of early-onset severe preeclampsia: role of decidual T regulatory cells. J Reprod Immunol 91:76–82
- Ramhorst R, Grasso E, Paparini D, Hauk V, Gallino L, Calo G, Vota D, Perez Leiros C (2016) Decoding the chemokine network that links leukocytes with decidual cells and the trophoblast during early implantation. Cell Adh Migr 10:197–207
- Red-Horse K, Drake PM, Gunn MD, Fisher SJ (2001) Chemokine ligand and receptor expression in the pregnant uterus: reciprocal patterns in complementary cell subsets suggest functional roles. Am J Pathol 159:2199–2213
- Red-Horse K, Drake PM, Fisher SJ (2004) Human pregnancy: the role of chemokine networks at the fetal-maternal interface. Expert Rev Mol Med 6:1–14
- Roberts CW, Cruickshank SM, Alexander J (1995) Sex-determined resistance to Toxoplasma gondii is associated with temporal differences in cytokine production. Infect Immun 63:2549–2555
- Robertson SA, Guerin LR, Bromfield JJ, Branson KM, Ahlstrom AC, Care AS (2009a) Seminal fluid drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cell pool and induces tolerance to paternal alloantigens in mice. Biol Reprod 80:1036–1045
- Robertson SA, Guerin LR, Moldenhauer LM, Hayball JD (2009b) Activating T regulatory cells for tolerance in early pregnancy—the contribution of seminal fluid. J Reprod Immunol 83:109–116

- Robertson SA, Green ES, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Hull ML, Barry SC, Dekker G (2019) Therapeutic potential of regulatory T cells in preeclampsia-opportunities and challenges. Front Immunol 10:478
- Robertson SA (2005) Seminal plasma and male factor signalling in the female reproductive tract. Cell Tissue Res 322:43–52
- Robinson DP, Klein SL (2012) Pregnancy and pregnancy-associated hormones alter immune responses and disease pathogenesis. Horm Behav 62:263–271
- Rodriguez-Martinez H, Kvist U, Ernerudh J, Sanz L, Calvete JJ (2011) Seminal plasma proteins: what role do they play? Am J Reprod Immunol 66(Suppl 1):11–22
- Rolle L, Memarzadeh Tehran M, Morell-Garcia A, Raeva Y, Schumacher A, Hartig R, Costa SD, Jensen F, Zenclussen AC (2013) Cutting edge: IL-10-producing regulatory B cells in early human pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 70:448–453
- Romero R, Espinoza J, Goncalves LF, Kusanovic JP, Friel LA, Nien JK (2006) Inflammation in preterm and term labour and delivery. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med 11:317–326
- Rowe JH, Ertelt JM, Xin L, Way SS. (2012) Pregnancy imprints regulatory memory that sustains anergy to fetal antigen. Nat 490(7418):102–106
- Saito S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Ito M (2010) Th1/Th2/Th17 and regulatory T-cell paradigm in pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 63:601–610
- Salamonsen LA (2003) Tissue injury and repair in the female human reproductive tract. Reproduction 125:301–311
- Salomon C, Guanzon D, Scholz-Romero K, Longo S, Correa P, Illanes SE, Rice GE (2017) Placental exosomes as early biomarker of preeclampsia: potential role of exosomal MicroRNAs across gestation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 102:3182–3194
- Santner-Nanan B, Peek MJ, Khanam R, Richarts L, Zhu E, Fazekas De St Groth B, Nanan R (2009) Systemic increase in the ratio between Foxp3+ and IL-17-producing CD4+ T cells in healthy pregnancy but not in preeclampsia. J Immunol 183:7023–7030
- Sarker S, Scholz-Romero K, Perez A, Illanes SE, Mitchell MD, Rice GE, Salomon C (2014) Placenta-derived exosomes continuously increase in maternal circulation over the first trimester of pregnancy. J Transl Med 12:204
- Schjenken JE, Robertson SA (2020) The female response to seminal fluid. Physiol Rev 100:1077– 1117
- Sehring J, Beltsos A, Jeelani R (2022) Human implantation: The complex interplay between endometrial receptivity, inflammation, and the microbiome. Placenta 117:179–186
- Sharkey AM, Gardner L, Hiby S, Farrell L, Apps R, Masters L, Goodridge J, Lathbury L, Stewart CA, Verma S, Moffett A (2008) Killer Ig-like receptor expression in uterine NK cells is biased toward recognition of HLA-C and alters with gestational age. J Immunol 181:39–46
- Sharkey DJ, Macpherson AM, Tremellen KP, Mottershead DG, Gilchrist RB, Robertson SA (2012a) TGF-beta mediates proinflammatory seminal fluid signaling in human cervical epithelial cells. J Immunol 189:1024–1035
- Sharkey DJ, Tremellen KP, Jasper MJ, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Robertson SA (2012b) Seminal fluid induces leukocyte recruitment and cytokine and chemokine mRNA expression in the human cervix after coitus. J Immunol 188:2445–2454
- Sharkey DJ, Tremellen KP, Briggs NE, Dekker GA, Robertson SA (2016) Seminal plasma transforming growth factor-beta, activin A and follistatin fluctuate within men over time. Hum Reprod 31:2183–2191
- Shigeta N, Kumasawa K, Tanaka A, Badger wing J, Nakamura H, Sakaguchi S, Kimura T (2020) Dynamics of effector and naive regulatory T cells throughout pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 140:103135
- Shima T, Inada K, Nakashima A, Ushijima A, Ito M, Yoshino O, Saito S (2015) Paternal antigenspecific proliferating regulatory T cells are increased in uterine-draining lymph nodes just before implantation and in pregnant uterus just after implantation by seminal plasma-priming in allogeneic mouse pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 108:72–82

- Shima T, Nakashima A, Yasuda I, Ushijima A, Inada K, Tsuda S, Yoshino O, Tomura M, Saito S (2020) Uterine CD11c+ cells induce the development of paternal antigen-specific Tregs via seminal plasma priming. J Reprod Immunol 141:103165
- Shobu T, Sageshima N, Tokui H, Omura M, Saito K, Nagatsuka Y, Nakanishi M, Hayashi Y, Hatake K, Ishitani A (2006) The surface expression of HLA-F on decidual trophoblasts increases from mid to term gestation. J Reprod Immunol 72:18–32
- Shynlova O, Boros-Rausch A, Farine T, Adams Waldorf KM, Dunk C, Lye SJ (2021) Decidual inflammation drives chemokine-mediated immune infiltration contributing to term labor. J Immunol 207:2015–2026
- Singh N, Herbert B, Sooranna GR, Orsi NM, Edey L, Dasgupta T, Sooranna SR, Yellon SM, Johnson MR (2017) Is myometrial inflammation a cause or a consequence of term human labour? J Endocrinol 235:69–83
- Singh N, Herbert B, Sooranna G, Shah NM, Das A, Sooranna SR, Johnson MR (2021) Is there an inflammatory stimulus to human term labour? PLoS ONE 16:e0256545
- Singh S (2016) Congenital toxoplasmosis: clinical features, outcomes, treatment, and prevention. Trop Parasitol 6:113–122
- Smith R (2007) Parturition. N Engl J Med 356:271-283
- Somerset DA, Zheng Y, Kilby MD, Sansom DM, Drayson MT (2004) Normal human pregnancy is associated with an elevation in the immune suppressive CD25+ CD4+ regulatory T-cell subset. Immunology 112:38–43
- Stenqvist AC, Nagaeva O, Baranov V, Mincheva-Nilsson L (2013) Exosomes secreted by human placenta carry functional Fas ligand and TRAIL molecules and convey apoptosis in activated immune cells, suggesting exosome-mediated immune privilege of the fetus. J Immunol 191:5515–5523
- Stewart CL, Kaspar P, Brunet LJ, Bhatt H, Gadi I, Kontgen F, Abbondanzo SJ (1992) Blastocyst implantation depends on maternal expression of leukaemia inhibitory factor. Nature 359:76–79
- Stinson LF, Boyce MC, Payne MS, Keelan JA (2019) The not-so-sterile womb: evidence that the human fetus is exposed to bacteria prior to birth. Front Microbiol 10:1124
- Strunz B, Bister J, Jonsson H, Filipovic I, Crona-Guterstam Y, Kvedaraite E, Sleiers N, Dumitrescu B, Brannstrom M, Lentini A, Reinius B, Cornillet M, Willinger T, Gidlof S, Hamilton RS, Ivarsson MA, Bjorkstrom NK (2021) Continuous human uterine NK cell differentiation in response to endometrial regeneration and pregnancy. Sci Immunol 6
- Suman P, Malhotra SS, Gupta SK (2013) LIF-STAT signaling and trophoblast biology. JAKSTAT 2:e25155
- Tang AW, Alfirevic Z, Quenby S (2011) Natural killer cells and pregnancy outcomes in women with recurrent miscarriage and infertility: a systematic review. Hum Reprod 26:1971–1980
- Tannetta D, Collett G, Vatish M, Redman C, Sargent I (2017) Syncytiotrophoblast extracellular vesicles—circulating biopsies reflecting placental health. Placenta 52:134–138
- Teles A, Zenclussen AC, Schumacher A (2013) Regulatory T cells are baby's best friends. Am J Reprod Immunol 69:331–339
- Telgmann R, Gellersen B (1998) Marker genes of decidualization: activation of the decidual prolactin gene. Hum Reprod Update 4:472–479
- Theis KR, Romero R, Winters AD, Greenberg JM, Gomez-Lopez N, Alhousseini A, Bieda J, Maymon E, Pacora P, Fettweis JM, Buck GA, Jefferson KK, Strauss JF 3rd, Erez O, Hassan SS (2019) Does the human placenta delivered at term have a microbiota? Results of cultivation, quantitative real-time PCR, 16S rRNA gene sequencing, and metagenomics. Am J Obstet Gynecol 220:267e1–267e39
- Thomson AJ, Telfer JF, Young A, Campbell S, Stewart CJ, Cameron IT, Greer IA, Norman JE (1999) Leukocytes infiltrate the myometrium during human parturition: further evidence that labour is an inflammatory process. Hum Reprod 14:229–236
- Tilburgs T, Roelen DL, van der Mast BJ, De Groot-Swings GM, Kleijburg C, Scherjon SA, Claas FH (2008) Evidence for a selective migration of fetus-specific CD4+CD25bright regulatory T cells from the peripheral blood to the decidua in human pregnancy. J Immunol 180:5737–5745

- Tilburgs T, Scherjon SA, Van Der Mast BJ, Haasnoot GW, Versteeg VDV-MM, Roelen DL, Van Rood JJ, Claas FH (2009) Fetal-maternal HLA-C mismatch is associated with decidual T cell activation and induction of functional T regulatory cells. J Reprod Immunol 82:148–157
- Tilburgs T, Meissner TB, Ferreira LMR, Mulder A, Musunuru K, Ye J, Strominger JL (2017) NLRP2 is a suppressor of NF-kB signaling and HLA-C expression in human trophoblastsdagger, double dagger. Biol Reprod 96:831–842
- Tong M, Abrahams VM, Chamley LW (2018) Immunological effects of placental extracellular vesicles. Immunol Cell Biol
- Torgerson PR, Mastroiacovo P (2013) The global burden of congenital toxoplasmosis: a systematic review. Bull World Health Organ 91:501–508
- Toth B, Haufe T, Scholz C, Kuhn C, Friese K, Karamouti M, Makrigiannakis A, Jeschke U (2010) Placental interleukin-15 expression in recurrent miscarriage. Am J Reprod Immunol 64:402–410
- Tremellen KP, Seamark RF, Robertson SA (1998) Seminal transforming growth factor beta1 stimulates granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor production and inflammatory cell recruitment in the murine uterus. Biol Reprod 58:1217–1225
- Tremellen KP, Valbuena D, Landeras J, Ballesteros A, Martinez J, Mendoza S, Norman RJ, Robertson SA, Simon C (2000) The effect of intercourse on pregnancy rates during assisted human reproduction. Hum Reprod 15:2653–2658
- Tsuda S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Saito S (2019) New paradigm in the role of regulatory T cells during pregnancy. Front Immunol 10:573
- Tsuda S, Nakashima A, Morita K, Shima T, Yoneda S, Kishi H, Saito S (2021) The role of decidual regulatory T cells in the induction and maintenance of fetal antigen-specific tolerance: Imbalance between regulatory and cytotoxic T cells in pregnancy complications. Hum Immunol 82:346–352
- Vacca P, Moretta L, Moretta A, Mingari MC (2011) Origin, phenotype and function of human natural killer cells in pregnancy. Trends Immunol 32:517–523
- Vacca P, Mingari MC, Moretta L (2013) Natural killer cells in human pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol 97:14–19
- Van De Geijn FE, Wuhrer M, Selman MH, Willemsen SP, De Man YA, Deelder AM, Hazes JM, Dolhain RJ (2009) Immunoglobulin G galactosylation and sialylation are associated with pregnancy-induced improvement of rheumatoid arthritis and the postpartum flare: results from a large prospective cohort study. Arthritis Res Ther 11:R193
- Vickram AS, Dhama K, Chakraborty S, Samad HA, Latheef SK, Sharun K, Khurana SK, K, A, Tiwari R, Bhatt P, K, V, Chaicumpa W (2019) Role of antisperm antibodies in infertility, pregnancy, and potential forcontraceptive and antifertility vaccine designs: research progress and pioneering vision. Vaccines 7:116
- Wegmann TG, Lin H, Guilbert L, Mosmann TR (1993) Bidirectional cytokine interactions in the maternal-fetal relationship—is successful pregnancy a Th2 phenomenon. Immunol Today 14:353–356
- Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR, O'Connor JF, Baird DD, Schlatterer JP, Canfield RE, Armstrong EG, Nisula BC (1988) Incidence of early loss of pregnancy. N Engl J Med 319(4):189–194
- Winship A, Correia J, Zhang JG, Nicola NA, Dimitriadis E (2015) Leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) inhibition during mid-gestation impairs trophoblast invasion and spiral artery remodelling during pregnancy in mice. PLoS ONE 10:e0129110
- Wira CR, Rodriguez-Garcia M, Patel MV (2015) The role of sex hormones in immune protection of the female reproductive tract. Nat Rev Immunol 15:217–230
- Wu WX, Brooks J, Glasier AF, Mcneilly AS (1995) The relationship between decidualization and prolactin mRNA and production at different stages of human pregnancy. J Mol Endocrinol 14:255–261
- Yang Y, Chu W, Geraghty DE, Hunt JS (1996) Expression of HLA-G in human mononuclear phagocytes and selective induction by IFN-gamma. J Immunol 156:4224–4231

- Yasuda I, Shima T, Moriya T, Ikebuchi R, Kusumoto Y, Ushijima A, Nakashima A, Tomura M, Saito S (2020) Dynamic changes in the phenotype of dendritic cells in the uterus and uterine draining lymph nodes after coitus. Front Immunol 11:557720
- Young A, Thomson AJ, Ledingham M, Jordan F, Greer IA, Norman JE (2002) Immunolocalization of proinflammatory cytokines in myometrium, cervix, and fetal membranes during human parturition at term. Biol Reprod 66:445–449
- Zenclussen AC, Gentile T, Kortebani G, Mazzolli A, Margni R (2001) Asymmetric antibodies and pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 45:289–294
- Zenclussen ML, Thuere C, Ahmad N, Wafula PO, Fest S, Teles A, Leber A, Casalis PA, Bechmann I, Priller J, Volk HD, Zenclussen AC (2010) The persistence of paternal antigens in the maternal body is involved in regulatory T-cell expansion and fetal-maternal tolerance in murine pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol 63:200–208
- Zhang YH, Sun HX (2020) Immune checkpoint molecules in pregnancy: focus on regulatory T cells. Eur J Immunol 50:160–169
- Zhang YH, He M, Wang Y, Liao AH (2017) Modulators of the balance between M1 and M2 macrophages during pregnancy. Front Immunol 8:120
- Zinaman MJ, Clegg ED, Brown CC, O'Connor J, Selevan SG (1996) Estimates of human fertility and pregnancy loss. Fertil Steril 65(3):503–509

Correction to: Sex-Differential and Non-specific Effects of Vaccines Over the Life Course



Laura A. St. Clair, Sabal Chaulagain, Sabra L. Klein, Christine Stabell Benn, and Katie L. Flanagan

Correction to: Chapter "Sex-Differential and Non-specific Effects of Vaccines Over the Life Course" in: S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_9

This chapter was inadvertently published with the incorrect citation with the author's name Clair, LAS. This has now been corrected in the chapter as St. Clair, LA. The correction chapter has been updated with the change.

The updated version of this chapter can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_9

[©] The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 S. L. Klein and C. W. Roberts (eds.), *Sex and Gender Differences in Infection and Treatments for Infectious Diseases*, Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology 441, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-35139-6_11